

This is a digital copy of a book that was preserved for generations on library shelves before it was carefully scanned by Google as part of a project to make the world's books discoverable online.

It has survived long enough for the copyright to expire and the book to enter the public domain. A public domain book is one that was never subject to copyright or whose legal copyright term has expired. Whether a book is in the public domain may vary country to country. Public domain books are our gateways to the past, representing a wealth of history, culture and knowledge that's often difficult to discover.

Marks, notations and other marginalia present in the original volume will appear in this file - a reminder of this book's long journey from the publisher to a library and finally to you.

Usage guidelines

Google is proud to partner with libraries to digitize public domain materials and make them widely accessible. Public domain books belong to the public and we are merely their custodians. Nevertheless, this work is expensive, so in order to keep providing this resource, we have taken steps to prevent abuse by commercial parties, including placing technical restrictions on automated querying.

We also ask that you:

- + *Make non-commercial use of the files* We designed Google Book Search for use by individuals, and we request that you use these files for personal, non-commercial purposes.
- + Refrain from automated querying Do not send automated queries of any sort to Google's system: If you are conducting research on machine translation, optical character recognition or other areas where access to a large amount of text is helpful, please contact us. We encourage the use of public domain materials for these purposes and may be able to help.
- + *Maintain attribution* The Google "watermark" you see on each file is essential for informing people about this project and helping them find additional materials through Google Book Search. Please do not remove it.
- + *Keep it legal* Whatever your use, remember that you are responsible for ensuring that what you are doing is legal. Do not assume that just because we believe a book is in the public domain for users in the United States, that the work is also in the public domain for users in other countries. Whether a book is still in copyright varies from country to country, and we can't offer guidance on whether any specific use of any specific book is allowed. Please do not assume that a book's appearance in Google Book Search means it can be used in any manner anywhere in the world. Copyright infringement liability can be quite severe.

About Google Book Search

Google's mission is to organize the world's information and to make it universally accessible and useful. Google Book Search helps readers discover the world's books while helping authors and publishers reach new audiences. You can search through the full text of this book on the web at http://books.google.com/



HARVARD UNIVERSITY



LIBRARY OF THE

PEABODY MUSEUM OF AMERICAN ARCHÆOLOGY AND ETHNOLOGY

GIFT OF

CHARLES P. BOWDITCH (Class of 1863)

Received June 12, 1920

ANTHROPOLOGICAL PAPERS

OF

THE AMERICAN MUSEUM OF NATURAL HISTORY

VOL. XXIV, PART III

RECEIVED

SAN CARLOS APACHE TEXTS

JUN 1 2 1920

BY

PLINY EARLE GODDARD

LIBRARY OF THE PEABODY MUSEU



NEW YORK
PUBLISHED BY ORDER OF THE TRUSTEES
1919

Digitized by Google

N.A.Ling. G5+1 ~

SAN CARLOS APACHE TEXTS.

By Pliny Earle Goddard.

Introduction.

These texts vary considerably in their value as material for the study of the dialect of the San Carlos. The difficulties encountered in transcribing an unwritten language with sufficient phonetic accuracy to be reliable for deductions and comparisons are considerable. The Indian dictating is often slovenly in his articulation, but chiefly the recorder is called upon to hear with exactness sounds to which his ear is unaccustomed and to make distinctions which he has habitually ignored. In the material here presented the nasalized vowels have suffered particularly. They are of as much importance as any other of the sounds and probably are consistently used by the Apache speakers. It is fairly safe to accept as nasalized all vowels so marked and to assume that the vowels in the same words and under similar conditions are also nasalized even when not so marked. The same valuation as to the presence or absence of marks indicating glottal stops and glottalized vowels should be employed.

The texts taken from Albert Evans, which are placed first in this paper, are probably more accurately recorded than the remainder of the texts and they are also fairly well translated. Of these taken from Antonio, The Deer Woman, on page 290, is better than the texts recorded from him in 1910. The larger part of the material secured in 1905 has been included notwithstanding its imperfections, since as large and varied a vocabulary as possible is to be desired.

The English renderings are those given by the Indians, except where the context or the etymology of the words in the texts plainly indicated a different meaning.

The alphabet employed is that devised by the Committee of the American Anthropological Association and published in Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections, Vol. 66, No. 6. It should be noted however that b and d are intermediates in sonancy while g is fully sonant. The back intermediate is represented by g.

, PLINY EARLE GODDARD.

May, 1919.

CONTENTS.

					PAGE.
Introduction	•		•		143
CREATION MYTH (Second Version)					147
NAIYENEZGANI					170
THE SNAKE CEREMONY					183
THE SISTERS ARE LURED BY A FLUTE		. •			190
THE GOOD AND BAD BROTHERS					196
Magic Flight					208
SECURING FIRE (First Version)					22 0
THE WINNING OF DAYLIGHT (First Version) .					224
CREATION MYTH (First Version)					226
THE DEER WOMAN					290
Prayers for Hunting Deer					310
Origin of the Clans					316
THE DEVELOPMENT OF APACHE CULTURE .					326
DESCRIPTION OF APACHE CEREMONIES					330
THE SISTERS LURED BY A FLUTE (Second Versi	on)				334
COYOTE AND THE JACK-RABBIT PEOPLE .					340
PANTHER AND COYOTE					342
THE LOAF, THE CLOTH, AND THE HIDE					346
COYOTE'S EYES					350
SACK AND POT AS MAN AND WIFE					350
TAR BABY					352
THE UNDISCRIMINATING HUNTERS					356
SECURING FIRE (Second Version)					356
THE WINNING OF DAYLIGHT (Second Version)					358
Ducantina Norma					280

CREATION MYTH. (Second Version.)

ał k'i dą' go de ya tc'i ni n' n ne' e di go' da wa' et di go
Long ago it happened they say. People when were none, all when were none

do n t'e go li go da' a ko go go de ya da' ni gos ts'an ya da' xa'
not anything when was living then it happened. Then earth, aky dark

et di da' dza ni gos ts'an ya da' xa' aul ne' ni tc'i ni n' a ko go
when were not, "Here earth, aky dark will be made," he said they say. Then
ni gos ts'an ya da' xa' be' al ne hi et di tc'i ni n a ko go ai ya'
earth sky dark with the it is made were not they say. Then that about

5 na ts'e k'es a ko go ya' ya' ti' tc'i ni n' a ko go an ni ta aul ne'
he studied. Then about it he talked they say. Then "Now we will make it."

n zi tc'i ni n' ai dai ni la aul ne ni tc'i ni n'
he thought they say. "These both we will make," he said they say.

a ko go bi djo ni' yi ka tse k'es tc'i ni n' a ko go n ne' di ai le' Then his assistants for them he studied they say. Then "Men four will be." n zi tc'i ni n' a ko go ai ai le' hi bi ni' ye' yi go sant' a ko go al ne' he thought they say. Then those who will be his mind with he thought out.

Then it was made

 $tc'i\;ni\;n'\quad di\quad b\epsilon\quad go\;jo\;ni\quad aul\;n\epsilon'\quad ni\;gos\;ts'an\quad bi\;ka'\quad n\;n\epsilon'\quad \epsilon t\;di\;go\;they\;say. \;\;This\quad with\quad good\quad it\;was\;made. \;\;"Earth\quad on\;it\quad people\quad not\;being$

10 do n jo da ni te'i ni n' is not good," he said they say.

a ko go 'ai a'l ne' go ya di nez bi' tc'i ni n' an ni ta xa ko go ca' Then those being made about it they sat they say. "Now how

al ne' ni tc'i ni n' di dan t'e he ta ad ne yo go n jo ci ni tc'i ni n' will it be made?" he said they say. "This just something if it is made will be good," he said they say.

a ko go n ne hi dan wa' n jon da ni' tc'i ni n n la le gon se' tc'i-Then the men all "Good," they said they say. "Begin," they agreed they say. ni n a ko go an ni ta a dai le' tc'i ni n' a ko go di n t'e ca' a dol nil Then now they make it they say Then "This what sort shall we make it?"

15 ni tc'i ni n' kal la hi bi da non t'a ni tc'i ni n a ko go an ni ta he said they say. "Well, let us try," he said they say. Then now

a dai le go' an ni ta al ne hi da di' tc'i ni n a ko go ai yi na dan ta' when they were going to make it now that it is made of was not they say. Then that they tried



¹ Told by Albert Evans. A translation will be found above, pp. 26-35.

tc'inin a ko go ai ni gos ts'an al ne hi do n jo da a ko go di do nthey say. Then that earth which was made was not good. Then "This is not agood kind,"

t'e n jo da ni tc'i ni n' xa go do lel e xe' e ni tc'i ni n' he said they say. "What sort will it be?" he said they say.

a ko go djıñ go na 'ai bi tıl G∈ yi dn dzız a ko go na ki yo tł-Then Sun his breast he rubbed. Then two parts he divided it.

te'i n ne a ko go la' ai yi da ti ye ai yen la na t'ak' go a yen la di Then one this hummingbird he made. Flying around he made it. "This

5 tc'ın ni nai a do ni tc'i ni n' a ko go di' la' ni gos ts'an a dol nil will carry messages," he said they say. Then "This one earth we will make,"

ni tc'inin' dzą an ni tą ai n yine' tc'inin' dica' n t'e be' xahe said they say. Here now that he put down they say. "What kind with shall we fix it?"

di dol nił ni tc'i ni n' a ko go kal lą hi na bi k'i ts'i dał kes ni he said they say. Then "Well, you study about it," he said

 $te'i\ ni\ n'\quad a\ ko\ go\quad an\ ni\ ta\quad ya\ ya\ dal'\ ti'\quad a\ ko\ go\quad ai\ di\quad di\ yo\quad xa\ t'i\ go$ they say. Then now they talked about it. Then "Here four directions thus

bal ne go n jo ci ni tc'i ni n' a ko go kal la hi bi da no ta ni tc'i ni n' being made will be good," he said they say. Then, "Well, let us try," he said they say.

10 a ko go ni gos ts'an al ne hi ni yın'a tc'i ni n' a ko go do n jo da' Then earth which he made he placed they say. Then it was not good

te'i ni n' a ko go do ni he' na da te'i ni n' kal la hi ni te'i' du xu they say. Then it did not stay still they say. "Well," wind dark

dị dn yi tơi dez t'i dac dọj ya ne he' na tr'i ni n' a ko go t'a' do nfour places standing against it nearly it was still they say. Then yet it was notgood

jo da te'i ni n' ako go di di di' bi ya' nez 'a go a gol ne' ni te'ithey say. Then "These four places under it standing we will make it," he said

ni n' a ko go ai k' ϵ go n jo n cị' ni tc'i ni n' n la ϵ bi go zi ni Then "That way will be good," he said they say. "Well, let us find out," he said

15 tc'i ni n' a ko go xan nai t'a di' ni tc'i' dul xul but l'a suz zi go aithey say. Then from the east wind dark under it standing he made

yın la tc'i ni n' ła' di go bec dıł xıl di di' bi ya nez a go ai yın la they say. One side metal dark four places under standing he made it

tc'i ni n' ła di' l'o k'a tco' dd xul i bi ya' nez a go ai yın la tc'i ni n' they say. One place reeds dark under it standing he made they say.

ła di' bec do l'ıj i di di' bi ya' nez a go ai yın la tc'i ni n' an ni ta One place metal blue four places under it standing he made they say. Now n go he' na' tc'i ni n' a ko go dac doj ja n jo n si li tc'i ni n' a ko go it was quiet they say. Then nearly good it became they say. Then

'ai ya' dư xư hel do' da 'ai k' ϵ go a yın la tc'i ni n' an ni ta n jo that sky dark too the same way he made they say. "Now it is good," ni tc'i ni n' he said they say.

a ko go ni gos ts'an da dd ko tc'i ni n' a ko go di do da' n jo da'. Then earth was just smooth they say. Then this was not good

a ko go dził et di go te'i ni n then mountains being not they say.

5 a ko go 'ai n ne' di i ni gos tsan ya dıl xıl a yın la tc'i ni n' Then those men four earth sky dark made they say.

a ko go di dị hi bi ji' go lị la' naic j ϵ ' ϵ teo' dư xư n xol z ϵ ' la' Then these four their names were. One large spider dark was named. One

bec dil xil xas ti n' xol ze' la' na xo kos se dil xil n xol ze la' gometal dark old man was named. One great dipper dark was named. One Gonaldicteo!

nal djuc tco' xas ti n xol ze a ko go ai dil t'e a ko go di ni gos ts'an old man was named. Then these were four. Then "This earth

a da sın dla ni tc'i ni n' we have made," he said they say.

10 a ko go ni gos ts'an da dd ko n t'ε go' do n jo da ni tc'i ni n' Then "Earth just smooth is not good," he said they say.

k'a di' an ni ta' no xi dan hi da di' ni te'i ni n' kal la hi di
"Soon now our foods are not," he said they say. "Well, this

ac la n'i na no ta ni tc'i ni n' a ko go ai na t'ag gi al za n'i yiwhich I made let him look about," he said they say. Then that which flies whichhe had made he sent.

des 'a' a ko go di k'ad di ge da hai yo n ne' ła' go li ci' ni Then "This on it somewhere people some must be living," he said

tc'i ni n' nan ta' xal la hi ni tc'i ni n' a ko go 'ai de ya tc'i ni n' they say. "Look around, begin," he said they say. Then that one set out they say.

15 na t'ag gi hi ni gos ts'an n tel go si 'a hi bi ka ba le di dza tc'i ni n'
The flying one earth being wide which lies its edge he encircled they say.

a ko go na dzą tc'i ni n do n t' ϵ go lį da ni tc'i ni n' a ko go kal-Then he returned they say. "Not anything is living," he said they say. Then "Come,

la hi di ya' da da si t'a hi bi ka yo den 'i ni tc'i ni n' a ko go this sky which rests above on it look," he said they say. Then

'ai $n n \epsilon$ ' dị hi ci na' nez na a ko go ai na t'ag ge hi ya bi ka yo those men four were starving. Then that the flying one sky on it



^{1 &}quot;Green, runs like a spider," was the informant's identification.

de ya tc'i ni n' a ko go di ya' bi ka yo do xa goz t'i da' ai tc'e started they say. Then this sky on it he did not get through. That in vain yi kan ta' a ko go ya' ti ni yo da ya hi go tc'i go ti' yo tc'en ya he tried. Then sky the center where there is a little hole he came out.

a ko go i la yo bi γ a yo n ya n ne' go li yo a ko go n de' ya n ya Then there on top he arrived, people where were living. Then people he came to.

a ko go yul na gos ni' bi l'a yo n ne' na xes tan ne' ci na' nez na Then he told them, "Under people who are living are starving."

5 ni' tc'i ni n' a ko go an ni ta ya ya dał ti' a ko go ai n ne hi ku' he said they say. Then now they talked about it. Then "Those the people here xa so ka da ni tc'i ni n' a ko go ku' hit dan la yo go dli da ni let them come up." they said they say. Then "Here food many places is." they said

tc'i ni n' a ko go na dn da bil na gol ni' ni tc'i ni n' they say. Then "Go back, tell them," he said they say.

a ko go na des dza a ko go na dza da k'at u ka yo na dza Then he started back. Then he came back. Nearly daybreak he came back. a ko go do na gol ni'da' a ko go yis ka an ni ta na di dza an ni ta Then he did not tell them. Then it was day. Now he got up. Now

10 na da yu dɨ kɨt'. a ko go an ni ta n t'e la bi γa no xił na go dɨc ni' they asked him. Then "Now what because of it shall I tell you?"

ni tc'i ni n' n za yo n nε' go lị yo ni ya ni tc'i ni n' n t'ε lạ bε' he said they say. "Far people where they live I came," he said they say. "What with it

a ku' do'ka da da ni tc'inin' a ko go bi γ a yo n ne' go li la ni there can you go?" he said they say. Then "On top people are living," he said tc'inin' hat dan go li la' ni tc'inin' a ko go a ku' xa so ka they say. "Food they have," he said they say. Then "Here let them come' n ne' da ni ni tc'inin' ai n t' ϵ be' a ku' do'ka ni tc'inin' people they said," he said they say. "That what kind with there you go?"

a ko go ci ki yi da ni tc'i ni n' a ko go be' xa sın ka hi a gol ne' Then "Clkdyi," they said they say. Then "With it that we may go up let us-make."

ni tc'i ni n' a ko go di n dil tci' ke dol ze ni tc'i ni n' a ko go he said they say. Then "This pine let us plant," he said they say. Then k'e dai dez la' tc'i ni n' a ko go na des sa di dan na yo ts'tt dak' they planted it they say. Then it started to grow this far away up

on nd sa tc'i ni n' da ko hi go di do dal la' ni tc'i ni n kal la hi it stopped growing they say. "That is all this not the one," he said they say. "Well,

^{1&}quot; My kin," used as an expletive.

t'u k'a tco' dư xư i ke da don dle' ni tc'i ni n' a ko go Ge da dez la reeds dark we will plant," he said they say. Then they planted them

tc'i ni n n des sa tc'i ni n' a ko go di do da a na yo o ni sa da they say. They grew up they say. Then this not far they stopped growing

tc'i ni n' ci ki di do dal la ni tc'i ni n' a ko go xa go' a go nε' they say. "Ciki, this is not the one," he said they say. "Then what shall we do?"

ni te'i ni n' l'o k'a dac daj ja n jon ni te'i ni n' di bec dι λι λι he asked they say. "Reed nearly is good," he said they say. "This metal dark

5 bil ke dol ze ni tc'i ni n' a ko go Ge dai dez la a ko go xat dat with it let us plant." he said they say. Then they planted it. Then up

n de sa an ni ta bi γ a yo xa ni sa tc'i ni n it grew. Now on top it grew up they say.

an ni ta da la' e san ne hi bi ts'a' na de za da a ku sit da da' Then one old woman from her they moved; there while she stayed

 $na\ d\epsilon\ zq$ $a\ ko\ go$ $n\ n\epsilon$ ' $da\ a'$ ϵ tc' $o\ wi$ ni $a\ ko$ $sit\ da\ dq'$ $na\ d\epsilon\ zq$ they went. Then man just one crippled there while he was sitting they went away.

a ko go l'o k'a bec dil xil bil xa nes diz bi ka' da na za ai be da-Then reeds metal dark with they were twisted on them they went. That its joint

10 gos ła' ai Ge dad ka'go' xa go ya a ko go bi γa yo xa na zą a ko go there they camped they went up. Then on top they came. Then

n ne' go lị yo xa na zą a ku' i ta' go dịch le' people where they live they came up there among they lived.

a ko go an ni ta san ne hi da la 'ε n ne' tc'o wi ni hi da la 'ε Then now old woman one man crippled one

san ne hi bi γ in a ko go i ke' dez aj a ko go de ti' an na yo o aj old woman carried him on her back. Then behind them they two went. Then little far they two stopped.

a ko go ai san n ϵ hi yi k ϵ ' ya da dil tal go da' tc ϵ ñ go' a ko go Then that old woman her foot slipped down she fell. Then

15 bi ko yo na nes ke' a ko si ke' down there they two sat again, there they two stayed.

a kò go bi γa yo n ne' xị kai yi ai di na da ǫl t'o' da ni di
Then on top people those who came, "This time we will smoke," they said.
That

 $l'\epsilon'$ na da il t'o' da no' xi γ a $l\epsilon$ xo' ka ni tc'i ni n' a ko go $l'\epsilon$ goz il night they smoked. "All of you come together," he said they say. Then evening it became

n ne' ni xes kai a ko go na t'os tse' a ko go be' ba' t'o' xol za a ko go people came. Then pipe, then with for smoke they made. Then

and na des t'o'
all smoked.

a ko go an ni ta yi te' i' xa dzi di ba ci ni' hi ac tee xol ne' n si Then now about it they talked. "This for my mind you fix, I think."

a ko go ni gos ts'an a da sın dla hi dzıl i da di a ko go do n jo da hi Then "Earth this we have made mountains are none. Then not good

bi ya a die ni ni te'i ni n' n jo da ni te'i ni n a ko go xa di k'e go that is why I said," he said they say. "All right," they said they say. Then
"Which way

al ne'n si ni tc'inin' dzu al ne n si ni tc'ini a ko go ai n ts'e we make it 1 think," he said they say. "Mountains we will make I think," he said they say. Then "That first

5 a gol ne'n si ci ni tc'ini n jo da hai yo a dn ni yu a gol ne' γa dn ni we will make I think," he said they say. "Good, what you say we will make, as you say."

n ni tc'i ni n' a ko go n jo da dn ni tc'i ni n' a ko go ya' ya da i ti' he said they say. Then, "All right," they said they say. Then about it they talked.

la 'i ya na tsi da kes a ko go n t'a go da la 'e nas dli Some of them they think about it. Then after that just one was again.

a ko go tu ja' ba na go dza n la ϵ ta d ι n na ki ϵ' na gol ti Then water only they decided upon. "Well, thirty-two nights it will rain,"

da dn nit' a ko go n jo go a dez la a ko go bi ko yo n ne' na ki si ken' they said. Then good they made it. Then, "Down there people two who arestaying

10 ai bi tc'i' tc'i ni a nal ne' ni tc'i ni a ko go da ti ye a ko na des dza those to them send word," he said they say. Then hummingbird there started.

a ko go ytł na gos ni' tu i di djoł tc'i ni ytł n nt'
Then he told her. "Water goes all over they say," he told her.

a ko go san ne he n'i ai na ts'id dn kez a ko go yac dla e bi yi'
Then old woman that one that she thought about it. Then sycamore tree
its interior

yo ne' o an ne ya n ya ai Ge' yi nes da a ko go an ni ta na dji a yın la in a hole she came to. There she sat. Then now (seeds) she prepared.

na dn lit' a yın la na dą' i ya hi go yu n ϵ ' ϕ yın dja a ko go ts ϵ Sunflower seed she prepared. Corn just a little inside she put in. Then stones

15 yu ne' o yin la datc'ın ne' be i k'a do hi yu ne' o yi 'a a ko go in she put. Top grinder with she will grind in she put. Then

n ke gon't a a ko go ai bac dla e bi ni' an e ai tc'i añ Ge ba ci ne it started raining, then that sycamore tree in a hole that edge of hole black stone dai dın'a dje' yil dai denl xej a ko ne' nez da ko' a yınıl t'a she put there. Pitch with she stuck it. Inside she sat, fire she put.

an ni tạ na ki dza da $l'\epsilon'$ na goni tạ a ko go tu da xo t' ϵ h ϵ Then twelve nights it rained. Then water everywhere

i dez djol ni gos ts'an bi ka' i dez djol a ko go na ki dza da l'e' anl it overflowed, earth on it it covered over. Then twelve nights all

iz li a ko go di ai di' tu xat dat' go de ya xat dak' gol do' da' nailwere. Then this then water high became. High it kept rising. Every night

ka $\gamma \epsilon$ xat dak' gol do' a ko go tsi n'i bi ϵ ϵ a ko go tu ya hi up it kept rising. Then that tree with it floated. Then water the sky

bit c'i' gol do' a ko go san $n \in hi$ bit a na o ol hi do yi go si da' to it it kept rising. Then old woman with where she floats over she doesn't know.

5 a ko go ta dn na ki l'ε' na gonl ta a ko go ya hi bi tc'i a xan nε yo Then thirty-two nights it rained. Then the sky to it close

tu nes at' a ko go ai $G\epsilon$ and n gond tawater stopped. Then there all it stopped raining.

an no ta san ne he n'i bil na dn el a ko go di dn bil le dn el Then old woman it was with it floated around. Then four times with it-floated around.

a ko go bi ts'ın tce' nai yıl ni bok yıl ts'ak a ko go na tse kes Then her tree in vain she hit. "Bok," she heard. Then she thought about it.

do xa xe da n zi "Not yet," she thought.

10 a ko go an ni ta ai Gε dlo' da na ki yε i na' la' t'al tci' la 'i Then now there birds two of them were alive. One woodpecker, one

t'a ji' i na' a ko go na ki αn ni ta da' n zat' go de ya turkey were alive. Then two now just long time it became.

a ko go san ne he' tsi' na yil ni bok ni a ko go na go des dza.

Then old woman tree she hit again; "Bok," it said. Then she went aroundagain.

a ko go da na o na go dza a ko go da dji (tci) n ϵ^1 nai dn'ą a ko go Then she had gone around then top grinder she took up. Then

bits'in yıs ni a ko go an ni ta dan n nıt' a ko go tu an nas dınt' her tree she hit. Then now "Dan," it said. Then, "Water is gone

15 hd ts'ak n zi a ko go bt da tin Ge dje' na nai dn'e ba ci ne xa nai-I hear," she thought. Then its opening pitch she took off. Black stone she took-

yi'a a ko go da tın ji' xa na dza Then opening she came out.

a ko go di sai ai ja da ta na' a ko go dε ya yu we yo hi γał
Then this sand that only is there. Then she started over there she walked.

a ko go i ge dluc he bi ke' gonł tsą a ko go yi ke' de ya a ko go
Then black bug its track she saw. Then after it she went. Then

nail ka n za yo ya n ya yi tc' i' xa dzi n t' ϵ la' xa na y ℓ l n nit' she tracked it, far to it she came. To it she spoke. "What you going after?" she asked.



¹ The middle syllable is probably tci.

da' ci da'ai da' ta da' xal na sas dli ni' n nit' n de' do la' na γa da "Just I just now black water I became," it said. "People none when go about. da cac'a ku' go tc'o ba' xa nac dal n nit' a ko go ai san ne hi just me here poor I came up," it said. Then that old woman

na des dza a ko go di dził i naz a si li a ko go tu i ya hi go' she started back. Then this mountain stood it became. Then water a little

xa li Ge nez da ai Ge sıt da bi ko wa a go dla a ko go xa go' where it flowed up she stopped. There she stayed; her camp she made. Then, "What

5 a go ne' n zi dzą tc'o ba'c t'i le' n zi na tse kes a ko go ai Gε si da will be?" she thought. "Here bad I am going to do," she thought. She thoughtabout it. Then there she stayed.

a ko go bi γ a yo n yo an ni ta n ne' bi γ a yo xas kai n 'i Then on top up there now people on top had gone up

nan t'an hi xa dzi n n ϵ ' ϵ xo ka ϵ ' ϵ ' go na da ϵ n ϵ ' t'o na do nit' chief spoke. "People come together, tonight we will smoke," he said.

a ko go ba ci ni 'i hi ca uc tc'o le di no 'l'ai yo ni gos ts'an bi ka' Then, "For it my mind for me fix. This under us earth on

nes t'an a gol ne' n sị n nit' n jọ da dn nư' n de' da bi γa a ko go fruits we will make I think," he said. "All right," they said, people all. Then,

10 di da no xi γ a no xi nes t'a' go lị k'a di' dza bi l'a yo n ne' "This all of you your seed it is now here under people

go le hi ba' bi tc'o da ni a ko go ye' dai ya le' n nit' a ko go di who live for them help them. Then with they will eat," he said. Then, "This

nan t'i' hi le'n si ai yi ba' a go le a ko go n jo da dn nit' ai grows I think this for them you make." Then, "All right," they said. "This

'ın ts' ϵ a gon t'i a ko go yıs ką do l ϵ l n nit' first we do, then tomorrow will be." he said.

a ko go yas ka n d ϵ da bi γ a na na kai a ko go n n ϵ da bi γ a Then it was daylight people all came. Then people all

15 be na go Got' go li ku' n dai xez nil a ko go da la' e n ne' be na gowooden hoes they had here they brought them. Then one man hoe

Got' do n jo da ts'i' be ki de il ke daz mas ai it ta' yın ta' a ko go not good stick is crooked, that among them he put. Then,

ai do n jo da' ai do da' da d
n nit' a ko go be na go Got' da bi γ a "That not good that no," they said. Then hoes all

i ha al za ai be na go Got' k'ic i' o dais t'e' were piled together, that hoe over this way they threw it.

a ko go bi be na go Got' go li ni do bu go jo da a ko go ci do da' Then his hoe who had he was displeased. Then, "I, not,"

20 n nit' a ko go na des dza n nit' a ko go la' n ne' xat dzi xa go he said. Then, "I go back," he said. Then one man spoke, "Why

a t'i go be na go Got' n ne' bi ts'a' yo da sol ne' la' n ne' bi ye' is it hoe man from him you threw? Some man his property

den tco' le' do n jo yo a da dza da will be poor. Not good you did."

a ko go ai nes t'an n'i bak Ge dol za a ko go nes t'an da bi γ a Then those seeds they planted. Then seed all

do xa dje da a ko go n dail si a ko go ai be na go Got' den tco' xeddin't grow. Then they falled. Then that hoe the one that had been poor

5 hin 'i bi tc'i' go ni' o t'a a ko go ai di' n ya a ko go yi tc'i' to him they sent word. Then there he came. Then to him

xa dzi da t'e go ni do no xi tco sın ni da yıl n nit' be na go got' he spoke, "Why you did not help us?" he asked. "Hoe

ci ye hi si ts'a' yo o da sol ne' hi bi γ a o nas tsa n nit' ci dai k'e go mine from me you threw because of that I went home," he sald. "I that way

ci ye hi do no xil da n jo da hi γ a o nas tsa ni' n jo an ni ta no ximine you didn't like because I went home. All right, now I will help you.

djoc ni ai ci be na go Got' yi ta' nc'a n nit' a ko go an ni ta That my hoe among them I put." he sald. Then now

10 da wa n jo si li a ko go nes t'an da bi γ a ba ke na dol za a ko go everything good became. Then seeds all they planted. Then

an ni ta xa djek nes t'a a ko go san ne he n'i bel go jo nt' a ko go now they grew up seeds. Then that old woman was pleased with it. Then

ai ye xın na si li that with she lived it became.

> a ko go an ni ta' san ne he n'i tc'o ba' ac t'i le n zi a ko go Then now old woman, "Bad thing I will do," she thought. Then

bi ko wa ni a na $\gamma \epsilon$ a ko go tu na da hi kat' a ko go a ku' d ϵ ya her house far away, then water was dropping then there she went.

15 ya n ya yi nel į dzą ca' da t' ϵ n zį ba di cał n zį a ko go i ki-She came there. She looked. "Here what kind?" she thought. "To it I will go," she thought. Then next time,

digo a ko go ya na na dza an ni ta ai Ge tu na hi kat' ai Ge then she came back again. Now there water dropped, by it

nes ti a ko go do ai le da tc'e ail'i a ko go na des dza a ko go she lay down. Then she didn't do it. In vain she tried. Then she came back. Then ko we yo ne dze

ko wa yo na dza camp she came back.

a ko go da la' \(\epsilon \) nai yis ka a ku' na des dza a ko go ya na na dza

Then just one it was day again, there she went again. Then she came thereagain



a ko go tu na hi kat' na nes ti a ko go tc'e ail'i do ban jo da Then water dropped she lay down again. Then in vain she did it. Not good for her na des dza a ko go ko wa yo na dza she started back. Then camp she came back.

a ko ya na tse kes da di bi dji dac lec ci n zi a ko go be nai-There she thought about it, "Sometime its day I may do it," she thought.

Then it was day again

yis ka a ko' na des dza a ko go a ko ya na na dza a ko go yi l'a there she went back. Then there she came again. Then under it

5 na nes ti' a ko go da ka dja' ba' a ne do n jo da ta' a ko go she lay down again. Then nearly for her it happened. Not good yet. Then

ko wa yo na des dza ko wa yo na dza camp she went back. Camp she came back.

a ko go ya na tse kez do can jo da n zi kal la hi da la hi di' Then she thought about it. "It is not good for me," she thought. "Well justone more time

ako nadıcda nzi annita daneci nzi akogo nayıska ako there I will go," she thought. "Now what will it do to me," she thought. Then it was day again there

na des dza a ko go a ku' na na dza ai Ge bi l'a na nes ti' a ko go she went again. Then there she came again, there under it she lay again. Then

10 an ni ta tu yu ne' oñ kat' a ko go bil go jon a ko go na des dza now water inside dropped. Then she felt good. Then she started back.

ko wa yo na dza a ko go a ku' si da Camp she came back. Then there she stayed.

a ko go da 'ai Ge xos tan be da xın ta' a ko go bi bıt' yu na yi-Then just there six months were. Then her abdomen she felt over with herhand.

gi dd ni a ko go bi bt' de tị n toa' a ko go se bi be da xın tạ Then her abdomen little was large. Then eight when months were

a ko go bi bit yo na yi go dil ni a ko go na ki dza da da xi ta go' then her abdomen she felt over. Then twelve when months were,

15 an ni ta al me' goz li a ko go bel go jon a ko go ai yi na li hn now all her baby was born. Then she was glad. Then that girl

goz li was born.

> a ko go bi ts'al ya' a go la bi tc'tt' ya' a go la a ko go Then its basket cradle for it she made. Its hay for it she made. Then

n jo go nail te a ko go gos tan be da xın ta a ko go nez da sıt da good she took care of it. Then six months were, then it sat up. It sat.

a ko go se bị be da xưn tạ a ko go na doz si lị a ko go na ki-Then eight months were, then it crept it became. Then twelve dza da be da xi ta a ko go na di dza na γ a a ko go an ni ta ba' hi months were, then it stood up. It walked about. Then now the mother

bitc'i yalti' njongo ya'ni' akogo di ndji lago nant'i ai toher shetalked. "Well," she told her. Then, "These seeds many grow those

be' hi na le yıl ni a ko go ai n jo go tc'o ba' ac t'i go an nıc la with we will live," she told her. Then, "That well bad thing I doing I made you."

yt in nt' a ko go yt in a gol ni' a ko go n la Ge n la' tc'o ba' ac t'ishe told her. Then she told her. Then, "Over there there bad thing when I did

5 go go sın li hi a t'ε yıl n nıt' you were born it is," she said.

a ko go ba yi te'i xat dzi ci ma'n nıt' ci hi xa go ac ne''.

Then her mother to her she spoke. "My mother," she said, "I what shall-I do?"

n nư ci ja je tc'o ba' ac t'i go go sın li ai k'e go an t'i go n jon ci she said. "My child bad thing I did you were born that way you do, is good I-think,"

yth n nt' a ko go ci ja je nu' wa ge dju \tilde{n} go na'ai n ke na dc ai ge she said it to her. Then, "My child, well, over there sun it shines there

ts'ıt dak' nan te a ko go da t'e ci yıl n nıt' a ko go bınc ta' n nıt' up you lle." Then "That way," she said. Then, "I will try," she said.

10 a ko go ai a ko' de ya djiñ go na 'ai bi l'ul ye' n ke na dιc Ge Then that one there she went. Sun its beams with where it shone

nes da' djeñ go na'ai bi tc'i go nes da ako go do bane da' ako go she sat. Sun toward she sat. Then it did not happen to her. Then

na des dza ko wa yo ba yi na gos ni' do n jo da ci ma' yıl n nıt she went back. At camp her mother she told. "Not good, my mother," she sald.

da γa t'en di a ku na dn da yıl n nıt'
"Nevertheless, there you go again," she told her.

a ko go la' na yıs ka a ku' na des dza a ko go a ku na na dza Then one it was day again, there she went again. Then there she came again.

15 a ko go ai Gε na nes tị a ko go dac doj jo a yın la a ko go tc'ε
Then there she lay again. Then nearby it did it. Then in vain

ail'i na des dza ko wa yo na dza a ko go bą yil na gos ni' ci ma she did it. She went back. Camp she came back. Then her mother she told, "Mymother

do can jo da yılın nit' da' ci ja je da Ge n jo n di a t'e yılın nit' it was not good for me," she said. "But my child sometime good it will be," she said.

a ko go la' nai yıs ka a ko go a ko' na des dza ai Ge na nes ti' Then one it was day again, then there she went again. There she lay downagain.

an ni ta da go jo a xan n ϵ go tc'i dn dlat' dac do ja ai y ϵ n la a ko go Now good nearby sun shone. Nearly she did it. Then

ai Ge si ti da na go de ya na des dza ko wa yo na dza bą ytł nathere she lay. Little while, she went back. Camp she came back. Her mother. she told,

gol ni'ci ma' dac do ja a xan ne go tc'i dn dlat yıl n nit'n jo "My mother, nearly near it shone," she said. "Good,

da k'a di go lañ ke yıl n nit pretty soon it will be." she said.

a ko go na yıs ka a ko' na des dza a ko na na dza a ko' na-Then it was day again, there she went back. There she came again. There she lay again.

5 nes tị a ko go djin go na 'ai xa xo γał a ko go ai Ge bi l'ul xa t'i Then sun rose. Then there its beams came out

si li a ko go nai li hn n'i bi k'ai di la' a ko go al ιz lị n k ϵ nal kaj it was. Then that girl her hips shook. Then all it was. She was quiet.

a ko go na di dza a ko go na des dza ko wa yo na dza bą ytł na-Then she got up. Then she went back. Camp she came back. Her mother shetold.

gos ni' ci ma' n nit' da t'e go ci' ci k'ai dil la a ko go do xa'n jo-"My mother," she said, "what is it my hips shook, then not soon I was wellagain?"

nas dlį da yth nit'n jo an nita lañ ge yth nit'ku' sın da yth nit'she said. "Good now it is," she said. "Here you sit," she said.

10 a ko go do a ko' na des dza da Then not there she went again.

> a ko go a ko si ke an ni ta bil go jo di ci djo go ni ci n zį-Then there they two sat. Now she felt good. "This one my helper," shewas thinking

go' bil go jo a ko go da 'ai Ge gos tan be da xi tan a ko go bi bit' she was happy about it. Then just there six months were, then her abdomen

na gi dd ni a ko go bi bt' d ϵ t'i hi n tca' a ko go ci ma' n nit' she felt with her hand. Then her abdomen a little was large. Then, "My mother," she said,

ci bi di den tca' ci ja je n jo xol ze yil n nit'
"my belly is getting large." "My child, good it is called," she said.

15 a ko go se bi be da xi ta a ko go bi bit' n tca' a ko go ai da' Then eight months were, then her abdomen was large. Then then

tsi' ba ai le' bi l'o' ba ai le da bi γ a ba' ai yın la' a ko go sticks for it she made. Its grass for it she made. All for it she made. Then

na ki dza da be da xi ta bi bit' n nit' a ko go ba yıl na gos ni' twelve months were her belly hurt. Then her mother she told.

ci ma . ci bư' de bi yi' n ni' n nit a ko go ci ja je do ba na go-"My mother, my belly inside hurts," she said. Then "My child, one does notsay that." te'il ni da yıl n nit' a ko go do yal ti da she said. Then she did not say anything.

a ko go yo nas go an ni ta $m\epsilon'$ na di dil taz a ko go $m\epsilon'$ goz li Then after now baby moved. Then baby was born.

a ko go ai uc kin hi hi goz li a ko go bi wo ye na bi ni ti ci wo ye Then that boy that one was born. Then her grandchild she took up. "Mygrandchild,"

yıl n nit' a ko go' bi wo y ϵ yıl tc'i y ϵ xa yi d ϵ la' a ko go da la' ϵ she said. Then her grandchild ashes with she put on. Then just one

5 be yıs ka a ko go t'a bi' nai dni ti a ko go ci wo ye yil n nit' a ko go it was day. Then early morning she took it up again. Then, "My grandchild," she said. Then

ya' xai dn'a' go jo si xai dn'a ya' yi do al ci wo ye ytl ni go for it she sang. Good songs she sang. For him she was singing, "My grand-child," saying

yi do ał a ko go ci ja j ϵ yił n nit'n jo yo n dza yd n nit'a ko go she sang. Then, "My child," she said, "well you did," she said. Then

di ıc kin hi no xa' goz li tc'o ba' a xi t'i go goz li ci ja je ni "This boy for us was born; bad thing because we did was born. My child, you

n lain la yak'os tu ba' ni cił tci ni tc'i ni n' ni hi djiñ go na 'ai that one clouds water for I gave you birth," she said they say. "You, sun

10 ba' cinł tei ni te'i ni n' a ko go tu ba te'ıs tei ne xonl ze yıl ni for you gave birth," she said they say. Then "Tobate'isteini you will be called," she said

tc'i ni n' bi ja je hi tsi ts'ınl gai xol ze do ni tc'i ni n' they say. "Her child 'white head' will be called," she said they say.

a ko go me' i gos tan be do xi ta go nez da tc'i ni n' a ko go Then baby six when months were sat up they say. Then

se bi be da xị tạ go na di dza a ko go na ki dza da be da xị tạ eight when months were it stood up. Then twelve months were,

a ko go n tca' si li a ko go bi wo ye ba' i do al go jo si' di i then large he became. Then her grandchild for him she sang. Good songs, four

15 ba' yi do al tc'i ni n' ai be' bi tc'i' go jo go ai yın la tc'i ni n' for him she sang they say. That with to him good she did they say.

a ko go ai di' na di dza tc'i ni n' Then that time he stood up they say.

a ko go bi k'a' ya gon la a ko go xwos naz kat yol t'o tc'i ni n Then his arrows she made for him. Then cactus it stood he shot they say.

a ko go da yd tsą tc'i ni n' a ko go bi k'a' de t'i n tca i go ya'. Then he hit it they say. Then his arrow little larger for him

ai yın la an ni ta xwoc yonl t'ok' bıñ ka yo ts' ϵ n kez tc'i ni n she made. Now cactus he shot. Through it it went they say.

a ko go bi k'a' n tea go ya yın la a ko go xwoc n teai ai yonl t'ok Then his arrow larger she made for him. Then cactus large that one he shot.

a ko go biñ ka yo ben kez an ni ta ci wo ye n jo na anl wot dla Then through it it went. "Now, my grandchild, good. You are strong enough.

k'a di' a ko' dan wa hε bιñ ka' nl jε' yιł ni tc'i ni n' Now there everything for it you hunt," she told him they say.

a ko go ku' de ya tc'i ni n' a ko nan ta' a ko go do n t'e yınl-Then there he started they say. There he looked over. Then he did not seeanything.

5 tsa da dan jo go na dza a ko go ła yo go na dza a ko dlo' is-Just nothing i he came back. Then another place he started. There mouse

ts'on se yan ya yi nei i ako go n t'e ca' an t'e n zi ako na deshe came to. He saw it. Then, "What it is?" he thought. Then he started back.

dza ko wa yo na dza bi wo y ϵ y ι l na gos ni' ci wo y ϵ n t' ϵ ci al-Camp he came back. His grandmother he told. "My grandmother, something small

ts'is ϵ bi na d ϵ xal i g ϵ hi ϵ i y ϵ ni a ko go ai dlo' ϵ ts'on se xol z ϵ its eye stays open all the time I saw," he said. Then, "That mouse is called,"

yıl n nit' a ko go ai a ko al dıc ni n nit' a ko go ba nan da' she told him. Then, "That there I meant," she said. Then, "Go to it;

10 cml xe ko' nanl te yıl n nit' a ko go a ko' na des dza ya n ya kill it. Here bring it," she said. Then there he went again. He came to it.

ai $G\epsilon$ ai yi $z\epsilon s$ xi a ko go nai $d\epsilon z$ n ϵ' ko wa yo di ko' ał dic ni There that he killed. Then he brought it home, camp. "This I meant."

n nit' ai yi da tc'i yan ne a t'e n nit' she said. "This one we eat it is," she said.

a ko go la yo go na des dza a ko ga' yan ya bit ts'a' na dil γ ot' Then another direction he started. There rabbit he came to. From him it ran.

ako go na des dza ko wa yo na dza ako go ci wo ye n dec į Then he started back. Camp he came back. Then, "My grandmother, I saw,

15 bi dja di ya xol tel hi hi hic 'i ci ts'a' na dıl γot ni go bi wo ye his ears wide, that one I saw. From me it ran." saying his grandmother

ytł na gos ni'a ko go ai yi ci wo ye Ga' xol ze be xi na'hi ai yehe told. Then, "That, my grandson, Ga' is named. With it we live That one

ko' biñ ka na dn da' sin $x \in y$ i n nit' a ko go a ko de ya ai for it go. Kill it," she told him. Then there he started. That one

yan ya ako go bi k'a' yε yıs ka bi zes xi ako go nai des ti he came to. Then his arrow with he shot it. He killed it. Then he started homewith it.

a ko go ko wa yo nainł ti di ał d ι c ni ci wo y ϵ n nit' ai yi b ϵ Then camp he brought it back. "This I meant, my grandson," she said, "this with

Literally, "just good," but often used with the meaning here given.

i xi na' a t'ε da tci yan nε n jo nε a t'ε yil n nit' a ko go an ni ta' we live it is. They eat it, good it is," she said. Then, "Now

di n jo yo an t'i di da na yo n za yo bi xol z ϵ hi gon li a ko this well you are doing. This some distance far deer called lives. There

nan ta ai n jo ni a t'e a ko go ci wo ye tc'o 'ol bi l'a o donl to n-look. That good it is. Then, my grandson, Douglas spruce under it do not-pull it,

la' do da' le ga' ci wo ye hi ye' n tc'o ai bi l'a do na tctl'a da do not, my grandson that not good. That under do not cut open.

5 gon yε yu αn nε la' ci wo yε ni tc'i ni n'
Dangerous you do it, my grandson," she said they say.

a ko go a ku' de ya a ku yınl tsa n t'e ci tsi' bıs ga' da yo γ el Then there he started. There he saw something tree dry carrying.

da yo wel i ai yunl tsa a ko go na des dza ko wa yo na dza a ko go What he was carrying that he saw. Then he started back. Camp he came back.

Then

bi wo ye yel na gos ni' ci wo ye tsi' bes ga' da yo wel hi hi hic i his grandmother he told. "My grandmother, tree dry carrying that I saw,

na des dza ai da' ai yi ci wo ye łą go į lį hi a t'e be' hi na a t'e I came back." "Then that one, my grandchild, much price it is. With it welive.

10 bi ka dn a' ko k'a' ni dzil go i ϵ ' at dınt' tc'o i ϵ a ko go a ko After it go. His arrow strong hard one shoots." Then there

de ya a ko ya n ya a ko go tc'ıl bın ne de ya n ya a xan ne go he started. There he came to it. Then brush behind he went, near

a ko go yon't 'ok yıs ka' a ko go yi zes xi a ko go tc'o 'ol bi l'a then he shot. He hit it. Then he killed it. Then Douglas spruce under it

o į dnł to' a ko go san nε hε da t'ε go cą' a ni la n z į goʻ a koʻ he dragged it. Then, "Old woman what for she says it," he thinking there

ni den't to a ko go ai Ge nail'a he dragged it. Then there he cut it open.

15 a ko go da k'a dja ani i le go' tu is ki hn bi k'ez kat a ko go Then, nearly all was done, water boy fell on him. Then

n jo go nail a a ko go bi ka di' tu go da' tun na kat a ko go good he cut it. Then on top water down dropped again, then

an ni ta ts'ıt dak' dez yal a ko nai li hn yını tsa a ko go ci ka' now up he looked. There maiden he saw. Then, "My husband,"

biln nit' a ko go ai bi tci' ja dai dn nil a ko go des dzil ko wa ni she said to him; then that its intestines only he took up. Then he ran. House

bi tc'i' des dz.l a ko go na li hn bi ke' es dz.l ci ka' bil ni go to it he ran. Then malden after him ran. "My husband," saying,

bi te'i' dd woc a ko go ai yi te'i' n ki des ka' a ko go di n'i to him she shouted. Then that toward her he put on ground. Then this it is go no doz si li a ko go da γ a t'e n di a xan ne di' hd wol gulches became. Then nevertheless close she was running.

a ko go ιc ki hn na des dzιl bi wo ye bi ko wa yo nal γοτ' ci wo ye Then boy he ran again. His grandmother her camp he ran to. "My grandmother"

n nit' n t' ϵ ci ci k \hat{a} ' ci \hat{a} ni go ci k ϵ ' hil γ ot n nit' ci go y ϵ y ϵ do da he said. "something 'my husband' saying to me behind me is running," he said. "My grandchild, 'not'

5 nh die nin n.'i da dalla hai yo hi o na ni te'i nin' a ko go ko Gé' I told you it is. Not much good which way you do," she said they say. Then

bi t'a yo ya o won Get' a ko ya o goni ti a ko ya tc'ın nes da by in she dug a hole. In there she put him in. In there he sat.

a ko go de tị hi go da dil got' a ko go ai nai lị hn ai ci kạ i Then little while down she ran. Then that girl, "This my husband

hai yo n nit'a ko go ni ka' doc i da n nit' da ko ji ci ka' ol γ ot'-where?" she said. "Right here myhusband was running

la die ni n nit' ni ka' do e' i da n nit' ei ka' bi gon si n nit' I say," she said. "Your husband I did not see," she said. "My husband I know," she said.

10 a ko go di hi bi ke'n nit' ko'ba ji'nes da uz liz a ko go da'-Then, "These his tracks," she said. By the fireside she sat. She urinated. Then there

'ai $G\epsilon$ sit da a ko go a ko ya na go dn $G\epsilon$ t' a ko go ι c ki hn xai dnł-she sat. Then in there she dug. Then boy she took out.

t'į' ako go ιc ki hn hi na di dza wa ji' xai ya Then the boy stood up. There he came out.

a ko go nai li hn ci ką' bư n nit' ci ką' bư n nit' a ko go ci Then maiden, "My husband," she said to him. "My husband," she said to him. Then "I

te'o 'ol di di' na ti go bε. ci ko wa lε yıl n nit' n jo n nit' a ko go Douglas spruce four places they bring it with I make my house," he said. "All-right," she said. Then

15 na lị hn ol γ ot' tc'o 'ol nai tạ la yo o na nal γ ot' nai tạ la yo girl she ran. Douglas spruce she brought a stick. Another direction she ran again.

She brought a stick. Another direction

o na nal γ ot' nai ta la yo o na nal γ ot' nai ta a ko go di di' she ran again. She brought a stick. Another direction she ran again. She brought astick. Then four places

te dn ts'i a ko go a ko nε' bi ko wa she stuck them in a circle. Then in there her house.

Digitized by Google

a ko go yu ne' si ke a ko go ι c ki hn do b ι l go jo da a ko go ai Then in they two sat. Then boy he did not like it. Then that

na lịn hi don jo da a ko go do ya na γ a da a ko go na lị hn da tơ ' ι dgirl was not good. Then he did not touch her. Then girl she wanted to do something,

digo 'a ne' ai uc kin hi yi gol si a ko go na lin hi ai bi go go li that boy he knew it. Then the girl that her teeth she had.

a ko go ιc ki hn sai tc'il b ιl yi nes dok' di i yi nes dok' ko' Then boy sand brush with he stuck on. Four he stuck on. There

5 n yın dja ako go nalin hi ba' al za ako go yıl nes tej ako go he put them. Then girl for he made them. Then he lay with her. Then

an ni ta yi go' si go' ai yın la' a ko go ai da la' ϵ nes dok ai yi now because he knew it he did. Then that just one he made, that

ye' ya na di dza ai o yını' nak' na ki o yını' nak' ta gi o yını' nak' with he did it. That he threw in. Two he threw in. Three he threw in,

ai da bi ni i go o yını nak a ko go la' di i le' go' ai de t'i that halfway he threw in. Then another four will be, that little

yi k'a nai ya' a ko go ιc ki hn bi tse' li Gai ye nai dn'a a ko go it grinds up. Then boy his stone white he took up. Then

10 ιc ki hn bi tsε' hi Gai yε bε' na yi' nes ne' a ko go ai Ge bi bij boy his stone white with he knocked. Then there his knife,

dol gi ni bec be' bi t'a le dn ta di k'e go a gol ze' n nit' a ko go obsidian knife, with inside he cut around. "This way, it should be," he said.

Then.

di k'e go djoc xol ze n nit' an ni ta nit nc ne' n nit' a ko go & ki"This way 'djoc' it is named." he said. "Now I marry you," he said. Then boy
hn n jo go nez da'
well he sat.

a ko go ι c ki hn be'a hi bo'n 'i la go' ai bi γ a di i xai dn ι j Then boy his wife not liking him that her hairs four she pulled out.

15 a ko go tcij xa de ya a ko go a ko cac ai yin la di i a ko go Then wood she went after. Then there bears she made four. Then

bi ka' cki hni yd na gos ni'n la ge n t'e ci n jo le' a no li ni her husband, boy she told, "Over there something good look like

na kai ni go yıl na gos ni' a ko go ıc ki hn n jo n nit' a ko nel 'i they are going about," saying she told him. Then boy, "All right," he said. "There we will see,

n t'e ca' n nit' a ko go yu da γε tc'il bi yi ge n nit' something," he said. "Then up there brush inside," she said.



¹ Seems to contain bo', "owl," the most feared and disliked of creatures.

a ko go a ku' dej aj a ko go ya n aj ai i ban go n jo' n si Then there they two started. Then they two came there, "That leather good I think,"

n nit' n jo i ban auc ϵ n zi ϵ γ a dn ni ai ban ca ko' she said. "Good buckskin I make' you think. As you please that I go to.

yu we yo da nal kut'a ko go a ku ni ya go dza di'bi tc'į'a di-Yonder hill then there when I come here to them you shout.

dn nił a ko go ai bi da'n di cał a ko go a ko ıc ki hn o ya. Then those in front of them I come." Then there boy came.

5 a ko go de t'i da gos t'o' go nai li hn na da dd γaj n lai bi gañ' ge
Then little when time passed girl she hollered. "Over there on top hill

uc ki hn das da' hi n da xo dzunts n nit' yu xa yu xa yu n nit boy who sits tear up," she said. "Yuxa yuxa," she said.

a ko go uc ki hn i dız ts'a a ko go uc ki hn bi 'i bi tc'a i dai di-Then boy he heard. Then boy his shirt, his hat he took off.

nil a ko go tsi' i Got' dd xal i hi bi tc'a' i k'e dn 'a bi 'i yi nai dnl-Then stump black his hat he put on, his shirt he put on.

tsoz a ko go bi ne di go nes da Then behind it he sat.

10 a ko go bi tc'i' tc'i des tel a xan ne go ba ts'ınl tel a ko go 'ai Ge
Then to it they ran, near they ran. Then there

bi tc'i' na ts' ι ns tel in ts' ϵ go' x ι l γ ol i yon' t'ok yi z ϵ s xi bi k'i d ϵ go to it they came. First which was running he shot. He killed it. Next one

k'a da ła 'e ye yonł t'ok' yi zes xi bi k'i di go da ła 'e ye yonł t'ok arrow just one with he shot. He killed it. Next just one with he shot.

yi zes xi bi k'i de go da la'e ye yonl t'ok yi zes xi a ko go al He killed it. The next just one with he shot. He killed it. Then all

an ni ta a ko si nıl now there they lay.

15 a ko go bi 'a yi tc'i 'na di dza a ko go bi i nai dni tsoz bi tc'a'
Then his wife to her he stood up. Then his shirt he took up. His hat

nai dn'a ako go ai G ϵ si zi ako go bi'a na di dil γ aj yu xa he took up. Then there he stood. Then his wife shouted. "Yuxa

yu xa n nit' uc ki hn n jo go n da xot ts'ınts sol xe n nit' a ko go yuxa," she said. "Boy well tear to pieces. Kill him," she said. Then

ıc ki hn i dız ts'a yuc di'n nit'i ku'i ban njo ni hi sın nil boy he heard. "Come," he sald. "Here buckskin those good lie,"

n nit' a ko go yoc di'hil te' he said. Then, "Come here."

20 a ko go a ko ya n ya do bil go jo da a ko go n d ϵ ' hi yi ts'a yo go Then there she came. She was not pleased. Then the man away from

n ya a ko go bi tcak'a ko go ai yi nl s ϵ a ko yl n nit i ban n j ϱ she stood. Then she cried. Then, "Those you make soft there," he told her. "Buckskin good

n ni 'n' a ko go na dn t'ac yıl n nit na dec t'ac ko wa yo yıl na t'aj you said." Then, "Let us go back," he said. They two started back. Camp theytwo came back.

an ni ta njo si li ani bi te'i go ya Now good it became, all continued well.

ako go ic ki hn bi wo yε ai Gε bi ko wa tc'i ni n a ko go bi wo-Then boy his grandmother there their house was they say. Then his grandmother

5 yε na yo dd kt ci wo yε hai yo ca' dan wa hε bi ke go ye' i 1 gon li he questioned. "My grandmother, where everything dangerous lives?"

tc'inin ako go gon ye yo gon li ni tc'i ni n a ko go "Where it is dangerous he lives," she said he said they say. Then,

na Ge ga ni xol ze ai bi ke gon ye n de yi γ a ni tc'i ni n a ko go Nagegani i is called, that dangerous, man he kills," she said they say. Then,

hai yo gon li ni tc'i ni n n za yo gon li ni tc'i ni n' na koz ϵ "Where does he live?" he asked they say. "Far he lives," she said they say.

bil'ayo goli ni te'inin' njo ako dicaci ni teinin' ai under he lives," she said they say. "All right, there I go," he said they say.

10 al ni hi dan wa ban ca ni te'i ni n' I mean. All I go to," he said they say.

> akogo la'i del Git xol ze ni tc'inin' dobanatc'igada n de' Then, "Another, Delgit is called," he said they say. "You can't get close.

łai 'i na ko' dił ge di xol ze tc'i ni n' a ko go naił tset ni he kills," she said they say. Then, "Another Nako'dilgedi is called," she said tc'i ni n gon y ϵ yo gon li k ϱ ' na da t'i yu bi ko wa ni tc'i ni n' they say. "A dangerous place he lives. Fire where it stands up 4 his house," she-

łai'i tse da'keilesi xolze gonyeyu dastin ni tc'inin' "Another 'stone who kicks' is called. Dangerous place he lies," she said they say.

15 al n ni dan wa bi ke gon ye n ne nail tset al ni ci wo ye ni tc'ii you speak of all are dangerous. People they kill I mean, my grandchild," shesaid they say.



 $^{^1}$ bi ke go jo ni, means "good for tune." The stem -ye' refers to "danger." 2 "Kills with his eyes."

[&]quot;"Light every way," was the etymology given.

⁴ Where smoke ascends.

nin njo danga banca aiyi ni tc'inin' ako go ai al nil xol-"All right, all I go to those," he said they say. Then, "Those all I willenumerate for you,"

tak' ni tc'i ni n' a ko go ci wo y ϵ ni i z ϵ ' n jo ni gon li a she said they say. Then, "My grandchild your medicine good you have, that tc'o nel ϵ ni tc'i ni n' a ko go bi tc'i' go n y ϵ dan wa' da din niyou take," she said they say. Then, "To them bad all four of them,

t'e go a ko go ai ban ca dic ni then those I go to I say."

5 ako go aku' de ya aku' bi tc'i' yu hi γał ako go ai na ke-Then there he started. There toward he was walking. Then that eyes he kills γa ne bi ko wa ya n ya bi tc'i'yu axan ni go goc k'az ni go co Gιc ci his house he came to. Toward it near cold wind blow

yił ai yın la a ko go na ye γ a ni bi lį' dį i bi na dez 'į ni ai daswith he made. Then Nage γ ani his pets four those which look about him those being frozen,

dli go do na da γ al da' a ko go ya n ya yıl xa a ya a ko go bi li' they did not see him. Then he came to him. He came in. Then his pets

tsi be xai yi dais tsaz a ko go na Ge γa ni da bi nel į a ko go stick with he hit. Then Nageγani he looked at. Then

10 bi ni' an na na din a ko go bi i zε' yε na di yol go' n jo na na dle his mind became none for awhile. Then his medicine with when he blew, good he became again.

a ko go l'ij di i bi t'a sın nıl go' a ko go yi te'i' de nil kat' a ko go Then snakes four inside his shirt were lying, then to him he threw them in fire.

bi tc'i' da des tal bi na o da xes tc'd a ko go an ni ta' bin na et di to them they burst. Their eyes they flew in. Then now their eyes were none si li a ko go bi bij dul xul i yi ta yun ta dan wa' nais tset a ko go became. Then his knife black he stuck among. All he killed. Then

na des dza ko wa yo na dza a ko go bi wo ye yıl na gos ni' ci wo ye he started back. Camp he came back. Then his grandmother he told, "My grandmother mother

15 ai na Ge γa ne na skł tset n jo ci wo ye ai k'e go' n jo those Nageγani I killed." "Good, my grandchild, that way is good."

an ni ta' ci wo ye na des dza hai yu dil Git gon li n za yo go li "Now, my grandmother, I am going again. Where Delgit lives?" "Far away he lives."

yth n nit' a ko go ni' xa gol Get' Ge^1 go'lį do da djol le' a t'e da n jo she said. Then ground flat by he lives. One cannot get to him." "All right,

[&]quot;Where it has been dug out" seems to be the literal meaning; perhaps a wallow is meant.

ban ca ci wo ye dic ni a ko de ya a ko go a ko' de ya n za yo I will go to him, my grandmother, I say." There he started. Then there he started. Far away

ni' xa γ ol Get Ge siz zį a ko go yınl tsą xa go' ac ne' xe'e n zį ground flat he stood. Then he saw him. "How shall I do?" he thought.

a ko go na' tl l'i di 'i 'an di bi tc'i' xal wot' co ytl n nit' Then gopher his hole this to him came out. "Co." he said,

cc ki hn yılın nit'n tela bi γa sın da yılın nit'da'n lai sız zi ni boy he sald to. "What reason you sit?" he asked. "Just over there who stands

5 xa go' ta' a djo le n si n nit' a ko go ci le n nit' n la le γ a dn ni 'how (?) shall it be done' I think," he said. Then, "Me always," he said. "Well, as you say,"

n nit' ban ca ba nac dal ϵ n nit' dzą sın da di t'į hi ji' he said. "I go to it, I always go to him," he said. "Here sit little while."

a ko go yo wi ya o nal wot' a ko go ai dd Gt nez ti a ko go Then right in he ran again. Then that Deloit lay there. Then

de t'i hi go ai di hes na a ku ya dez i a ko go na nes ti a ko go little while that one he got up. In there he looked. Then he lay down again. Then

an ni ta nail li di nal wot' a ko go uc ki hn n nit' di go il ka' now gopher ran back. Then, "Boy," he sald, "four ways one on the other

10 go de Get' bi gac t'a Ge xa di k'i a ko go de ni dje ko' ni lat ni xal I dug holes. Under his arm I cut off hair." Then, "Build a fire. Fire make burn; your club

n jo go yini tci an ni ta' yu ne' o dn nai yui n nit' a ko go ai good make red hot, then in go," he told him. Then that

bec n du' a ko $n\epsilon'$ ol wot' knife hot in he ran.

a ko go bec ye γ ainł Get' a ko go na dil γ ot' a ko go bi de Then knife he stuck in. Then he got up. Then his horn

da la' hi go i 'an ne ye xai n dziz a ko go na ki go i 'an ne ye xai njust one tunnel he tore out. Then the second hole he tore out.

15 dzız a ko go ta go' i 'an ne ye xai n dzız a ko go di go i le' go' Then the third hole he tore out. Then fourth it will be

bi ni yo daz tsa a ko go yi zes xi its middle he died. Then he killed him.

a ko go bi ka γε ai yın la bi Got' ai yın la bi dil ai yın la a ko go Then his hide he secured. His knee he secured. His blood he secured. Then

ko wa yo na des dza ko wa yo na dza ci wo ye dd $G_{i}t$ zel xi n nit' camp he started back. Camp he came. "My grandmother, Deloit I killed," he said.

a xi y ϵ' ϵ ci wo y ϵ n nit' a ko go ci wo y ϵ i ka $\gamma\epsilon$ ca' naił tsoz "Thanks, my grandchild," she said. Then, "My grandchild, hide to me give," ni go i dec j ϵ j saying she danced.

a ko go ci wo ye xai yu ts'e da kel es i go li n nit gon ye ci wo ye Then, "My grandmother, where Tsedakelesi lives?" he asked. "Dangerous, my grandchild,

tse nan ne doz ił ni ge das tį bi l'a yo bi ja je sın nıl bi k'e go rock bluff in middle he lies. Under him his children are. On it

5 das ti da 'ai Ge da la' hi go tc'ın na tın ai Ge da tc'i di γa yo go he lles up. There just one place trail by is. There if one gets up,

bi l'a yo ya o ko ts' il tal n jo bi tc' i de ya a ko de ya ai ya n ya under he kicks one over." "All right, to him I go." There he started. That one

tse nan ne doz ti ni Ge tc'i i tın' xas til a ko go tc'es ko si yi tc'i' Rock bluff middle trall by, old man. Then squirrel to him

nai nez int' a ko go yon tal a ko go da t'e ci li' xon tal ytl n nit' he sent. Then he kicked it. Then, "Why my pet you kick?" he asked.

da' hi ya yo ac t'i n nit' a ko go dlo s tco' li k'ıj ji a ko' nai nez-"Just when I am tired I do that," he said. Then rat spotted there he sent.

10 int' a ko go yon tal da t'ε ci li' xon tal yıl n nit' a ko go l'ις
Then he kicked it. "Why my pet you kicked?" he asked. Then snake

yi tc'i' yai yınl t'e a ko go be nes ts'ıt' ai yi n nit' a ko go na di dilto him he threw. Then, "I am afraid that one," he said. Then he tried to kickit away.

taz a ko go bi bij ye' yiz kał bi tsi ya $\gamma \epsilon$ a ko di tse nan t'i' Then his knife with he cut, his hair below. There this stone wall

. yo wi ya o go' da' na des dza yi zes xi go' ko wa yo na dza ci wo ye over when he knocked him he started back. Having killed him camp he came back.
"My grandmother,

tse da ke il es i zel xin n nit' bi yo ye yıl na gos ni' n jon bil n nit' Tsedakelesi I killed," he sald. His grandmother he told. "Good," she sald.

gon y ϵ yo go li ko' na da t'i yo go li yil n nit' a ko d ϵ ya ban ca "A dangerous place he lives. Fire where comes up he lives," she said. "There I will go. I will go to him,"

n nit' a ko go a ko de ya a ko go a ko ya n ya a ko go yes da he said. Then there he started. Then there he came to him. Then he was sittingagainst something.

¹ Probably das ti "he lay," as 1.4 above.

a ko go hn du i ban ya ic ki hn n tel a bi sınl da n nit'n lai Then wildcat came to him. "Boy, why you sit against it?" he asked. "Over there xa go a djo le n si yıl n nit'a ko go ıc ki hn l'el la nil t'a yıl n nit'how it will be' I am thinking." he told him. Then, "Boy, firedrill make likearrow," he told him.

a ko go l'él di i nai dn nil bis Ga hi a ko go di wa yo nil t'o' Then, "Firedrills four bring, dry ones. Then this over there shoot."

5 di yo yi des t'ok a ko go na ko dıl ge di a ko' yınl tsą a ko Four ways he shot. Then Nako'dilgedi there he saw it. There

yil te nal γot' la yo na yil te nal γot' la yo na yil te nal γot' la yo he ran to it. Another way he ran to it again. Another way he ran to it again.

na yil te nal γ ot' a ko go xın ya da' yi te'i' de ya a ko go n za di' he ran to it again. Then when he got tired to it he started. Then from afar

bo yi' ts'i zınl Gai ca no ya'ga' n nit' a ko go ıc ki hn na ko dihe called his name. "Ts'izınlgai, to me let him come," he said. Then, "Boy, "Nako'dits'iyi'

ts'i yi ca no ya ga n nit' a ko go la t'ac n nit' n jo n nit' to me let him come," he said. Then, "Let us two come together," he said. "All-right," he said.

10 a ko go lan aj a ko go ci ko wa yo n nit' no'' n nit'
Then they came together. Then, "To my house," he said. "All right," he said.

a ko dej aj bi ko wa yo nez ke xa t'e wa an t'i yel n nit' li zin de There they two started. His house they two sat. "What for you do it?" herasked. "Let us kill each other,"

yıl n nit'n jon i da n ts'e yıl n nit'n jon n nit'a ko go i tsi'he said. "All right," we will eat first," he said. "All right," he said. Then meat

bi bij i xai ın nıl ako go i ya tsız ts'ınl Gai ai do yi ya da' ako go bis knife he took out. Then he ate. Tsızts'ınl gai that onc he didn't eat. Then

al n la le n nit' a ko go da t'in yo le n nit' go da t'i yo n 'aj "All, come," he sald. Then "It will be outside," he sald. Outside they two came.

15 a ko go da ıni la bec dol γi ni hi' go li a ko go ai dai ıni la bi tsi-Then both knives obsidian they had. Then those both on his head

t'a' das da hi na gol ni'i go li ni i t'se lil o nit' ni' n nit' ni' which sits tells him they have. "You first," they told each other. "You," he said. "You,"

n nit' a ko go tsi ts'ınl gai bi tsi t'a ge das da hi bıl na gos ni' he said. Then Tsits'ınl gai on his head which sits told him,

bi tc'o γος 'o' yu ne' bi ganl Get n dit'
"His shadow in you stick," it said.



¹ Respectful address as between relations-in-law.

a ko go na ko di tsi yi in ts'ε yi γainl Get k'i di go tsi ts'ınl Gai Then Nako'ditsiyi first he stuck. Afterward Teits'ınlıgai

bi tc'o γος 'o' yo ne' yi γainł Get' a ko go lız es di' a ko go tsi ts'ınlhis shadow in he stuck. Then both are dying. Then Tsits'ınlıgal

Gai in $ts'\epsilon'$ na di doz a ko go bi i $z\epsilon'$ n jo $n\epsilon$ $x\iota n$ na hi' yi ya first got up. Then his medicine good life giving he ate.

a ko go n jon nas dli a ko go tsi ts' ι nł Gai d ϵ dak' a na nił go' Then good he became again. Then Tsits' ι nloal up he lifted a little

5 bi bij yε' yi zεs xi
his knife with he killed him.

a ko go na des dza ko wa yo na dza ci wo ye na ko d ι l ke di Then he started back. Camp he came back. "My grandmother, Nako'diikidi

zeł xi n nit' n jo a xi ye'e di ni gos ts'an bi ka' ba'na gon l'ok n'į I killed," he said. "Good, thanks. This earth on those who used to make trouble

al hın γ a k'a di n jo si li ai ni gos ts'an bi ka' go jon si li all you killed. Now good is become this earth on. Good is become.

a ko go tsi ts'ınl Gai xonl zε n'i ci wo yε nai yi nes ga ni xonl zε do' Then Tsits'ınlgai you used to be called. My grandson, Naiyenezgani you will becalled."

10 k'a di a ko al Now this all.

NAIYENEZGANI.1

ał k'i dą' tc'ın ni go de ya' tc'i ni n a ko go n de' a gol ne dą' Long ago they say it began they say. Then people when they were to be made go de ya tc'i ni n ni gos ts'an ya dıł xıł bi Gıc ge n ne' da lai e it became they say. Earth sky dark between man one,

us ts'an e da la' e goz li tc'i ni n a ko go ai tc'o ba' a t'i tc'i ni n woman one, they were they say. Then that poor thing it was they say.

ai ι s ts'an na dle ce xol ze tc'i ni n la 'i na' yi' nes gan ne xol ze That Ests'unnadlehi is called they say. One Naiyenezgani is called.

15 a ko go bi ta' do yi go si da' tc'i ni n bi ta yi ka na o dd kιt'
Then his father he did not know they say. His father for him he asked

tc'i ni n xai yu ci ta go li ni tc'i ni n n za yo go li ni tc'i ni n they say. "Where my father lives?" he said they say. "Far he lives," she said they say.

a co ba dn nal ni tc'i ni n gon ye ni tc'i ni n n jo ni tc'i ni n "Impossible to him you go," she said they say. "Dangerous," she said they say. "All right," he said they say.

a ko de ya ni tc'i ni n"There I go," he said they say.

¹ Told by Albert Evans. For a free translation see pp. 36-41 above.

yi tc'i' de ya tc'i ni n na l'u le ya n ya tc'i ni n bi l'ul yi ta Toward him he started they say. Spider he came to they say. Her threads among

des tal a ko go t'a ji' na dza tc'i ni n a ko go da 'ai bi kec k' ϵ he tripped on, then back he started they say. Then that place on his tracks

na dza a ko go ai bi l'ul yi t'a na des tal a ko go l'o bi yi' he came back. Then that her threads among he tripped again. Then grass in

bi Gan be na go dn zit a ko go na l'u le bi 'an yan ya go bi tc'i' his fingers with he felt around. Then spider his hole he coming to, to him

go ye yu go li ku ci ku wa yu ne' o na' a ko go yu ne' o n ya "Where it is dangerous he lives. Here, my house inside come." Then inside hewent.

bi ko wa yu ne' yi te'i' yal ti' a ko go yu na gol ni' n ta gon ye yo Her house inside to him she talked. Then she talked with him. "Your father whereis dangerous

go lị da γa t'en di nư na gọc ni' bi ko wa hi bi tc'ị' din gọ lị ke' he lives nevertheless I will tell you about it. His house to it four ways one afterthe other

a gon t'e bi tc'i' den ya yu go da 'a na di' hi nal da' bi tsi' ke hi there are to it you go. Over there far away if you come his daughter

10 da ni doł seł ni tc'i ni n
she will see you," she said they say.

a ko go ya n ya bi la' da n na di' bini tsa ci nag ge γai n nit' Then he came there, his sister from afar saw him. "My brother walking,"

a ko go n nag ge da t'e hi da' ci nag ge dic ni hai yo la n nag ge Then "Your brother, what (do you mean)?" "Well, 'My brother,' I say." "Who your brother

ał ni n nag ge et di ci nag ge no xan ya dic ni a ko go ai na yuyou mean? Your brother is none." "'My brother has come to us' I say." Then that one she questioned.

dd ket cita ba ni ya ni do be go sen da ni ta da' cita ku go li
"My father to him I come," he said. "I do not know your father." "But myfather here lives

15 tc'an ni ai bi γa ac t'i n jo ni ta go lị leñ ke ku san da n ta they say. That because of it I am" "Well, your father lives here perhaps. Here sit down your father

na da' k'at he comes back soon."



^{1 &}quot;Son's son.

a ko go bi ta na dat go bi k ϵ ' yını tsa ko ji' xa din o ya la Then his father when he came his tracks he saw. "Here who came?"

ni tc'i ni n n ne' do la' da hi t'i da da' ko ji' o ya la dic ni he asked they say. "Man not any we see." "But 'here he came' I say;

ko bi ke' ic'i n jo ga dn ni do dac t'i da n'ni n' n ye' nc li ni hi here his tracks I see." "Well, as you say 'I don't do anything' you said; your son 'I am' who says

na nya ku sit da wa yoñ wa do xa k'i da n ni n ga dn i bi go zi comes to you. There he sits. There 'I don't do anything' you said." "Well, let us-find out."

a ko go bi na t'o nai dn ne' na dos tse' yi γ i ne' a ko go yi di-Then his tobacco he took it up. His pipe he filled. Then he lighted it.

es dinl a ko go a a a ni n go hi le' ni tc'i ni n was gone. Then, "a a pretty nearly," he said they say.

a ko go bi ye' tu dd xd e di ji' si ka tc'i ni n a ko go bi ye' Then his son water dark four directions lies they say. Then his son

djiñ go na 'ai xa na da ' ji' ya yin go' a ko go it ts'os bi ka hi the sun toward the east he threw him there. Then soft feather male

10 nas dlį go bi tc'o woc'o' di yinan el Got' a ko go a a a ni go hi le' he turning into to the place of his shadow he came to. Then, "a a nearly,"

n nit' tc'i ni n a ko go la ci' ya na d go' a ko go dt ts'os nas dli he said they say. Then south he threw him. Then soft feathers he became

bi too woo o di ye nan el Got' a ko go a a an ni go hi le' a ko go tu to the place of his shadow he came again. Then "a a pretty nearly." Then water

ddxd si ką ął ai yį la a ko go $dol \gamma i$ ni nes t'an be da del kọ' dark it lies all he did. Then obsidian seeds he asked the name of.

a ko go yol tak' te'i ni n do la' yil si da te'i ni n a ko go da kec-Then he named them they say. Not one he missed they say. Then the last one

15 k'ε yo mo' das da hi do xa yo ji da ci hi n t'ε bi γa nans t'i do owl which sat there. 'I am not going to name it so. I it is because I am.''

n nit' tc'i ni dn a ko go a a da ni ci ja je la' n jo n nit' tc'i ni n he said. they say. Then "a a truly my son, good," he said they say.

a ko go tu dd xd i si ka ai ye hai den la tu dd xd i si ka hi Then water dark it stands that with he treats him. Water dark which-

ye da dil ni go'n ne k'e go ai yin la a ko go ko wa al ts'is e yanwith when he touched him with his hand like a man he made him. Then house small he built for him.

¹ Also recorded as dant.

gon a ako go akon ne' bi tsi zıl ya agon la ako go bi gan ya Then inside his hair for him he made. Then his hands for him

'a gon la a ko go bi la gan ya a gon la bi k ϵ ya a go la a ko go be made. Then his finger nails for him he made. His feet for him he made. Then

bi ke gan ya a go la ani uz li his toe nails for him he made. All were.

ci ja je ka di' n t'e xan t'i ci ni tc'i ni n ci ta li xac t'i n jo "My boy, now what you want?" he said they say. "My father, horses I want." "Well,"

5 ni tc'i ni n li la' nan na dic t'ε ni tc'i ni n he said they say. "Horses some I will bring for you," he said they say.

a ko go lị dư xư i go da tınl t'e n ko' ci ja je ni tc'i ni n da' ai Then horse black he brought down. "This one, my boy," he said they say. "But that one

do da' ni te'i ni n lai'i ci ki i da'ai ja ci li' ni te'i ni n da' lai'i not," he said they say. "another." "My kin, only that one is my horse," he said they say. "But, 'another'

die ni n jo ni go da na nas dza I say." "All right," saying, he went back.

 i_i i_i tso $g \in g \circ d a$ $t \in \mathcal{C} \cap i$ $t \in a \otimes g \circ c \circ i \circ i \circ k \circ i$ $i_i \cap n \cap t \circ d \circ i$ Horse sorrel down he brought. Then, "My boy, here horse," he said.

10 ai do da ni tc'i ni n ki yi xa di la li xol zε di la' ai ac 'i da' that one not," he said they say. "Kin, what one do you mean? Horse is named.

This is. That one I have." "But

ła i die ni ciki njo adni ako nades dza ni go another I say." "My kin, well, as you say." there he started back saying.

bec li Gai ye go da tc'i dol jak' bi ka' go da tci tin li li Gai ye Metal white down he brought one, on it down trail horse white

go da tcınl t' ϵ n ko ci ja j ϵ n nıt' do da ai yi ki yi da'anl down he brought it. "Here, my son," he said. "Not that one." "Kin, just all

ız li ni'n lii bika de yan njo adni bika nades dza it is," he said. "Your horse for it I camp." "Well, as you say." For it hewent back.

bec do l'ιje bi ka' go da tc'i tin ai di' li do l'ιj i go da tc'ınl-Metal blue on it trall down there horse blue down he brought.

t' ϵ ko i_i y i_i n nit ai yi n nit ai al die ni ka di' n na des dza "Here horse," he told him. "That is the one," he said. "That one I am talkingabout. Soon, I will start home,"

yth n nit' njo n nit' da'ai' ja ci li' ni' na dn da ga dn i d ϵ t'aj he said. "Very well," he said. "Only that my horse you you go home as yousay." They two started away.

a ko go yil dej aj a ko go ya il ni' yil daj aj a ko go ya k'os [Then with him he went. Then in the middle of the sky with him he came.

Then cloud

dil xil go at dil dai his t'a a ko go xa dil Gic bil go da tc'i nol l'ij dark he covered him with. Then lightning with down he shot him.

a ko go bił naj nol l'ıj n xol z ϵ ' a ko go ni gos ts'an bi ka' n k ϵ -Then Biłnajnoll'ıjn was his name. Then earth on it he alighted.

na dza

a ko go bi wi ye sıt da yo na dza a ko go bi wi ye bıl go jo Then his grandmother where she lived he came back. Then his grandmother was glad

5 a ko go bi wi ye ba' e do al go jo si ba' e do al a ko go bi wi ye Then his grandmother for him sang. Good song for him she sang. Then his grandmother

ni te go ba yai ti' well for him prayed.

ci wo yε ni tc'i ni n ι n ku bε' i hit' na hi go li ni tc'i ni n n jǫ
"My grandson," she said they say. "Over there that which we eat is living,"
she said they say. "Very well,"

ni tc'i ni n lu ι s tco ya n ya yi zes xi a ko go bi wo ye yai nl ti he said they say. Woodrat he came to. He killed it. Then his grandmother hebrought it to.

ai yi ci wo yε ni tc'i ni n a ko go na go des dza Ga' ya n ya
"That one, my grandson," she said they say. Then he started away again. Rabbit
he came to.

10 yi zes xın a ko go nai des ti ko wa yo a xan ne go n yini ti bi wo ye He killed it. Then he started home with it. House near he put it down. His grand-mother.

il na gos ni' ci wo ye ni go bi dja n tel hi hi sel xi ni go bil nahe spoke to. "My grandmother," saying "its ears being wide I killed," saying, he told her.

gos ni' ai yi ci wo ye be'i hi na'hi a t'e

a ko go na go des dza bi ya n ya yi zes xi a ko go tsi' tc'o 'ol Then he went away again. Deer he came to. He killed it. Then tree Douglasspruce

bi l'a i zes xi a ko go na des dza na dza ko wa yo bi wi ye yel naunder he killed. Then he started back. He came back. By the house his grandmother he spoke to.

15 gos ni' ci wo ye tsi' bis ga' da yo γel zel xin ai yi be 'i hi na a t'e "My grandmother tree dry carrying on his head I killed." "That one we eat it to"

a ko go bi jan tc'o'o' bi jan yı'n na a ko go bi k ϵ dn ni go' Then girl, Douglas spruce girl he married. Then not liking him

cac di i ba' yın la n wa yo n jo ne hi na kai yil n nit' hai yo bears four for him she made. "Over there good ones are walking." she said. "Where?"

ni yo da Gε n jǫ ban t'ac he asked. "Above here." "Well, we two will go there." a ke go a ke yil dec aj yan aj n la hi 'i ne yil n nit' hai yo Them there he went with her. They two came there. "There you see it," she-said to him. "Where?"

n la dil xd i n tea 'i yil n nit' n jo bi γ a yo de ya de t'i hi go "There the black ones, the large ones," she said. "Very well, behind the hill I-will go, after awhile

ko di' bi te'i na di nel γ oc a ko go ci te'i' de ka nas tset' a ko go here to them shout. Then to me they will run. I will kill them." Then

de ti hi go yi te'i' na di dil γaj after a white to them she shouted.

5 a ko go cac tsi des tel a ko yi da' n ya bi k'a' go li go bd ti'
Then bears ran. There facing them he stood, his arrow having, his bow

(il ti) go li go a ko go bi tc'i' ts'ol til a xa ni go yonl t'ok la' having. Then to him they were running. Close he shot them. One

a ko go ta gi da bi γa nas tset Then three, all he killed.

a ko go bi a ni hi tcak a ko go ai yi al ni n ai a t'ε a ko go Then his wife cried. Then "These you told me; these they are." Then

10 da xa di i le i le'n ni n da ga ten di hi tcak a ko go da 'a ku "'Easy tanned skins are made' you sald." Nevertheless she cried. Then right-there

sin nil da' na des t'aj ko wa yo yu na t'aj while they lay they started back. By the house he came with her.

a ko go bi'a i sit da' da' dec ye bi bi ka ol je da' bi'a it la-Then his wife while she stayed there he went hunting. Deer for while he washunting his wife pumpkin flowers

tago ts'u hi xa de ya a ko go gol dil is hi na bi dni ti she went for. Then Golilist took her away.

a ko go n de' na dza bi 'a ni da di' hai yu ca lan ni zi a ko go Then man came back. His wife was gone. "Where is she?" he thought. Then

15 a ko de' ya da' k'e yo bi ke' yınl tsa bi ke' goz la' na ki go yothere he started away. The garden her tracks he saw. Her tracks were there, two. Further over

we yo na des dza bi ke'na yil tsą he went. Their tracks he saw again.

a ko go na des dza bi wi ye ya na dza ci wo ye n nit' tc'i ni n Then he started back. His grandmother he came to. "Grandmother," he said they say,

de ya xai yo ci do woc 'i da n di' de ya a ko go a ko de ya bi sul "I am going, where I do not know," he said. He started. Then there he went. His flute

i dil dai dn ta da la 'ai go dzil das ta yo n ken ya a ko bi 'a n i he carried with himself. Just one mountain where it forms a ridge he came down on. There his wife

bi ke' yınl tsa n de hel do' bi ke' yınl tsa her tracks he saw. Man too, his tracks he saw.

a ko go sul t dil da na is ta a ko go na ki da nal k'td yo n ke-Then flute he went with. Then second where there is a ridge he came downagain.

na na dza a ko go bi 'a yi ke' na yıl tsa n de do' bi ke' ai ge Then his wife her tracks he saw again. Man too his tracks there.

5 a ko go xac kε Then he was angry.

a ko go sul i dil da nai is ta ta go nai'o' a yo n kε na na dza a ko
Then flute he traveled with. Third place, where it stood he came down again.

There

bi ke' yınl tsą her tracks he saw.

a ko go bi sul i dil da nai is ta di go na yo'ai yo n ke na na dza. Then his flute he went with. Fourth place where it stood he came down again.

a ko bi ke' yınl tsa. There her tracks he saw.

10 a di yo Ge da ni'n ken ya n de go li yo bi tc'i de ya a xan ne go Up from there on foot he came. Man where he was living to him he started. Near

yan ya ako go n ne go li yo n ya n ne' da'ai e bi ko wa yan ya he came to him. Then man where he was living he came. Man that one hishouse he came to.

a ko go $rac{1}{\epsilon'}$ goz lị n n ϵ' do la' bo į da Then night was becoming. Man not one he saw.

a ko go n ne' ya n ya bi ts'i 'i hi yi des 'a n ne' bu na da gol ni' Then man he came to. His daughter he sent. "People tell them,"

yıl n nit'a ko go da bi γa il na gos ni'n d ϵ ' da bi γa ni x ϵ s kai he told her. Then all she told. People all came there.

na da il t'o yil n nit' a ko go na t'o do nai di le a ko go an ni ta "Let us smoke," he said. Then a smoke they prepared. Then now,

il na gos ni' n de' can ya d'n nit' ai yi n jo da dn nit' xa din go they talked to one another. "Man came to me." he told them. "That is well," they all said. "From which way

n ya ci dail n nit' go tal ba ko wa di da bi da' djin go na'ai bi l'ul did he come?" they asked. "'From Gotalbakowa this morning the sun its beams '

Literally "its strings."

xa na doz da' de ya n n nit' ci ki yi do ni'n na γa da lañ k'e n za le when they streamed out I started,' he said." "My kin, he did not walk on the ground; it is far,"

n nit' tε li tco' 1 xas tị yε hi he said, Chicken Hawk old man.

a ko go ci'a et di ai bi ya ac t'i ai yi ko sit da no xa xoz ba Then "My wife was not, that because I am." "That one there he lives, hewins from us.

n de' anl no xa xoz ba dan te ci ni n la le no xi djo ni da' ai do-People all he wins from us. Perhaps you, come, help us." "That I am not herefor that purpose;

5 bi γa ac t'i da na ci dın t'ok' go ac t'i n jo a ni da γa t'en di ci ts'i-I have other business I am." "Well," he said "anyway, my company

la da al ca xoz ba dan t'e ci² nan noc ka all he won from me. Some way I beg of you."

n jo yıs ka bi gos zi yıs ka tatc'ε a go lε tsi di i xa do ka "Well, tomorrow we will find out. Tomorrow sweathouse make. Sticks four-kinds bring.

nai jonj a'l ne' a ko ne' go jo si xa di ta a ko go tsi' be'i di ka' Najonc poles make. Inside good songs we will sing. Then sticks we will playwith

al ne a ko go be is ka bi na jonc bal za ta tc' ϵ xo ne' ϵ do al na kimake." Then they play with najonc poles they made for him. In the sweathouse he sang. Twelve

10 za da xai dn' a al za he sang. Everything was made.

yıs ka hi Ge djın go na'ai bi l'ul xa no doz da' na des dza na-The next morning sun its beams when they streamed out he started back where they play najonc.

jone k' ϵ yo a ko go ni bi ji' nai yi nes γ an ni xol z ϵ la 'i go ld ι s hi Then his name Naiyenezgani was called. The other one Goldsi

bi ji' a ko go dzıl das ta di dil yac a ko go bi nol cil ni go his name. Then mountain where it stands he shouted. Then he shouted saying dai nec cil a ko go ce le n ya la' n nit' ni yan' n nit' da xa o co le He made him stop shouting. Then "Cele", he has come," he said. "I have come,"

15 ce le da' don t'e ba i de jonc da ce le i dnl jonc no'n ne' wai-cele." "But not anything is I play with ." "Cele, we will play." "Well, people all those

"'My antagonist" in a game.



he said. "Let us play,

¹ 'Hawk, catches chickens," was informant's comment. In several other places "yellow-tailed hawk" is mentioned in addition, (pp. 258). Pelican has been used, based on descriptions, and is probably the correct rendering.

[‡]Perhaps, "you are some kind of a person," is the meaning of the word. It was explained that because he came so far in a day they knew he had supernatural power.

da wa' ba di conc ci hi i ki di go do lel we will play for them. Me the last time it will be."

a ko go i d ϵ conj a ko go ba s ϵ bi tci' yic lic a ko go ba s ϵ Then they began to play. Then the hoop its nose he hit. Then the hoop

il ke xes ta n la yo tcil bi yi yo ne' o tag a ko go xe' n nit da t'e broke apart. Over there bushes right in it ran. Then " $X\epsilon$ "," he said. "Why

ci ba se xon'l lic n nit' xe' da don nit' n na jonc n tcon'la n de' my hoop you hit?" he asked. "Xe'," he said. "Your pole is bad. Man

5 bin na conc γa tel ε ni go bi na jonc xa yin nil n jo ga dn ni his pole this sort," saying his poles he took up. "Well, as you say."

a ko go na yi nes gan ni bi na jonc ye'i de conj go lil is hi ba go-Then Naiyenezgani his pole he threw with. Goldest he beat.

nes na xala' ce le ca go ninh na cit tsil la da il ni yo na ni nil
"Oh! cele, you beat me. My company half I bet again."

yil n nit' n jo n nit' he said. "All right," he said.

a ko go yil na dec joj gol kl is hi ba na go nes na a ko go xa la' Then he started to play with him again. Goldsi he beat again. Then "Oh!

10 ce lε la go hi lε na do nit' no' na do nit' tsi γa na gol yε dε celε, another way it will be," he said. "Very well," he said. "Hair across the guich

be'i dn kat n nit' no' na don nit' a ko go na yi nes gan ni ci we will run with," he said. "Ali right," he said. Then Nalyenezgani, "I

ci tsi zil do la da n di tc'i k' ϵ n nit' a ko go bi tsi la da nai n nil my hair is not much, but I will try," he said. Then his company he wagered.

a ko go nal γoj ts'i nan tsi γa na zil tel go' no' ni' da' ni go ni Then, "Gulch across his hair it reaches." "Well, you, just you," he said

tc'i ni n a ko go go ld is hi ne t'a bi tsi zil il ki des dont a ko go they say. Then Goldsi put his head down. His hair he untied. Then

15 bi tsi zil da hıl go jo ya n t'e na yi nes gan ni na ne t'o bi tsi zil his hair right in the guich it was. Naiyenezgani put his head down again. His hair

il ki hes ta hil γ o ji xa na yo xa na dez tel go nes na he untied. The gulch the opposite side it was going up. He won.

xa la ce lε n nit' tc'i ni n k'at na na la go hi no' n nit tc'i ni
"Oh! celε," he said, they say. "Now we will play another game." "All right."
he said they say

tsi' hi go be cit tsıl la da la' na ni nıl n jo' ce le ni tc'i ni n
"Tree we will strike, with my company another I will bet." "All right, cele,"
he said they say.

a ko go go ld is hi na yi nes gan ni le i dle' go dzą tsą hi go a ko go Then Goldsi Nalyenezgani they played with each other. Here tree they strike.

Then

Digitized by Google

go ld is hi tsi' yi go a ko go tsi' yi tc'i' da hi ya tsın i do na hi'-Goldsi tree he struck. Then tree to it he went. The tree did not move.

na da a ko go na yi nes gan ni da hi ya a ko go tsi' yiz go i la yo Then Nalyenezgani went to it. Then tree he struck. Over there

na go' a ko go go nes na' he knocked it. Then he won.

xa la ce le ca go nenl na' na na la go hi le n ni tc' i ni n n jo
"Well, cele, you beat me." "We will play another game," he said they say.
"All right,"

5 n ni tc'i ni n il xa dn t'ac ni tc'i ni n jo ni tc'i ni a ko go da ci he sald they say. "We will run a footrace," he sald they say. "All right," he sald they say Then "Just myself

na i denc ti ni tc'i ni ci gan ci djat na ki be' i na hes dza dai inł ła I will bet," he sald they say. "My arm, my leg, two with I bet. Both

i k'i do Gic ca gu nez na go n jo n ni tc'i ni n you may cut off, if you beat me." "All right," he said they say.

a ko go il xa dec t'aj a ko go na yi nes gan ni go lil is hi ai bul Then they started to race afoot. Then Naiyenezgani Goldisi that one with him

tł xa dec t'aj a ko go n za yo dztł si 'an ni yi nat łe sit dnł teł they started to race afoot. Then far away mountain the one which stands around it they ran around together.

10 a ko go na yi'nes gαn ni i ts'e nal got' go nez na xa la ce le ca go-Then Nalyenezgani first ran back. He won. "Well, cele, you beat me.

ni na na tc'i le le You have taken all."

> a ko go bi gan na di ta bi djat na di ta a ko go ko wa bi dzit Then his hand he cut off. His leg he cut off. Then house old

goz ' \dot{a} yo $n\epsilon$ ' o doz a ko go ko ts'it da go dez 'i a ko go ko' standing in it he crawled. Then there up he looked. Then fire

be'dd ne'i yıni tsa a ko go na di doz a ko go nai dn la a ko go one makes with he saw. Then he crawled up. Then he took them up. Then

15 ni yın ta la 'i dai dn ta bin l'a gε yınl tsot' a ko go yi dıl his he put on the ground. One he put on the stick. Against his cheek he rubbed. Then he twirled it.

a ko go dil la a ko go l'o' be ko wa yi ko dn nil a ko go let bel Then smoke rose. Then grass with house he placed. Then smoke with

xa go' bi ga di' t'a ji xa na dzi' ci do n co da' do lel n nit' n de' he came out. From above it back he spoke. "I not good will be," he said. "Man

bi djat da hil to di bi gan da hil to di ai ci ac t'i do ni tc'i ni his leg if it breaks, his arm if it breaks, that I I will be," he said they say.

a ko go na yi nes gan ni al na go nes na a ko go na yi nes gan ni Then Nalyenezgani all he won back. Then Nalyenezgani bi a il na des t'aj a ko go bi a ni bi a nas dli a ko go go li yo his wife he started back with. Then his wife had been his wife she became again.

Then where he lived

yıl na t'aj a ko go bi wi ye bıl go jo a ko go yıl na t'aj yo yıl he came back with her. Then his grandmother was pleased. Then where he came back with her, with her

bi ko wa la yo na des dza her house another place he came back.

a ko go tse na go le' na bid nil ti del Git bi got' bi ta das sn nil Then Ts'innagoli took him up. Deloit his knees he put across himself.

5 del Git bit dil bi t'a bi das n nil tse na go le na bid dni ti bi ga yo Delcit bis blood inside he put across himself. Ts'innagoli took him up. Above

xa bis ti a ko go tse yi bi des te a ko go dil Git bit dil tsi des si' he took him. Then rock he threw him on. Then Deloit his blood flowed out.

a ko go da nai dnì ti bi ja je sin nil yo n yinì te' da' tse bi ka di'
Then he took him up again. His children where they live he brought him then rock
on it.

da nes da a ko go bi ja je bi tc'i' n des ta co yıl n nit' ci ma' co he sat. Then his child to him put its head down. "Co," he said. "My mother,

n nit' da jo go a ni bi ke ka' tcic a ni yd n ni a ko go na di t'ag he said." "It is all right, it makes a noise, the air whizzing through says it, she told it

Then she flew away again.

10 ai da' na di dza na yi nes gan ni a t'i a ko go yi tc'i' xa dzi
Then he steed up. Neiwerezgani didit. Then to it he spoke.

xa go go ni ma na da lε yil ni xınl ts'a bi a dε xil tinl a ko go
"Under what circumstances your mother she comes back?" he asked. "Rain female
comes down then

na da ni ni ta hi nai do nit' xınl tsa bi ka hi hil tınl go na dal є she comes," it said. "Your father?" he asked again. "Rain male when it comesdown, he comes back,"

yıl ni a ko go n nag ge hi ai hi lo il tınl go na dal e ni tc'i ni it sald. Then "Your brother?" "That one hail when it falls, he comes back," he sald they say,

n jo n nit'
"Well," he said.

15 a ko go ai bi ja je n i bi ni yi hez ti' ya yi hınl kat da bi γa Then that his child it face he struck. He threw him down, all.

a ko go l'o' yi nij bi ka yo nyenl ts'o nez ti a ko go tse na go le Then grass he pulled up. On him he put it. He lay there. Then Ts'innagoli

da 'ai \(\) na t'ag da n\(\) da n \(\) da n d\(\) la' nai nl ti go ts\(\) hi des t\(\) a ko go the same one flew back. He alighted. Man another he brought. Rock he threw-him on. Then

tse yi ka di' da nez da del Git bi Got' ye yonl l ι j yil na tc'inl l ι j rock on top he sat. Deloit his knees he struck him with. He knocked him over.

a ko go ła' a na nez da go del Git bi Got' ye na yonł lij yo we yo-Then another one `when he sat there Delgit his knee he struck him with. Over

'an on go' a ko go bi nag ge n i na na dza dd Git bi Got' ye yilhè threw him. Then its brother came back. Deloit his knees he struck him with.

na tc'ıni ij a ko go ai Then all.

5 a ko go ai bi ka de da nes da bi l'a yo dez 'i go bi ko' na da-Then that on it he sat. Below when he saw his fire where it arose

tị yu do bư go jo da a ko go xa go ac ne' n zi go das da a ko go he was not happy. Then "What shall I do?" thinking, he sat there. Then

tc'a ba ne san ne hi yani tsa bi i'a yo tse bi yi yo a ko go ci wo ye bat old woman he saw below in the canon. Then "My grandmother,"

go da' te'i na can d ϵ ni go dal γ oc a ko go do i di ts'ad da a ko go down can you take me?" saying he shouted. Then she did not hear. Then

na di dil gaj ci wo ye na do nit' a ko go i diz ts'a ye o n tel la he shouted again. "My grandmother," he said again. Then she began to hear. "Yeo, What is it?"

10 n di ci wo yε n tel la 'xa na do na tc'i ga da n te la xa na ci wo yε she said. "My grandson, what is it? What are you after? Not anyone goes up there.

What are you after?" "My grandmother,

ci tc'i' xa si na go da' tcin na ci de to me come up. Down take me."

a ko go bi tc'į' d ϵ ya il tsą' ts ϵ yi na hil lį xa go ya a ko go Then to him she started. This way and that rock she alighted on, she went up. Then,

ci wo y ϵ yił ni go da' ci na ci d ϵ ci wo y ϵ do nac γ o da da da yu "My grandmother," he said, "down take me." "My grandchild, I am not strongenough what

adn ni daga ten di di n na' nanc te da' dan da tatsa bi yi' you say, nevertheless this your eyes when I put on sit on it. Basket in it

15 dan da ci wo yε yε da ga an lε hi la' do da lε ga' on yε yo an nεsit. My grandchild, don't pull it up, don't do it. Dangerous you make it.

hi la' do da' an ni dic de Not I take you down."

> a ko go yi ka' da nez da go da na bi yes di a ko go yil ni yo Then on it he sat. Down she started to take him. Then halfway

na bo del hai yo cą' ci des γį n zį a xan ne go go dzi a ko go xatshe was taking him down, "I wonder where she is carrying me," he thought. Near more then up

dat yi di hez la bi na nan t'i hi a ko go de ti tun gal a ko go he lifted it, his eyes that which was over. Then a little he looked. Then

san ne he go da' teen go' kol go da teen go' bi ko yo go l'a old woman down she fell. With him down she fell. The stream (?) under him nan kat she struck.

a ko go na yi nes gan ni bi i ze' hi na hi ye yi yol a ko go Then Nalyenezgani his medicine living with he breathed. Then

nl te go na de yol n jo nas dli a ko go tse na go le bi t'a san ne he good she breathed again. Good she became again. Then Ts'innagoli his feathers old woman

5 ai yın la ci γο yε bi t'a da'adın ni go la go a yın la da' na yihe gave. "My grandmother his feathers just as you said many I made." Then Naiyenezgani

nes gan ni na des dza a ko go san ne he na des dza a i do' a ko go started home. Then old woman started home too. Then

ci wo ye a xi ye' e' ytl n nit' n jo go a cın la na des dza na dn da' "My grandson, thanks," she said. "Well you have healed me. I will go back. You-

hel do' yel n nit' too," she said.

a ko go na yi nes gan ni bi ko wa n yo na dza a ko go bił go jo Then Naiyenezgani where his house was he came back. Then he was happy.

10 bi wo yε es san ne hi bi go jo a ko go n jo go nan nes da tc'i ni n
His grandmother the old woman was happy. Then well they lived again they say.

THE SNAKE CEREMONY.1

ał k'i dą' go de ya tc'i ni n go tal bako wa di'n ne'na ki dez aj tc'i ni n dez bayo a ko go na bą tc'i ni n a ko go da jo go² t'a ji'na des t'aj tu da xił bi ko' bi tc'i' yu na t'ac a ko go n ne'et di go da bi ja'na t'ac tc'i ni n tu da xił bi ko' yo na t'aj

5 akogo nne' bi ke' da yını tsa na dail ka' akogo tse n tca i si'a ai ji' o ya lañ Ge a kogo n ne' bi ke'i da di a kogo tse e dli' tce ki a da t'i la nigo do t'ac o'i'a no xel ka yo hın t'ac le'

a ko go yu we yo be yel ka yu ko' dai dil lat a ko go i ka ba ne xa de ya ya nya k'in ti' a ko go das si ne yenl tsa a ko go bi ts'a' 10 xa'al got' i'an yu ne' a ko go bi k'es n ya nal got' yil na gos ni' n la yo' das sen ne xa'al got' n nit' n jo ban t'ac a ko go yi tc'i' dej'aj yan'aj gec na den ta xai ni xec Gec a ko go yu ne' yi na-

THE SNAKE CEREMONY.

Long ago it began they say. Where the dance house is men two started | they say. Where they were going to war then they came they say. Then just back | they two started to return. Black river its bed near it they came back. Then people being none | justthemselves they two came back they say. Black river its bed they came.

Then person his tracks they saw. They followed the tracks. Then large lay there. There he had gone in it seemed. stone Then, Then person his tracks were gone. "Stone echo | girls did it." saying, "let us go. The sun is setting. Where we willspend the night let us go."

Then over there where they camped fire they started to build. Then sotol stalk | he went for. He came to it. He broke it off. Then porcupine he saw. Then from him | it ran, its hole in. Then his brother he ran to it. He told him, | "Over there porcupine ranaway," he said. "Well, let us go to it." Then toward it | they two-started. They came to him. Stick he took up. He sharpened it. Then



¹ Told by Albert Evans. The free translation occurs on pp. 64-67 above.

² See note p. 160 above.

da ts'il Get a ko go bi ts'o' dais dis xa dais diz a ko go nai des ti a ko go ko' dai dil lat' ko' dai des ne' a ko go ko' dai nel la'

a ko go tse yil de da des tcey a ko go da si ne' ko' bi yi' yo ne' o dais ti ko' ye dai xe zit' a ko go nez ke il na ji' a ko go l'e is 'a 5 a ko go d't ts'a' l'e xo sa' da sın ne xa dais ti a ko go n ne' da lai'e yol gal lai do yi ya da a ko go da ınıl xaj a ko go de ti hi go da lai'e' n ne' tc'ın na ts'it a ko go n ne' la' tc'in na ts'it a ko go dai ınıl la te'in na das ts'it ıl tc'i' xa dzi

a ko go ci dan da' do bi k'e yo ci tc'i' go de ya da' dan da' 10 na na go tcul ni le na den ts'a yo go t'a ji' na den t'i xe la' bul n nit' bi k'us n yi tc'i' xat dzi a ko go n jo n nit' da γa t'en di a ko ts'it da a ko go xail ka hi bi tc'i' a xa de a ko go an ni ta' dan da hil ts'ak n nit' a ko go na dn da' ci k'is n t'a ji' na dun t'i xe la' a ko go i Gai ye bil da nan k'it' xa sin ya go t'a ji' na don t'i xe la' 15 do da' le γa'

a ko go bi k'ıs n na des dza xa yını k'a yo a ko go i γ a ye bilna nal gıt yu xai ya a ko go si des kez n t'e ca yi γ a a ni lan n zi a ko go t'a ji' na dez γ al a ko go yını tsa sit da yo yını tsa n t'e ci hi γ al go yını tsa da' dais got a ko go go tal ba ko wa yo nal got

20 da dan'n nit' na goc ni' go ye go go de ya n n nit' a ko go tu dd xil. bi ko yo da dan'n nit'n jo be go zi n di a t'e n nit' a ko go n de' da bi γa d la 'at dza

a ko go dju na 'ai bi l'a yo tc'in ni o t'a a ko go la yo na dit'a yo go ni o t'a a ko go la yo o na 'a t'a yo go ni' o ta a ko go 25 la yo na xo k'os se' bi ya yo go ni' o ta a ko go da do i dez a go li go le na xe za

a ko go ai di' da bi γa na des sa tu dư κử bi tc'ị' na des zą a ko go be go t'i ne' be' n ke ge t'ị go na de zą a ko go ai Ge nan zạ' a ko go n de' di yin ic lịn da ni hi lạ n'i da bi γa nan l są a ko go 30 n de' ai Ge sit da ni da dị a ko go ai da di yi ni do la' yo'i da a ko go ai Ge n do' xa na de za da' a ko go bi ke' ja' xa da gon tą do xa k'i da

a ko go l'ic ai bi ke' da gonl tsą a ko go ai ci' da dn nit' a ko go n la le di yi bi ke' doñ ką da dn nit' a ko go ai bi ke' 35 na de za ai to dil xil bi t'a nan zą a ko go tc'e a dail'; a ko go inside he stuck it. | Then his quills he twisted it. He twisted it out. Then he began to carry it back. | Then fire they were making, fire they kindled. Then fire burned.

Then stones with it they lay the fire. Then porcupine fire in it they covered it. Then they two sat on eitherthey put it in. Fire Then night was. Then each way night porcupine they took out. Then man just one ate it. The other he did noteat it. Then they slept. Then little while just one man he woke-Then man other woke up. Then both | woke up. To eachup. other they spoke.

" I death 1 Then. (?) to me begins to happen. Misfortune tell about me if you get back. Back don't look," he told him. "All right," he said. His brother to him he spoke. Then Nevertheless there he stayed. Then daybreak to it near then, "Now death I feel," he said. Then "You going my brother back don'tlook. Then soapweed ridge when you get up back don't look. Don't do it."

Then his brother started back. When it was daylight soapweed hill he went up. Then he thought about it. he thought. Then back he said it?" he looked. Then he saw. Something | was going | when he saw where he sat he saw. he ran. Then Gotalbakowa, he ran back.

"We had bad luck," he said. "I tell you dangerous it happened," he said. Then | "Black river its stream we had bad luck," he said. "Well, we will find out it is," he said. | Then people all were inone place.

Then sun under he sent word. Then another way south | he sent word. Then another way west he sent word. Then | anotherway dipper under he sent word. Then just not long | where helived they came together.

there all started. Black river to it they started. Then Then sheet-lightning with they can see well they started. Then "Supernatural I am," they came. Then men, they say, Then man there who was sitting was not there. All came there. they saw. | Then Then those supernatural ones not one long time when they stayed there, then his track only they lookfor. | Nothing is there.

Then snake that its track they saw. Then "That is the one," they said. Then "Come, this after him let us go," they said. Then this after him they went. That Black river by they stopped.

¹ Probably this is not the literal meaning.



di digi no li da ni hi la dza n la le tu dd xil de t'i yu da 'go da di xol ze da ni to'e a dail 'i a ko go do la da

ako go di' be go t'i ne ai de t'in yu da go da yi di xan la akogo bi l'a na de zą ako an ni tą bi ke' nan zą ako go xai ya 5 na de zą ai yi bi l'a na de zą ako go tu 'le dan lin bi tc'i yu na zel ako go tu le dn li ni ai banan zą ako go do xak'i da' an ni tą xai ya na de zą ako go tu o'a' banan zą ako go xai ya na de zą

ako go yu wi ya yu nan za ako' da yınl tsa ako go ai Ge n de' da bi γa i nanl tsa ako go n ne'n'i du ai da' ako go 10 an ni ta di γi ni bi ba se di i be' ya nanl tsa ako go 'ai Ge anni ta da lai'i bi k'e dol baz ako go bi k'os hit t'i si li ako go bi ba se la' bi ke na dol baz ako go il ni yo n de' k'e go hit t'i nas dli ako go la' bi ke na dol baz ako go yo ya go hit t'i nasdli ako go la' bi ke na dol baz ako go anl da xo t'e he n ne' nas dli

' 15 akogo t'aji' nadezą akogo gotalbekowa bitc'į yo nadezą akogo aku' nazeł akogo aku' njogo nazeł akogo yu we yo bitc'į' axan ne yo nadezą akogo yu we yo bitc'į yo axan ne go ngon ya 'ai Ge nan zą

a ko go yu we yo dzą tse xa dec Gij gol ze da dn nit' a ko go 20 dzą di γi gon lį da ni 'ai Ge anł yu we na de zą a ko go yu we yo nan za dzą tu lit tso gi xa lį gol ze da ni an ni tą dzą di γi go lį da ni

a ko go dzą n ne n'i da bi γa t'a ji nanł są a ko go yu wo na de są¹ go tal ba ko wa yo di γi tł 'a xa t'e hi da bi γa go lị ye 25 nanł są a ko go an ni tą dzą n ne' tł 'an ne go xa daz t'i 'i da bi γa dzą a gol zą an ni tą ai dza di' ił ts'ą' da bi ga be' go di xe ya tc'i ni n

ako go an ni ta dzą nak'i dzada l'e' go dzın tal do xat dın il xaj go da' da bi γa dez i go an ni ta anl a dez la ako go n de n'i 30 n jo nas dli ako go dzą di' n de' bi ji' ba' a da gos za tc'i nın an ni ta tadın naki yu xat'i' go' a gol zą an ni ta dzą il ts'ą yu n ne' di xez del ako go il 'an da xadji go' a gol za an ni ta dzą di γi go li do lıl ni tc'i ni n

a ko go di be'ina hi ba' a gol za a ko go nes t'an ta din na ki 35 yu xa t'i go a gol za di ye' da xin na do ni tc'i ni n a ko go n de' bi nes t'a' ba' a gol za a ko go n ne' na gol ti ni be' ba' nan t'i do

¹ The last syllable should be 2q.

Then in vain they tried. Then | these, "Supernatural I am," they-said, many. There "Come, Black river little up | lift up," they-said. In vain they tried. Then nothing.

Then this lightning that one a little up lifted it up. Then | under they started. There now after him they went. Then downstream | they went. That under they went. Then water comestogether close they were coming. | Then water comes together that they came to. Then nothing there. Now | down they went. Then water stands they come to it. Then down they went.

beyond they came there they saw it. Then people all stopped. Then that person was not that. Then now a supernatural one his rings four with they came to him. there now just one on him he put, then his neck can see it was. Then his ring another on him he put again, then middle like acan see he became. Then another on him he put again, then nearly all he was seen he became. Then another on him he put again. Then all that way man he became.

Then back they started. Then Gotalbakowa toward it theywent back. Then there they were coming back. Then there allright they were coming back. Then beyond to it close they came. Then beyond to it when near it became there they stopped.

Then beyond, "Here 'Stone forked' is called," they said. Then, | "There supernatural one lives," they said. There all beyond they started. Then beyond | they came. "Here 'Water-yellow comes out' is called," they said. Then "Here supernatural-one | he lives," they said.

Then here those people all back they came. Then beyond | they went. Gotalbakowa supernatural ones different kind all where they live | they came. Then now here people different ways those they talk all | here they made. Now that from here eachway all with they scattered | they say.

Then now there twelve nights when they danced nobody | slept; all were awake. Now all they made. Then that man | good was again. Then there people their names for they made they say. | Then thirty-two kinds they made. Now here away-from each other | people they went. Then different ways they callwith they made. Then, "Here | supernatural ones will live," he said they say.

Then these we live with for them he made. Then fruits thirty-two | different kinds he made. "These with they will live," he said they say. Then people | their seeds for them he made.



n nit' tc'i ni n a ko go n de bi na da' ye na na do' n nit' a ko go bi l'o na γai ye da n na do ni tc'i ni n a ko go na da' ye da xınna do' ni tc'i ni n ko' be' dail t'es go a ko,go di ci djil ye da xınna do ni tc'i ni n a ko go di' a nol dje ge xwoc na ki yu xa t'i' i 5 ba' al za tc'i ni n a ko go an ni ta da xo t'e he' ba' ke dol za a ko go ye' da xınna do lel ni tc'i ni n

ako go. di djihi ba' al ne' ni te'i ni n ako go la' l'e' ba' al za te'i ni n la' dji ba al za te'i ni n ako go di da nai xi ti hi ba' al za te'i ni n ako go di' la' goz k'az go' ba' al za te'i ni n 10 di' la' goz do go al za te'i ni n ako go na ki dza da' da na xi ti' ba al za te'i ni n ako go il ni yu ba' il te'e nil te'i ni n ako go la' sit dog go ba' al za te'i ni n la'hi si k'az go ba' al za te'i ni n

an ni tạ dzą an iz lị tc'i ni n a ko go di ni' bi ka' a go-15 t'e hi ba al za tc'i ni n an ni tạ n ne' ni gos ts'an bi ka' n jọ go gọ lị do lei ni tc'i ni nan t'a hi a ni tc'i ni n k'a di' ci no xın na di cị i do ni tc'i ni n a ko go ci da bi γa ci ja je noi lị do lei ni tc'i ni n a ko go ci da xa go as tsa i yu go no xi da xa go no tc'i'go' do γai ni tc'i ni n

20 a ko go ci n jo go no xai ac ti' do lel ni tc'i ni n a ko go an ni ta da xo t' ε h ε y ε' ku tc'i yal ti' tc'i ni n n jo go ka' a gonla da' a ni tc'i ni n an ni ta ci bi γa yo gonc li do ni tc'i ni n di na gonl ti g ε nes t'an no xan nan t'i do lel ni tc'i ni n anlic tci goc la ni tc'i ni n di da bi γa il k'i go doz dont ni tc'i ni n 25 ai da' di a duc ni hi bi da got dzınl tsınl le

an ni tạ dza n jo go no xa' ic tei goc la ni te'i ni n an ni tạ ni gos ts'an bi ka' n go no le ni te'i ni n' ai dạ' ci' da co kạ do ni te'i ni n' k'a di' an l ni te'i ni n di do an l te'i di go a go t'e hi no xa' ic duc la ni te'i ni n' a ko go di a due ni hi do' da co dlą-30 da yo go do no te'i' gon jo da do lel ni te'i ni n a ko go ci' dac n na l ya da l ti' do lel ni te'i ni n ci dac en na l na ts'i da kezdo lel ni te'i ni n an ni tạ an l di be' no te'i' yal ti' an ni tạ n jo go n go na le n si' go' a due ni ni te'i ni n' a ko go ci' dji hi da bi γa na due da' do' no xi nec i go ni te'i ni n a ko go no xa' 35 n jo go na tses kes do' ni te'i ni n di n de nes t'an bi xa dun dun ye' na xel ni go ba' a goc la ai jn no xi ye¹ ni te'i ni n' ai n ne'

¹ Probably ai ja no xi ye, that only is yours.

Then, "People rain falling with for they will grow," he said they "People Then. their corn with they will live," he said Then | "(A weed) they will live," he said with they say. "Agave with they will live," he said they say. "Fire with theywill roast. then acorns with they will live," | he said they say. Then this giant cactus, cactus two ways called for them he made Then all kinds for them were planted. Then now "With them they will live," he said they say.

Then "This daylight for them is made," he said they say. Then another night for them | he made they say. One day forthem he made they say. Then these months | for them he made they say. Then these some cold for them he made they say. | These some hot he made they say. Then twelve months | for them he made they say. Then in middle for them he divided they say. Then | some hot for them he made they say. Some cold for them he made | they say.

here all became they say. Then this the kinds | for them he made they say. "Now people well | will live," he said they say. The chief said it they say. "Soon I you I will look over," he said they say. Then, "I all my children you will be," he said they say. Then "I anything, you will do the same," he said they say.

Then, "I good for you I will pray," he said they say. Then all kinds with they talk they say. Good for them when hehad made it he said it they say. "Now, I on top I will live," they say. | "This, if it rains seed for you will grow," he said he said they say. "All I finished," he said they say. "These are straightened out," he said they say. | "Now this what I say you must remember."

"Now here good for you I have finished," he said they say. you will live," he said they say. "Now on you will pray to me," | he said they say. "Soon all," he said they say. different ways | for you I made," he said Then. "This what I say if you do not believe | not to you it willbe good," he said they say. Then, "I in my presence you will-" I, talk," he said they say. in my presence you will think," "Now he said they say. all this with to you I say. well you will live I thinking I say it," he said they say. Then "I days all I will go across I will be seeing you," he said they say. Then "For you good I will think," he said they say. "These people fruits their pollen with when I talked to you for I made it. ni gos ts'an bi ka' n ne nol li ni no xa' ac la ni tc'i ni n ai ai ja be' na da co ka le Ga' ni tc'i ni n di la go yal ti' no xi tc'i' hi da bi γa da xol tsot' k'a di' di anl no xi tc'i' yal ti' a ko go di a gon t'e hi da bi γa no xil tc'i n na xac la ni tc'i ni n di an ni ta 5 il ts'a yo di xo del ni tc'i ni n anl a ko' ni tc'i ni n ci bi ga yo n gonc le yu de ya ni tc'i ni n k'a di' da ku hi gu' anl ni tc'i ni n

THE SISTERS ARE LURED BY A FLUTE.1

ał k'i da tc'ın ni n' n ne' go li tc'i ni a ko go n ne' łą go go li tc'i ni ai Ge na li'n na ki n t'e ci yi diz ts'ą a ko go ai na lin na ki ıł k'ıs n hi hi sol yi diz ts'ą a ko go ci dıj n nıt' dan jo ne hi 10 a ni yo don t'ac n nıt

ako go ako' dejaj ako go yo we yo nzayo sol ani ako go ako hi'ac ako go dlo' li tci hi yan aj hai yo de co aj ni tc'i ni n' den jo ne hi a ni yo den t'aj ni tc'i ni n' 'ai ci' adıc ni ni tci ni kalla hi adn ni ni tc'i ni ako go adn nıt' dje ak 15 dje ak ako ni do'da yılın nıt'

a ko go yo we hi na decaj a ko go xac bi di yan aj a ko go xai yo dec go aj n nat' a ko go den jo ne hi a ni yu den t'aj n nit' ai ci a dic ni ni tci ni n' a ko go xal la' a dn ni hi ni tc'i ni n' a ko go $\gamma a \cdot \gamma a \cdot$ ni tc'i ni n' do da' ni tc'i ni

20 ako go yu we yo na dejaj ako go ako xa go' yan aj xai yo de co aj yd n nt' n ko' den jo ne hi a ni yu den t'aj ni tc'i ni n' ako go xal la adn ni hi ni tc'i ni n' ako go adn nt' wo owo o n nt' tc'i ni n' ni xe do da n nt' tc'i ni n'

a ko go yo we dejaj a ko go yo we yo goc ni ye yan aj a ko go 25 xai yo de co aj ni tc'i ni n' den jo ne hi a ni yo den t'aj ai ci a dic ni ni tc'i ni xal la' a dn ni hi ni tc'i ni a ko go i·i· ni tc'i ni a ko go ni he do da ni tc'i ni

a ko go den jo ne hi a ni yo n'aj a ko go sol dai dız ts'ą ci dıj e' ko' an nił ts'ak bi γa de t'aj ni a ni o a go bi te'i' n t'ac

¹ Told by Albert Evans. The free translation will be found above, pp. 69-71.

that you use," he said they say. "These people | the earth on, people tribes for you I made," he said they say. "This this | only with pray to me," he said they say. "These many languages to you | all you hold. Soon this all to you I talk. Then these | kinds all I leave you (?) I made thus," he said they say. "These now | each way scatter," he said they say. "All this," he said they say. "I on top | where I live I go," he said they say. "Now so much all," he said they say.

THE SISTERS ARE LURED BY A FLUTE.

Long ago they say. People were living they say. Then people many were living | they say. There maidens two something they-heard. Then those maidens | two sisters of each other those flute they heard. Then, "My sister," she said, "that very good | where he-makes the sound let us go," she said.

Then there they two started. Then beyond far flute sounded. Then | there they 'wo went along. Then bird red they two came to. "Where are you going?" he said | they say. "The very good whereit sounds we two are going," she said they say. "That I I said it," | he said they say. "Well, say it," she said they say. Then hemade a noise, "Djeak, | djeak, so," he said. "No," she told him.

Then onward they two started again. Then quail they two-came to. Then, | "Where are you two going?" he said. Then, "The very good where it sounds we two are going," she said. | "That I I said," he said they say. Then, "Well, say it," she-said they say. | Then, "\gamma a \gamma a." he said they say. "You, not," she said they say.

Then onward they two started again. Then there turtle doves they two came to. "Where | are you two going?" he said. "Here the very good where it sounds we two are going," she said they say. | Then, "Well, make the sound," she said they say. Then he said, "Woo | woo ," he said they say. "You, not," she said they say.

Then onward they two started. Then beyond roadrunner they two came to. Then, | "Where are you two going?" he said they say. "The very good where it sounds we two are going." "That I | I said it," he said they say. "Well, you say it," she said they say. Then, "i i i "he said | they say. Then, "You not," she said they say.

Then the very good where it sounded they two came. Then flute they heard. | "My sister, here we heard it make a sound because-

ako go ako' no xelka ako go sol ani hi hi litse' ako go na dn t'ac ako go aku' n'aj

a ko go i ci kın na ki san ne he da la'e a ko go yil na xes ta a ko go a ku'n 'aj a ko go tc'e ki da la'e ıc ki hi da la'e ıl ts'a' 5 nej tej a ko go yis ka na di kai t'a bi yo sol ba a ni a ko go bil da go jo a ko go ai ge ko wa a da goz la a ko go ıl na ji'ya'go' a da goz la a ko go i ci ki hn bıl dan jo go' an ni ta a ko i ta si ke a ko go tc'e ki na ki n'i nej djek' a ko go tcıj dıl tc'ıl hi hi san ne hi ba' a yın la a ko go do bıl da go jo da a ko go cit dıj je 10 na do t'ac ni tc'ın n

ako go na dec t'aj ako go gon dlin yo na do t'ac n nit' go hiyan ni ako go ic kin hi ako do 'ac le ga' yil n nit' ako go gonli yo na t'aj ako go ako' na xez ta ako go n zat' go de ya go ic ki hn ako dejaj ako go bi tc'i yo he 'ac ako go ko wa' 15 da an na di' si ke ako go ai tc'e ki' bi da so sint' ako go ai dabini tsa ako go yoc di' daii ni do da' do bi goni zi da n nit' ako go ai na li hn i kid di go' na γa hi ako de ya ako ya n ya ako go ai bi n jo ni hi yini tsa ako go yil na gol ni' ku' de t'aj n' yil ni no tc'i' yil ni ako go n jo ni na li hn a ni

20 ako go ai ge na des dza ko wą yo na dza ako go ako bi k'i yd na gol ni'n ne'na ki ko' si ke n nd'ako go ai bi tc'i'na hi t'ac n n nd'hai yo n nd'n jo na dji' la'ba le da o ya ni tc'n ni n'ako go da i ya go bi tc'i' da'ac ni tc'i ni n ako go ya'adaiz la'ako go bi tc'i yo o daz ne'ako go da i ya ako go 25 ako'n ne'lą go des kai ako'ko wą ba'a gol za yu ne'nez ke ako go yu ne'si ke ako go da bi ga'yu ne'na xez tą

a ko go n ne' bi tc'i' na des za a ko go a ku' nani sa a ko go tc'i gon ti' ge da na deni są a ko go ις ki hn na ki n'i da ia' e dai zes xi la'i i ts'os nas dli bi γa yo ko wą biñ ka yo bił tc'u-30 gon yol a ko go 'ai ja hi na' a ko go gon li yo o na' dza bi-k'ις n n'i zes di da' a ko go o na dza ko wa yo na dza a ko go a ku' bi go ye yıl na gol ni' ci k'ις n ci ts'a' zes di a ko go ni go bi wo ye yıl na gol ni' a ko go ci wo ye ai k'e go do da' dıc ni n ni tc'i ni n'

of it we two came. It make the sound when the sunset to him we-come. Then there we will spend the night. Then flute that sounds we will hear then we two will go back." Then there they two came.

Then youths two, old woman just one. Then they lived together. Then there they two came. Then girl one, boy one away fromeach other they lay down. Then it was day. They got up. for them he played. Then | they were pleased. Then Then across from each other house beds | they made. Then boys they loved. Now there awhile they two lived. Then were lying down.² Then wood snaps that oldgirls two those woman for them made. Then, they did not like it. Then, "Mysister, let us go home," she said they say.

Then they two started home. Then, "Where we live we will goback." "There she said. the elder. Then boys, you two mustcome." she said. Then where they lived | they came back. there they lived. Then long time when it had passed boys they two started. Then near them they two came. Then somè distance from they two sat. Then those girls they knew them. Then those they saw. | Then, "Here," they said. "No, we do notknow them," he said. Then that girl the younger there started. There she came to them. Then that one she loved she saw. he spoke to her. "Here we have come," he said, "to you" he said. Then, "Good," girl said it.

Then there she started back. Camp she came back. Then there "Men here sit." her kinsfolk | she told, two she said. to them | we went," "Where?" she said. he said. "Allright, seeds some prepare for them. Let them eat," | he said theysay. Then, "When they have eaten to them you two go," he said they say. Then for them they cooked. Then to them they took it. Then they ate. Then there men many went. There for them they built. In it they two sat. Then in it they two werethey lived. Then all in

Then men to them they went. Then there they came. Then by the door they came. Then boys two those just one they killed. The other soft feather he became. Roof house through it with him it was blown. Then that one only was alive. Then where he lived he went back. His brother | that one when he was killed, then House Then | there went back. he came back. his grandmother "My brother he told, from me died." Then saying it his grand-



¹ In pairs.

² The verb indicates more than two and the narrator said "four" were meant.

a ko go 'ai tc'e ki' na ki hi xa ts'ınl tel naz nl tel a ko go a ku' ts'ol tıl a ko ka ts'ınl tel a ko go bi kıd di go n ne' la go yi ke' ts'ol tıl a ko go ıc ki hn da la' e n'i i ta' das wot a ko go n ne' bos del a ko go tu nan li hi ai ta ba ts'ınl tel a ko go tu la' 5 a ko go nal el i ta ba na di ba bıt djat' n nez hi hi sıt da gocl'ıc i sa ai le' go ta ba di' a ko go yi tc'i' na di dil gaj a ko go san ne hi ni djat' no' tc'i' xan na n tse' n nıt' a ko go ne t'e bi γa n nıt' di n ne' la' no xil da xi de'' n nit' no xi γa go ni tc'i ni n' a ko go bıt djat' xa nai dez tsi a ko go bi ka' xa naz des kai a ko go 10 ai san ne hi n'i bi tc'i' xat dzi ci wo ye yi n lai no xi γa go' no xıl da hi de' ni tc'i ni a ko go n tc'i dil woc yo go n djat' xana n tse le ga'' a ko go tail ni ge da di kai go ıl xan denl tal le ga'' ci djat' ıs t'o' n di le ga'' a ko go tu yo ya on de'' a ko go da hi na ni tc'i ni n

15 ako go ai yowe ts'i des kai dan na yo o tc'o kai ako go 'ai i kư d di go na seli ai nal'eli yi tc'i' na di dul gaj ci wo ye san ne hi ni djat' ci tc'i' xa na dn tse' ni tc'i ni n' ye· o· ni tc'i ni n do nil dzil da' n tela bi γa a dn ni ni tc'i ni n' ku' goc l'uj i sa ac le' ni tc'i ni n' ako go an ni tą bi djat nai dez tsi ako go 20 bi ka' dai his kai ako go ul ni' yo da di kai ako go san ne he' ul xan del tal ako go ai ti n de ako go nal'eli nas son ze nadas dli

akogo xaiyago takka' okai akogo nlayo hika n'i tagi hika n'i aiyi aku dinesbi akogo bikowa adagos la 25 akogo aige naxesta akogo ndoi banya akogo bikowayo beska naki be ska akogo onadza cikowayo nna'i lega'i daxage' ni tc'inin akogo njo ni tc'inin akogo di cikowayo gojo nni tc'ini akogo ai njogo ne xez ta tc'inin'

akogo ndoi bikowayo donka ni te'inin' akogo ako 30 deskai ako hinkai ako naki beyizka akogo aidi' nakai akogo ai bik'i sili akogo kowayo nakai ako naxesta akogo di' dalahige bikowa akogo nne' gonliyo donka' nnit' akogo deskai akogo aku' hika annita yonasu hika mother he told. Then, "My grandchild, that way not I said," | she said they say.

Then those girls two ran off. They ran back. Then there There they came to him. Then after that men many Then boy after them | ran. just one that one with them Then men overtook them. Then water that flowing that water'sedge they ran to. Then water was much. | Then heron water'sstood, her leg long that one sat. Clay | vessel making by the river. Then to her he shouted. Then, I "Old woman, your leg to us put across," he said. Then, "What for?" | she said. "These men many are chasing us," he said. "They are going toto kill us," he said they say. Then her leg she put across. Then on it they started across. Then | that old woman that one to her "My grandmother, over there will kill us | are comingafter us," he said they say. Then, "To you if they call your leg you must put across. Then in the middle of the water when they aregoing you must pull your leg back and forth. 'My leg hurts' you must say. Then in water let them fall. Then we will live," he said they say.

Then those onward they went. Far they went. Then those those coming that heron to her they shouted. old woman | your leg grandmother. to me put across," he said they say. | "I am not strong enough. "Ye· o·," thev sav she said What because you say that?" she said they say. "Here clay vessels | I will make," she said they say. Then now her leg she put-Then on it they started. Then midway they were going then old woman pulled her leg back and forth. Then those fell inthe water. Then ducks they are called they became.

Then down on the water they went. Then over there they went those, | three they went those, those there they stopped. Then their house they made. | Then there they lived. Then wildcat came to them. Then their house | day passed, two days passed then he went back. "My house you must come | sometime," he said they-say. Then, "All right," he said they say. Then, "This my house good," he said they say. Then those well they lived they say.

Then, "Wildcat his house let us go," he said they say. Then there | they started. There they came. There two they spent nights. Then there they went back. | Then those their kin they became. Then camp they came back. There they lived. | Then this just-one place their camp was. Then, "People where they lived let us-go," | he said. Then they started. Then there they went. Now further on they went.

ako go aku ma' ban ya ako go ai ge ci la'ac yu n nut' n na ji' si tun le' n nut' n jo n nut' cu na'ac di' yo da γε di na bi' n nut' ako go n jo n nut' ako go aku' des kai ako go aku' huñ kai ai ge na xez ta n ne' na gal djut'go' na xez ta te'i ni n' 5 n ne' la go go li yu ne' na do ka n nut' ako go aku na des kai aku' ona kai ako go aku na kai ako go ai n jo go n ne' nas dli ako go n ne' la ko wa la ai ge di nes bi di al do xa yo no' xa go des ti da ni te'i ni n' di n ko' al

THE GOOD AND BAD BROTHERS.1

ał k'i dą' tc'i ni n ne' łą go go li a ko go ai ge uc ki n' na ki 10 don t'aj da ni tc'i ni n' a ko go bi k'us n bił dej'aj a ko go n za yo hi 'ac a ko go l'ic di djad di yan 'aj a ko go uc ki n' n tca' i ai zis xe' ni tc'i ni n' a ko go uc ki n ał ts'us i do da' t'e t'i ye hi a t'e do da' ni tc'i ni a ko go zus xe' dic ni ni tc'i ni a ko go do da' dic ni t'e t'i ye hi a t'e tc'i ke hu na ni tc'i ni a ko go do da' dic ni ni tc'i ni a ko go do da ni uc ki hn ał ts'us e a ni n tca' i a ko dac γot' a ko go uc ki hn ał ts'us e a ko dac got' bi k'us n yuł n del do da' yuł ni go a ko go l'ic nai nes'int' a ko go n jo n nut'

a ko go yo we na dez 'aj yo we n za yo i ts'a yan 'aj a ko go
20 wai das da hi zıs xe' n nıt' a ko go ıc ki hn al ts'ıs e do da' ni
a ko go zıs xe' dıc ni ni go a ko da hıs got' (das got') ² a ko go
ıc ki hn al ts'ıs e hi do da' ni go yılın del a ko go do da' t'en t'iye hi ne ka t'e hi da' na da da' tc'i ke hın na ni go yılın del a ko go
ai i ts'a yi tc'i' na di dil γaj na di t'ak' a ko go bi k'ıs n bi tc'i'
25 yal ti' da t'e go zıs xen i ci ts'a' na nen int' yılını a ko go t'e t'iye hi n t'e bi γa dız ınıl xel n nıt' da xa ın t'ac le' n nıt'

a ko go na dez 'aj a ko go n za yo hi 'aj a ko go a ko li yan-'aj li des gan ne hi yan 'aj a ko go si k'ıs n wai zıs xe'n nıt' do da' t'en t'i ye hi a t'e da' do hın i da n la' bın ka yo l'o' hi tin 30 ni tei ni a ko go dıc xe' da γa t'en di ni te'i ni a ko go do da' ni te'i ni a ko go an ni ta zıs xe' dic ni do da' dıc ni t'en t'i ye

2 Both forms were given.

¹ Told by Albert Evans. A free rendering in English will be found on pp. 77-81 above.

Then there coyote came to them. Then there, "My cousin," he said. | "By your camp I will sleep," he said. "All right," he said. "My cousin, here up stream let us move," | he said. Then, "All-right," he said. Then there they started. Then there | they came. There they lived. People hunting they lived they say. | "People many live among let us go again," he said. Then there they-started. | There they came. Then there they came. Then those good people | became. Then people many, houses many there they lived. "Here all. Nowhere | is there a way for us," he said they say. This so much all.

THE GOOD AND BAD BROTHERS.

Long ago they say people many lived. Then there boys two, | "Let us go," they said they say. Then his brother he-Then far | they two went. started with. Then snake racer (?) they came to. Then boy the large one, "This I will kill," he said Then "No, poor it is. they say. boy small, No." he said Then, "I will kill I say," they say. he said they say. Then. "'No,' I say; poor it is, let him live," he said, they said. Then, "'I will kill it,' I say," he said they say. Then, "No," he said. boy little one said it. Big one there he ran. Then boy there he ran, his brother he caught, "No," saying. Then snake he let get away. Then, | "All right," he said.

Then onward they two started again. Beyond far hawk they-came to. Then | "Over there that one sitting on the tree I will kill," he said. Then boy small, "No," he said. | Then, "'I will kill it' I say," saying there he ran. Then | boy small "No," saying he caught him. Then, "No, poor | he is like when he is sitting; let him live," saying he caught him. Then | that hawk to it he shouted. It flew up. Then his brother to him | he spoke, "What for that I. going to kill from me you make it get away?" he said. Then, "That is poor | because you always kill," he said. "Hurry up, let. us go," he said.

Then they went again. Then far they two were going. Then there horse they came to. | Horse poor they came to. Then, "Mybrother over there I will kill," he said. | "No, poor it is do not-do it (?). Over there through him grass we see," | he said they say. Then, "I going to kill anyway," he said they said. Then, "No," | he said they said. Then "Now 'I will kill it' I say." "'No' I say, it is poor." | Then that horse he made go away; over there

'a ko go ai li nai nez int'n la yo ol l'a' a ko go zes xe n nil dic nida' si ts'a' na nen en t' yel ni bi k'es n da' hen t'ac yel ni

a ko go yo na so na dejaj a ko n ne' go li la'yo n'aj a ko go a ko si ke a ko go ai ις ki n hi hι t dan bi γa nai zι t' ai dai ya 5 a ko go n tcai hi do na zi da a ko go ις ki hn at ts'ιs e hi n ne xat dzıl e yan na zi t' a ko go dai ya ni ba nai ne' a ko go ις ki hn go yan ne hi do na zi da bit gon ye tcın ni n'

a ko go ai ι c ki n hi n jo go sư da' a ko go ai go yan ne hi n de' nan t'an hi yư na gos ni' ι c ki hn a t ts' ι s e bư si ke hi ci da10 hi yo a dn ni yu ac ne' ni tc'i ni a ko go ι c ki hn da t'e hi ni tc'i ni a ko go ci ι c ki hn bư si ke hi ni tc'i ni n' a ki' xa go ac ne' ni γa' ni tc'i ni da' di yu ya ge ka di djol ta ni t goz 'a ai ge ci bi yi' yan nai hι c t'a hi a t'e ni tc'i ni a ko go t'a bi ni Ge da di anc t'e hi k'e go cił dak xan nai t i hi a t'e n ni tc'i ni n jo bi15 go zi ai an ni hi da ni a ni yo go a γa do nił ni tc'i ni a ko go nan dn da yư ni tc'i ni

ako go da ła' ε yıs ka ako go an ni ta ai ιc kin hi yın ka yi des'a ako go ιc ki hn ai nan t'an bi ko wa yo n na' tc'i ni yılı n nıt' ako go ιc ki hn ako de ya ako yan ya ako go bi-20 tc'i' xat dzi ako go ic ki hn yılı n nıt' ako go di yo ya Ge ka di djol ta nil ge ai ako ne' o ca'n ni tc'i ni yılı n nıt' ako go do adic ni da ni tc'i ni n jo do adın ni da lañ ke' dza di' di i yıs ka go a γa dn nil bılı ni tc'i ni

ako go ic ki hn i na des dza ako go ko wą yo na dza ako 25 sit da' do bił go jo da danatse kesnt'e ako go nt'e ca' bi γa ci k'is n ca na gol ni' n zi go sit da ako go aku danada' ako go da'ai-k'e go o hi'a da dji bin γa ako go da'ai k'e go ta gi be yis ką ako go yis ką ai yi ako ne' o wa go bi γa do bił go jo da ako go xa go' ca ac ne' n zi

30 ako go an ni ta ai lị n'i bi tc'ị da'n ya ako go ai lị xat dzi ư ki hn n t'e bi γa do nư go jo da yil n nư ako go da' yư ka ka di djol e ta nil yu ne' o na' cư ni hi bi γa do cư go jo-da' n jo ni tc'i ni ư ki hn ni tc'i ni n la ge ni' he ta' hi na' n' ni tc'i ni k'a di' ci cạ' ce hi na ni tc'i ni ni he ta' hi na' n' ga 35 ci cạ' ce hi na ni djoc ni ni dji ni ako go di ư n sa dị i na dn nil ni tc'i ni bec da la' e ni tc'i ni ako go an ni ta na na dư dal ni

he ran. Then, "I going to kill when I told you | from me you droveit away," he told his brother. "Well, let us go," he said.

Then farther on they started again. There man where he lived they two came. Then | there they lived. Then that boy food for it he worked. That they ate. | Then the larger he did not work. Then boy the smaller man | rich he worked for. Then what they ate he gave him. Then boy | the older did not work. He was lazy they say.

Then that bov well he lived. Then that older one | man the chief he talked to. "Boy the smaller with whom I live 'Whatever you say I will do,'" he said they say. Then, "Boy whichone?" he asked | they say. Then, "I boy with whom I live," "That does he say?" they say. what | I do "Well. they say. this down the hill lead boiling | that I in it I will jump it is," he said they say. Then, "Next morning justit is," he said as I am with me the cover will be opened "Well. I will find out | that which he says, true if he speaks; he shall do it," he said they say. Then, | "Go home," he said they say.

Then one day was. Then now that boy for he sent messen-Then, "Boy, 'That chief his house you come' they say," he told him. Then boy there he started. There he came. to him | he spoke. Then, "Boy," he said to him. Then, down stream | lead where it boils that in I go,' you say they say," he told him. Then | "I did not say it," he said they say. "All right, four | when days are perhaps you did not say it. Here vou do it." he told him they say.

Then the boy started back. Then camp he came back. There | hesat. He was unhappy. He was thinking about it. Then, "What for it my brother | reports on me?" he thinking he sat. Then there he was-sitting around. Then just that way | sun passed over days all. Then that way three days passed. | Then the next day that in he was to go because of that he felt badly. Then, | "What I do?" he thought.

horse that one to him it came. Then that Then now that horse | spoke. "Boy what do you not feel good?" for it boiling in "Well | tomorrow 'lead you go,' he told me I am unhappy." | "All right," because of that he said they say. "Boy," he said they say, "over there you it was you saved mylife," | he said they say. "Now, I it is I will save your life," said they say. "You it was because you saved my life, I am alive; he said they say. I will help you," "These Then, pails take," he said they say. "Knife one," he said they say. Then, "Now I will come to you," he said | they say. Then, "There lead-



te'i ni ako go ako cid dn los ni te'i ni ako go ci ni kud dn Gue ni te'i ni ako go cut dul un sa di i xat dud do bunl ako go la' be ta dn Gus la' n dlunl la' na ki ako ya' ya hi dn'al an ni ta yu ne' ya na hi dn t'a' ai da' ci hi dju na'ai xa na dac i n ci dn tel 5 ni te'i ni

a ko go yıs ka al ız li a ko go nan t'an n ne' da wa' yıl nagos ni' di dji a ga go ne' yıl n nıt' a ko go nai dn loz ai łi' a ko go li a ko yi dez dzinz a ko go n de' la hi ba da dlo' li biň kayo l'o' hit'į ai yadadlo' akogo ako nya annita 10 ın sa di i yinil bec den nın ne yın ta'' a ko go bın ni k'ın Gıj a ko go bit dil in sa di i xa dez bi a ko go xa na t'a ci n yini ti ako go in sa dala'e be tai des Giz ako go in sa dala'e ye ın sa naki yoyeya yihin 'a akogo an nita yo dla a ko go yone' ya hi t'ak a kogo ani na da dez za kowa yo n de' n da-15 hes kai a ko go yıs ka a ko go t'a da bi' na hes kai a ko go ai xat dak' o na ta a ko go ic ki hn i a ko das da do daz tsa da hin na go das da a ko go na di dza xa na dza a ko go ko wa yo na des da a ko go a kos da a ko go bil go jo

a ko go da 'a na 'na go des dza go' bi k'ıs n ba na na gos ni' 20 a ko go nan t'an ya n ya ις ki hn bıl si ke hi ci 'ai di t'ıs ǫ a hi k'ın na dai k'i hi a ko go t'a bın ni ge ǫ a na dle hi k'ınc k'e a ko go bi t'a do xa na dje da ni' ni tc'i ni n jo a γa do nil nan da' ni tc'i ni

a ko go yıs ka hi Ge' uc ki hn yi ka des'a a ko go uc ki hn a ko 25 de ya a ko go nan tan ya n ya a ko go di t'ıs da dji bi γa k'ın na-k'i hi Gınc k'e a ko go do xa na dje da n ni tc'i ni da da ni n ne' ni tc'i ni da' do a dıc ni da ni tc'i ni n jo do a dn ni da lañ Ge ni tc'i ni a γa dn nil di i yıs ka go ni tc'i ni

a ko go ις ki hn na des dza ko wa yo na dza a ko go do bił go-30 jo da a ko go a ku' ya na tse kes go' da na da' go'a' da dji bi γa' a ko go t'ıs ki yın k'e hi na ki go dzi a ko go n t'e hi be' xa go ac li n zi a ko go do bił go jo da a ko go ai l'ic di djad di hi n'i ko di' bi te'i' da'dn ya a ko go ις ki hn n t'e bi γa do nł gojo da yılın nıt' a ko go da' n la ge t'is o'a hi k'ın na k'i t'a bınme," he said they say. Then, "My head 1 cut off," | he said they-say. Then, "My blood pails four will be filled." Then, "One | with wash yourself; one you drink; other, two in there throw in. Then | in you jump. Then me sun where it comes up put me," | he said they say.

Then days all were. Then chief people all he told, | "Today let him do it," horse he led. Then he said. Then that he led. Then they laughed at it. there people many Horse | could be seen. That they laughed at. through him grass Then he came. Then pails four he brought. Knife sharp hebrought. Then his head he cut off. Then his blood pails he filled. Then east he took him. Then pail one with he bathed. Then pail one with he drank. Then pails two inside he poured. now | inside he jumped. Then all started back. people they came back. Then day was. Then early in the morning they came back. Then that | up he lifted again. Then boy there sat on something. He was not dead. Alive he sat on something. He came out. Then camp he lived again. he got up. Then Then stayed there. he was happy.

Then a long time when it had passed his brother reported on-him again. | Then chief he came to. "Boy I stay with. that 'This cottonwood which stands, | which is cut off then in the morning the one it stands again I can cut. Then | its leaves will not grow again' he says," he said they say. "Well, let him do it. Go home," he said | they say.

Then the next day boy for him he sent. Then boy there "'This cottonwood Then chief he came to. Then. every day it is cut off | I will cut, then it won't grow again,' you say, they say. You spoke the truth?" | he said they say. "But I didnot say it," he said they say. "Well, perhaps you did not say it," "You do it four days," he said | they say. he said they say.

Then boy started back. Camp he came back. Then he wasunhappy. Then there thinking he sat around, the sun passed over cottonwood every day. Then that he was to cut two Then. "What with how I do it?" he thought. Then he wasunhappy. Then that snake racer (?) | that one here to him came. Then, "Boy what because of it are you unhappy?" | he said. Then, "Well, 'Over there cottonwood that stands one cuts it morning | it stands it becomes again, that I cut off (Inter.) you say?"

Literally, "face."

ne ge Q a na dle n'i da ginc k'e n ne n i' nc yi ni la' ni tc'i ni n jo γa dn ni la' ci djos si ni' n' ni xe ta hi na'n' ka cic a' ce hi na' ni tc'i ni da kwi yis ka go an ne' ni tc'i ni a ko go na ki go dzi' ni tc'i ni a ko go n jo yis ka a ko' bi tc'i' di ca' 5 a ko go bi da hi ca' a ko go bi t'a al nai hic ge' a ko go do-xa na dje da a ko go an ni ta go da' tc'i na dic dal a ko go an ni ta k'ın dn k'i ni tc'i ni

ako go uckihn nan t'an banl'ą ako go didji buln nut' akogo n jo n nit' ako go an ni ta ako' bil na de zą ako go o ą go 10 ako go ako yahi kai ako go 'ai l'i ci da bi ja yo i ako go go da ts'un na dza ako go an ni ta k'uñ k'i ako go na des dza ko wa yo na dza ako go an ni ta yis ką t'a bi ne Ge t'is do xana tse da t'i si da ko si tą an ni ta nan t'an da ni leñ ke hun na' yuln nut' ako go n jo go bi te' i' te' i go ya ako go an ni ta bul go-15 jo n jo go na nes da ako go ako si da

a ko go n zat' o na got'tsa a ko go ai bi k'ıs n'i ba na gos ni' nan t'an yıl na gos ni' a ko go n ne' xal dzıl le' bi tsi' n i ai ci na si hi a t'e n i ni tc'i ni n jo bi go dol zınl ni tc'i ni a ko go nad dn da bıl ni tc'i ni

20 ako go ις ki hn yi ka' des'ą' ako nya ako go nayo duł kut' ις ki hn o wa ge nne' bi tsi' nni hi ci na si hi at'e ako go dała'e l'e' uł tci hi at'e n ni tc'i ni da' do adic ni da ni tc'i ni n jo do adn ni da' lañ ke dị i yıs ka go a γa dn nił do an dza da yo go n ni k'ud duc luc ni tc'i ni ako go ις ki hn na des dza ako go ic ki-25 hn do buł go jo da ako da na da' ako ya na tse kes ako go dai-k'e go ta gi be yıs ką ako go da ła'e 'it dzi'

ako go itsa ban t'ak' ako go ω kihn bɨl n nɨt' n t'e bi γa do nɨ go jo da bɨl n nɨt' ako go da' n wa ge n de bi tsi' n di ai na si go' da la 'e l'e' ɨl tci hi a t'e n i n cɨl n ni la ako go ai bi γa 30 do cɨl go jo da do aduc ni da hi γa ako go n jo ni' he ta hi na n' a cɨc 'a' ce hi na' ni tc'i ni ai n ne' bi tsi' n di' hi ai bi tsi t'a' bec o genz ai bi γa n ni ako go ai bec i ts'i ya da yo gɨns ai yi k'at' da tsa yo gol do' ai ta ba yo tu n lị yo yi γa go tal bec ts'i ya da yo gɨs a ko go ai xa na dn gɨs a ko go n jo da do dlet

he told me," he said they say. | "Well, as you say. Once me you-helped me, you it was, I was saved. Now, I | I will save you," he said they say. "How many days you do it?" he said they say. Then, | "Two days," he said they say. Then, "All right, to-morrow there to it I will go. | Then its top I will go. Then its-leaves all I will eat off. Then they won't come out again. | Then now down I will come again. Then now | you cut it off," he said they say.

"This day," boy chief he sent to him. Then, Then, | "All right," he said. Then now there they went-Then when the sun was setting | then there they came. Then that snake iust himself he saw. Then down he came. now he cut it off. Then he started back. | Camp back to. Then now next day early cottonwood did not standagain. The cottonwood just so lay there. Now chief, "You spokethe truth, you live," he told him. Then well to him he treated him. Then now he was happy. Well he lived again. Then there he lived.

Then long time passed again. Then that one his brother informed on him. | Chief he told. Then, "'Man rich his daughter sick that one I | I will cure' he said," he said they say. "All right, we will find out," he said they say. Then, | "Go back home," hetold him they say.

boy for him he sent. There he came. Then he questioned him. | "Boy 'Over there man his daughter who is sick I then | just one night I will make a child,' they say." "But. I did not say it," he said they say. | "Well, perhaps you did not say it. Four days you do it. If you do not do it | I will cut off," he said they say. Then boy boy | was unhappy. There he sat about. There thought about it. just that way three days passed. Then iust one day remained.

"Boy," Then hawk flew to him. Then, he said, "what because of it are you unhappy?" he asked him. "Well, Then. "Over there man his daughter is sick, that one when I cure just-'one night I will make child, you said' he told me." Then, because of | I am unhappy, I did not say it because." Then, "All right, you I was saved. | I will save you," he said "That man his daughter is sick that one crown of her head iron is screwed in that because she is sick. Then that iron down they screw it that soon she will die. Those by the shore, by theriver for that they dance. Iron down they screw it. Then that



ni tc'ini n jo a xi ye'e' ni tc'ini a ko go ci ai bi l'e' bi ni go da n dac da l'a da ne da go l'ic dal xal i a di do nal a ko go me' go do-lel ni tc'i ni n jon ni tc'i ni

akogo ai al beyska ai bidji ako' deya akogo nne' 5 dawa bineligo akogo ai nnihi bitsi't'a' bec o gez aiyi xayi gez akogo njo nas dli bikowayo na dza akogo l'e' goz li akogo l'e' binigo ai itsahi danes da kowa bika' akogo l'ic dd xd adnnit' akogo me' goz li akogo xayınlka akogo t'abine ge nant'an yigos sint' akogo dannila nnıt' 10 akogo njo huna' nnıt' akogo cckihn njogo nanes da akogo njogo sıt da

a ko go n zat' go de ya' a ko go bi k'ıs n ba na gos ni' nan t'an bıl na gos ni' a ko go ci k'ıs n' ις kın hi don jo go a ni da n nıt' a ko go ci dil Gıt zıs xe' hi a t'e bi zat' nanc'a n ni bi ka ge 15 nans tsoz n ni ni tc'i ni ai k'e go nan t'an yıl na gos ni' a ko go n jo a γa do nil nan da' yıl n nıt'

ako go ις ki hn yi ka' des'ą' ις ki hn ako de ya ako go ις ki hn ako nya ako go nayo dił kit ako go ις ki hn yi nnit' ci dil Git zis xe' n ni tc'i ni ako go aγan ne' di yis ka go bi-20 zat' nan'a' bi ka γε nanł tsoz ni tc'i ni ako go do an dza dayo go n·i' (n ni) l kid die lie ni tc'i ni ako go ις ki hn na des dza ko wa yo na dza ko wa yo sit da ako go do bił go jo da go' na da' ya na tse kes go' na da' ako go na ki be yis ka an ni ta ta gi be yis ka da ła'ε 'it dzi

25 ako go lị li Gai ye ben kai yo l'o hi t'ın ne n'i ba na na dza ako go ις ki hn n t'e bi γa do ιπl go jo da bɨl n nɨt' da' dɨl Gɨt zɨs xe n ni' n cɨl n ni la (nc cɨl n ni)² ai bi γa do cɨl go jo da n jo ni he ta hi na'n' da la hi t di' ce na hi na' a ko go an ni ta al do lel ni he ta hi na n' da la he di n djo nac ni bɨl n nit' a ko go 30 a ko' n t'ac goc i ai na γa yo n za yo go li yɨl n nit' k'a di' Ge bec n nez i la' na dn ti yɨl n nit' bec bi nail 'a hi ³ hel do' bɨl-n nɨt' a ko go ai la' da yɨn la nai dn ne' a ko go a ko n t'ac yɨl n nit' ci ka' dan da yɨl n nit' a ko go ic ki hn da nes da a ko li'i bɨl na dɨl γot' a ko bɨl yil te a ko go a ko bɨl nil got' a na di' na dn ya ic ki hn ai ge bi tc'i' yal ti' a ko go n lai n la dɨl Gɨt'

¹ Both were recorded.

² First given.

[&]quot;That with one skins." (?).

you screw up again. Then good she will be again," | he said they say.

"All right, thanks," he said they say. Then, "I that its night middle | I will come on (house). When I sit on it snake black will-rattle. Then baby will become," | he said they say. "Good," he said they say.

Then that all days passed. That its day there he started. men | all watching him that sick one Then then crown of herhead screw that he screwed up. Then well she became. Camp he came back. Then night became. Then night its middle that hawk sat on, house on it. Then snake black rattled. Then Then day broke. Then early chief "It is true," he said. Then "Well, you live," Then, he said. Then boy well lived again. Then well he lived.

long time passed. Then his brother informed on him. Then, "My brother, Chief | he informed. boy says something nothe said. Then, "'I, Delgit I will kill, his tongue I willhe says. 'His hide | I will bring' he says," he said they say. Then | "Well, let him do it. Go home," Thus chief he told. he told him.

Then bov for him he sent. Boy there started. Then boy Then he questioned him. Then boy he said to, "I Delgit will kill,' you said they say. Then do it. Four days bring," his tongue | bring. His hide he said they say. Then "If you do not do it, | your head I will strike off," he said they say. Then started back. House he came back. House Then being unhappy he sat about. | Studying about it he sat about. Then days passed. Now three days passed. two Just one mained.

white through him grass Then horse could be seen that one came to him again. Then, "Boy, what because of it are youunhappy?" he asked. "Well, 'Delgit | I will kill you said,' he saidbecause of I am unhappy." "Well, | because of you to me. That I was saved. Once again I will save you. Then now all will be. Because of you I was saved. Once again I will help you." he said. Then | "There we two will go. I will look. That one where he goesabout far he lives," he said. "Now knife long one you take," "Knife too," he said. Then "That one he said. \mathbf{short} Then there we two will go," | he said. "On me sit," he said. Then boy sat on him. There horse ran with him. There he went-Then there he arrived with him. Some distance away he dismounted. Boy there to him he talked. Then. "Over there



xol ze bil n nit' ai be ci n jo go hn kac yil n nit' a ko go n jo go yi j gac a ko go di ci do co'i da ni hel do' do no'i da a ko go ci ka' dan da ai bec n nez i da dn ti yil n nit' a ko go ai di dn il na hic te bi l'a yo nl tcinc get' di dn ni tc'i ni ts'i t da go xonl-5 cic le ga' ni tc'i ni a ko go ai yi senl hi go bi zat' xa dn al bi ka ge a dn lil ni tc'i ni

a ko go an ni ta ıc ki hn da nes da a ko go yi tc'i' na dıl got' a ko go yi l'a tc'el got' a ko go na di dza a ko go yu we di' yi tc'i' na dıl wot' a ko go yi l'a tc'ın na nal got' a ko go dıl Gıt tc'e he ta 10 le na di mas a ko go yi tc'i' na des dzıl a ko go yi l'a tc'ın na nalgot' ai bec be' ts'ıt da go yol cic a ko go yo we di' yi tc'i' na des dzıl a ko go yi l'a tc'ın na nalgot' a ko go dıl Gıt n des daz nanl daz a ko go yi zes xi

an ni ta ako yi tc'i dej'aj yan'aj ako go ai naila' ako go
15 bi ka ge a yın la bi zat' a yın la ako go bi ka γe hi n tca' ıc ki hn
tc'e aili ako go da bi t'a go a xan ne go il woj ako bi ka γe
yi di des to' ako yi denl to' ako li n ya ako go bi ka γe yides tsont' ako go bi tıs yo an o yınl tsoz bi ka' da nes da ako go
bil na hil te ako go ko wa yo da na yo yıl na t'aj ai ge i ka γe
20 yi denl to' ai ge i zat' n yın'a' ako go al be yıs ka nan t'an
yi tc'i' de ya i zat' yo'al go ako ya yın'a ako go n ko' al nni ni nan ni a yıl n nıt' ako go n jo n nıt' bi go zi da k'at'
bi ka ge hi n nıt' ko' sıl tsoz ako go n de la' ako do' ka
ako go ko na dai den nol tonl yıl n nıt' ako go n jo n nıt' na25 dn da' i na yo yıl n nıt'

ako go na des dza ako į yą ai do'n ne'da bi γa yd na gos ni'ako go ko' le xo'ka di da dın dıl gıt bi zat' yi go sın cin nut'ako go da bi γa le' xes kain ne'lą da bi γa ku'ni hes kai ako go aku'n ne'nai yo dıl kıt di xolą yd nnıt'ako go dıl-30 gıt bi zat'lą da t'ele bil nnıt'ako go dola' yi gonl si da ako gon de da la'e yınl'at'di yoya ge xas tihn sıt da hibana'na-xodıc kıt nnit'ako go ako'yan ya xas tin wayon na'yıl nnıt'ako gonan t'an hin noket'yıl nnıt'n jo ako di cannıt'ako go ako de ya akonya ako go bi tc'i xadzi xas-35 tihn yılınıt'dıl gıt bi zat'lą da teli yılınıt'ako go xe'

Delgit | is called," he said. "That knife well sharpen," he said. Then well | he sharpened it. Then, "This me he cannot see me. You too he cannot see you." Then, | "On me you sit. That knife the long one take up," he said. Then, "That four times | from sideto side I will move. Under him, I go across fourth time," | he said they say, "up you must stab," | he said they say. Then, "That one when you kill his tongue cut out, his hide | prepare," he said they say.

Then now boy sat on him. Then toward him he ran across. he got up. under him he ran. Then Then from beyond toward him | he ran across. Then under him he ran again. Delgit in vain | whirled around. Then toward him he started runningagain. Then under him he ran again. That knife with up he-Then stabbed him. from beyond toward him | he ran again. under him he ran again. Then Delgit swayed back and forth. He fell. Then he killed him.

Now there toward him they two started. They two came to him. Then that one he skinned. Then his hide he prepared. His tongue Then that hide of his was large. Boy in vain tried. he prepared. by it near little gulch there its hide he started to drag it. There he dragged it. There horse stood. Then its hide he pulledit. Then across he pulled it. On it he sat. Then he ran back with-Then camp little ways they two came. There hide | hehim. tongue he put down. threw down. There Then all days were. Chief to him he started, tongue holding. There he carried it to him. "Here that you spoke of | I brought back," he said. "All right," he said, "I will find out. Soon | its hide," There it lay. "Men some there go, | then here drag it-Then, "All right," "You go home back," he said. Then, he said. where you eat," he told him.

Then he started home. There he ate. Then men all he spoketo. Then, "Here come together. This someone Delgit his tongue I suppose he knows," he said. Then all came together. Men many all here came. Then there men he questioned. "These so many," "Delgit | his tongue (Inter.) what kind?" he asked. Then | man just one he sent for. "That not one knew it. go to him. I will question him," | he said. there old man who sits Then there he came to him. "Old man over there come," | he said-"Then the chief invites you," he said. "Very well, there I will go," he said. Then there he started. There he came. Then to him he spoke. "Old man," he said, "DelGit his tongue (Inter.) what kind?" he asked him. Then, "He," | he said, "Delgit

n nư' dd Gư xol ze bi zat' da gol Gij le. n nư' an ni na ca da' hư j le hn' n nư' ai yi da ni la da'ai bi zat' da gol Gij n nư' a ko go ư ki hn na dn da' yư n nư' na des dza ko wa yo na dza a ko go bư go jo a ko go a ko si da

- 5 a ko go n zat' go de ya a ko go ις ki hn na tse kes go' sư da si k'ıs n' ci ke dn ni la n zi kal la hi ci hi ba na goc ni' n zi a ko go a ku' de ya ya n ya nan t'an yi tc'i' xat dzi wa ge n ne' sư da hi da an dza hi k'e go ac ne' hi a t'e n ni yıl n nıt' n jo bego zi n nıt' na da da' yıl ni
- 10 akogo ai n ne hi yın ka des'a akogo n ne hi ako n ya nayodıktı tıckihn at dzahik'e go ac ne'n di tc'ini dada ani yılın nıt'da' do adıc ni da n nıt'akogo do adın ni dalañ Ge di yis kago aγadın nil yılın nıt'akogo n ne nades dza ako do bılgojoda' yanatse kes danada'akogo tagi be yıs ka dala'e 15 go dzi'

ako go koʻ de ya li li Gai ye de si gan ne hi nai dn dziz i sa di i nai dn nd bec da la 'e nai dn ta ako go al ız li ako go akuʻ li yi des loz ako n ya li bi zol k'ıñ Gıj yi zes xi ako go i sa ako n yın 'a da la 'e i sa dd xades bi ako go la' yo dla 20 la' ye ta des Gıs la' yo ne' ya yı zıt' i ya hi go ako go yo ne' ya hi tak' ako go ai bd da del te' ako go be yıs ka t'a bi ne ge ai dak' o na ta ako go n ne' n'i da di ako go do xa k'i da ako go di'n ne hi da bi γa ba da dlo

a ko go ani ız li a ko go uc kihni n jo go i ta n gon le' 25 tc'i ni n al

MAGIC FLIGHT.1

ał k'i dą' tc'i ni a ko go n ne' go li tc'i ni a ko go n ne' goli go n ne' da ła'e ku du ca' n zi tc'i ni a ko go a ku de ya n za yo n ne' go lin yo n ya a ko sư da do n t'e yi ya da a ko go n zat' go de ya a ko go n ne' xa dın ci na da'hi n ya' a ko go 30 a ku ko wa ge n ya a ko go ai n ne hi yi t'a yo a na dał a ko go ai n ne hi o na dza a ko go ai di' yo we da ła'e da hi ta a ko go n ne' na na dza a ko go ya na tse kes xa di'ca' na da'n zi a ko go a ku yi t'a yo na zi' a ko go kal la hi bi tc'i' xaus dzi n zi a ko go

¹ Told by Albert Evans. A free translation is given on pp. 81-85.

called his tongue is forked," he said. "When I was young | I used tosee it," he said. "That is the one. Just that his tongue is forked," he said. | Then "Boy, go home," he said. He started home. House he came back. | Then he was happy. Then there he sat.

Then long time passed. Then boy thinking about it he sat. | "My brother me he does not like," he thought. "Well, I will-inform on him," he thought. | Then there he started. He came there. Chief to him he spoke. "Over there man | who sits 'just the way-you do I can do,' he says," he told him. "All right, I will find-out," | he said. "Go home," he said.

Then that man for him he sent. Then man there He questioned him. "'Boy, just as he does I do,' you said they say. Did you say it?" | he asked him. "But, I did not say it," "Perhaps you did not say it. Then. Four | days you may do that," Then he told him. man started home. There he was unhappy. He thought about it. He sat around. Then three days passed. just one | was left.

Then here he started. Horse white, poor he led back. Pails four he brought. Knife one he brought. Then all became. Then he led. There Horse his throat horse he came. he cut. He killed him. Then | pails there he put. Just one Then some he drank, some he washed with, some he poured, very little. Then in he jumped. Then that they closed. Then night passed. Early that they opened. Then man that one was not. Then there was nothing. Then those men all laughedabout him.

Then all was. Then boy well still lived | they say. All.

MAGIC FLIGHT.

It was long ago they say. Then man lived they say. Then, "Man where he lives | man just one I am going," he thought he started. | Far away they say. there man where he lives There He did not eat anything. Then | long time he came. he sat. Then man from somewhere he comes came there. Then there camp he came. Then that man near by he walked. Then that man was going back. Then from there forward iust one month then man came again. Then he thought about it. "Fromdoes he come?" he thought. Then there | near him where he stood. Then, "Well, to him I will speak," he thought. Then | near a xan ne go ya n ya a ko go yi tc'i xa dzi xa di na na yd n nit' di n za yo gonc i n nt' xai yo ni n zat' a co a ko n nai n nt' a ko go a ku di ca xac t'i n nit' a ko go n jo na des dza k'at' n nt' a ko go dzą di da la 'e da xi tą go nanc da dzą 5 n nt' a ko go n tc'i xa dis dzi yd n nt' a ko go n jo n nt'

ako go n ne' ako' sư da ako go da la' e da xị tạ ako go ai n ne' na na dza lị' bư na dzư di ako go aku' yi tơ' i' de ya ako ya n ya ako go yi tơ' i' ya l ti' ako go ni' na n dza lạ yư n nư ako go ku nans dza n nư 'ako go aku' di ca dư ni n' yư n nư '10 ako go n jọ ako dn na' di n ne' la' bư si ke tal le' n sị ni tơ' i ni ako go ci' na des dza ci ke' yo hi na le ga' ci' na des dza ni tơ' i ni ako go ai ư dlo ada yis ka go ako de ya ako go 'ai n ne hi bi ji' ba' bi l na gos ni' ako go yi gon l si ako go ai n ne hi bi tơ' i ya l ti' n' ci li' be ke' hư l ka le ga' ni tơ' i ni

15 akogo aku' de ya hit dan iyahigo dait n ne' akogo ai yidoyinli yone'go de ya akogo ako' hiγal li bike' ai ja yol ka akogo n zayo yol ka akogo ai n ne hi natse kes axanne go golici n zi akogo n zayo dzil da'n'ayo xaiya ako nez da akogo ai li bike'i dadi' doxak'ida akogo da'aige 20 sit da xago' ac ne' n zigo' sit da

ako go nt'a go Ga ge da di t'ak' ako go yi tc'i' na di dd gaj xai yo den ya yd nnư' ako go bi dz ts'a ako go bi tc'i' go da' des t'ak' ako go ban ya ako go yi tc'i' yal ti' xai yo den ya nnư' da' ko' de ya nko' li bi ke' nne' li bil onal go'i 25 bi tc'i yo de ya nnư' ako go ai yi ni' nzat'yo go li nnư' bi tc'i' dzd di go da n'a yd nnư' ac o' ako dn nal yd nnit' ai nne' don jo da yd nnit' ako go bi tc'i' gon ye yd nnit' ako go da γa t'e n di ako de ya nnit' nzat' n nit'

a ko go co n yd n nư' di bi kư hi cał hi nanc ne' n nư' 30 a ko go n jo n nư' ai bi tc'i yo a xan ne yo nưnc xe yd n nư' a ko go di li Gai ye al t'a ye hi n na' nanc t'e n nư' a ko go dzą di' nic xe yd n nư a ko go ai xat dak' di' xo le la' yd n nư' a ko go

he came to him. Then to him he spoke. "Whence did you come?" he said to him. | "Here far I live," he said. "Somewhere land far impossible there you go," | he said. Then, "There I go I amthat kind," he said. Then, "All right, I am going back, | soon," he said. Then "From now just one month I come back here," | he said. Then, "To you I will speak," he said. Then, "All right," he said.

Then man there sat. Then just one month was. Then that man came again. Horse he rode. Then there to him he started. There | he came. Then to him he spoke. Then, "You have youcome again?" he asked him. Then, "Here I have come back," he said. Then "'There I will go,' I said," he said. | Then, "Veryyou go." "'This man some I want to stay with," well, there I think," he said | they say. Then, "I I start back. you must come, I I start back," | he said they say. fifteen days there he started. Then that man his name he told-Then he knew it. Then that man to him had spoken. "My horse his tracks you must trail," he said they say.

Then there he started. Food a little he carried. Then that | he will use taking it he started. Then there he was walking histracks those only | he trailed. Then far he trailed him. Then that man he thought about. "Near | he lives," he thought. Then far mountain where it stood he climbed. There | he sat down. Then that horse his tracks were not. There was nothing. Then right there | he sat. "What shall I do?" thinking he sat.

just then raven alighted on (tree). Then to him heshouted. | "Where are you going?" he said. Then he heard himslightly. Then to him down he started to fly. Then he came tohe talked. "Where are you going?" | he said. Then to him him. "Well, here I started. Here horse his track, man horse whowas riding | to him I started," he said. Then, "That country far he lives," he said. | "To him mountains stand." four "Impossible there you go," he said. | "That man is not good," he said. Then, "To him it is dangerous," he said. Then, "Nevertheless there I will go," he said. "It is far," he said.

Then, "Sho," he said, "this food that I travel I will give you," he said. | Then, "All right," he said, "that one toward him near I will carry you," he said. | Then, "This white thing your eyes I will put across," he said. Then, "From here | I will carry you," he said. Then, "That up do not raise," he said. Then, "Fromhere I will carry you," he said. Then, "Just one mountain where-

dzą di' nic xe' yıl n nıt' a ko go da la'hi go dzıl nan 'a yo nınc xe ai ge ci xa na sol a ko go ai ge de ti sin ke do yil n nıt'

ako go ani ta yi des γιη ako go da la hi go dzιł nan ą yo n yın γιη ako' nes da ako go ai ge si ke ako go de ti hi go yi γιη 5 ako go na ki dzιł nan a yo n yın γιη ako nez da ako go de ti ιł tc'i yal ti' ako go na yi γιη ako go ta go dzιł nan a yo nez da ako si ke ako go de ti hi go na yi γίη ako go yowe yo dzιł di i nan ą yo nez da ako go ai ge si ke

a ko go ai di' yıł na gos ni' n la' ge dzıł si'a ai yu da Ge 10 go lin la' yıł n nıt' a ko go ai bi tc'i' a xan ne yo nınc xe yıl n nıt' a ko go yi γi a ko go a ko a xan ne go n yın γi ai ge Ga ge bi ts'a' o na dza

akogo dabija yowe deya ai dzdi axan nego yan ya akogo aku' hiγał bitc'į yo akogo ako' tun lį bą yo tu ba 15 xago Get' yan ya akogo ai Ge sd da akogo de tį' higo akogo tc'e ki naki tu yika n'aj akogo an nadi' sd da akogo tc'e ki tu yan'aj akogo tse alts'dse hi be' yonline' akogo tc'e ki ako dadez gal akogo aku dayanltsą akogo daxaonat'aj akogo kowayo nat'aj

20 ako go bi tsi' bɨl na gos ni' ci ta n nɨt' wa yo n ne' ni tc'i' de ya ni hi hi sɨt da ni tc'i ni ako go ci tsi' ba no' ac ni tc'i ni ku' no ya' ni tc'i ni ako go di no xi nas dzɨt' la no xa na i zɨt' do' ni tc'i ni ako go ako yan aj ku' ci ta no ket' yɨl n nɨt' ako go ako de ya ako n ya ako go ako' nez da 25 ako go o i a ako go bi tc'i' yal ti' ni' nɨc i n' yɨl ni ako go ku' ni tc'i' de ya n' ni' n jo n ca' na i zɨt' yɨl n nɨt' ako go n jo n nɨt'

ako go yıs ka ako go naıs sıt'n di γadn ni di yoya Ge dzıl si'a ai dala' dji n n Get'ako go k'e dn le ako go dala' 30 dji not'a ako go nada'la'nan ne'ku'yılın nıt'ako go aku de ya tsi'atca'al zago yoal be xagokahe tsi'al za ai yotınl ako go ako n ya aku yes da ako go dan jogo yes da ako go ılını'ın 'a ako go sıt da it stands across I will carry you to. | There I I will rest. Then there little while we will sit down," he said.

Then now he began carrying him. just one mountain where it stands across he put him down. There he sat down. they two sat. Then after a little time he carried him. Then second mountain where it stands across he put him down. little while | to each other he sat down. There they talked. he took him on his back again. Then third mountain where itstands across he sat down. There they two sat. Then after a littletime he took him up again. Then beyond mountain fourth whereit stood he sat down. Then there they two sat.

Then there he talked to him. "Over there mountain stands, that beyond | he lives," he said. Then, "That to it near I will-carry you," he said. | Then he carried him. Then there near he put him down. There raven | from him went back.

Then just by himself onward he started. That mountain near he came. | Then there he walked toward him, then there by theriver shore water for | it had been dug out he came there. Then there he sat. Then after a time then | girls two water for came. Then some distance away he sat. Then | girls water they two cameto. Then stone small with he threw. Then | girls there looked-around. Then there they saw him. Then quickly | they two went-back. Then house they two came back.

Then his daughter spoke to him. "My father," she said, "over-'to you I will come' the one who said sits," man she said "My daughters they say. Then, to him you two go," he said "Here let him come," he said they say. Then, our work much for us he will do," he said they say. Then there they two came. "Here my father asks you," | she said. Then there he started. There he came. Then there he sat down. Then sunset. Then to him he talked. "You I saw," he said. Then, to you I started," he said. "Good, for me you will work," he said. Then. "Very well," | he said.

Then "'I will work for you,' it was morning. Then downstream | mountain stands, Well. that just one this you dig down. Then plant. Then just one day make it mature. bring back here," he said. Then there he-Then corn some started. Wooden ax being made he carried it. Shovel that he carried. Then there he came. made of. There Then Then | sun was in themerely he sat against it. middle. Then he was sitting.

ako go xas tị hn bi tsi' da ke' yo na γa hi bi tc'ị' xat dzi ci ta n ne' no xan na zư' hi hi dan la' ba noc ne' n nư' n jọ ci tsi' a ko dn na' n nư' a ko go a ku hi dan yi dez ne' a ku yi ne' a ko go n ne' dan jo go sư da ye· yư n nư' n i zi yo on ya n' 5 yư n nư' a ko go hư dan na ni ne' yư n nư' da' do ca da di hicnal ne' n nư' a ko go i na' duc ni n nư' do da' di dzư i do xago ac le go da' n nư' un na duc ni yư n nư' a ko go i ya a ko go anl a ko go co' yư n nư' a ko go ni tsi ts' un bi kai yo doc i n nư' a ko go ai bi tsi' ts' un bi tc' i' n ne ta a ko go ya la' 10 na duc te n nư' a ko go ai ji' n ne ta a ko na li hn na du ni' a ko go bi yol ye' yon yol a ko go n ne' un xaj a ko go bi gan ye yun tsot ni yo bi tsi ts' un n yun'a

ako go na di dza ako go dził dį jį' yił di des ni ako go ił kidiz do' si li ako go na dą' k'e dn la ako go xat djek ako go bi15 zol goz lį ako go da ła 'e go' da di Ga ako go an ni tą n ne' tc'inaił sit' ako go na dn da' yił n nit' na hi zi dn yił n nit' ako go
na di dza ako go bi na' di at'i go dez į ako go n lai n la' bi ka
dn ya n' yil n nit' ła' ba na yil n nit' ako go ła' ya n ya li xes l'o
ako go nai des ne' ako go ko wa yo nan t'aj ako go xas t'i hn
20 bił go jo ci ki n ne' a γa t'e le ga' na 'o sit' n ni n' ni tc'i ni
ako go o į ą ako go yis ką di lį la' ca nl co yil n nit' ako go
n jo n nit'

ako go yıs ka li ba' bi k'e da'is nil ako go yi ka' da nes da ako go na li hn tsi' n l'ız i bain ta ako go bil des Get' ako go 25 bi k'os yu ya yol lıc ako go bil nal Get ako go bi li' hın ya nan'n kat ako go li n'i xat dzi xal la n nıt' ci tsi ke an naci dla n nıt' ako go da dal la n nıt' ako go ci tsi' ke hi na ki dzada la' yil n de n nıt' ako go ai da xa din ne' xa t'i ni yıl ni ne' n yos ba n nıt' ako go ai yıs ka ci tsi' da wa ba dıc t'e ako go 30 la' yıl ni ne' ako go n jo go nazıt' hi le

a ko go ya ka ai tc'e ki na ki dza da hi yi des t'i' a ko go ai nai lị hn yi ke' yo na γa hi ai bi la l'a i ya hi go dais k'at go' ai ya la' a ko go xas t'ị hn bi na nai nh t'i' a ko go ai tc'e ki yi ta de ya a ko go da la' he di xa dn ya na ki dn xa dn ya ta dn xa dn ya

Then old man his daughter the youngest to him spoke. "Myfather, man who works for us food some to him I carry," "Very well, my daughter, there said. you go," he said. Then there food he started to carry. There she carried it. Then man "Ye," she said, "where you work merely sat. you came here," "Food I brought you," she said. "But, she said. Then, I will-I am not going to live," | he said. "'Eat,' Then not eat. she said. "No, this mountain I can do nothing with," | he said. "'Eat,' I say," she said. Then he ate. Then all. Then, "Sho," then, "your head through it I will look," | she said. Then to her he put down. Then, "Lice that one his head some I will take out for you," she said. Then there he put it. There girl felt over it with her hand. Then her breath with him. Then man went to sleep. Then her hand with she lifted it, on the ground his head she placed.

she got up. Then mountain four places she pushed with-Then level it became. Then corn she planted. her hand. it grew up. Then its tassel | became. Then just one it became white. Then now man she woke up. | Then, "Get up," she said. "You-Then | he got up. have completed your work," she said. Then eyes hard he looked. Then, "That over there after it | you came," she said. "Some go for," she said. Then some he went to. tied it together. Then he started carrying it. Then camp they twocame back. Then old man | was pleased. "My kin, man must be-'I will work for you,' he said," he said this kind. they say. | Then Then sun set. it was morning. "These horses some for me you ride," he said. Then, | "Very well," he said.

Then it was morning. Horse for him on it he put (saddle.) Then on him he sat. Then girl stick tough she gave him. Then with him he began to buck. Then on the back of his neck he struckhim. Then with him he bucked around. Then his horse was tiredout. He fell down. Then horse that spoke. "Well," he said. "my daughters did it to me," | he said. Then, "Nearly," "My daughters twelve one you marry," he said. "That one which ever one he wants he may marry. I lost," he said. "These tomorrow my daughters all for him I will put in a-Then. line. then one he may marry, then well he will work."

Then it was day, those girls twelve he put in line. Then that | girl youngest that one palm of her hand small projects | she caused. Then old man his eyes he put across. Then those girls along | he started. Then just once he went by. Twice he went by.



ako go dị i uz li 'ge a ni tạ na lị hn yi ke' yo na γa hi hai yi dzuz ako go ci ki ye n nư' ci tsi' cil n jo ni sư ts'ạ' xa yưnh tị n nư' ako go yư n na ako go yih bi kọ wạ

a ko go ai na lin hi na do t'ac xas t'i hn ni ził xe ai bi γa 5 na dn t'ac n nit' a ko go n ne' n jo n nut' a ko go li ba na yıl n nut' a ko go li dıl xıl i nail t'e' ai do da' n nit' lai'i li bi γa dac tci i des ka ne' ai nanl te' yıl n nut' a ko go a ku de ya a ko go ai nainl te' a ko go ai di' xa dn je ci ko di' xa di ce n nut' a ni ta di xas t'i hi bi tsi' i bi 'a' da wa nes nan e a t'e 10 do xın na hi da' n nut' ni zıl xe' ci la go n k'ı je as tsa ai γa gon liyo nad dn t'ac n nut' a ko go li le ke' da nes ke a ko go li bıl nai hil te

ako go 'ai be yıs ka hi 'aj go' ako go xas t'i hn xat dzi n lai yo ko wa yo na no'ta n nıt' aku bi tsi' de ya aku' n ya et di 15 n ne n'i da 'adi ako go bi ta yıl na gos ni' ako go da 'adi n nıt' n jo bi ke' di ca nas tset n nıt' ako go aku' de ya ako go di li tci' i dıl le yo ta ako go bi ke' li bıl na dil γot' ako go ai na li hn yınıl tsa n la' ci ta li bıl hıl wol ako go xac ke la li tci' n nıt' ako go ai ge nez ke bi ko wa de go tc'o e n γon 'a ako ne' 20 nez da ako go n ne hi ts'i' dıl xıl i yi yi' nez da

a ko go xas t'į hn lį bił da dil wot' a ko go ai ya n ya sanne hi n nīt' hai yo n ne' ci tsi' ce nez į n nīt' a ko go doc'į da n nīt' ko jį' o aj la² n nīt a ko go ku da a dį doc'į da n nīt' a ko go xas t'į hn na des dza ko wa yo na dza

25 ako go na yıs ką ako go dą wą ako des kai aku' hın kai ako go ai bın nas ge tu n teli nan lį ako go aku but tsi' ba dan ni aku' yınl tsą ako go ta'ıl ni ge tsi'n nez i n tsą zi yi ka' das ke bula na'ol ako go xai ya ada t'e ako go ci tsi' ni da la'hın di ci tc'i' ni γal yıl ni ako go ci ja je da la he di ci tc'i' 30 n γal yıl ni ci dıj e da la hi di ci tc'i' n γal yıl ni ako go ai do'ako dez į da ako go n ne hi do da' yıl ni ako go dai k'e go bula na'ol bi ts'ą yo go bul na de'ol ako go ai do bi tc'i' di-γal da' ako go na des kai ko wa yo na kai

¹ Perhaps "little fat."

² It is improbable that the a is nasalized.

times he went by. Then fourth when it was then girl youngest he drew out. Then, "My kin," he said, "my daughter I like fromme you have taken," he said. Then he married her. Then with her his house was.

Then that girl, "Let us go back. Old man will kill you because, let us go back," she said. "Good." he said. Then man, go for," | she said. Then "Horse horse black he brought-"That not," she said. "Another back. horse his hair reddish, bring," she said. Then there he started. Then "There you spit; I here I willthat one he brought back. Then, "Now this old man, his daughters, his wife, spit," | she said. are. They are not alive," she said. "He will kill you, many times I will intervene for you. For that reason where you live we will go," she said. Then horse one behind the other they twosat. Then horse | ran with them.

when they two went, that day passed then old man "Over there | camp you look," he said. There his daughter spoke. There she came. There was no one. That man started. "Not there," | she said. Then her father she told. Then. well, after him I will go, I will kill him," he said. Then he started. Then red with him goes surrounding him. Then afterhim horse he rode. Then that | girl saw him. "There my father Then he is angry red," | she said. Then there two sat. House poor stood inside she sat. Then man tree black inside he sat.

Then old man rode. Then that he came to. horse woman," | he said, "where man my daughter who stole from me?" "I did not see him," | she said. "Here they twohe said. Then, came," "Here he said. Then, he is not, I did not see him," she said. Then old man started back. Camp he came back.

day was again. Then all there started. There theyarrived. | Then that between water wide flowed across. Then there his daughter, his son-in-law there saw them. Then middlelog long, large on it they two sat. It floated aboutof the water she held her head. "My daughter." with them. Then down Then. he said, | "just once toward me look," he said. Then, "My child. just once toward me look," she said. "My sister, just once towardlook," she said. Then that one | did not look there. "No," she said. Then thus it floated with them. the man. other side with them it floated across. Then that not them when she looked | then they started home. Camp they came back. akogo nalį hn ucki hn ai but dej'aj akogo ucki hn golį yo da'a nadi nez ke akogo nalį hn bitc'į' yatti' ako nadnda' yut ni nik'i ta' nit no' det'a akogo doda' le ga' akogo nitn del yugo doca nats'ud dokes at'e da akogo ucki hn nades dza 5 akogo aku nadza aku bik'i dabunt tsą akogo bitc'į' nadades sa akogo bik'i doda yut ni ndi' ta' bi naj tut' akogo ani tą bi ni' batca ol tą' akogo bi 'a n'i doya nats'ud deskes da' akogo an ni ta aku sut da akogo da'ai k'e go sut da

ako go n zat go de ya ako go n ne hi hi bi tsi' bi te'i' n jo 10 si li ako go ban yo'ako go ai ba ni tsoz ako go bi yu' yai-'ın la ako go 'n ne bil ni ako go n jo ni ako go ai ge ni ne go' n ne' bayadal ti' ako go di' lil n jo ni ne'' n nıt' ako go ako des kai n ne' da wa ako go ci tsi' ni ne'' ni go n ne' tc'i yal ti'

a ko go an ni ta n wa di' xa wo' na ki da nes ke a ko go ai 15 xa γo' n t'a' n ne' no xi tc'i xas dzi n nit' a ko go n jo da dn nut' da bi γa o da yes ts'a a ko go xa go' ul tc'i xa dzi do a ni hi da' na de t'aj 'n' da la' dji un t'a gol ze di' na de t'aj 'n' a ko go xast'i hn no ke' na ba hn' a ko go bi 'a' bi tsi' do'' no' ke' na ba hn' a ko go san ne hi na sus dli hn ni hi ts'i' dul xul i na sun dli hn 20 a ko go yoc di yo tu si ka ge ul ni yo tsi' no xul na 'el' 'n' a ko go ci tsi' ci ja je cut duj e tc'e' da ni 'n' da lai he di na cun nli da ni 'n' a ko go o na kai 'n' a ko go yoc di' na de t'aj 'n' a ko go n k'i goli ge nan n t'aj 'n' a ko go a ku o nan dza 'n' ni k'i la' ni no tc'i la' nil n nit' a ko go ci do ca no ts'ul do kes a t'e da nul duc ni 'n' a ko go 25 o nan dza dn' a ko go ai ci n'i anc t'e' da 'ai ni lan ya' ai ci n ya' ai 'n' bi nac ni' ni tc'i ni n jo ni' ci ye n li 'n' ai nin i la' n jo k'a di' na dn t'ac k'ad di' anl a ko go ko n jo go n gon dle' an ni ta ni na gos si sunt'

a ko go ai yư n ne n'i bư ts'ạ' k'ư ci' nal ti a ko go do da' 30 nas dli a ko go al k'i da yil n nen i bi'a' nas dli a ko go ư ts'ạ' na da dez za a ko go ai xa go' tc'e ki n'i yư na na' a ko go n jo go yư gon le' tc'i ni n anh ưz li anh

¹ Spanish, paño, "cloth;" no doubt a charm.

girl, boy that one with they two started. Then where he lived, some distance they sat down. Then girl talked. "There you go back," | she said. "Your kin some will try-Then must not. Then if they embrace you to embrace you. you will not think about me again." Then started back. | Then boy saw him. there he came back. There his kin Then toward him they started. Then his kin, "Not," he told, but one embraced-Then | now his mind left him. Then his wife that one he did not think of again. Then now there he sat. Then just thatway he sat.

Then long time passed. Then man that his daughter toward-her good | he became. Then cloth then that one to him she gave. Then her beads he gave her. | Then "I will marry you," she said. Then, "Very well," he said. Then there he was getting married | people talked about it. Then, "These love each other, they are-marrying," he said. Then there | they started, people all. Then, "My daughter she marries," saying man spoke.

Then now over there turtle doves two sat on (tree). Then those | doves, "Wait, people, to you I will speak," she said. Then, "Very well," they said. | All listened. Then doves to each other "Sometime ago | we two were traveling about. spoke. One from place called we started. Then old man | after us came to fight. Then his wife, his daughters too after us they cameto fight. Then old woman I became. You log black you became. Then over this way water where it lay in the middle log with us floated. Then, 'My daughter, my child, my sister' in vain said. 'Just once look at me again' they said. Then they went back. over here we two started. Then your kin where they live we two came. Then there you went back. 'Your kin one embracesyou' I told you 'then me you won't think about' I told you. Then you went back. Then that one I I am; that one you are." "That one I, Oh yes that was I remember again," he said they say. "Good, you mine you were, that one you are. Well, now wewell we will live. Now Iwill go back. Soon all then here know you again."

Then that one he was to marry from her he gave back. Then not | it became. Then long ago one he married his wife becameagain. Then from each other | they started back. Then that dove girl that one he married. Then well | they lived they say. All it is all.



SECURING FIRE (First Version).1

tci ni n' ni gos ts'an bi ka' n de go li' tci ni n' ba' dlo' i ts'a da bi ga n de tci ni n' ko' et di tci ni n' da la e n de lan ne hi bi ko' go li tci ni n' yan tci' tci ni n' ai da' bi l'a yo ko' et di tc'i ni n' n de la ni bi ko' et di tc'i ni n' n dil tc'i n dez i bi la-5 ta yo n ne nal ts'o n de yo ja' bi ko' go li' tc'i ni n' ya dan tc'i' go go li tc'i ni dn'

ai da' bi l'a yo ni go li ni xa go hi do lel dan di tc'i ni n' nela le bi tc'i' go na ta he aul ne' da n dit' tc'i ni n' go ni l'a' a xonde' (a la a xon ne')² da dn net' tc'i ni n' ni la le go se' tc'i ni n' 10 bi tc'i' na de za tc'i ni dn' bi l'a di' nan za tc'i ni n'

xa' dil goc cử na aj yo yoc di' kọ' go da tc'el ta yử n dư' tc'i ni n' go go nat' da on ts'il yử n dư' tc'i ni n' ne la le da'n dư' tc'i ni n' go tc'i' go da' na da des sa tc'i ni n' kọ' da yol tal go go tc'i' n ke nad dnl sa tc'i ni dn' a ko go de da des djek' tc'ij 15 de dai di xưn dil go ge ni nanl sa a ko go kọ' bi n dat di go len dundọz si li' tci ni n' do xa yo tc'i na got' t'i go da tc'i ni n' d' ts'alenl t'e ge kọ' ge n ne bi kọ' et di ni le dn t'i' tc'i ni n'

ai dạ' ba' da an da yo nes ti' tc'i ni n kọ' bił xa dec woł ni go da n na yo nez ti' tc'i ni n ai dạ' bił go na dat ts' t tsił tc'i ni n'

20 yi ' go ne dlit' tci ni n' bi kọ' go li ni ka da gonł ne go go tc' i' ke gon tal tc'i ni n' a ko go ba' n i n wa di' da dn ya tc'i ni n' bi tse bi l'a yo kọ gel n'a go bił k'i des t' uz go da dn ya cd na-ac yo go ne dli go łe ci ke n di'n i cił go ne et dlit' go ac di n dit' tc'i ni n' d ts'a an de ts' is dli kọ' ji' n ca go ac di n dat' tc'i ni n'

25 kọ' bi ban di' n ya tc'i ni n'

dạ' go ne dli go ni go tał tc'i ni n' da' yi ka' da kat' xa yokał go da ka dja i dic yic cưł na ac yo yo ya go łe go ne dli go le n dit' tc'i ni n' ba' an di tc'i ni n' a ko go i dec yıj tc'i ni n' cił go ne dlit' cưł na aj go yo ya go łe go ne dli go łe n dıt' tc'i ni n 30 da' i dec jij tc'i ni n' bi tse kon' yon de' o naił te bi tse tc'i ni n' cưł na aj n tse dul lat yo da go an t'i daił ni tc'i ni n' do da cưł na-

¹ Dictated by Antonio, February, 1910. A translation in free English is given on pp. 41, 42, above.

² Suggested as an alternate reading for the preceding.

SECURING FIRE (First Version).

Earth They say. on it people were living they say. Coyote, hawks all birds. people they say. Fire was none they say. people many their fire they had they sav. They werestingy of it they say. Then below them fire was none | they say. People many their fire was none they say. Pines tall on theirtheir fire tops | people martins people only they had they say. They being stingy of it | they had they say.

"How Then below them those living. will it be?" they said "Well, to them hide the ball let us make." they say. they said they say. "Notify them they come here," | they said they say. "Well," they agreed they say. | Toward them they started to move they sav. Under them they came they say.

"Xa," he called "cousins, here fire down bring," he said they say. "Let us play hide the ball," Then. he said they say. "All right," they said | they say. To them down they started tomove they say. Fire they bringing | to them they came down theythey built a fire. Wood | where they put on sav. Then they came. Then around it four times encircling lines | became they say. No way one could get out they say. In the center of them | by the fire people their fire who had none were in a circle they say.

Then Covote little distance he lay down they say. I will run with," saying | little distance he lay down they say. Then they played with them they say. Yi, there was fun they say. Their fire those who had when they were going to win to them they danced they say. Then that Coyote over there got up they say. His tail under it tinder being placed with it wrapped he got up. "My cousins, let there be fun. My foot hurts, have a good time with me I am," he said | they say. "From each other move; I am cold. To the fire I will go he said they say. | Fire by its edge he came they say.

Then having fun they danced they say. Then on them nearly when day would break | near, "I am going to dance, cousins. Bendyour knees. Let there be fun," | he said they say. Coyote said it Then he started to dance they say. | "There is a good timethey say. Let there be fun," with me. my cousins. Bend your knees. they say. Then he danced they say. His tail fire in he switchedacross. his tail they say. | "My cousin, your tail is likely to catchafire you are," they said to him they say. "No, my cousins, ac go do dd la dia t'e da n di tc'i ni n' ai da' xai yol kal tc'i ni n' bi tse ko' yo n de' o nai ml get go bi tse dd la' tci ni n' cd na aj n tse dd la' da bd tc'i dn nt' tc'i ni n' da' bi n dat' di go nanne doz n i yi go ts ya hi tak' tc'i ni n' di' yu ge na nal got' tc'i-5 ni n'

bi ke'n de ko' yan tc'i n'i da bos tel tc'i ni n' ba'' n i xasda dez go' tc'i ni n' do da do ya' at dza da tc'i ni n' n ne da bostel n i bu'n djek' tc'i ni n' oc le ge ko' bi ya ge yun' ta yo ge ko' yil dan le go go de ya tc'i ni n' ai da' ba'n i bi ze' u' kut' da got-10 ts'un dzins ko' ya da tc'i' ni a da bu' i tc'i ni dn'

ai dą' os le gi n i kọ' yil da le gol do' tc'ın ni dn' yo ge kọ' ya dan tc'i i n de da bil ni dji go kọ' yıl dan le go do da do ya' atdza da tc'i ni dn' a ko go n ne bos del n i bil n djek' tci ni n' a ko go xas da des go' goc ni γε' yai nl tą tc'i ni n'

15 yu ge kọ' yel da xez got' tc'i ni n' a ko go oc le gen i bi ze' el ki da go 'n dzens kọ' yan tc'i ni a da bil i tc'i ni n'

goc ni ye n i a na ga na des dza yo hd goł ko' yoł tał go n de ko' ya dan tc'ın i da bił ni dje go ya a na ga hil goł go do da do ya'at dza da tc'i ni n' a ko go n de bos del n i bił n djek' tc'i ni dn' 20 a ko go tc'i co ge ko' ya naił tą tc'i ni dn'

a ko go te'i co ge n i kọ' yư na di t'ak' te'i ni n' n de kọ' yan te'un i da bư ni dje go ya an na ga hi gal te'i ni n' xas da dez go go n ne bil n djek' te'i ni n' da' da t'i ye yai' nl ta te'i ni n' da' n ne kọ' yan te'un i te'i co ge bil n djek' te'i ni n' bi tsi zil al 25 da yi n duj te'i ni dn

n za ge dzd si'a ni bila ta yo biko' higa tc'i ni n' da t'i ye a t'i tc'i ni n' bi n da ji go dzi yo n za yo ts'd si'a bila ta yo biko' na higa tc'i ni n' da na yo dzid si'a ni bila t'a yo biko' na higa tc'i ni n' a ko go da at za yo da go di dez k'a tc'i ni n' 30 da t'i ye a t'i tc'i ni n'

n de kọ' yan tc'i' ni da n la di' da 'ai di' yu ge na da des dza tc'i ni n' xa go hi an daj do dlil da dn nư' tc'i ni n' do xa go a na-xo dle a t'e da da dn nư' tc'i ni n' da go li yo na da xe sa tc'i ni n'

a ko go n ne bi kọ' et di ni bi kọ' da goz li te'i ni n' da bi ga 35 ni gos ts'an bi ka' ni go li ni bił da go jo te'i ni dn' xai εx yε ε ba' ce' na aj dan di te'i ni n' it will not burn," he said they say. Then day broke they say. | His tail fire in when he stuck it again his tail caught fire they say. "My cousin, | your tail is burning," they told him they say. Then around him four times those forming lines | over them he jumped they say. From there on he ran they say.

After him people fire those stingy ran they say. Coyote was-winded | they say. No longer he could walk they say. People those-chasing him | caught him they say. Frog fire under him he put it. Onward fire | he jumped with it it happened they say. Then Coyote his mouth they tore open, | fire those stingy did it to him they say.

frog fire kept jumping with it they say. Then Onward fire were about to catch him those stingy people fire iumping with he could go no longer they say. Then those chasing him people they say. Then when he was winded roadrunner hegave it to they say.

Onward fire he ran with they say. Then frog his mouth | they tore apart, fire those stingy did it to him they say.

Roadrunner being pursued started back again. He was running fire holding. People | fire those stingy of were about to catch him being pursued when he was running he could go no longer | they say. Then people those pursuing him caught him they say. | Then buzzard fire he gave to they say.

Then buzzard fire flew with they say. People fire | thosestingv when they were about to catch him fleeing he was running they say. When he was winded | then men they caught him they say. humming-bird he gave it to they say. Then men they caught His hair those stingy buzzard they say. all | theypulled out they sav.

Far mountain which stands on its top his fire was white they-say. Humming-bird | did it they say. In front of him (?) far mountain stood. On its top | its fire was white again they say. Some-distance mountain which stood on its top its fire | was white again they say. Then everywhere it began to burn they say. | Humming-bird did it they say.

People fire those stingy just back there there onward theystarted back | they say. "Nothing we can do," they said they say. "Nothing we can do | it is," they said they say. Where they lived they started back they say.

Then people their fire who were without their fire they had they say. All | earth on it who lived were glad about it they say. "Thanks, Coyote, | my cousin," they said they say.



THE WINNING OF DAYLIGHT (First Version).1

ai di' do xa da tc'anl γel n t'e tc'i ni n bo' tc'al γel yan tc'i' go do xail ka da tc'i ni n' n de na ki tcanl γel ya dan tci' tc'i ni n' cac an di tc'i ni n'

xa go i' do le l n de dan di tc'i ni dn xa go i' da l'e' n t'e 5 do ya te be i go zıd da go a gon t'e dan di tc'i ni n' ne la le tc'anlγel ya dan tc'i' i bi tc'i' go tal do ta dan dıt' tc'i ni n' ne gosts'an bi ka' n de go li ni a dan di tc'i ni n' ai da' n da (ε) na ki yi
tc'anl γel ya dan tc'i' tc'i ni n'

go bi te'i' na de za te'i ni n' te'ij bi da del go na de za te'i ni n 10 bi ko wa yo ba nan za te'i ni n cul na aj yo ne dli di t'al e bul dadn nut' te'i ni n' ne la le da n nut' te'i ni n' go dil kon ge de' dol djek' te'i ni n' 'ai ge n de ke go n tal te'i ni n ai da' yi ka' n ya dante'i' i hi nez ke te'i ni n' ne la le ci ke' go ni dli go le ni te'i ni n' ba'' an di te'i ni n' a ko go go ni dli go n de ke gon tal te'i ni n'

ba'' de xa yol ka' na di ni tc'i ni n' a ko go bo' do da doa ko go yol ka a t'ε da na di' nit tc'i ni n' ba'' da xa xaił kał € na di'ni tc'inin' a ko go n wai na ki n de tc'anl γel ya dan tc'i i dan di te'i ni dn' do da a ko go m ba' xa na na dzi de xa le xail kal e die ni na' di ni tc'i ni n'i da' go ni dli go 20 ni go tal te'i ni n'

a ko go ba'n i a da xol jie te'i ni n' i do al go a na xol jie te'ini n de xa xa yol ka ni go a t'i te'i ni n' a ko go bo'n i bil n zi anl xaj te'i ni n' cac n i anl xaj te'i ni n' n ne ai yi ka' ya dan te'i n i da anl xaj

25 dạ' yi ka' yos bạ ba' a t'i te'i ni n' n de' ni gos ts'an bi ka' go li n i hi xe ye e cư na ac da yun n nư te'i ni n dạ' bo n i ts'i yi' ts'i ya yo yo n de' gone li do ci n dư' yu n de' da hưs t'ak' te'i ni n' ai dạ' cac ci dzư i zưz naz a yo te'o 'o i bi yi' yu n de' te'a dagol γel go gone li do ci n nư' te'i ni n' te'an l γel yi ya dan te'i n i 30 a da n di te'i ni n'

a ko go ba' yi ka' yos ba tc'i ni n' a ko go xa nal ka si li' tc'i ni n' a ko go n de bil da go jo si li tc'i ni n'

¹ Dictated by Antonio, February, 1910. A free English rendering will be found above, p. 43.

THE WINNING OF DAYLIGHT (First Version).

There none. It was always dark they say. Owl darkness beingstingy of | day did not break they say. Men two darkness werestingy of they say. | Bear it was they say.

"How will it be?" 'people said they say. "How just night it is | not anything they knew it was," they said they say. "Well, darkness | those stingy of to them dance we will make," they said they say. Earth | on it people those living said it they say. Then men two | darkness were stingy of they say.

to them they started to move they say. Wood carrying they started to move they say. | Their camp to it they came let us have a good time," "My cousins. they said they say. "Well," they said they say. On the open plain they laid the fire they say. There people began to dance they say. Then daylight those stingy of | two sat down they say. "Well, boys let therebe a good time," he said they say. | Coyote said it they say. Then having a good time people began to dance they say.

Coyote, "Quickly let it be day," he said again they say. "No, it will not be day," | he said they say. Then Coyote, "Quickly let it dawn," | he said again they say. Then those darkness those stingy of | "No," they said they say. Then spoke again they say. | "Quickly let it dawn I say," Coyote said they say. Eh. now having a good time | they were dancing they say.

Then Coyote danced they say. Singing he danced around they say. | "Quickly let it dawn," saying it he did it they say. Then Owl sleep | overcame him (?), he slept they say. Bear slept they say. Men those daylight | those stingy of both slept.

Then daylight they won. Coyote did it they say. People earth on it | those who lived. "Thanks, my cousin," they said they say. Then Owl "Canyon | cave in I will live," he said. In it he flew they say. | Then Bear, "I mountain large where it stands Douglasspruce its interior in where it is dark | I will live," he said they say. Darkness those stingy of | they said it they say.

Then Coyote daylight won they say. Then re-occurring dawn became | they say. Then people happy about it became they say.

CREATION MYTH (First Version).1

n ne et di djini a ko go n de hi la go li lan di a go t'e djinin' a ko di dn ne hi la bic tc'in ne et di djini a ko go n di da na-deli go na ge ka ti da na da deli an tcin ni an i tse ni si li da sa xat di ne et di go ni gos tsan ne et di ya' et di

- 5 a ko go an n kınlı tei bec dılı xılı xas tin nal l'u le na l'u le teo dılı xılın nlı tei dılı xılı an kın nlı tei an go di ye' an kenlı tei da an nıt di i ai yın la a ko go bec da do xa di ye bi ko wa ne go lın ne ye be ko wa la dji nın nal l'u le da do ye bi ko wa la tein nin bi l'ol ılı nan ol l'o ge da bi ko wa la tein ın dn
- 10 ya et di ni gos tsan et di nd tci dd xd an da ga t'e dji nd bi ko wa ne go li ke bi ko wa tcan ni dn go di ye' an da ga te dji ni da do yi ka' go lan ne ai ge' da ai ge go li la djan ni da ya et di ge ni gos tsan da et di ge bd da xo wan ye' ko go tcan ni dn

ko go la na ka ten ni xat di bika gon dli go lel la hikai ya ya-15 dal ti xa go i do lel ya tesa bika' gon dli do lel dan di dji ni dn' ni gos tsan au wal n de dan di ten ni di a ko go xat di do lel dan di ten ni dn' ni di hi da ta n t'e no li' bi ta na go dal do' djin ni dn'

a ko go nh tei dư xư n nga tsa dịch ni dh' bi te'in' yi dh diz tean ni dh' a ko go dai' dh ne' di k'e go nin di di xa go hi ni gos-20 ts'an do le n di dji ni dh xa te ge ni ne' te'i ni dh

ts'a ni yi tc'i da xi ya yis des t'i 2 a ko go das do des to' ni tci li Gai da na nas tsa yi dez t'i da n da go go de xes to' tci ni dn ni tci lit tsok' da na nas tsa yis dez t'i das doz ya ngo hel t'o' das doz ya ni tci do l'ij da na nas tsa yiz dez t'i ni gos tsan do lei i ni hel t'o' 25 tci ni dn ne gos tsan ne hel t'o tci ni dn a ko go ne gos tsan daxes ta tcin ni dn

a ko go xat di do lel ni gos tsan xa di ca' da yo xo ac do lel na gos tse' dan di tcın di dn' a ko go yeñ ke yen n ke' nel ez i au wıl n de bec dıl xıl di ji yeñ ke del ej go au wıl n de na gos se' 30 tcın di dn' a ko go nl tci dıl xıl da yo'o al go a wıl n de bi ya si zi go ko ye da yo xo ac go ko go n jo gos ze' tcın ni dn' al dza tcın ni dn

¹ Told by Antonio, but somewhat more than the first half was recorded from the dictation of Frank Crockett. A free English translation is on pp. 7–26.

² Yis des kis and yis des ki were also recorded.

Perhaps for das do ja.

^{&#}x27;Probably a repetition of the preceding word.

CREATION MYTH (First Version)

were none they say. Then certain people were livingthey say. | There people nevertheless they were these who were they say. Then which hangs down, their parents were none that which hangs down before their eyes something that one they sav. That one first person became. Alone he was, people being none, earth was none. sky was none.

that one creator (?) Then metal black old man, spider, tarantula | black, whirlwind black; these creators, that one mirage, that one creator just these four men he made. Then metal nowhere his house he had | with his house was they sav. Spider not yet with his house they say. His thread where across it waswoven just his house they say.

Sky was not. Earth was not. Whirlwind black just as he is they say, | his house between earth and sky (?) his house was they say. Mirage just as he is they say, | not on it he lives; there just there he was living they say. Where there was no sky, | earth wherethere was none with him it was trembling this way they say.

Then they came together they say. "Something on it we will-live we come together," they said. | "How will it be, sky lying onit we will live?" they said they say. | "Earth we will make," they-said they say. Then "Where will it be?" they said | they say. Men four (?) amongst them they kept doing they say.

Then whirlwind black did this way they say. His cuticle he rubbedoff | they say. Then he held it in his hand this way doing, "Whichway earth will be?" | he said they say. He pressed it together they say.

Right here toward it he walked. He stood by it. Then nearly it moved. Whirlwind | white started to it. He stood by it. Little ways it moved they say. Whirlwind | yellow started to it. He stood by it. Nearly it moved to its place nearly. | Whirlwind blue started to it. He stood by it. The earth to be moved to its place | they say. Earth moved to its place they say. Then earth rested there | they say.

"What will be, what will support it?" | they said-Then. earth Then, "Supports which stand | they said they say. together, we will make. Metal dark four places supports standing we willthey agreed they say. Then, "Whirlwind black make." helpinghold it we will make, under it standing here helping hold it good." they agreed they say. It was finished they say.



ko go bi ka'n de do le i a nail le'ton ni dn'm ba'n de go a dai le'ton ni dn dlo'bi ta la go lun nin de go a dai le'ton ni dn' di ni gos tsan bi ka'dlo'ul ta xa te hi da buñ ga a dai le'dji ni dn' ko go n de'si li'ton ni dn'bi ka'to bul i des djoln de do jo ni-5 hi la al dza ton ni dn ai bi ga a be dul i dji ni dn'

es ts'an na dle hi do lel hi la do ľij i i sa' yi xın ya a ko go tcın ni dn da tc'i ne na tc'i a kon de o yınt dja ts€ be di k'an a ko n de o yın la tci ni dn' hai añ ge a da de den lek' bil isa. na dn el to ta ka' bil a na 'ol tein ni dn a ko go da te'i ne hi ye 10 nai yıl n di i sa bi bıt bi bıt ts'at tei ni dn a ko go tei ni dn' a ko to la la go bit' tei ni dn bel nan e la teen ni dn' to es di go naisdan hil ts'a tci ni dn' es di lañ ke n zi tci ni dn n di tci ni dn' a ko bi da den lek' n i tc'i nıl n de' xa ya a ji gol Gai yo tcın ya sai ja o das kai teinidn do xon t'e go li da te'ıl et di teinidn

15 da sa xat di sit da tein ni dn' a ko go xa go i do lel n zi te'inni dn' a ko go djin go na ai xa ya dji ni n la ge n ke na dic tcin di a ji' da hi ya es tsan na dle hi ya l'a i tsi dji ni bi tsa yo go di dn djin go na 'ai ya' ya l'a i tsi djin ne go di dn bi tsil yu n de do oten ni te'a xa yınlı yu ge xa na yol ka dji ni a ko go dji ni da ga gan na ts'a dji ni 20 xa na na dal ya ya l'a na yın ts'i tc'ın ni do bi ts'ıl yo ne' o des da tcın di yu ge xa na yol ka tcın di a ko go xa na na dał tein di ya ya ła na i ts'i te'in di do bi ts'ilyo gε xa na yol ka' tc'ın di yo ne' o des da toin di xa na na dal tcın di ya yal'anaits'i tc'i di ako go didn ısli djini ako go 25 an ni ta bi ts'ıl yu n de o dec toun di a ko go bul gon jo toun ni

es ts'an na dle hi hil tsa si li' tcin di a ko go na li n' yıs tci tc'ın di a ko go na lın ni go ya si li' tcin di ci ja je tco ba' an t'i yıl n dıt' tcin di tsın nas bal to na hi kat' tcin di n lac ci da n da yıl n dıt' tcin di

30 na lin ni da hi ya tu na hi ka ji'a ko go ya ya ła i tsi tc'ini dn to tc'e xe ta' ya l'a nił a' to na hi kat' ko bi k'ij yo na hi kat tcin di do bi tsil hi ka da yu ge da na nas ts'a to na hi kat' do be tsilhi ka da yu ge da na nas ts'a tcin di do bi tsil hi ka da yo ge Then on it the people who will be they made they say. Coyote like people | they made they say. Birds their wings those having like people they made they say. | This earth on it birds of all-kinds all they made they say. | Then people were they say. Onit water covering it people were not good | it was made they say. That because they did it they say.

Ests'unnadlehi who was to be turquoise vessel she went-Then inside she put they say. Stone metate, muller inside in. | Seeds Vessel by the opening she plastered, she put they say. with her it floated about. On the water with her it floated about Then muller with she struck, vessel bibit bibit she heard theysay. Then they say there water when it was much bit' they say. With her it floated around they say. Water when it was disappearing she struck again | they say. "Dan" she heard they say. "It is gone," she thought they say. | There that plastered on she knocked out. She went out. There where a plain was she came by. | Sand lay there they say. Nothing was living. Brush was not they say.

Alone in such a place she sat they say. "What will be?" Then, she thought they say. | Then sun came up they say. its rays struck they say. | There she went. Ests'unnadlehi raisedher hips to him they say. Facing away from him four times | Sun she raised her hips they say. Then four times her vagina he did not shine | they say. In vain she did so. Over there itdawned again they say. Then | she went up again they say. She didthe same way again they say. For him she elevated her hips again they say. He did not shine in her vagina they say. Over there itdawned again they say. Then she went up again they say. For him she elevated her hips again they say. He did not shine in her vagina Over there they say. it dawned again they say. She climbed upagain | they say. For him she elevated her hips again they say. fourth time would be they say. Then | now her vagina he shone they say. Then she was pleased they say.

Est'unnadlehi pregnant was they say. Then girl she gave birthto | they say. Then girl grown was they say. "My child, evil you do," | she told her they say. Bluff water was dripping down they say. "Over there go," | she told her they say.

The girl went, water where it dripped down. Then to him sheelevated her hips they say. | Water in vain she put up her hips. Water dripped. Here between her legs it dripped | they say. It didnot drop in her vagina. Further on she went again. Water drippeddown. It did not drop in her vagina. | Further on she went again they-



da na nas ts'a is tsan na dle hi ci ja je hi di k'e go yi n dit' bi l'a yinh ts'ot' bi l'a ba n jo go n yi hen 'a' to bi tsil hin kat' toin di dn hil tsa sil li' toin ni dn is toj toin ni dn' na li dil xi n xol ze an toin ni an a ko go nai ye nez ga ne do lel hi la yis toin 5 toi ni dn a ko go ba' a ko go es tsan na dle hi nai ye nes ga ni tagi tas t'e' toi ni dn

a ko go bi ni go let tei ni dn nai ye ga ni do let hi la bi ts'i tsun da dul ko bi tsi' zul et di teun ni dn' bi dja et di tei ni dn bi tei' et di tei ni dn bi go et di tei ni dn hi za ba ne et di tei ni dn di 10 bi na ts'ın et di tei ni dn bi na doz et di tei ni dn bi na tıj et di tei ni dn di bi gan go li do et xa di ta da tei ni dn bi gan bi la joj et di dan tel n t'e teun ni dn bi djat' da ga t'e teun ni dn de al xadi t'a ni et di teun ni dn bi ke' dan tel n t'e teun ni dn bi ke' gan et di teun ni dn bi la gan et di tei' ni dn da dul ko n t'e tei ni dn'

- 15 xa go i do let n zi tei ni dn a ko go si tso ye yet n det' teen nidn' xa yo ci ta' go li' yet n det' teen ni dn' do a teen di da si tso ye
 yet n det' teen ni dn gon ye yo go n li' do bi te'el ta da yet n det'
 teen ni dn' a ko go yo ge' set tsu ye hai yo ci ta' go li' nai yet don dit' teen ni dn' do da set tso ye do bent ta da net deen di nai yet do20 net' teen ni dn na ki dn ez li teen ni dn yo ge' da gan nai el do net'
 do da net deen di nai el do net' ta dn ez li' teen di dn a ko go
 di dn da gan nai do net' teen ni dn ci ta' xa yo go li na do n det'
 teen ni dn di dn ez li teen ni dn do da bet n di teen ni dn n te'ojhe ca' n ye' n det' teen ni dn'
- 25 a ko go da bi za na bi k'e go da hi ya tcın ni dn' be bi e go zın ni do xa t'i bi tce n da da da hi ya djın ni n da ko de ya tcın ni dn bi ta' go li' yo xa di be yi go sın go go ca' an di bi ta' bi ko ga da be yıl t'i di n ya tci ni dn nes da tci ni dn hi tcak' tca ne cıl-hi tcak' xa di ca' be ban ca' n zi go an di tci ni dn'
- 30 a ko go hi tca' go sư da ko n di' da bi l'a di i'an xai 'an la tcun ni dn ni bi tc'i xa nol ne' co' na tel a bi ga n tcak' bul n nut' tcun ni dn ci ta' n nut' tcun ni dn' bi tc'i' de ya go ac di n dut'

It did not drop in her vagina. Further on she went again. "My child, this way," she said. Her hips | she held. Ests'unnadlehi. Her hips for him well she placed. Water her vagina dropped in | they say. Pregnant she was they say. She gave birth Girl dark | was named that one they say, that one. Then Naiyenezshe gave birth to they say. Then his mother, gani who was to be Ests'unnadlehi, Naiyenezgani, three they were they say. then

Then his mind was coming to be they say. Naiyenezgani will be his head was bald; the hair of his head was none they say. His ears were none they say. His nose | was none they say. His teeth His mouth border was none they say. they say. These his supraorbital ridges were none they say. His eyelashes were none they say. His evebrows were none they say. These his arms he had were without joints they say. His hands their fingers | were none: iust flat they were they say. His legs the same way they say. These joints were none they say. His feet just flat were they say. His toe nails | were none they say. His finger nails were none Entirely smooth he was they say.

"What way will it be?" she thought they say. Then. "Mygrandmother," he said they say. | "Where my father he lives?" he said to her they say. "Do not say that, my grandchild," | she said "Dangerous place he lives; one does not talk about it," she said | they say. Then later, "My grandmother, where my father he lives?" he said to her again | they say. "No, my grandchild. 'do not talk about it,' I told you," she said again | they say. Twice they say. Later he said again the same thing. "'No,' Three times it was they say. you," she said again. Then | fourth-"My father. he said the same thing again they say. he said again | they say. Four times it was they say. "No," she said to him they say. "Your labia is dangerous," hesaid they say.

Then just by himself being his own leader he started they say. With he knew the way | he did not find anything he started they say. There he went along they say. | "His father where he lives something with it I guess he knows," she said it. His father his house | whereone could see it he came they say. He sat down they say. He cried, he commenced crying, | "I wonder what with it I go to him?" he wasthinking he said it they say.

Then crying he sat. Here right under him hole its mouth was | they say. To him a head stuck out. "Sho, what because of it do you cry?" he said | they say. "My father," he said they say,

tcin ni dn' ai bi ga xat di be ban ca'n zi go a dic ni n dit' tcin ni dn' di dn i an di a no del n i bi tc'i' xat dzi tcin ni dn lañ ke bi n dit' tcin ni dn ci l'e ai din si ta ba nac dal e n dit' tcin ni dn' a ko go da hi ya tcin ni dn di a t'i tcin ni dn na l'u le 5 nan nac da'n t'i at de n dit' da hi ya tcin ni dn o ya tcin ni dn djiñ go na 'ai di xi n bi ko wa ji' da hi ya tc'i ni dn ku di' bi-l'ol a di hi des l'ol la tcin ni dn' djiñ go na 'ai bi dai' t'i ji ye dn l'i-lat' bi l'o li tcin ni dn ka na dza tcin ni dn

go te'i' xa na na dzi tei ni dn ni lai le lư n dư teun ni dn' be10 dư t'i n dư tei ni dn ci l'ol be dư t'i di bi ka' das sưn na yư n dư teun ni dn ta do set da da hi gai na a ko go di bi ka' da tei ya tei ni dn bi te'i' bi l'ul nain t'i bi ka' tei de ya teun ni dn bi dat'i ji bi ka' bi k'un bej ni ya teun ni dn

ai bi ka' bi ya ci sız zi tci ni dn bi ko wa yon de' da si da 15 tci ni dn' de' i tsıd di tsak' tcın ni dn a ko go da hi ya hıł tsak' tcın ni dn ts'et dak' da hi ya tcın ni dn bi ko wa ni bi la ta ci xa ya' hıł ts'ak' tcın ni dn' ni gos tsan bi ka'n ken dez ai ge' tcın ni dn da' bi l'a na ba' yon de' da tci ya tcın ni dn yun de e yo i ts'an n das da tcın ni dn gonl tsa tcın ni dn

- 20 ya del a xa dın ya ts'a ji' do na tei ga da yılın dıt' ten ni dn ei ta' ba ni ya go ac t'i yılın dıt' tei ni dn do da ga dn di gon ye'n ta' lañ ke n di nad dn da a ga da bılın ni hi da bın ga yi ga di dn te'e ai yılın dıt' lañ ke' ga dn di n ta'lañ ke' ba n ya lañ ke yılın nit' tei ni dn'
- 25 us ts'an da hi ya bi na l'a ci k'un bi ko wa ni bi na l'a yo ta li gai xol ze' hi nai dnl ts'oz ko yo gos tel tcun ni dn di bi ka' n te' yul n nit' tcun ni dn' yil yuz dic tcun ni dn dan do li ci dan di n ta' n li yo go yul n dut' tcun ni dn a ko n go des'i tci ni dn na dza hi bi ke' n nut' tcun ni dn' o ya ya ka' o i'a bi k'un la ta ci o yun tsa 30 dul hun tsa do lel a jun n kun na tsa go ai dan ts'un yul n dit' tcun ni dn

a ga hını ts'a tcın ni dn hai ya go da de ya hını tsak' tcın-

¹ Probably used of time rather than place.

"to him I am going I am," he said | they say. "That because of it something with it I go to him I am thinking I was saving that," he said | they say. This one the one who put his head out 'said it, they say. | "Well," he said to him spoke they say. "I at night from where you sit to him I am accustomed to go," he said Then he started they say. This one did it they say, spider. | "I will come right back to you," he said. He started they say. He went along they say. Sun black to his house he started theysay. Here his thread he had spun with himself they say. Sun his door past he fastened it his string they say. He came back tohim they say.

To him he spoke again they say. "Well," they said to each other they say. "I have fastened it," | he said they say. "My thread I-fastened. This on it you go," he said | they say. Not before up he had gone. Then this on it he started | they say. To him histhread he stretched across on it he started they say. By his door | on it his house 1 by means of it he came they say.

That on it under it he stood they say. His house inside hewas sitting on something | they say. Here he heard him they say. Then he started he heard | they say. Up they say. he started His house he went up he heard on it its top they say. Earth he looked from there they say. Then right behind him inside he went they say. There inside woman | sat on something they say. She saw him they say.

"What did you come for? Here one is not allowed to come," she said they say. | "My father I came to him I am," he said they say. "No, whatever you say dangerous | your father. Well, fromhere go back. Those who say that all he kills." | Four times in vain she told him that. "Well, as you say your father may be may beyou came to him," | she said they say.

The women went to back room her house its corner fabric of-white cloud | named she took up. Here she spread it down they say. "This on it you lie down," | she said they say. She rolled it up with-him they say. "I do not know what he will do, truly your father | if he is," she said they say. There she hid him they say. "He-comes back | his footsteps," she said they say. "Down sky on sunset on top his house you listen. | Dil you will hear, there when he-comes down that you will hear," she said | they say.

That he heard they say. Down down he came he heard they-



¹ Straight walled house, Pueblo or European,

n ke' na di dza hil tsak' tcin ni dn ıs ts'an yi te'i' xat dzi tcın ni dn xa dın la ko n de' o ya la yıl n dıt' tcın ni dn do xayıl n dit' tcın ni dn do la' n dic i da da gail n di di dn na yo dni kit do da die ni do l'a nie i da a ko go is ts'an i xat dzi 5 do xa go ac t'i da yıl n dıt' tein ni dn yo o nac da da

da hi ya tci ni da as ts'an ngo desi ni go tc'i da hi ya tca nidn na goni t'i tci ni dn i ya ci ngo ni t'i tci ni dn di go laj di sn i i al ts'a xa yi la tci ni dn a ko da ga tsat tsa bi tc'i naz di tsa tcini dn di ci ta' na ni n di ga dn di ba ni ya ci ta' na ni n di ko ai 10 a ko an ni n di yai n dit' tcan ni dn lan ke ga dn di yii n dat' tcan ni dn

yınl tsot' tci ni dn djıñ go na 'ai bi ja je gol da hıj aj das k'a tan ni dn go ta go na to' dza ji ye i gan ni la yi ye hez nil na dos ts'ε bi yi' das 'a' na to' na dos ts'ε 15 yi hez nil a kogo dai n'a kogo dai n'a go da do be be de hdye yi di hini ta tci ni dn da la hi di yız to' tei ni dn bi t'ıj hi ga tci ni dn hi tsa ji na na nas dza na to' h Gai y€ da na nasda na nas dza tci ni dn na dos ts'ε li gai ye bi yi' k'a ji na to' yi nai na hes nil ko di na na dza tci ni dn ko ci da nai dn'a' 20 da do be del lat de go len ne hi nai di hel ta tci ni dn go tc'i' dada la hi di nai dn 'a na tsız to' bi t'ıj na hıl ga n ko ji da na nas dza na to' ai ji das k'a tci ni na dos ts'e yi nai yes nil da do be dil hil la de go li ni ye nai di hil ta ton ni dn2 ko ji na na nas ts'a tein ni dn na to' na na nas k'a tein ni dn na-25 dos ts'ε bi yi' das 'a' yi na to' yi nai yε hes nil tci ni dn tza ji yd di hel la de go li ni ye na di hel ta yi te'i' na na tsa go da do be da nai dn 'a' da la ai naiz to' bi t'ıj na hil ga tci ni dn ız li tci ni dn na to' be ız zıl xe go tc'e ai yınl it' dan di la n dıt' tei ni dn dju na 'ai n dit' da n di ci ja ji la yil n dit' tei ni dn

30 a ko go yư da na nas t'aj tei ni dn ts'ą ji yư da hij aj tei ni dn se k'o' xol ze' hi be ya ko' xa dun da ji' yư n'ac teun ni dn yuntsot' bi ke' yo nan te'i ni dn bi tsi' ya gi go da ni t'i teun ni dn ya ko xa dun da yo ya' bi tsi ya gi go o yuni t'e' tei ni dn xa ya bec dư xư i xa ya yư nas get' o nư t'e yo ya xa ya yư nas ge go ya 35 se ko' dư xư i i tei go bư ya ga hư diz si li tei ni dn i ts'os

The stem is -dis.

² A few words were said to have been omitted at this point.

say. He alighted back he heard they say. Woman to her he spoke they say. "Who in here came?" he said they say. "Not any body. | I have seen," she said they say. She kept telling him the-Four times | he asked her. "'No.' I said, I did not see anysame. body." woman spoke. | "I do not do anything," Then. "where I go about." they say.

She started they say. The woman the one she hid to him went they say. She picked him up they say. By him she put himdown they say. This that he was rolled in each way he drew it they say. There he began to get up. To him he got up they say. he called you as you say, 'I came to him "This man, 'my father,' my father' he said of you. Here this one there he said that of you," she said they say. "Well, as you say," he said | they say.

His hand he took hold of they say. Sun his child with himthey two went, | holding him, tobacco here it lay they say. in it it lies. Tobacco helies there, tobacco pipe put in. Pipe | he put it in. Then he held it up here when he heldnot with it one lights with | with it was lighted they say. they say. Its ashes | were white they say. Just once he drew Tobacco where was on a shelf | he went again he went again. white inside it lay. Tobacco he put in it again. they say. Pipe white Here he came again they say. Here he held it up again not it lights he had it lit again they say. To him he gave it. | Just once he drew again. Its ashes were white again. Here, where sun sets he went again. Tobacco there lay they say. Pipe he filled again they say. Not with one lights it he had it was lighted again theythey say. Tobacco lay again say. Here he went again they say. which lay tobacco he filled it again they say. with it when he came again not with one lights it he had it waslighted again. To him he gave it. Just once he drew again. Its ashes were white again they say. Fourth time | it was they say. with he kills in vain he used. "It is true," he said | they say. Sun said, "Truly my child is," he said they say.

Then with him they two went they say. Here with him they-two went they say. | Sek'o' that is called with sky fire where it-blazed up with him they two came they say. He seized him | his foot around they say. His head downward he lifted him up they say. | Sky fire where it blazed up sky his head downward he threw him in they say. Down | metal black down he poked him with. Where he-threw him down when he poked him sky | coal black being red



¹ The sense requires "you say."

xol ze' hi ai kọ' i koł ya ga hi diz o i ts'os bi kạ i na ts' s dli tcun ni dn da do i des' a' go li go bi tca goc o de' n na' tci den t'i tcun ni dn

ts'a ji (na ga te) da ga na na t'e tci ni gol da na na j t'ac tci-5 ni dn a ji ya' se ko' li Gai ye be ya ko' xa din da go ke' na yınltsot' tci ni dn go tsi' ya gi go go na' gonl t'e' tci ni dn ya tse ko' li Gai ye kol ya ga hıt diz i ts'os bi ka i na nas dli tcın ni dn da-'an xa ya bec kon li Gai ye ts'i ya kol nais get' tci ni dn'

a ko go koł na naj t'aj tei ni dn ts'ą ji o a ji go ya se ko' 10 li tso gi be ya ko' xa dın da go ke' na yını tsot' tei ni dn go tsi' ya gi go ko' xa dın na yo ya o na goni t'e' a ko xa ya bec li tso gi xa ya gol nas get' ya se ko' li tso gi kol ya ga hit diz i ts'os bi ka i na ts'ıs dli teın di bi teo goc o di na te'i' den t'i

ko ji koł na nac t'aj tci di se ko' do l'i ji be ya xa dın da go ke' 15 na yıl tsot' go tsi' ya gi go o na gonl t'e' xa ya bec do l'ıj i xa ya kol nais get' ya bec ko' do l'i ji kol ya ga hıt dij si li' tci ni dn i ts'os bi ka i do l'ij i na ts'ıs li go do des'a go li go bi tca goc o di be na tc'i den t'i da xan di la ye do bi ye hi la hi ye bi ga ni ye tc'e a gonl it' tcın di a ko go da'n di ci ja ji la n nıt' dju na'ai dıl-20 xıl n an di tcın di

n la le dan di dla un tse go n de si li' du ni hi² ai bi da li la djun di nai ye nez ga ni no'n dal le la dan di ci ja ji la cac do le yul n dut' toun di n la le da da nut' toi dn n de di hi a ko go tato'e a da gos la dji ni ai yi tse di i to'ıj hul k'e go al za go tse 25 di i de do'dja a ko go ai ge' yul hun kai toi ni bun da le go li la hi yul hi kai toi ni ta to'e ge a ko go di tse' na ki hi ol za dji ni a ko n ne'

ako go yıl ta tee kai ten dn di dn yıl o kai tei ni dn a ko go din do' tei ni do te xe a ko go dini da di t'o ge si li' la tei ni dn 30 di bi gan n tel ko da t'o tei ni ko o dai t'o bi la joj dji ni di da nas a go et di ni a yın la a dai la dji ni bi tsi' zıl et di ni ya a da goz la tei ni di et di ni bi na ts'i ne ai daz la dji ni bi dja

As first recorded; it was later emended to the following word.

³ The subject of the verb is the narrator who means probably that those who made the world and who were named on p. 226 are meant.

with him through the sky twisted became they say. Down | called that fire with him through the sky when it twisted down male he became again | they say. Not yet sun moved when he was his-shadow he landed again | they say.

Here he did the same thing again they say. With him they twothey say. There sky coal white started sky fire blazing up foot he seized again | they say. His head downward he threw himagain they say. Sky coal | white with him through the sky twisted. Down male he became again they say. Just he down metal fire white down with him he poked again they say.

Then with him they two came back they say. There where thesun sets sky fire | yellow with sky fire it blazed up. His feet heseized again they say. His head | downward fire where it blazed up he threw him in again. There down metal yellow | down he pokedhim. Sky fire yellow with him through the sky it twisted. Down | male he became again they say. His shadow he came back to.

Here with him they two went again they say. Coal blue sky it blazed up. His feet | he seized. His head downward he threw-Down metal blue down he poked him. Sky fire with him through the sky it twisted it was they say. Down male when he became again before sun moved when he was hisshadow he came down. He did just that. With those not his sons with he kills them, with in vain | he did it they say. Then, "True, he said. my child is," Sun black | he said it they say.

"Come." they said some first time Ipeople mentioned those their grandson 1 | they say. "Naiyenezgani ourthey said. "My child he is. Prepare him for me," | he said grandson," "Well." men four. they said they say, Then sweatlodge | they made they say. Those stones four. wood piled up when it was done stones | four they put on the fire. Then they went with him they say. Their grandson those who had | cameto the sweatlodge. with him they say, Then these stones they put in they say inside.

Then with him they started in they say. Four times they went-Then | this 2 all over. cooked soft in they say. they say then it was they say. These his hands flat they moulded back they say. They moulded between his fingers they say. These | joints whichwere not he made. they made they say. His hair which was not for him | they made they say. These which were not his supra-



¹ Son's son.

[&]quot;His body" indicated by a gesture.

a daz la dji ni bi tei' a daz la ten di bi ni' a daz la dji ni bi zaa daz la bi go a daz la tci di bi ye' ts'ın ba ne dji ni tci di ko nan ıl xa de ta go a daz la tci di do a nan no tal dan ni ko go a t'i go a nan no tal sıl li tci di di ıl xa da di ta 5 ai yın la teın ni bi djat do kat t'i ni ıl xa da di ta go a daz la teın ni di bi ke' n te li bi kan joj a yın la hi k'e go a daz la tci ni ko nde adat'ego adazla tcindi akogo nde sili' tcini

k'a di ke n ye' i be' ca xa do le n det' tci ni dn a ko go bi ke' no li ni ke' ba' al za tci ni dn no li ni bes le ba' al za tci ni dn 10 no li ni i' ba' al za tci ni dn no li ni tc'a' ba' al za tci ni dn xał ba' al za tei ni dn ye na ye' ail' i do lel hi la al za tci ni dn a ko go bel na gol n di' do lel i ba' al za tei ni dn' bi dje ta das da hi do lel hi la ba' al za tci ni dn ye bel na gol n di go yi k'ego a na dał do leł hi lą ba' al za tci ni dn ko go n ye'i anł be xa del-15 za tei ni dn a ko go tei ni dn k'a di da dn nıt' tei ni dn a da tsınt dla tein ni dn xa yo n ts'o ye dan di sıt da ci a ko nan dn da da yıl n dıt' tcın ni dn

na des ts'a tan ni dn bi ts'o ye sit da yo ya na dza tan ni dn sit tso ye n jo yil n dit' tan ni dn yil si ke' tai ni dn

20 bi ka' et di tei ni dn bư tị' et di tei ni dn a ko go da dưn no gos tsan bi ka' l'o k'a' xan ta' tei ni dn l'o k'a ya'n ya l'o k'a ni gi tei ni dn d t'i xa na des ts'a d t'ị' nain ta tei ni dn a yưn la tei ni dn k'a' yi k'as go a yưn la tei ni dn k'i' a yưn la tei ni dn

t'a' i ts'a bi t'a' da la e bi nin t'a go a yın la tci ni dn da n da'-25 go hwoc si kat' teinidn younl t'ok' teinidn yelsi teinidn t'a' da la e go don jo da la n dit' tci ni dn gala naki b€ na do'n dit' tci ni dn na ki ye ni la go ye' na yonl t'ok' tci ni dn na vis si tei ni dn do n jo da la na do' nit' tei ni dn tagi t'a' le' $y\epsilon'$ na yo ni t'ok' n di go a na yit' dla tci ni dn tci ni dn dlu 30 hel ts'a oyen ta teinidn njola kogo ndet' teen nidn

tsą kị' bi la ta $\gamma\epsilon$ don dai xa yo ca go li'n dư' tcưn ni dn sư tso y ϵ n dư' do a tcùn ni da yư n nư' tcưn ni dn n tcu ja tca n y ϵ ' yư n nư' tcưn ni dn

orbital ridges they made they say. His ears | they made they say. His nose they made they say. His face they made they say. His-lips | they made they say. His teeth they made they say. His chin they made | they say. Here (neck) | joint they made they say. He-could not move it | thus | being made | he bent it | it was they say. These joints those were none | he made | they say. His legs | he could not do thisway | joints | they made | they say. | These | his feet | wide | his toes he did the same way | they made | they say. His feet | here | people like they are | they made | they say. Then | man | he was | they say.

"Now, the monsters with for me prepare him," he said theyhis moccasins obsidian moccasins for him were made for him they say. Obsidian his leggings were made they say. Obsidian shirt for him was made they say. Obsidian hat for him they say. Obsidian club for him was made they say. With monsters those he will use against were made | they say. Then that which will instruct him for him was made they say. By his ear that sits will be for him was made they say. It will tell him hisleader he will travel about for him was made they say. Here monsters all with they prepared him they say. Then they say, they said they say. "Good | we have made him," they said they say. "Where your grandmother lives there go back," they said they say.

He started back they say. His grandmother where she sat hecame back to her they say. | "My grandchild, good," she said they-say. They two lived there they say.

His arrow was not they say. His bow was not they say. Then somewhere | earth on it reed he hunted for they say. Reed hecame to. Reeds | he brought back they say. Mulberry he went againfor. Mulberry he brought back they say. He made it | they say. Arrow scraping it he made they say. Foreshaft he made they say.

Feather hawk its feather just one putting on it he made it they say. Short distance | cactus stood they say. He shot it they-He missed it they say. "Feather | just one is not good," "Well, two with I will try," he said again theysaid they say. Two with when he placed with it he shot again they say. He missed again they say. "It is not good," he said again they say. "Three feathers will be," | saying he fixed it again they say. With it "Dlu," | he heard, he shot again they say. he hit it they say. he said they say. "Good so,"

"Here foreshaft its end flint where is it?" he said they say. |
"My grandchild," she said. "One does not say that," she told him
they say. "Your labia | are dangerous," he said they say.



da hi ya tan ni dn n za yo nan ta tei ni dn don dai ya n ya tcın ni dn nai dn 'a ko tse be yoł ne' a ko da suł t'i tci ni dn nai hi la tci ni dn n t'o go b€c yıl Gai xol ze' hina nal got' teinidn ni yan n ya teinidn da ai di' yannya t'oł 5 xoł ze' hi da bił nit' de go i da ci a yin la yi des get' yi ka' hil got' tcın ni dn tsını ta tci ni dn don dai do lei hi la at'i tci ni dn ko le nai he zit' yes lo yi des gi tei ni dn ni gi yo yil t'ok go di k'i hi dzą bila t'a ke da dai 'a' di ni go 'ai le go 'ail i tci ni dn k'a' ıl ti' do dai ıc t'i yın la

- 10 a ko go xa na na dzi cư tso ye xa yo no gos tsan bi ka' ni bigan ne go li'la tci ni dn bư n di tci ni dn bi tc'e ta das da'i bư na gol ni'go an di tci ni dn a ko go sư tso ye xa yo tsư da kư i si go li' yư n dư' tci ni dn do a tcu ni da sư tso ye go ye' go li' do bư tc'i ta da n dư' tci ni dn
- 15 n da hi ya tci ni dn da bi je bi ke' go da hi ya tci ni dn mba' 1 do li ji e bi li' tci ni dn l'ij let tsok' bi t'a yo ya go yenl ti tci ni dn de ya tcen ni dn nan ta' tcen ni dn ts' i yi na gos a yo a na dal tc'i ni dn tse el an n t'i bi k'ij yo ya' da hi ya tci ni dn n de bi ten ai ge' n ya tci ni dn ko go i ti ni' yi k'es ke' da hi ya tci ni-20 dn yi γal tci ni dn da n da ko o ya tci ni dn da ba' t'en ge' ko da di ten da dn de n di k'e go ts'et da ge si ti tci ni dn bi djat ka t'e go a ko ka te de n tcen ya tci ni dn

yo ge ci nan dn da a ko tcan ca ya'n dat' tci ni dn do da n nat' tci ni dn da n da ga t'e go si ti tci ni dn bi li' ba' do laje n i 25 da yas'a' tci ni dn di i ti ni' bi k'as ke' da hi ya tci ni dn ka t'e go si ti ni ko da hi ya tci ni dn di k'e at tsa go yo n tal di da xa yani ya hi tak' yi lan tcan tal tci ni dn wa hwo na xo ta tci ni dn xe n dat' tci ni dn na ye nez ga ni an di tci ni dn dan t'e go an t'i ya'n dat' tci ni dn n wa ge' tci na xo ta da ai bi k'as ke da na nas-30 ts'a yo n tal tci ni dn di dn yon tal tci ni dn ya na hi ta ni hal si bi ke' ve

ko ya o na dol ni l'ıj li tsok' xa yınl ti set dag ge n si ti tcini dn l'ıj lıt tso gan i ya yınl t'e' dın dn de si ti i bi ts'i al ji

¹ The word ba', mba', unqualified is used for coyote; with the augmentative for wolf; and with "blue," for fox.

He started away they say. Far he looked about they say. Flint he came to they say. He took it up. Here stone with he struck it. There it fell in pieces they say. There he picked them up they say. metal white that called toward him | ran Immediately they say. He stood in front of it they say. Just there it came to him. Dagger 1 called before he overtook him in front of him he made he stabbedhim with it. On it he ran | they say. It fell in pieces they say. Flint which was to be it was they say. Here he scraped it together. He-He took it on his back they say. Where he put it down when he flaked it this the foreshaft here its end he put it. being made he made it they say. All arrow, bow, flint he finished.

Then he spoke again. "My grandmother, where earth on it people killers | they live do they say?" he said they say. His ear that sits | having told him he said it they say. Then, "My grandmother, where kicks off the bluff | lives?" he said they say. "One-does not say it, my grandchild. Dangerous place he lives. | One does not-talk about him," she said they say.

He started away they say. Just himself his leader he started away they say. Canis | blue his pet they say. Snake yellow his blanket-fold in he put they say. | He started they say. He looked around they say. Cliff where it was across he came | they say. Rock both-sides was a wall between in he went they say. Man | his path there he came to they said. Here road on it he went they say. | He walked on they say. Short distance he went they say. Right-in front here | beside the trail man this way by the cliff lay they-say, his leg | this way. There close he stopped they say.

"Up you get. There I go by," he said to him they say. he said | they say. Just the same way he lay they say. His pet fox blue that one he sent along they say. Here trail on it he went This way | the one lying here he came they say. Doingthey say. This, one going along | jumped away. he kicked at him. He kicked behind him they say. Over there he jumped they say. "Heh," he said they say. Naiyenezgani said it they say. you do it?" | he said to him they say. Over there he went around. Just that on it he went again. He kicked at him they say. Four times he kicked they say. He jumped away. He missed him, his foot with.

Here he reached. Snake yellow he took out. Up lying they-say, snake yellow he threw at him. That one lying by his head



^{1 &}quot;Long flint," was the translation given. The word is also used for awi and the imple ment used at flaking flint. The Apache insist that bec means only metal. Its original meaning was flint and that is no doubt the proper meaning here.

na yını te' tei ni dn tei'l n dıt' tei ni dn ai be nes ts'ıt le n dıt' tei ni dn n de si ti n i na dn taz ji' yi te'i' da hi ya tei ni dn no li ni xalı xa yınt dzız tei ni dn bau hını tsa tei ni dn hi ko di tsi da di yes ti n ko xa yo ya n den i yıl go da o o tenl l'ıj go da xo' go 5 tei ni dn yi yes xi tei ni dn tsi da kel is i xol ze' hi yi yes xi tei ni dn bi tso ye sıt da yo na dza tei ni dn tsi da kel ıs i sıt tso ye sel xi n dıt' tei ni dn

a ko go da na na tsa tci ni dn si tso ye na do'n nư' tci ni dn xa yo na k'e ga ni n de yi ga ni hi ail n di tci ni dn go ye' yo go li'

10 bư n nư' tci ni dn da na nas tsa tci ni dn a ko yi tc'i na de hes ts'a tci ni dn xan ta tci ni dn go li yo na k'e ga ni dun das da hi bư nagol ni' ai ge go li' bư ni tci ni dn ya n ya tci ni dn bi tca ga ce yư na xez ta' tci ni dn go nes t'i xol ze' hi yư le ye hi'a do go t'i go do bi ts'i' hi ti go o wai ya hun ts'a hi a ko ja xa ya a da dza da'

15 yi ka' n ya tci ni dn da ko ja na xaz ta go ko di' n ya tci ni dn'

da ko ji da gonł ts'ą tei ni dn bi tea ga ce ci ta' da bił n dư' ten ni dn n de ła' no xa' n ya yd n dư' tei ni dn go te'į' xa nol ne' tei ni dn da di' ts'z zi gonł ts'ą tei ni dn n la łe ci ja je (ci teaga ce)² da nel i n dư' tei ni dn ye i gą ban da n de dai nel i go 20 tei ni dn hi hi tei ni dn go te'į di k'e go go te'į' dez t'i' da go nel-'i go tei ni dn

a ko go go ni' es dit' tci ni dn go na' on 'i do di lit' sız li' tein dn go ni' es det' teini dn a ko go da set ts'a go go zil xe go go li' tci ni dn i ze' xın da hi go ze' tci ni dn ai a za 25 go ze' yo ne' djo ne' tei ni dn do da tein t'e da na tsis dli tei ni dn xa te ci del te'i li go t'a set dja tei ni dn ko' yi nas t'i bi teinł kat' tei ni dn te'il hil ts'ą tei ni dn tci ni dn di i ko' bi ni ji da ts'ınl t'a tci ni dn bın da yu n de' anl bi n da di anl o tse xes si' dej tc'd i bi n da yo n de' o tse xes si' go bi djol na daka dail o da da dın jıj da do ła' na des t'i da 30 dil t'o' ban da di tci ni dn

ai ji' yi te'i' da hi ya tei ni dn xal no li ni xal xa yi ta yi te'i' da hi ya ye yi ta te'ıe l'ıj xal i be' yi ga tei ni dn na des ts'a tei ni dn bi tso ye sıt da yo ya na ts'a tei ni dn

¹ Perhaps a European sword is meant.

² Given as an alternate rendering for the preceding word.

he threw it they say. "Tci l," it said they say. "That I am alwaysafraid of," he said | they say. Man lying where he jerked around they say. Obsidian | club he drew out to him he went they say. "Bau," he heard cliff | he was lying against they say. Here went down. That man down he knocked him. Down he fell | theysav. He killed him they say. Tsidakelisi that named he killed they say. His grandmother where she lived he came back they sav. "Tsidakelisi, my grandmother, I killed," | he said

" My grandmother," he started away again they say. they say. | "Where Nak'egani who kills?" people said again hethey say. "Dangerous place asked about he lives," | she said say. He started away again they say. There toward him he went He hunted for him they say. they say. Where he lived Nak'egani the one sits here told him. | "There he lives." he said they say. His children | he lived with He came there they say. they say. Mirage called he threw around them. Not being able to see him. not seeing his body those who were looking for him over there down they were looking. Then on them he came Just then when they were sitting here he came they say.

Just there they saw him they say, his children. "My father," " man one to us came," they said | they say, he said At him he raised his head they say. Just there standing he saw him my children, | look at him," they say. "Well, he said they say. They kill with their eyes man they looked at | they say. That one Toward him this way, toward him they formed a line they were looking at him | they say.

was going they say. Then his mind His eye he looked didit was | they say. His mind not move weakened they say. Then when he was dying, when they were killing him | his medicine they say. Medicine alive his medicine they say. That his mouth his medicine in he put they say. Not sick he became again say. | Then something explosive his pocket lay they say. was all around them they say. Four fire he threw in they say. "Tc'il," he heard they say. Their faces it flew in they say. all. their eyes all it flew in. Explosive their eyes eyes in when it flew their eyeballs they rubbed. Their eyes they did this to. They rubbed them. Not one could see | they say.

There to them he started they say. Club, obsidian club hedrew out. To them | he went. With it among them he struck. Club with he killed them they say. He started back | they say. His grandmother where she lived he came back they say.



a ko go da na nas ts'ą tci ni dn sư tso ye' xa yo' bị go li' n dư' tci ni dn bi tc'ị' xat dzi tci ni dn xa go bị zưn xi go yưn nư' tci ni dn o be' tsưn bi l'a nol a l'a bư n dư' tcu ni dn da' de ya tci ni dn bị xa de ce yo de ya tci ni dn n za yo an da yo 5 dzil naz 'a yo a na dal tci ni dn a ko bị ya n ya tci ni dn yoonl t'ok' k'a' be' yıs k'a tci ni dn yi xes xi tci ni dn

a ko go da go dư kọ k' e yi yes xị dạ t' e go ca' a cił ni lạ sư tso ye n zị tci ni dn ko dị go ta gi dị' o be' ts' un 'on a tci ni dn xa la ts' un zi tci ni dn bị ai bi l'a o doc t'ont' bi ke' xos ts'ot' go tci-10 di des t'ont' tci ni dn bi djat' tc' unł ts' ot' go dak' ya go 'a n di ts' ư t di des t'ọt' tci ni dn o be' ts' un bi tc'a gos o yon de xa di ca' bi ga a cư ni lạ ts' un zi go a tc' ư t'i tci ni dn

bec xa tei tạ tei ni dn xa dak' tee nh t'ị bi gan teo tạ' dạ' bi gư ge te' ij k(G) c dạ' t'e he ko xa te' i nh k(G) ij tei ni dn ah bi-15 ka ge n ts' is 'a tei ni dn n la bi ka ge n ij nh kat' te' i ni dn bi gan da inh xa te' ej Gij an wa yo n te' i xin dih tei ni dn bi djat' da inh-xa da te' i xej Gij o wa yo in na' te' i in nih a ko go bi bit' bi tei' bin ka ts'a te' ij Gij tei ni dn n t' e go to go k' ej kat to si k'a zi yan t' e ca' a cih i ts' in zi tei ni dn

20 a ko go ko dak' o be' tsın bi ka yo dak' ts'i des gal tei ni dn ya k'os no li' ts'ın zi tei ni dn xa ga te'i dn nit da go do l'ıj de' na go di xıl dzıt' tei dn nıt' tei ni dn a ko go xai ya bi bi tei' xa teo n dıl tei ni dn da ga na go dla to go k'i' na nas kat' tei ni dn tsıt dak' na te'i des t'i go na be tei ni dn' o be' ts'ın bi la ta di' 25 na li n teıl ke hi n ju ni das da tei ni dn

i la ji' ts'ınl ts'a ci ka' kol n nıt' tei ni dn bi l'a kal dak' ai yınl si xa ya' go te'i' go da xol djil tei ni dn' n ko si ka' gol n di da' a t'i tei ni dn' da n ke di hıl dji go bi go djoe bi go de a t'e te'i ni dn da' i tei ga de ja bıl ya tei tak' da 'ai ja na-30 ts'ıt n ts'ıs go ya te'ıl got tei ni dn yu ge' da ts'ıs got' da go ke' na nal got' tei ni dn ci ka' gol n di go n k'e te'e xe ta teol wol go go tea be da gol n nıt' del djo jn i go ka dıe teij gol do tei ni dn i te'i' i go de' xa ts'ıt ts'iz 'n i n kıt ts'i des ni go l'a na baj e golni del i bi dae n go xa t'e go bın das go ne doj si li' tei ni dn bi tıs

Then he started away again they say. "My grandmother, deer lives?" | he said they say. To her he spoke they say. "Piñon when it is killed?" he said to her they say. Then | he started one does not butcher." she said to him they say. wherever it is he started they say. Far they say. Deer he went around distance | mountain where it stands across they say. There deer he came to they say. He shot it arrow with he hit it they say. He killed it they say.

Then just bare level place he killed it. "Why did she tell me that my grandmother?" | he thought they say. Here downhill pinon stood they say. "Well," | he thought they say, "deer that under I will drag." Its foot seizing he dragged it | they say. Its leg heseized uphill slope anyway | he dragged it they say, pinon in its-shadow. "What | because she told me that?" thinking he did it they say.

Knife he drew out they say. Up he turned it, its arm he held. Then | middle of its breast he slit. Then this way he cut it open they say. All its skin | he skinned off they say. Over there its skin he spread they say. Its forelegs | both he cut off. Over there he lay-them they say. Its legs both | he cut off. Over there he lay them. Then its stomach, its intestines | through here he cut off they say. Just then water dripped on him, water cold. | "What did it tome?" he thought they say.

Then up piñon above it he looked they say. | "Cloud' it might-be," he thought they say. "Nothing," he said, "just blue, | something is rotting off," he said they say. Then down deer its-intestines | he was pulling out they say. The same thing happened again. Water on him fell down they say. | Up he looked, his eye with they say. Piñon on its top | girl pretty one, handsome sat they say.

she saw him. "My husband," she said to him Her skirt up | she lifted. Down to him down she climbed they say. "Here, my husband," | she said. Then she did it they say. when she was coming to the ground her teeth, labia their teeth were they say. Then second stomach only he caught up only that hedragging off | he jumped up they say. Onward he ran. Right afterhim | she ran they say. "My husband," saying to him, foot of thehill when he was running his leg with she nearly caught him. Thoselabia after bim were trying to grab him they say. The secondstomach that he drew out he threw down behind him lay. Who wasabout to catch him | in front of her this way in front of ridges they say. Beyond them | he ran they say. She came that one

teul t'e teinidn a na bi 'n i bun das go ne doz si li' teinidn go ts'o ye sut da yo na te'ul got teinidn

da no t'a sư tso ye a cư n ni ni do da cư n ni dn i da ni a dnni lañ ke djoc i ga ni ci tc'i na dư got' hi ko di' k'at' da dư get' ci
5 n dit' tcư ni dn' xa go an dư xư ga yư n dư t tci ni dn kọ' bests'o i są be' hi bej tci ni dn' i sa n i wa yo ni 'a tci ni dn kọ' i
yo ye he zit' yu n de' xa go get' tci ni dn xa go get' yo ya ku ya on da
yư n dit' tci ni dn tse ał da ye hi go dai yi den'a tci ni dn kọ'
o k'a ji a na yư t dłą i są ai ge' da nais yz 'a kọ' łą go da dnł djet'
10 da' n la yo nez da tci ni dn'

n t'i go da dul got' tei ni dn ei ka' xa yo ol got' n nut' tei ni dn do ya t'e hue i da n dut' tei ni dn n de et di n dut' teun ni dn' kon de' ei ka' ol got' la 'n dut' tei ni dn' teoj yi ga ni an di teini dn da xai yo ei luj et di djol yo n di djol yo ei ka' a ko si dal e ei 15 n dut' tei ni dn xa yo go go denl a ji' da hes got' a ko nes djut' tei ni dn bi luj ni hi luj a ko tei ni dn yue di' xa da go bi luj i dej djol tei ni dn ku n de' ko' yu n de' on i djol ko' n nut' tei ni dn ko ei ka' si dal e n nut'

da' go te'i' da his got' tei ni dn i sa n i wa yo ni n ne' tei-20 ni dn ko'i n wa yo yini ki' tei ni dn tse n i wa yo o yini ne' tei ni dn' ei ka' gol n nit' tei ni dn' go gan yil n del xa gont dziz tei ni dn

de xa cın k'et' gol ni tci ni dn bi la kal sıt dak' ai yınl tsi da' an ni tci ni dn ai ji' ts'i des i tci ni dn bi go de dan t'e be go dzıt'

25 tci ni dn n kaj nai hıl tsi tci ni dn bi go de xa gol n ni tci ni dn co do da da do dil ko ge do ac ın ni anc t'e da ci tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni dn' ya' go jo go l'o bi gos el go ac inl e ci tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni dn' ya'ai xa na da i bi ya go xes 'a yo dzıl i ziz si 'a ni bi la ta tc'o 'ol na dn 'a hi da gan t'e hi ja di di' ke nen ta' (tso) be ko wa gos a go

30 a kon de' a cınl le bil tci dn nıt' tc'i ni dn

da hes got' tei ni dn xai 'a bi ya yo ol got' tei ni dn da' tselgai da ko i i la' a te'ın la tei ni n i ban be tso hes kat' tei ni n' da do an de ne da na dıl got' djo 'ol nain ta tei ni n n ko da nanas got' tei ni dn bi l'a da ts'es ai i la' an na tei dla da do an-35 ne hi da na dıl got' te'i ni dn' djo 'ol na ın ta te'i ni dn ko go in front of her ridges became they say. | His grandmother whereshe lived he ran back they say.

"Right by us, my grandmother, the one you told me of, 'Not' you told me. True you told me. Labia kills toward me is running. Here soon she will run," he said they say. "What can I do withbeans vessel with she said they say. Fire were boiling That vessel over there she placed they say. Fire | shethey sav. pushed over. In it she dug out they say. Where she dug out, "Goin here," | she said they say. Stone thin over him she placed theysay. Fire on him she put again. Vessel there she put again. Fire much she laid. Then over there she sat down they say.

she ran there they sav. "My husband, Immediately where they say. | "I have not seen anyone," she said did he run?" she said they say. "Person is none," she said they say. | "Here my husband ran," she said they say. Labia kills said it they say. | "Just where where it flows. where it stops flowing my husband always sits," | she said Certain place where a point was they say. she squat | they say. she ran. There Her urine she let flow there up stream (?) her urine | flowed they say. In here, they say. Here fire in it it flowed near. "Here," she said they say, "here myhusband sits." she said.

Then to him she ran they say. That vessel one side she put they say. | Fire one side she shoved they say. That stone one side she put | they say. "My husband," she said they say. His arm she grabbed. She pulled him out | they say.

"Hurry, cink'et," she said they say. Her skirt up she lifted. Then | she said it they say. There he looked they say. (?) he was afraid of | they say. "Nkaj," he heard they say, teeth. "Hurry," she said, they say. | "Sho, not, in an open place he said it is not my way to do it," they say. | "Bed good when it is spread I do it," he said they say. Sun | comes up underit where it is mountain large which stands its top Douglas spruce only four sides leaning together house which stands that kind I am accustomed to do it." when it stands | in there he said to her they say.

She ran off they say. It comes up under it she ran they say. white stone | so large penis he made they say. Buckskin he sewed over it they say. After a short time she came back. Dougshe brought back they say. Here las spruce she ran again | theysay. While she was gone gravel penis he made another. time after | she ran back they say. Douglas spruce she brought back



da na nas got' bi l'a da' dje' i la a na tc'ın la tci ni dn n ko go da na nas got' tci ni dn bi l'a da' tci dn k'oj ϵ bi tcık' i la a natc'ın la di i i la a tcın la tci ni dn

da do an na he nal got' teo 'ol nain ta ya' a go le' tei ni dn 5 ya'ıl l'o' yi gos el tei ni dn di ts'i teo 'ol ye ko ga a go la yu n de' tsıt da ge nes gal ci ka' de xa cın ket' ni tei ni dn do da djıñ go go t'ın go do a ci da le bıl tei dn nıt' tei ni dn ya'ai ǫ ts'e ya da xa o'a ni go xai ya yi di gıc tei ni dn l'e da xa go lel e ni tei ni dn

10 go l'e goz li' tci ni dn yun de yo ts'et dag ge si ti tci ni dn de xa ci ka' ni go n ko n te de xa ni tci ni dn a ko go tc'ut naz ni tsos i la di i a tcun la ni tc'i bi yi yu da tc'ut dn nul tc'i-ni n' tse di djo li da' tc'i dn'a tc'i ni n si ti ni ba di' tsi nes da tse ni ko si al yo n tc'i 'a tse tci ni n de xa ci ka' ci ket' ni 15 tci ni n e bu tci dn it' tci ni n

tse th gai i la a tei la ni ts'a ge bikth ts'ot' tei ni dn da' bi djat' an ts'th tsot' tseh gai i la ni yun de' bi tsul yun de' o teinh get' tei ni n gaj gaj gaj hul ts'a tei ni dn anh seh gai anh hi al tse ni anh xa nol t'i yi al go da bi ke go tses ai i la a tein la 20 'n i o na tein get' tei ni dn gaz gaz gaz hul ts'a tei ni dn anh i al tei ni dn a kun de' dje i la a tein la 'n i o na teinh get' tei ni dn hak' hak' hul ts'a tei ni dn' da kun de te'i dn k'o je bi djut' i la ni a kun de' o na te'inh get' djek djeh djek hul tsag go tei ni dn ko go tsi ai lo tse n tein'a ni buh nas dul got' tei ni dn 25 djoe bi go na bi te'inh ni anh xa bi tse de hes ne' is tsan ne bi teoj gat ka t'e le (gat xa djoh) 1 xol ze' hi bi go et di le buh tei dn nit' tei ni n xa yunh ka tei ni n

ko ts'ız da tei ni dn n la yo dan da go sıt da hi teak' tei ni n da'ai di' yu ge da hi ya la te'i ni dn a ko go a ko go tso ye bił 30 na tsıs ke tei ni dn

a ko go ci tso yε xai yo del Git' go li' n dit' tci ni dn do da sit tso yε' go ye yo gon li n dit' tci ni dn n tcoj n ca n yε' n dit' tci ni dn'

da hi ya tci ni dn' de ya tci ni dn' da ga n t'e n t'e go gol kai yo 35 hi gal tci ni dn hanl ts'a tci ni dn yan k'a des xes ts'an n i yanl ts'a

¹ As recorded at first.

they say. Here | she ran again. In her absence pitch penis he madeagain they say. Here | she ran again they say. In her absence sumac its wax penis he made again. | Four penes he made they-say.

After a short time—she ran back. Douglas spruce—she brought back. Bed—she made—they say. | Bed—grass—she spread down—they say. These—trees—Douglas spruce—with—house—she made. | Inside—face up she spread herself. "My husband, hurry, cank'et'," she said—they-say. "No, | daytime—when it is—I am not accustomed to do it," he-said—they say. "Sun—going down | hurry, set," saying—downward she made a gesture—they say. "Night, quickly—let it be," she said | they say.

Then night was they say. Inside face up she lay they say. my husband," saying, "here, lie down, hurry," she said Then blanket he took up. Penes four those he made blanket in he carried them they say. | Stone round too he carried they say. By the one lying down he sat down. That stone by her head he put down, stone they say. "Hurry, my husband, cink'et'." she said | they say. "All right." he said they say.

Stone white penis he made that here he took hold of her Then her legs those he took hold of. White stone penis they say. that inside her vagina inside he thrust they say. "Gaj gaj gaj," he heard they say. All white stone, all | she chewed. came out in pieces when she chewed it. Right after it penis he made | that he thrust in again they say. "Gaz gaz gaz," they say. All she chewed they say. Inside pitch penis he heard he made that he thrust in again they say. | "łak łak łak," he heard they say. Right inside sumach its wax penis that inside he thrustagain. "Djek djek djek łak'" he heard | they say. Here by her head that he had placed with he grabbed up they say. Labia All he knocked off. "Women their labia their teeth he pounded. will be like this called. Their teeth will be none," he told her they say. Day broke they say.

Here he sat they say. Over here short distance she sat, she cried they say. | From right there onward he started they say. Then there his grandmother with | they two lived they say.

Then, "Ay grandmother, where Delgit lives?" he said they say. "Not, my grandson, where it is dangerous he lives," she said they say. "Your labia are dangerous," he said they say.

He started away they say. He started they say. Just as he was in the open | he walked they say. He saw it they say. The one he-

tci ni dn ni' da gol kai n t'e ge si ti go yını ts'a tci ni dn a ko go da 'ai di' nes da tci ni dn' xa 'a le n zi tci ni dn' n lai si ti ni xa go ta o tco le n zi tc'i ni dn' do be' gon li ge si ti tc'i ni dn' xa-di be ca' ban ca n zi tc'i ni dn'

5 hi tcak' si da go tc'i ni dn' n t'e go hưn ko de sư da hi bi l'a di' l'o' na da 'a' tc'i ni dn l'o' na dn 'a' hi na hi na tc'i ni dn' ai di' n ne xa no tal tc'i ni dn' co' bư n dư' tc'i ni dn' xa tel a bi sưn ta bư ni dư' tc'i ni dn' n lai si ti ni xa go ta a tc'o le' go ba tc'un no ya' n si hi bi ga' ko di' si da yư n dư' tc'i ni dn' ci le yư n dư' tc'i ni-10 dn' ba nac da le ci n dư' tc'i ni dn' ga dn di ca bi tc'i' n da xa go ba na da ci ai k'e go ca' ban da bư n dư' tc'i ni dn e n dư' tc'i ni dn' ai di' sưn da da' bi tc'i' de ya yư n dit' tc'i ni dn

da di i'an di xa nol n ne' da ko n de' xa hi ya tci ni dn ba ni ya n lai si ti ni ba ni ya l'a da' na di dot dal ko ya desi do na di ts'a-15 go ba' ni ya la da' a don del yel n det' tei ni dn ai da' ts'ez da te'ini dn' da go t'e go de ya go na di ts'a tci ni dn' ko ya bi l'a yo ya si tị ai ji' dez į tc'i ni dn' n wan yan ya hi xat dzi tci ni dn co' ci ac di ci tea ga ci cul das dli go ac t'i yul n dut' te'i ni dn' nan te yil n dit' tei ni dn ni γa la' xa di dic k'e go ac t'i n dit' tei ni dn' xai dn k'i 20 go nan nes ti tc'i ni dn' a ko go bi gas l'a ge bi ga te'i ni dn' a ko go na gos bas go xai dn k'i tei ni dn nan nes ti ji' tci ni dn' xai dn k'i ko n de' i'a nal got' tc'i ni dn' i k'a go da la hi go i di an go ai yın la dla te'i ni dn' i l'a go la' i di an go an na yi dla dla te'i ni dn' yu ge i l'a go i an i di an ni 25 an na yi dla dla te'i ni dn yu ge i di an go an na yi dla dla te'i ni dn a ko go di go ti ka' i di an go ai yın la dla tc'i ni dn'

ts'ız dan yo kanadza tcinidn'n la le'di sitini da godılkoyo bidji danal tal go ac la yılındıt' tc'inidn n la le bitç'i dn da golındıt' tc'inidn di go ılıka' i di añ go ac la yılındıt' 30 tc'inidn' gon ye go n tc'i' gode ya yo go i ka'yo i di an ni ol get'le ka yılındıt' tc'inidn' ai nılı godez ts'iz yo go i l'a go o i an ni onanal get'le ka' yılındıt' tc'i nidn' ai nılı xanagadn tsız yo go was going after he saw | they say. Land just a plain on that kind when he was lying he saw him they say. Then | right there he satdown they say. "What now?" he thought they say. "Over there one lying | what shall I do?" he thought they say. Where he couldnot get up to it it lay they say. "What with | I go to it?" he thought they say.

He cried when he sat there they say. Immediately over there where he sat by his hips grass stood they say. Grass that stood There person put his head up they say. "Sho," moved they say. do you sit against it?" | he said they say. "Why they say. "'Over there one that lies what one can do, one can go to him?' because of that here I sit," he said they say. "I only," they say, | "I am accustomed to go to him," he said to him they say. "As you say for me to him you go. | How one goes to him that way for me go to him," he said they say. "All right," hesaid they say. "Here you sit, then to him I go," he said theysay.

Just this he stuck his head out right in there hole "I come to him | over there he lies after I come to him he will get up. Down he will look. When he gets up, after I cometo him he will do it," he said they say. Then he sat they say. After a time when he went he got up they say. Down under him he lay there he looked they say. That one who came to him spoke they say. "Sho, I, I did it. My children because they are cold withme I did it," he said they say. "Lie down again," he said they-"Your hair I am," he said they say. some thus I bite off sav. Then he lay down again they say. Then behind his shoulder hair he bit off | they say. Then circular place he bit off they say. Where he lay down again he did it they say. He bit it off inside he ran back they say. On it one tunnel he had made theyhole sav. Under that another hole tunnel he made again they say. Further under it hole tunnel he had made again they say. Further he had made again they say. Then four times above eachother tunnels he had made they say.

Where he sat he came back to him they say. "Come, this lying smooth place his heart where it beats I made," he said they-"Come, to him | you go," he said they say. "Four each other I made," he said | they say. "When danger tunnels uppermost tunnel run in," he said they say. to you if it happens "That tunnel | you must run inwith you if he tears open lower he said they say. "That again," with you if he tears open again



i l'a 'o an yu n de' o na nal get' le ka' yıl n dıt' tc'i ni dn' 'ai nil xa go na go dn ts'ız yo go do lel yıl n dıt' tci ni dn' di go ıl ka' i dian ni da bın ga yıl na gos ni' tci ni dn' n la le bi tc'i' n da' i ka' i dian ni bi k'ıs ke bi tc'i' n da yıl n dıt' tc'i ni dn

5 yu n de' da' tc'i ya tci ni dn bi tc'i' tc'i de ya tc'i ni dn' si ti' ni da bi l'a n tc'ın ya tc'i ni dn' se dak' ts'i dez'i tc'i ni dn' da godul ko' yo bi dji da nal tal tc'i ni dn' ko di' xal no li ni xal xol ze' hi da' tco tınl go a tc'i ti' tcın ni dn a ko go bil n tc'ın ya' tci ni dn set dak' li la ts'ınl ts'ot' tc'i ni dn n la hınl ts'a tc'i ni-10 dn' bi dji si'a yu n de' o tcınl get' yu n de' na ts'ıs get' tci ni dn'

a ko go na di hi ta tc'i ni dn bi de le yınl get' tc'i ni dn da' ts'ıs got' tci ni dn bi de da kın'a go tcol wol tcın di dn' gol xa go dn dzis i ka go i an ni gol xa go dn dzis tc'i ni dn' i l'a go i di an yu n de' o na tc'ol wol tc'i ni dn' bi de ye gol na go des dziz 15 tc'i ni dn' da ke na go i l'a go i an i di an yu n de' o na tc'ol wol tc'i ni dn' gol xa na go dn tsiz tc'i ni dn' bi de da kın a go i l'a dai i l'a yu n de' o na tc'ol gol tc'i ni dn' bi tc'i' bi de da ke na go gol na go des dziz tc'i ni dn' si ti ni i an da la hi go da gol n gonldziz go n la yo o n kat tc'i ni dn' da ts'a go at dza tci ni dn' 20 da go sıl xe go a t'i n i ts'i zes xın tc'i ni dn' a ko go yi zes xın tc'i ni dn'

ai ji' yi te'i' xan ya te'i ni dn' si tun yo yi ka'n ya tei ni dn' n de ni go tsan bi k'a n de go li ni yi ga go ai i i te'i ni dn' nd'a na go di dza te'i ni dn' 'n t'e go dlo' ba le n l'ut dlo' n de 25 da' at da bil i te'i ni dn' a ko go bi ga'no hi tea ga ce no xul dasdli go at da hi ti bi ga at da hi ti da bul n du' tei ni dn' bi ga'n i yul ta xoj djet' te'i ni dn'

bi hi bi ka ge n jo go ai yın la tc'i ni dn' bi tsi ga xa yın ts'el tc'i ni dn bi dil n jo go ai yın la tc'i ni dn' bi tc'an n jo go ai yın la 30 tc'i ni dn di i ban di tso ge ye na yo xel ka' bi dil aili tc'i ni dn' bi tc'an hi ban di tso ge ye nai yo xel ka' tc'i ni dn' bi tsi ga nai-yo xel ka' tc'i ni dn' bi ts'ın n jo go xa yi hın dil tc'i ni dn' a ko go

below it hole in you must go again," he said they say. "That with you | if he tears out again it will be," he said they say. one above the other tunnels all together he told him about they say. "Come. to him you go. Upper | tunnel to him on it you go," he said they say.

Inside he started they say. To him he went they say. The onelying right under him he came they say. Up he looked they say. Just a smooth place his heart beat they say. Here club, obsidian club | called holding in his hand he did it they say. Then with it he came to him | they say. Uр in his hand 1 he held it they sav. "Nłą," he heard they say. His heart it lay in he stabbed, inside he stabbed around they say.

he jumped up they say. His horn he stuck in the ground they say. Here he ran they say. His horn being close to him With him | he tore it out. Upper they say. tunnel with him he tore out they say. Below it | tunnel in he ran again they say. His horn with it with him he tore out again | they say. When it wasclose under it hole, tunnel in he ran again they say. With him he tore it out again they say. His horn when it was close to him under it | the lowest one in he ran again they say. To him his horn when it was close | with him he tore it out again they say. when he had ripped all out with him | there hole iust one he fell they say. As he was dying it happened they say. Just as hewas killing him the one doing it he killed they say. Then he killedhim | they say.

There to him he came up they say; where he lay on him hecame they say. | People, earth on it people who lived becausehe killed he did it they say. | He skinned it he began they say. Immediately birds to him came together. Birds people | then they-did it to him they say. Then, "His hair our children because they-are freezing with us | we are doing it. Because of that we are doing it," they said they say. His hair | they grabbed in handsful they say.

Himself his skin good he prepared they say. His brain knocked out | they say. His blood good he prepared His manure good he prepared | they say. This buckskin yellowish he sewed it up. His blood he did it to they say. His manure with buckskin vellowish with he sewed up they say. His brain sewed up they say. His bones good he took out they say. he took them on his back they say. His grandmother where she lived



[&]quot; "Coming out by his thumb," was the only rendering secured.

ytt des gị tc'i ni dn' bi tso ye st da yo ni n gi tci ni dn bi ka ge n yth ts'i ts'i bư ol das kal go a yị la tc'i ni dn a ko go yi tc'ic tc'i ni dn' tse di tc'tc i be ail i tc'i ni dn' a ko go yth tse' tci ni dn' yail ts'a tc'i ni dn' i ta' (i ka') ai yth la tc'i ni dn' ko bi til i den-5 tc'a go ai yth la tc'i ni dn' a ko go bi tso ye yth si ke tc'i ni dn'

si tso ye na do nư' tc'i ni dn xai yo ts'ın na go le' go li tcın nidn a ko go tci ni dn sıt tso ye go ye go go li do bi tc'ıl ta da yıl ndıt' tc'i ni dn' n tc'oj hın ca' n ye yıl n dıt' tci ni dn'

dạ' del Gư' i zes xưn i bi tsi ga ko ya i tạ' yi hi ya go bi tsi ga 10 bi t'a' yo ya o yưn tạ tc'i ni dn' bi dil ko ya bi i bi t'a yo ya o yưn tạ tci ni dn' bi tc'an n i bi i bi t'a yo ya o yưn tạ tcini dn' bi ts'un di yi bi ts'un da li Gai go dul kọ go a t'a yo nil tc'i ni dn'

da' da hi ya tei ni dn ni' da' go dil ko yo de ya te'i ni dn' tci ni dn' n t'e go 15 dan da vo n za vo hi gał bi di ts'a tci ni dn ye· hını ts'a tc'i ni dn' xai yo xe'e n t'e a dn nıt' n zi tc'i ni dn' na da gal te'i ni dn' bın dat tc'e le dn gal te'i ni dn' a ko go ts'et dak' ko dak' 2 des gal te'i ni dn' hi ko di' ya il ni di' bi te'j' de da t'i go bi tc'i' go da go γal ji yınl ts'a' tc'i ni dn' bi la gan n t'∈ go yınl ts'a a xan ne go 20 da di nes tsak' bi tc'i' bil ni del go da' vini tsa tci ni dn' xai ya nes gal te'i ni dn' bi gan t'a yo ita'ni da'a ja haidngaj te'inidn' xa nnıt te'inidn' ts'inago le' na sız zi n nıt' da' na di hi t'a te'i ni dn

da na nas tsa tci ni dn dan da go na na dal go bi k'ız i a gaset dak' 25 na hini ts'a tei ni dn' na des gal na yıl ts'a tc'i ni dn' bi gan xa na yi dla go xa ya na nes gal tc'i ni dn' bi gan t'a xandan ziz i ta ja' aili tci ni dn a ko go na ki dn ız li tc'i ni dn' ai di' ts'i na go le na sel zi ni go a dn di tc'i ni dn' da na nas dza te'i ni dn' dan na go o na na dza te'i ni dn' a ko go bi k'ij i da ga-30 na hanl ts'a ye ti l tei ni dn a ko go set dak' na des gal tei ni dn da bel ni dec i na yenl ts'a toen ni dn da' xai ya na nes gal toi ni dn n ga j na hini ts'a tci ni dn bi gan yo ja' xa nai di hi dziz i ta ja' tci ni dn na di dıl gaj tci ni dn ts'i na go le xa· na sıl zi na do n dit te'i ni dn da' na di hi da tei ni dn

¹ Heard thus the second time.

² Accompanied by a gesture.

they say. he brought them His skin | he stretched out, sticks hepegged down with he prepared it they say. Then he scraped it they sav. Stone rough with he did it they say. Then they say. | He finished dressing it kneaded it they say. War shirt he made they say. Here its breast line angular indentations | he made they two sat they say. Then his grandmother they say.

"My grandmother," he said they say, "where Ts'innagole lives?" they say. | Then they say. "My grandchild dangerous place he lives. One does not talk about him," she said | they say. "Yourlabia probably are dangerous," he said | they say.

Then Delgit which he had killed his brain in war shirt whenhe put on his brains in its pocket he put they say. His blood in his shirt in its pocket he put they say. His manure that hisin its pocket he put they say. His bones, his bones shirt these just white. smooth his pocket he put in | they say.

Then he started they say. Earth just bare he went they say. Some distance far he walked they say. Suddenly he heard something they say. | "Ye." he heard they say. "Somewhere it is it makeshe thought they say. He looked around they say. he looked in a circle in vain they say. Then | up he looked they say. Here center of the sky to him | something bad (?) down where it was coming he saw it they say. His talons were projecting just then he saw him. to him he was about-Near to grab him | he saw him they say. Then down he lav (face down) they say. On his back | that war shirt only that he closed his claws on "Xa·," he said they say. "Ts'innagoli | missed me," they say. he said. Then they say. he got up

Then he started on again they say. Some distance when he hadabove him gone on, he heard the same again | they say. looked around. He saw him again they say. | His talons being thethey say. His back same way again down he lay face down grabbed at. | War coat only he did it to Then twice they say. itthey say. Then "Ts'innagoli I missed again," saying was flew up they say. He started on again | they say. Short distance he had gone they say, then above him he heard the same again. "Ye·ti·l." Then they say. Just as hethey say. up he looked was going to catch him he saw him again they say. Then down helay on his face they say. | "Ngaj," he heard again they say. On hisback only he grabbed at him again. War coat only he did it to "Xa.," he shouted again they say. "Ts'innagoli missedme again," he said again. Then he got up they say.



a ko go na na nas ts'a tci ni dn a ko go ta dn z li' tci ni dn da n da yo o na na ts'a tci ni dn bi k'z ji da ga na hant ts'a tci ni dn a ko go hai yo n t'e hat tsak' na ni dzi tci ni dn tset dak' na dez gal ban da be da ga na bi dle go na yat ts'a tci ni dn' a ko go 5 di dn z li' tci ni dn' tsat dag ge ya nes gal dan t'e go a cat i n zigo ya tset dag ge nes gal tci ni dn'

a ko go di bitli i den tc'a n i yi t'a' go da dej tc'tt' da bi dn't i tci ni dn tset dak' bi di des ti tci ni dn ko dak' xa go ya bi ka' ci a ko xa bis ti tci ni dn bi ko wa la yo xa'a bi ya ji ye ni yi gan-10 ni hi la ts'i di hes ko' tci ni dn' 'ai yi go des te tci ni dn a ko go del Gt bi tsi ga ko ya o yın't ta i des do tci ni dn bi dil ko ya n'i des do tc'i ni dn' bi tc'an n i des do tci ni dn' a ko go sel xi n zi tc'i ni dn' go ya dil tctt' tci ni dn bi tca ga ce ko di' da' na-xez ta tci ni dn bi ya ci n gonl go' tci ni dn' ai da' xa'a bi ya ji 15 da nan't dji la ji a des t'a' go da nes djit tci ni dn

n wai bi tea ga ce n i go te'i' da n des tạ bi go ye da gol gał go dan ke da ne ta go co te'i dn it' tei ni dn' di tea ga ce n i ci ta' da n det tei ni dn co di da dn it' tei ni dn xa gạ n ge te'ic an di dai n det' te'i ni dn' yu ge bi te'i' na dan des t'a tei ni dn' a ko go 20 go te'i' na da n des t'a da gol gał go a da t'i tei ni dn da ai k'e go di dn ez li' tei ni dn da' ts'a ts'en na go le n i da na nac ye' teini dn' a ko go da bej ja n gon i bi tea ga ce da' na xes ta ge a gonli dla te'i ni dn

bi o na nal je da' naj dd got' go zez xi ni naj dd got' tei ni dn' 25 bi tea ga ci di i na xes ta bi te'i naj dd got da go ya ni del get bi ts'ın n i be bi tai te'ıe lij tei ni dn hi ko de ts'i da di yes t'i yo ya o tse xes kat' tei ni dn bi ja je da la e an ne sit di hi da la e an ne sıt tei ni dn a ko go na yonl kıt tei ni dn

xa go an na go tinh go ni gel e yihn dit' tei ni dn 30 ni to n ts'a bi kaj hel t'enl go ni gel e yd n nit' tci ni n da' na hi yeln det teinidn xa go an na go t'inl go o gel e yeln det' tcinidn hint ts'a bia di hil t'int go ni hi gel e yil n dit' tci ni dn da' n dag ge xa go an no go t'ıni go o gel le yıl n dıt' tci ni dn da' Then he went on they say. Then three times it was they say. I Some distance he went they say. Above him just the same he heard-again they say. I Then, "Somewhere I hear it," he thought again they say. Up | he looked. His eye with just the same when he was-doing to him he saw him again they say. Then | four times it was they say. Up he lay facing, "What does he do to me?" because he-thought | up he lay facing they say.

this his breast the scallops his war shirt he put his talons-He carried him off | they say. Up he carried him under. they say. Up here somewhere sky on it there he carried him sunrise under it he kills people | stone-Where his house was with they say. smooth projects they say. That he threw him on Delgit his brains in those he had put broke open they say. blood in that burst open they say. His manure burst open theysay. Then, "I killed him," | he thought they say. He put his claws-His children here they were | they say. In frontthey say. of them he threw him they say. Then sunrise under it | where hewas accustomed to alight shaking himself he alighted they say.

his children to him put their heads, their teeth with when they were going to eat, when they came near, "Sho." he said they say. These children, "My father," | they said they say. "Sho," he said they say. "Just oozing of air says it," he told them theythey put their heads again Forward to him they say. to him they put their heads when they were going to eat him they didit they say. Just that way | four times it happened they say. Then Ts'innagoli went hunting again they say. | Then here just himself his children where they lived he was | they say.

He went hunting again. Then he got up, the one who was killed got up they say. | His children four sitting to them he got up. The oldest Delgit | his bone with among them he struck they say. Here bluff it slopes | in he threw them they say. His child just one he spared. The four, just one | he spared they say. Then he questioned him they say.

"Your father what sort when it rains is he accustomed to bringthey say. "(?) | large water his load?" he said to him male he is accustomed to bring it," they say. he said "Your mother," he said they say, "what sort when it rains is sheaccustomed to carry?" he said to him they say. | "Rain female whenit falls she is accustomed to bring something," he said they say. Then "Your brother, what sort when it rains is he accustomed to carry?" Then, "Your sister what sort when it rains ishe said they say.

n de' hi xa go an na go t'ınl go o gel le yıl ni dıt' tci ni dn to bija je le hi a go bi ye' ni gel e yıl ni dıt' tc'i ni dn

a ko go di bư na gos ni' yi yes xi tci ni dn' del Gư bi ts'un ye yư go da o tc'un l'uj tci ni dn di ts'a' ji bi ta da nan l dji hi 5 bư tc' en da ai yư n la tc' i ni dn' ts'a ji ba hi da nan l dji yư tce na ai yư n la tci ni dn ts'a ji bi de da' nan l dju i tcen da ai yư n la tci ni dn ko ji bư na ge da nan l dju i bi l tcen da ai yư n la tci ni dn

ako go yın k'a ni he ts'a ako go hıl ts'a bi ka i hıl t'i tci ni10 dn xal ye yi kan ne he ts'a da dın gin tci ni dn 'n de bi kaj tel i
da dın gın xa'a bi ya ji' bec dıl xıl i be ts'i di xes ko ts'a ji
nınıl de da' da na nas t'ak' tci ni dn be'a di ıs ts'an hınıl ts'a
bi 'a de n ke hınıl t'a bi yi' da dın gi ıs tsan n ju ni ni gi a wa ci
nınıl go' tci ni dn ts'a ji hınıl ts'a to ja ji n ke nıl ta tci ni dn bi yi'
15 na li n da dın gi tci ni dın' na lın n jo ni ni gi tci ni dın' ko di'
n lo hi ze n ke nıl ta tci ni dın bi yi' bi ye' da dın gi tci ni dın'

a wa ci n tse n n gini xał ye go da' o yi tc'inł l'ıj yi zes xi' tci ni dn ıs ts'an ts'a ji da nes dji no li ni xal ye yi zez xi n la-yo ya o da o yi djinł l'ıj tci ni dn na lin da nes djınt' no li ni xal 20 ye go da' o yi tc'ınl l'ıj tc'i ni dn ts'a ji bi ye' da nes djınt' no li ni xal ye go da' o yi tc'ınl l'ıj yi zez xi go ai yın la tci ni dn da bi ga yi ga tci ni dn 'n de ni gos tsan bi ka' n de anl yi ga ni ail i tci ni dn a ko go da sa xıt' di da' ts'i nes da tci ni dn'

xa go hi ac n de ts'ın zi tci ni dn tci tcak' tci ni dn a ko go 25 da ts'ız da tei te'a go n t'i go n ko dak i ts'i dız ts'ą tci ni dn xai yo xe'e' ya t'e a da ni xe e ts'in zi tci ni dn ts'et dak' ts'i desgal teinidn nkodi' ya d nidi go te'j' go da na de dza n la yo ai ilts'ak teinin a kogo its'a teo nes da teinidn bi k'i di' bi tsel tsok' nez da tei ni dn bi k'i di' ga ge nes da tei ni dn bi k'i-30 di' te li tco' nez da tci ni dn' a ko go go tc'i' xat dzi tci ni dn i tc'a tco' nan t'an xol ze' hi an di tci ni dn ya tela xan da ko go a dn di' goln dit' tei ni dn tei tea gi bi ga an di tei ni dn kobi tsel tsok' nan t'an go tc'i' xat dzi tci ni dn xan da yo a dn ni' gol n det tci ni dn ts'a n ni go te li tco' nan t'an 35 go te'i' xat dzi tei ni dn xa tel a xan da yo a dn di tei ni dn ko di go ga ge teo nan t'an go te'i' xat dzi tei ni dn xatela xan da yo a dn di goln nư trei ni dn da bưn ga ưz li' tei ni dn she accustomed to carry?" he said they say. "Small water, | when it-comes to the ground in it she brings something," he said they say.

Then this one he told him he killed they say. Delgit his bone with it | with down he struck him they say. This here his father he alights | he tell him about he caused they say. Here his mother she alights he tell him | he caused they say. Here his sister shealights he tell him he caused | they say. Here his brother he alights he tell him he caused they say.

Then for him he lay in wait. Then rain male fell they say. he lay in wait for him he came carrying something say. Person male he brought. Sunrise under it metal black with projects smooth there he threw him down. Then he alighted theysay. His wife woman, rain female fell in it she brought something. Woman pretty she brought. Over there | she dropped her they say. Here rain small water fell they say in it | girl brought something pretty, she brought they say. Here | small hail they say. Girl he brought something they say in it his son they say.

There first one that brought something club with down He killed him | they say. Woman here alighted. knocked. Obsidian with he killed her. In there down he knocked her they say. Girl alighted. Obsidian club with down he knocked her they say. Here his son alighted obsidian club with down he knocked him. Killing him he did it they say. All of them | he killed People earth on it people all who killed he did it to they say. Then just alone he sat they say.

"How shall I do?" he thought they say. He cried Then | he sat there suddenly up here crying he heard something they say. | "Where sky makes a noise?" he thought they say. he looked | they say. Here from the middle of the sky toward him they were coming. There | them | he heard they say. eagle sat down they say. Behind him | yellow tailed hawk sat down they say. Behind him raven sat down they sav. Behind him pelican sat down they say. Then to him he spoke they say. said it Eagle chief one called they say. "What are you after here | you made a noise?" he said to him they say. He was crying because he said it they say. Here | yellow tailed hawk chief to him "What | you after you said it?" spoke they say. he said to him they say. The one here, pelican chief | to him spoke they say. "What vou after you said it?" he said to him | they say. raven chief to him spoke they say. "What | you after you saidit?" he said to him they say. All of them it was they say. | "Dan-



gon ye ya t'e xa nıs t'i ko go a dn di da gol n nıt' tci ni dn dona tci ga da ku gol 1 da gol n dıt tci ni dn

ts'i na go le xa sit t'i yo a dıc ni bil tei dn nit' tei ni n n dị hi da bi ga al tc'i dn nư' tci ni dn xa go ta a tc'on de n sin go si da 5 a die ni tei dn nit' tci ni n ai an nł i ni xa yo tei ni n sez xi bel tei dn nit' teinin bi'a sez xi tein nit' bi ts'i sez xi tci dn nit' tci ni n bi ye' sel xi bel tci dn nit' tci ni n da bin ga xi ga go a dic ni bel tei dn net' tei ni n a ko go xa go ac n ne n zi da gol n nıt' tci ni n da xa go xe ta a da no' t'e no li 10 yel n net' tei ni n

leñ ke ga dn di da bil n dit' teinin dini di hi da biga dabil n nit' a ko go n la le ga dn di bil n dit' i ts'a teo nan t'an an
a dn nit teinidn bi i i ts'a teo bi i a da yi ta ko ni 'a ga la
di bin da yil n dit teinidn bi te'i ya te'i ni dn ko di i ts'el tsok'

15 nan t'an bi i a da di ta teinidn ka la di bin da gol n nit' te'ini dn ko di go te li teo' nan t'an bi i a da yi ta teini dn ka la
di bin da gol n dit' teini dn' ts'a ei ga ge teo nan t'an bi i
a dai di ta teini dn ka la di bin da bil n dit' teini dn da bin ga
bi te'i ya teini dn

20 ako go xa la hi a dn da' da gol n dit' tei ni dn az des da' tei nidn' a ko go n t'a' gon le gol n dit' tei ni dn da la da dnl t'a
gol n dit' tei ni dn da ko hi ge be le dn t'a da gol n nit' tei ni dn
go dac yi t'ak' tei ni n da ku hi ge be lej di tak' tei ni dn a ko
naz nes t'a tei ni dn n lale ai da na dn ta na gol do nit' tei ni dn
25 a ko go da naj ei tak' da bi tis hi k'e na dn ta gol n dit' tei ni dn
ai ge naz des t'ak ai ge' bi tis ge le naj di t'ak ku na tsin nes ta
tei ni dn n lale di le din t'ak i bi tis ge na dn t'a na gol do nit'
tei ni dn ai ge' lej yi t'ak' tei ni dn ku naz nes da tei ni dn n lale
da na dn t'a na gol do nit' tei ni dn a ko go da naj ni t'ak' n lale
30 di l'e din t'ag gi da bi tis ge di dn le dn t'a gol n nit te'i ni dn
di dn lej yi t'ak' tei ni dn ko naz nes ta n de na xez t'a yo i ts'a
n de yo naz nes ta tei ni dn da' n jo n de da gol n nit' tei ni dn a o
n jo bel te'i dn it' tei ni n

n la le gadn ni dadn t'a n l'a ge dadın t'a da di dn ıl k'e 35 xon t'a le ga bılın nıt tc'i ni dn n de do' dan t'i ne k'e go n l'a ge di dn le di hın ni' do lel yılın nıt'

Perhaps ku go, "here."

gerous place what brought you up here you say it?" they said tohim they say. "No one is allowed to come | here," they said they say.

"'Ts'innagoli brought me up' I say," he said to them These four all of them he told they say. "'Some way one could do I was thinking' | I say," he said they say. "That one who did it toyou where is he sitting?" he said to him | they say. "I killed him," he said they say. "His wife I killed," they say. | "Hishe said he said they say. "His son I killed," he said daughter I killed," they say. | "'All of them I killed' I say," he said they say. Then, did you think?" "What | you shall do they said to him they say. "Some way you have probably," | he said they say.

"Well, as you say," they said they say. These men four said to him. | Then, "Well, as you say," he said. he said it they say. His shirt, eagle his shirt he took off. chief Here he put down. "Come, this put on," he said they say. Heput it on they say. Here yellow tailed hawk | chief his shirt he took-"Come, this put on," he said to him they say. off they say. pelican chief his shirt he took off they say. "Come, this put on," he said to him they say. Here raven chief his shirt he took off they say. "Come this put on," he said to him theysay. All of them | he put on they say.

"Well, shake yourself," they said to him they say. shook himself they say. Then, "Your wings you have," he said tohim they say. "Well fly up," | he said to him they say. "Just here with them fly in a circle," they told him they say. | Then he flew off they say. Just here with them he flew a circle, they say. There he alighted again they say. "Already, now you fly," they told him they say. Then he flew off again. "Just a little beyond you fly," hetold him they say. There he flew again, there beyond it around again, here he alighted again they say. "Come, this youbeyond it fly," he said to him again | they say. There flew around, he flew around they say. Here he alighted again they say. "Come, | fly again," he said to him they say. Then he flew again. "Come, this you flew around just beyond it four times fly around it," hesaid to him they say. Four times he flew around it they say. Here he alighted. Man where he sat hawk man he sat they say. "Doyou like it?" they asked him they say. "Yes, good," he said they say.

"Well, as you say, fly. Under you we will fly. Four times one-above the other | you must fly," he said to him they say. "Man too the way we are doing under you | four times we will go around," he said.



da' da di t'ak' di n ne di i da bunga da dn di' n ts'e an n da di t'ak' hi da a t'i ni k'e go bi l'a ni a da t'i tci ni dn ni le dixi di tci ni dn di i ts'e da di t'adn da a t'i ni k'e go ni' e de t'i tci ni dn k'a di ts'a n ne' na ni nes bi

5 n la e go ye go n tơ i go de ya la ke ni gos ts'an bi ka' gon lila ke a ko ni l na den kai ga dn ni da go l n ni t' tơ in in n la le n ne i ts'e n l'a ge da di xin di le di xin di do le l da a da xi t'i nihi k'e go a na tin l do le l yi n di t' tơ i ni dn a ko go da 'a da t'i nik'e go a tơ i t t'i tơ i ni n i l k'e da hi zi di da 'ai k'e go a tơ i t' t' i 10 xa ya go de ya tơ i ni n ku ya ne gos ts'an bi ka' ji' xa ya go l n de za tơ ini dn ni gos ts'an bi ka' go l n ke nan za tơ ini dn n la le nad dn t'a xa yo gon li len ci da go l n di t' tơ ini dn' e tơ i dn nư t' tơ ini n n ne na den kai gon dli yo n ne da go l n nư t' tơ ini dn da' na zez tsa tơ ini dn go tso ye sư da'n yo ba na djat tsa 15 tơ ini dn

a ko go tci ni dn a ko go go tso ye a gan t'e go n ye n lɨj ni dn go xo 'į bɨl n dit' tci ni dn da n ni a dn ni lañ ke yɨl n nit' tci ni n a ko go al n de ne gos ts'an bi ka' n de bi ga ni al yi ga tci ni dn

a ko go ku al i ga go ko da na nas tsa tci ni dn a na dal 20 tci ni dn tse xa 'a ci' yan ya tci ni dn ts'i ya yon de' bi ko wa bo' tco xas t'i n xol ze' hi ya n ya tci ni dn bi ts'i na ki tci ni dn na li n da linl t'e tci ni dn xa 'a le ts'in zi tci ni dn xa go ta ts'ido kes go la' ca' yol t'e ts'in zi tci ni dn

di botco xas tin xın di he o'i la tci ni dn da t'e ga di go na-25 ts'e kes be ai ts'ın zi n i xın di xe yınl ts'a la tci ni dn a ko go xa go la de' a gai tsın zi'do lel n dit' tci ni dn si tsi' ai tse bi n de di' tsi ya xa go hi le' yinl n nıt' tci ni dn a ko n ne' ya' n ba a gon le yıl n dıt' tci ni dn a ko n de' ni bil n de yıl n nit tci ni n' a ko go bıl n tc'ın na tci ni n a ko n'de' go ko wa tci ni n

30 di li k'e ka da yın ka bil n tcın na hi a t'i tci ni n a ko go go tce ta das da hi gol na gos ni' tci ni dn n tc'o i ail i n de bi ts'i-ga ail i gol n dit tci ni dn xon na xe la' gol n dit tci ni n' ai do hi ca dal le bil tc'i dn nıt' tci ni n na dn ka yil n dıt' tc'i ni dn' o na yi ka' tci ni dn

they flew off, this man, the four, all of them First he | those who flew the way they were doing under him did it they say. They flew in a circle | they say. He first one thatthe same way they did. Earth was seen | they say. flew Now here they sat again. men

"Well. dangerous place to you happened it seems. Earth on it you live it seems. There with you we will go back, as you say," they said to him they say. "Well, man first, under you we will fly, we will fly in a circle. Just the way we are doing | you will do," said they say. Then just the way they did he did they say. Onejust the same way he did. | Down behind the other they flew. happened they say. Down here earth on it. down they went they say. Earth on with him they arrived they sav. "Well, | fly again where you live," they told him they say. "Yes," he said | they say, man. "We will go where we live," man they told they say. Then he went back they say. His grandmother where shelived to her he returned | they say.

Then they say. Then his grandmother, "That way, dangerous as I told you | so you found it," she said to him they say. "True, you said," he said they say. | Then all people earth on it people who killed all he killed they say.

Then here all when he had killed here he came back they say. He traveled around | they say. Rock | where it stood up | he came they say. Cave | in | his house was. | Owl | old man | one called | hecame to | they say. His daughters | two | they say. | Girls | just like-each other | they say. "I desire them," | he thought | they say. Bysome means | he was studying. | "One | for me | let her be," | he thought they say.

This owl old man mind he knew it they say. Just that this he was studying | with that he was thinking mind he saw it they-say. Then | "How this do you think that?" he said they say. "My daughter, that rock | behind cave is clearing out," he said to-him they say. "In there bed | for you she is making," he said they-say. "In there you marry her," he said to him | they say. Then he married her they say. In there their house was they say.

(Kind of food) for him she brought, the one he married did it they say. Then | his ear one that sat told him they say. "Bad she prepares. People their brains | she prepared," he told him they say. "Do not eat it," he told him they say. "That | I am not accustomed-to eat," he told her they say. "Take it back," he said to her they-say. | She took it back they say.



a ko go i ts'i' di t'o de go ci bic ji hi da' nai dn ka tc'i ni dn' a ko go gol na na' gos ni' tci ni dn n tc'o i ail i na gol do nut' tci ni dn do hi ca dal le na dn ka na bil tc'i do nit' tc'i ni n o nai-yi' ka tci ni n

- 5 a ko go na da' ke' a no li ni li Gai go ci bij ji hi nas doj nai ιñ ka n tc'o i ail i na gol do nit' n de bin da ail i n tc'o i xo na le' gol n nit' tc'i ni n ai do hi ca da le bil tc'i dn nit' nad dn ka bil tci-dn nit' tc'i ni n o nai yiñ ka tc'i ni dn da n de bi ts'i ja ail i dla tc'i ni dn
- 10 ko xa dzo ts'i tei ni dn' i bo' teo xas tin bi tea ga ce da baldanl te'o tei ni n n la le i tan goc xa da o nil be t'a da a gos dis i di da t'a go no te'i de he yo da xal kat no ko wa ta da go gic al te'i ga nol co yil n dat' te'i ni dn a ga dat tsa te'i ni dn al ta da ides gız te hant dje go
- 15 ako go na dạ' i kan i ya e hi do et di hi gos t'a dn dja tei ni dn bił n te'in da hi ba teint dja n di k'e a t'e hi n de bi hi dan łe a go hi den te'o i no hi hi dan ła bił te'i dn nit' te'i ni dn' n la yo na dn ta si na hes ta yo nan dn e a ko hi' da nos tei go da są yił n nit' tei ni-dn łai i ta' nil go a nad da nał i a ko go da' te'i yan na te' do dai-20 ya hi n di do et di hi hi a te da bił te'i dn nit' tei ni n' a ga daił i te'i ni n a ko go dai ya tei ni dn' a ko go go ko wa te'i ni dn

ko di do an da go to te'i ni n ıs ts'an bil n te'ın da 'n i to xatda hi ya te'i ni n' tos yu gel go da hi ya te'i ni n ai da' ko ts'ız da tc'i ni dn' o yan t'e tci ni dn a xan ni ji' o yan t'e da' 25 te'i ni dn a ko go o ya go a t'ε do xa na da ta ts'ın zi de xa to ni hi ge'n i n zi tci ni dn ga la a ko na noc ta' te'i ni dn' a ko da hi ya tei ni dn to o yo te'ın ya tei ni dn tos ją to ge si'a tc'i ni dn n wa di' εs san n i bi ke' ja goz la tc'ini dn' hi ko di' go n de bi ke' n dez i bi ke' goz la tc'i ni dn' 30 xa ko go ca' a ts'a lan ts'ın zi tc'i ni dn

a ko go bi te'i ta das da hi bił na gol n ni' tei ni dn goł dil s si n'a nai dnł ti ysł n dit' te'i ni dn' n zat' yił o aj ysł n nit' te'i-ni dn bi go li is i bi zol go li lą te'i ni dn' ni gos ts'an yi ka' ye na gai hi hi lą 'ai ysnł ts'i lą te'i ni n' a ko go ko de ga te'int te te'i-35 ni n an goł dil is i bił na gol n di i go li lą tei ni dn' ko a ga tesn t'e te'i ni n ko go zol be' na te'i γa hi gon li te'i ni dn n la le di

Then meat soft boiled she brought again they say. | Then hetold him again they say. "Bad she prepared," he said again | they-say. "I am not accustomed to eat that. Take it back," he said to-her again they say. She took it back | they say.

Then like corn it appears white boiled wrong side up (?) she brought again. | "Bad she prepared," he said again. "People their eyes she prepared. Bad. Do not eat it," | he told him they say. "That I am not accustomed to eat," he told her. "Take it back," he told her | they say. She took it away they say. Just people their-meat only she was preparing | they say.

Then he spoke they say. Oh, owl old man his children were-evil smelling | they say. "Come, soapweeds take out. With them wash yourselves, rubbing them on you. | Your property throw away. Your house wash. All | sweep," he said they say. They did that they say. All they washed, | taking a bath.

Then corn meal a little never is exhausted his belt was in they say. | The one he married to her he gave it. "This kind people their customary food. That | bad your food is," he told her they say. "Over there go back | where you live take it back. There preparedas mush you eat it," he said they say. | "Another soup you make. Then just they eat, although not much | it does not become exhausted," he told her they say. They did that | they say. Then theyate they say. Then their house was they say.

they say. Woman From there not far water one he married water went for they say. Water vessel carrying she started theysay. Then here he sat they say. Just she went they say. Near she went | they say. Then "She is gone, she does not come back," they say. | "Quickly water she brings," they say. "Well, there let me look around," he thought | they say. There he started they say. By the water he came they say. Waterby the water lay they say Over here her track only lay they say. Over there man his tracks, his track lay they say. | "What has happened?" he thought theysay.

Then by his ear one sat talked to him they say. "Golilisi | your wife took away," he said they say. "Far they two have gone," he said they say. | He, Golilisi his flute he has they say. Earth on it with | he travels he uses it they say. Then he is the same-sort they say. | That one, Golilisi one that informs him he has they say. He the same sort | they say. He his flute with he travels he has they say. "Come," this | his ear sits on to him spoke

go tc'e das da hi gi tc'i' xat dzi tc'i n dn n la le ya 'ai' xa natda hi bi ya goj xa yo da le a gon da ge¹ ts'ıl da dın l'ıj a ko n'a n i
yıl n ke nl aj yu ge da a gan na xo sa yo dzıl da na den l'ıj yo yıln ke na l aj bil n nit' tc'i ni dn ai n yo ge da a gan no xo sa yo dzil
5 da dın l'ıj yo yıl n ke na na taj yıl n nıt' tci ni n ai n yo ge da agan na xon sa yo dzıl da dın l'ıj yo yıl n ke na na taj yil n nıt' tci ni n
a ko go di dn yıl n ke nl aj a ko bil n dıt' tc'i ni dn ai n yo ge
an ni ta ni gos ts'an yi ka' yıl dej aj yil n dıt' tc'i ni dn a ko go
bıl na gos ni' bi tc'e ta das da hi a bıl n ni tc'i ni dn

10 a ko go xa la hi bi ke' da xos tsa' n zi tci ni dn sol go zol i at dil be at dil te'i de yol te'i ni n' da le go n da ge dzil da dın l'ijn yo go zol a dil n ke dji ta tc'i ni dn go is ts'an i bi ke' tc'i ni dn a ko ko di go n de bi ke' n dez i bi ke' goz la tci ni dn' ko di' go zol be at dil na tc'i de yol tc'i ni dn da le a go n na yo 15 dził da na den l'ij yo at dil go zol at dil n ke na tc'in ta tci ni n' ako ıs ts'anni bike' na gos dla tc'inidn ko di' ni bike n dez i bi ke' goz la tei ni dn ko di' go zol be at dil naz des zol da da ge dził da den l'ij yo at dił n ke na tc'in tą a ko is ts'an bi ke' goz la tc'i ni dn ko di' n de bi ke' n de zi bi ke' goz la tc'i ni dn a ko go 20 an ni ta di dn ız li tci ni dn'

yu ge da ni' gos ts'an bi ka' da hij aj yił li a co lą ² tc'i ni dn a ko bi ke' tc'e xe dał tc'oł ka go tc'o gał tci ni dn a ko go da n da yo bi ke' tc'o gał n t'i go hi ko di' ts'i yi' be tc'el gol di' lut tc'i xi ti tc'i ni dn ko a ko n de' bi tc'i' yi li ac go 'a n i lą tc'i ni n hi ko-25 di' i tun to ba nal da ji' i tun ni lą tc'un ya ai ge tci ni n' dzą to ba nail da la ge n tc'un ya tc'i ni dn hi ko di' l'o' si kat tc'i ni dn bi n de di' ts'un nes da tc'i ni dn'

ko wa ła di' na lin to xa da dil got' n t'i go o wai tc'i ni dn hi ko di' go te'i' hil goł tci ni dn to ya hil got' ai ge nez da 30 tc'i ni dn tai n dil tci ni dn tse xal ts'ıs xe hi naz n a tci ni dn to yon de' bi tc'i' te tc'ıni ne' tc'i ni n n t'e xe e ci tc'i' te ts'ıni n de' n zi tc'ın nin a ko go nad dn gal n t'e go gonl ts'a tc'i ni dn tosni yε to xanyani dako si'an da danas got' tc'inin' bita sit da yo nal got' tei ni dn ei ta to ge gol dil is i sit da gol n dit 35 te'i ni dn'ako go ya tela xa ga do ako da jo go a dn di yılın dıt'

² Perhaps for yd hi ac yo la.

^{1 &}quot;On the horizon," is probably the correct rendering.

half way to his home "Come. sun they say. he goes up | under it very blue mountain there one stands | they two landed. as far again mountain where it is blue again they two landed," "That beyond just as far again mountain he told him they say. they two landed again," he told him they say. very blue beyond just as far again | mountain very blue they two landed again," they say. | "Then he said to him fourth time they two landed, he said to him they say. "That beyond | then earth on it they two traveled," he said to him Then | he told him, they say. his ear one sits on told him that they say.

Then "Well. her tracks I will find," he thought they say. Flute, his flute with himself with it with himself he blew they say. On the horizon mountains very blue | his flute with himself alighted they say. His woman her tracks lay there | they say. There one side long his track lay there they say. Here man his track, his flute with it with himself he blew again they say. horizon | mountain blue with himself his flute with himself alighted again they say. There woman her tracks were again theysay. Here his tracks, long his tracks lay they say. Here his flute with with himself he blew again. Far | mountain blue with himself There it landed again. woman her tracks lay they say. his tracks, long his tracks lay they say. Then | now fourthtime it was they say.

Beyond just the earth on it they two went they two went there they say. There | their tracks when he was trailing he went along they say. Then far | their tracks while he went along here canon rough (?) smoke he saw | they say. Here in there to it they two-went, his wife it was they say. Here | trail water where they camefor trail was he came, there they say. Here | water where they-came for it he came they say. Here grass stood | they say. Behindit he sat they say.

Then over there camp girl ran for they say. | Here water Water toward him she ran they say. she ran to. there he sat they say. She dipped water up they say. Stone so small he pickedup they say. Water | in toward he threw in water they say. "Who to me threw in the water?" | she thought they say. Then she lookedaround immediately she saw him they say. That water vessel | withwater which she had come for right there it lay just she ranthey say. Her father | where he sat she ran back they say. "My father. by the water Golilisi is sitting," she said they say. Then. "What would he do there. Just you say it," he said to her



tei ni dn do da ei ta gol dd si die ni na bd do nư' tei ni n' na ki dn z li yo ge dan jo go a dn ni' xa te xa ga do yd n nư' te'i ni n' ta dn z li te'i ni dn yo ge da gan nai yil do nư tei ni dn' ya tel a ci ta to ge gol dd is i si da nh due ni nai yd do nư' te'i ni n' 5 dj dn z li tei ni dn'

dan t'e go an di di yi ga la a ko da nel i ya t'e ail ni ci n dit' tc'i ni dn a ko ni ts'i des tel to yo ni ka' ts'i nil tel tc'i ni dn' a ko go an t'i nan da hi go wa yo n de hi gał e a go la ti i da da goł n dit' na doñ ka ga dn ni te'i ni dn' gol te'i dn nit' 10 tc'i ni n' bil naz des kai te'i ni n' kon ta n de bi kon ta ko wa go la tci ni n da ban ko wa ge ts'ın nes da tc'i ni n

n de batc'ın ya hi do kud da gonl si da tc'i ni n' n de de bil deda da gon t'e da go nel i ni ke' tc'i ni ni xa dela xan da i an t'i ko us ts'an si ts'a' ya dec i na bi dnl t'i lañ ke yo bi ke' xec dal go 15 ac t'i bul tc'i dn it' tci ni n' ai no li' a bi da' ko us ts'an n ju ni la gol dul us i yul tc'e aj a bi da' ai lañ ke n de da dn nut' tc'i ni dn' a ko go ta la go wa gol ze di' de ya hi ac di tc'ut' dn dut' tc'i ni dn he he n de da n di tc'i ni dn' do xañ ke da le ni gos tsan bi ka' do xa ge' a ga gol ze da da dn nut' tc'i ni dn'

20 n la le i ts'a tco nan t'an bago ni no a an da anl goci ni le an dan t'e ci bago ni' hi ta tc'i ni n ai di' da dn ya tc'i ni dn' ko di' nez da tc'i ni dn' n la le i ts'a tco nan ta n da anl na ca n di le ne gos ts'an bi ka' ta la ko wa gol ze di' a bi da' de ya n di-hi n si da a ko n ne da dn nit' tci ni n' xe xe do xa gi da le da anl 25 na ca n t'i do xañ k'e a ga go gol ze da le n nit' tci ni n'

n la le i ts'el tsok' nan t'an bi te'i' go ni do 'a da al goc i ni le ba go ni hi ta di' ni ya tci ni n xa t'e di' nez da tc'in la le i ts'el tsok nan t'an da al ne gos ts'an goc i n ni le n si ta a ko go ta la ko wa gol ze di' a bi da' ai $d\epsilon ya$ tei ni 'n' do xa k'i da 30 n di hi sıt da da bel n det' daal na ca n t'i 'n do xa k'i a ga gol ze da le n nit' tci ni n'

a ko go ga ge teo nan t'an da al na ca ni le bi te'i' go ni do a na go se' tei ni n' a ko go da da al na ca n di' do xan k'e a ga golze da le do goc i da le a ga gol ze yo n nit' te'i ni 'n' they say. "No, my father, Golilisi I say," she said again they-say. | Twice it was. "Again just you say it. Why he would do-that?" he said to her | they say. Third time it was they say. Again she said the same thing they say. | "Why, my father, by the water Golilisi sits I tell you," she said again they say. | Fourth time it-was they say.

"What she says this, well, there you see what she is talking about," he said they say. There they went. Water they came to they say. Then, 'My friend how you travel you are? Camp man man," | they said to him accustomed to come, they say. let us go back as you say," he said to them | they say. They wentback with him they say. Camp, people their camp, houses weremany they say. Right at the edge by the camp he sat down they say.

People to whom he came they did not know him they say. Man strange appearing | they were looking at they say. "What you traveling for are you?" "Here | woman from me stole where he hasbrought her his tracks I trailing | I am," he said to them they say. "That might be. Early morning here woman pretty | Golilisi they two came. Early morning, that might be her," people they-said they say. | Then "Tałakowa, where it is called I came I am," he said they say. | "Hehe," people said they say. "Not any place (?) earth on it | nowhere named that," they said they say.

"Well, eagle chief carry word to. He 'just all I see' he is-accustomed to say." | That one (?) he notified they say. There he came they say. | There he sat down they say. "Well, eagle chief, 'just all I go about' | you are accustomed to say. Earth on it 'Talakowa where it is called early morning I started' he who says | sits there," people they said they say. "Hehe, nowhere. Just all | I go about it is, nowhere is it so named," he said they say.

Then, "Well, yellow-tailed hawk chief to him take word, 'just all | I see' he is accustomed to say." They notified him. There he came they say. (?) he sat down they say. | "Well, yellow-tailed-hawk chief 'just all earth on it I see' | you are accustomed to say. That one sitting then 'Tałakowa where it is called early morning I started' | he who say sits there," they told him they say. "Notany where. Just all I go about | it is. Not any place is so called," he said they say.

Then, "Raven chief 'just all I go about' he is accustomed to say; to him send word," | they agreed they say. Then, "Just all I go-about but no place is so called. | I am not accustomed to see whereit is so called," he said they say.



a ko go te li tco nan t'an bi tc'i' go ni do a tci ni 'n' na go ze' ba go n di' na na t'a tc'i ni n an yoc di' de ya tc'i ni n hi ko di' na na ts'a nez da tc'i ni n' n la le te li tco nan t'an ne gos ts'an da ni he n'a ji goci ndile ai n sit da hi tal a ko wa 5 gol ze di' a bi da' de ya n di hi n sư da ni bil do tc'i dn dit' tci ni n xe xe ni dn nit' tci ni dn do ni' na ga da lañ ke n dit' a ni na ca da' da do ci t'a' dec gi da' hic le da' ta la ko wa' gol ze' hi bi yini t'i ge nan an na ic inl le n' 'n nit' tci ni n do da dza a gol ze da te'i ni 'n'

10 a ko go xai yo go li n ne da bɨl te'i ni 'n' do da n da yo ko go li na yil o aj i n ne da gol n nɨt' te'i ni n

a ko go dị dn n de hi ba tc'ın ya hi ci ke da xa go xe t'a n de a t'e no li da gol n ni tc'i ni 'n do di da xa di da ka' na joc go nada xe ce n de ye da di kai i da xa di bi gonl si no li da gol n ni tc'i-15 ni n do ya t'e bi gon si da da bil tc'i ni tc'i ni 'n da γa da gol ni go di dn uz li tci ni n'

n de bits'i k'en i bi ye' ken i bi a ki dan jo ni al ba vol bi lido ła' ba' ba tein va hi a dan di te'i ni n an na dai si i la a dail ni la da ki' xa go a t'i go a no xil i xa din a no xil i bil-20 te'i dn net' te'i ni 'n' gol dil es i an an no xel i da dn net' te'i ni dn da a ke' ya te be no xa gon'n ne go a no xil i bil te'i dn nit' te'i ni n na joc be da dn nit' tc'i ni n da ka' be ye' a no xư i da dn nư' tc'i ni dn go na t'a he be a no xư i da dn nư t tc'i ni dn ts'i hi go ve a no xili da dn nit' tci ni n da ka' ce ta ge hi ai ve a no xili 25 da dn nut te'i ni dn da ka' lan xol ze' hi ye a no xul i bi tsi **z**ıl te'i ni dn bi tsi zil gon tca go nal goj yo nan na dil got xa na yo dak' ki hıl go go yε no xa gonł nε go a t'i da gol n net' n ne bil il xa te'i di ka go ye no xa gonl ne' go da dn nư' tci ni dn li be ya ga ban lị th xa da kal go ye a no xư i 30 da dn nit' tei ni dn di n de go li go ba tein ya hi bi ts'i ke bi ye'k'e biak'i dan jo ni yida da desta la tc'inidn go ld es i do yo-· un go go da' tci ni n

a ko go n la le xai yo tei k'i dan jo ni bd o da' sol gez i la de dan jo ni no' hi ye ke' dan jo ni as ts'an ne dan jo ni te'i nol nil 35 yd te'i dn na' tei ni n

"Pelican chief to him send word," they agreed again they say. They sent word to him they say. He here started they say. This place | here he came. He sat down they say. "Well, pelican chief, 'earth to the end of it I see' you are accustomed to say. 'Tałakowa | where it is called early morning who sits there sits there," they told him they say. | "Hehe," I started' who says he said they say. "He did not travel on the earth," he said. "When-I was going about, not yet my wings had gaps when I was, Talakowa which is named where I saw it | I used to turn back," he said they say. "Not right here it is so named," he said they say.

Then, "Where he lives?" man asked them. "Not far. Here he came back with her," man they told they say.

Then four men those he came to, "My friend (?) some kind man he may be," they said they say. "(?) something, cards. hoop and pole, hide the ball, people they play with some kind youknow it may be," they said to him they say. | "Not any thing Ihe told them they say. Just the same know," when they askedthey say. him | fourth time it was

Men, their daughters, their sons, their wives pretty, all he haswon from them. Those he came to they told it they say. Not one from them | he misses. | They told him that. "Well, how is it does it to you? Who does it to you?" he asked them | they say. "Golilisi, he does it to us," they said they say. ["Well, what with from you when he wins does he do to you?" he asked them say. | "Hoop and pole with," they told him they say. "Cards with he does it to us," they said they say. "Hide the ball he does it to us," they said they say. "Strike a tree | with he doesit to us," they said they say. "Dice three, those with he doesit to us," | they said they say. "Cards, many called with it to us." they said | they say. "His hair when it is large valley his hair runs across | up hill when he runs with across. he winsit is," they told him | they say. " Men if they run a race with he wins from us he does it to us," | they said they say. with border of the sky horses when they run a race with he doesto us." they said they say. These men where they lived the oneshe came to their daughters, their sons, their wives pretty of them they had placed a barrier they say. Golilisi he would notsee them | they say.

Then, "Come, where women pretty you have shut up, youths | pretty, your sons pretty, women pretty turn them out," | he told-them they say.



xai yoʻ in a go no xa na xe daʻ da bił tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n djiñgo na'ai de xa gal go no xa na xe da da bił tc'i n dit' tc'i ni n n lai da hinl k'i di' bi na jonc xa yo nil di' na di dil goj da bil tc'i ni dn' ko go na jonc k'e yo na jonc yi nil

5 ko' do' na jone a tein la tein in bits'a n tsi des i go na jone a te'ın la hi bas bits'a n ts'i des i tein in

na jonc ke' ke' bi na jonc yi nil tc'i ni dn n de yil da go t'i n la hi n di yıl nan sa tci ni dn ye he dale ya tce k'i i la de danjo ni yil nanl sa tci ni n da' ko ga i ba yo goz a yo bi ts'a i tsi-10 des t'i tci ni n n la ge na jonc yi'n dil da' yoc di' da hi ya kowa ji'n ya tc'i ni dn tce ki dan ju ni tc'e n dıl ni i la n de danjo ni tce nıl n i ıs ts'an ne dan ju ni tce nil n i yınl ts'a tci ni dn n ne' naz da yo yi ta na di ts'a tci ni dn

ce le'ud dnl jonc yul ni tci ni dn n de da bi ga yi ta a na dal go 15 a n di tci ni n a co na da gonl dn del dail ni tci ni dn da gan t'e ni n di'ce le da xal e da nl jonc dail ni tci ni dn hi ko i ba yo ko wa yu n de'n ts'i des ti i gonl ts'a tci ni dn

ce le n ya leñ ke da xałe i dnł jonc bił n dit' tci ni dn do ya t'ebi gon sin ni auc t'e da bił n nit' tc'i ni dn da 'ai k'e go di dn ai-20 yil n nit' tc'i ni n da ga t'en di ce le da xa łe i dnł jonc go an nił dicni yil n nit' tc'i ni n e do bi gon sin dan di ti xa yo a gol n dit yo a ko n ke' yo da din ca n t'i a t'e yil n dit tci ni dn'

bat di da hi ya te'i ni dn na jone k'e yo (go) na dza tei ni dn a ko go di n de ba te'ın ya ni ai no hi tee ke yo hi no hi ye' ke hi 25 no hi a ke hi dan jo ni da bi ga bil da dos tse ai ji' no xi n de noli ni da no' hi ga bıl n dit' tei ni dn n la le go ze' tei ni dn da hi ya tei ni dn na joe k'e yo a ko teın ya tei ni n go k'i di' tee k'i n i i la de n i ıs ts'an n i bıl nan za tei ni dn ko ji n de sız zi yi de i nanl sa te'i ni dn n de da bi ga ai ji ne i nanl sa tei ni n bi ye-30 hın ts'a hi ce k'i i la de ıs ts'an ne bil o wa ci ne bi kon ta tei ni n n de yil da go t'i ni da bi ga yıl nanl sa tei ni n

bi go li s si n lai hin t'i ni da bi ga n tc'i nin dil gol n dut tci ni n ko ji' n ne be n tsi tsa hi da 'ai k'e go bi tc'i' n tci n nil tci ni dn n la le do nec te dan di dan jo go n di ac n de bul tc'i dn-35 nit' tc'i ni n

¹ Throughout this contest Naiyenezgani is referred to by ko or qo-, as a possessive prefix or object incorporated in the verb. The subject referring to him is tc or ts. When Golillsi is meant bi in corresponding positions is used.

"Where (sun) will be to you he comes to gamble?" he askedthem they say. "Sun | when it begins to rise to us he comes togamble," they said to him they say. "Over there | on the ridge his pole where he carries it up he shouts," they said to him. | "Here where they play najonc poles he brings."

He too poles he made they say. From him when he concealedthem poles those he made, hoop from him he hid they say.

his poles he carried they say. Place of playing najonc People lined up with him | there, that one went with him they say. Thosehe bets, girls, youths pretty, they come with him they say. its edge where it stood from him he hid himself | they say. Over there poles he put down, then here he started. By the camp they say. Girls those they turned out, he came pretty those they turned out pretty | those they turned out, women pretty he saw they say. | Man where he sat about near he came they say.

"My opponent, let us play najonc," he said they say. Men allof them among when he went around | he said it they say. "Impossible we beat you," they said they say. "Nevertheless," | he said,
"my opponent, hurry, let us play najonc," he said they say. Here
edge | house inside one was hidden he saw him they say.

you have come? Hurry, "My opponent, let us play najonc," "I do not know how | I am," he said they say. he said they say. Just that way four times he said that they say. "Nevertheless, my opponent. hurry let us play najone I tell you," he said say. "All right, although I do not know how, go on; wherever where you say | there behind you I will go it is," he said they say.

he started they say. Where najone is played In front of him he came they say. Then these people to whom he came, "Those your girls, your sons, your wives pretty all of them go down with-There your men, your people all of you," he said to them they say. "Very well," they agreed they say. He started | they say. Where najone is played there he came they say. After him girls, went with him they say. Here young men, women behind him they came they say. Men all of them that side came they say. Those he was going to bet | girls, youths, women with him they camped they say. Man his partners all of them on that side came with him they say.

He Golilisi, "Over there those lined up all of them to you Ibet," he said to him | they say. On this side people those he bet just as many to him he bet | they say. "Well, although I am not-your match anyway but I will do it," he said to him | they say.

bi na jonc nưnh kat na jonc k' e yo bas a ko ni nh ne' tei ni n n la he da xa di nad dn t'i goh n nit' tei ni n' ts'i na jonc i da ko-xa yo di be i de jonc n de go ts' un zi da' do ko xa yo nac n ta tei ni n bi ha' da n ta tei ni dn n la he bas e da dn a goh n nt' 5 tei ni dn da' da ni da dn'a bih te'i dn nit' tei ni n di dn uz li tei ni n da bi da dn a te'i ni n n la he ga dn ni goh n nt' tei ni dn i des bas te'i ni n di bi ba se bun da go li te'i ni n bi zat xaih t'i te'i ni n bun tei go li te'i ni n xun da te'i ni n ba se da na di yoh n t'e tei ni dn

10 yi des bas te'i ni dn gon tse yonl joc tei ni dn bi k'i ke' go ba se bi te'i' teonl l'ij tei ni dn ba se n i il ki des dont' n la yo n xak n ts'a go n kej da n da go n kej te'i ni n na jone il ka' da dinnes l'on yo da bin ga bi ts'a ts'inl ta tei ni n

a γa ci na joj la xa go an la gol n dư' tọi ni dn dan t'e go 15 de dan t'e hi na jonj ga bư tọ'i dn nư' tọ'i ni n n ba se da xin dan de bi zat da xainl t'i n t'e da nil kol n t'e dan na jone a ga t'e le ga do njo de ai yi an sul la bil tọ'i dn nư' tọi ni n

n ko na jonc a tc'ın la n i bi ts'a n ts'i desin i bi tc'i' xatci nil tci ni n na jonc ke yo n tc'i ni kat' tc'i ni n n de' ka t'e hi 20 bi n da' i jonc le bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni dn la' ts'ını ke go al za litci go ıl ki des do go al za tci ni n la li dal li yo da da di k'ız go do ıl ki des do go da al za tci ni n n la le da xa di nad dn t'i biltc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n a ji' da hi ya tci ni n di do lel n nit' tc'i ni n ts'i ıl ki des do ni hıc tc'i ni n ai da ka tc'i ni n ai da a gai-25 da lın ne ni naj n ta tc'i ni n

xa yo ba se on a gol n nư' te'i ni n xa yo ci bil te'i ni te'i ni n go te'i' da hi ya te'i ni n ba se go t'a si'a te'i ni n go ta yo ne' o dol ni te'i ni n go da ba se yi te'i' di des ni te'i ni dn bi ts'a yi go di he ya ba se ni do ye del ni da tei ni dn da te'e go t'a na dil ni 30 bi ts'a ye go ba se an da xo dal go do ye dil ni da teun ni dn n la di' n na dza te'i ni dn da' an ni ta ba se bi ka o tei dol ni te'i ni n ba se ni go t'a di xa te'i' a tei ni n ko' n te'i nl ne' te'i ni n ko gat'e hi ni bi ba se le n de da'n t'e go n ba se do n jo da yil n det' te'i ni dn n la le ga dn ni gol n det' te'i ni dn

His pole he threw down; where najonc is played, hoop there he put down they say. | "Well, which one you pick out," he saidto him they say. "Stick, najonc pole anyone (?) | this with theywill play," he thought. Then anyone he took up | they say. Afterhim he took it up they say. "Well, hoop you take it up," hetold him | they say. Then, "Just you take it up," he said to him they say. Four times it was | they say. Just he took it up they say. "Well, as you say," he said to him they say. | He rolled it they say. This his hoop its eyes it had they say. Its tongue it ran out | they say. Its nose it had they say. It was alive they say. Hoop was breathing | it was they say.

He rolled it they say. First he threw they say. After him hoop | toward it he threw they say. That hoop broke apart. Over there "nxak," | when he heard it fell. Short distance it fell they say. Pole on each other where it was tied | all of them from it broke they say.

"There, my pole what you did to it?" he said they say. "Your-hoop is really alive. | Its tongue it constantly runs out. It keeps-winking its eyes. Do not have that kind of najone. They are not good, | those you have," he said to him they say.

Here poles those he made from him those he hid to him hedrew out | they say. Where najonc is played he threw them down they say. "The people this sort | their najonc game is," he said they say. One pretty was made, red; | straight it was made they-say. The other every way bent, | it was not straight it was made they say. "Come, one of them take up," he said | they say. There he started they say. "This will be," he said they say | Stick straight one, one painted red he took up they say. Then bad looking | that he took up they say.

"Where hoop you put it?" he asked him they say. "Somehe said to him they say. | Toward it where I guess," they say. Hoop his blanket fold lay they say. In his blanket fold he reached they say. Down hoop toward it he reached they say. Away from him | it moved, that hoop, he did not touch it they say. In vain to it he reached again. | From him hoop when it moved away he did not touch it they say. Over there he came back Then now hoop for it he reached in they say. That hoop fromhis clothing he drew it out they say. Here he put it down they say. "This kind | their hoop will be when people are. Your hoop is notgood," he said they say. "Well, as you say," he said to him theysay.

ba se da cna tci ni dn bił tsi des baz tc'i ni dn da ko tse yo nłjoj ał ki da ta do ni de gol ze' hi bi k'e dna go yeł yon deł tc'i ni dn
bi tis go go na jonj tc'i des jonj bi tis go go ba se n i bi tc'i' xa dzodzi tci ni dn bi tes go bił tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n go ba se n i go na jonc
5 de a ko ta bi ke' dol t'o' tc'i ni dn ko ba'o tcenł ne' tci ni dn a γa
n de xe n go hel de n det' tc'i ni dn da ła hi di do dail t'o n' go
a li tcil i tc'i ni dn ye go tc'i' ni xe ts'a hi n i ba tsos ba tc'i ni n
a wa ci n de go da bi ga nanł są tc'i ni n

ba tsos ba go n la le ai si te'i sınl ni li ca xa sını ba ni 10 da bi ga da xon t'e he da bi k'e yo da be nel t'e go n te'i' na ni nil gol n det' te'i ni n n la le bil te'i dn net' te'i ni n bi tc'i' da bi ga te'i ni dn na ts'in tein dil teinin n ko ji go bil na te'i des jone na yonł joc i tse' ał ki da ta do ni de des bas bi ke dn a bi najone go yel yo n dil tei ni n i k'i ke yo na teol joj bi tis go i tei des-15 joj tei ni n bi tes go go ba se n i bi te'j' xa na dzo dzi ba se yi ke' na da xo ta tci ni n a ko go go na jone n i ba o na tcol n de' tci ni n a ya n ne n go hol le n dit' tci ni dn

xo sını ba ni be ci tc'i' ne xe sını dza ni n la łe ai ca da bi k'e yu n te'i' na ni nil n na do nit' tci ni n 20 da bi k'e yo n te'j' na ni nil gol n nit te'i ni n a o bil te'i dn nit' tc'i ni n da bi k'e yo da gan nel t'e go go tc'i' nai nil te'i ni n bił na tci des ioni tc'i ni n ba i tsi des baz i des joj ko teo onl coz go ba na tsos ba te'i ni n n gạ n den go hil le ni tei ni n da bi ga ba na ts'os ba tc'i ni n n la ci go tem go ba tcoc bil i 25 na di hil se go te'i go te'i ni n ta dn ız li tei ni dn

a ko go ai ca xo sını ba ni be citc'i xedan i bılda xonı t'e xe goł n nit' tci ni n da bi ga n tc'i' na ni nil da bi k'e vo na tei n dil ba tcoł bił n i da bi ga bi te'i' n da te'i n dil tc'i ni n a ko go bił na te'i des coz te'i ni n go ba se n i yd ol jone te'i ni n xa dzo dzi tci ni n bi tis go bił te'i dn net' bi tc'i' ba' o na tcolteinin go na jone ni base bike dol t'o' te'inin n de' tci ni n ye go tcį" ne xe dza n i da bi ga go tc'į' go na dades sa tc'inin a ko go didn uz li tc'inin ye tc'e a goniit' tcinin ako go aini na jonj ni nlaiyo nnil gol nnit' tc'inin 35 n wa yo n te'i n nil te'i ni n

n la le ts'i' xo xo go yd n nit' tc'i ni n n la le bd tc'i dn nut' tci ni n bi yi go hi yo ya go o go Get go ba al za tc'i ni n ai da

Hoop he held they say. He rolled with it they say. Just he first threw the pole. Already hoop that called when it was on it it wentthey say. Beyond his pole he played. Beyond he spoke they say. "Beyond," he told it they say. That histo it hoop, his pole | here behind it it jumped they say. He he won they say. "That man (?)," he said they say. Only once not jump on | they did to each other they say. With to him thosehe bet he won they say. That side all they came they say.

When he had won them, "Well, these to me you bet, these from me you won | all of them just so many just the same as many to you I bet," | he said they say. "Well," he said to him they say. All of them to him | he bet they say. This side with him he played-najonc again they say. He rolled again. | He threw the pole first. Already hoop resting on it when he threw the pole | was carried along they say. After him he threw the pole. Beyond he threw it | they say. "Beyond," his hoop to it he spoke again they say. | Then his pole hoop on it it fell they say. Then | he won from him again they say. "That (?)," he said they say.

"Well, these from me those you won with to me those you bet just so many | just as many to you I bet," he said again they say. "Well, | just so many to you I bet," he said to him they say. "All right," he said to him | they say. Just so many iust the same to him he bet they say. With him he played najonc again they say. he rolled the hoop. He threw his pole. He after him he threw his pole then he won from him they say. "(?)," he said they say. All of them he won again they say. Here to him thosehe won went across to him they say. Three times it was they say.

Then, "Those from me those you won with to me vou bet with them altogether | just as many to you I bet." he said to him they say. All of them to him | he bet. Those he won all of them tohim he bet they say. Then with him he played najone they say. His hoop he threw the pole with they say. His hoop to it he spoke they say. "Beyond," he said to it they say. His pole hoop jumped they say. From him he won again they say. With to him those he bet all of them to him moved across they say. fourth time it was they say. With it in vain he did it, they say. "These these poles here put," he said to him they say. Over there he put them down they say.

"Well, post let us strike," he said to him they say. "All right," he said to him | they say. He one he is to strike deep when he dug for him it was made they say. That | he one he is to strike just on-



ko hi teigo hi da bi ka yo o a go al za te'inin n la le ni i tse gol ni teinin da ni i ts'e bul te'ini te'inin da ni i ts'e gol ni te'inin da ni i ts'e bul te'inin di dn uz li te'inin a ko go bi yi te'i na nal got te'inin a ko go ts'i o a ni yiz go te'inin 5 t'a ji o na kat teinin ts'i da on a n t'e te'inin i k'i ke go ts'i bi te'i na teol got tsiz go n la yo yu ge bil na te'int del n la yo o teunt del teinidn ko be ba go ts'un nes na te'ini dn ba tsos ba ni be tsi xes da ni da bi k'e yo go te'i nain dil ni da bi ga ba na tsoz ba teini dn

10 a ko go ba tsos ban i be tsi xes da ni da xon t'e he da bi k'e yo n te'i' na ni nil na gol do nit' te'i ni n e bil te'i dn nit' te'i ni n di ni gos ts'an bi ka' na dji' hal ta a dan t'e hi da bi ga tos ye yi des t'i' tei ni n go te'i' ye na xe dza go a gonl i tei ni n bil an nego da xo dji' hi be naz a go yi des t'i' i la tei ni n n la le ts'il tsi xu go 15 ka go nl n ne go an di te'i ni n go tei ta das da hi gol na gol ni' tei ni n n wai i ba yo si an i da xo dji' i da bi ga gol yo ji' tei ni n wai ai a t'e a go xol ze' hi gol n dit' te'i ni n da bi ga gol tee n da ai yan la tei ni n n la le da bi ga kon ji gol n nit' te'i ni dn na dji'n i a da xol ze n i da bi ga teo n ji' tei ni dn a ko go ba' go ts'i-20 nes na tei ni n ye go tei na xe dza ni da bi ga ba na ts'os ba te'i ni n

ai ca xo san ba ni da bi ke yo n te'i' na ni nil na gol do nat' te'i ni n go a ni da do na teon bi da gol do tei ni n da xon t'e he bi te'i' na te'i n dil te'i ni dn l'e go go na ta he be i dn tsel be al te'i ne xen tac na gol do nat te'i ni n n la le bil te'i dn nat' te'i ni n di na li di ye a t'i la tei ni n go na da he yan a te'i ni n di na li di ye a t'i la tei ni n go tee ta das da hi gol na gol ni' tei ni n an na li di ye a t'i an ba' le yi' yal nad di tsa bi jagos la i zize i yi' al na yil nil go ye gon l ne go a t'i gol n dit' tei ni n a ko go lañ ke ga dn ni bil te'i dn nat' tei ni n an ku ye 30 la' ba tei n ne' tei ni n bi k'ij i a t'e ni ko go go k'ij i at' dza te'i ni n a ko go be ba go ts'i nes na te'i ni n di go te'in nan dal i da xon t'e he ba na tsos ba tei n in

da bi k'e yo n tc'i' na ni nil na gol do nat' tci ni n n la le biltc'i dn nat' fci ni n ce da k'a' ta ge a yan la dla tc'i ni dn ye 35 ka' na xe dza tci ni dn n la le ai ca xo sanl ba ni da bi k'e yo

it standing it was made they say. "Well, you, first," he said to him they say. "Just you first," he said to him they say. "Just you first," he said to him | they say. "Just you first." said to him they say. Fourth time it was they say. Then he to it he ran they say. Then post which stood he struck they say. Backward he fell they say. Post just stood yet they say. Afterhim post to it he ran. He struck it. Here forward with it he fell. There he fell they say. He with it won from him they say. Thosehe won, those he bet just so many to him those he had bet he won from him | they say.

Then those he won from him, those he bet, "Just so many as many | to you I bet," he said again they say. "All right," he said to him they say. This earth on it seeds mixed differentkinds all of them water vessels with he put in a line they say. To him with them betting again he did to him they say. Different kinds | those are named as many as he had lost he had in a line they say. Well, if he misses he will loose to him he said it they say. told him again | they say. His ear one that sat Over there border one standing their names all of them he called they say. "There he said to him that one it is thus it is called." All of them he told him (?) he caused they say. "Well, all of them call by name," he told him they say. Those seeds | what they arethey say. all of them he called Then from him Those he bet to him, all of them he won they say. again they say.

"Those from me you won just as many to you I bet," he saidagain | they say. His wife he had not won yet it continued they say. Just that many to him he bet they say. "Night hide the ball with let us play, with it | we will compete with each other," he said again they say. "Well," he told him they say. Then night he came tohim they say. His ball he brought they say. This gopher they say. His ear one sat on told him again they say. "That one. gopher with he does it. That one for him un-His cheeks' | sacks derground goes back with it. in them ing it from side to side he wins with it he is," he told him | they say. Then, "Well, as you say," he told him they say. That one his property something he gave him they say. The one who helped him now for him he did it | they say. Then with it he won from him they say. These. those he bet | just so many | he won from him they say.

"Just as many to you I bet," he said again they say. "Well," he said to him they say. Dice, staves three he had made they say. With them he came to him again they say. "Well, these from me



n tơ 'ị' na ni nil na go do nư' tơ i ni n n la le bi tơ i dn nư' tơ i nin an go tơ 'e ta das da hi go l na na go l ni' tơ i ni n an ye de ka' yo go bi bưn di ye ye a t' ị an bi k'e go ye gon l n ne go l n nit tơ i ni n n jo lañ ke bi l tơ i dn nư tơ i ni n go be bư i tơ i des kat an 5 ko ye ba la' ba tơ n ne' tơ i ni n a ko go go k' u j i at dza tơ i ni n ye gon l ne n i de ko ta be ba go tơ i nes na tơ i ni n ye go tơ 'ị' ne xe dza ni da xon t'e he ba na tsos ba tơ i ni n

a ko go da ka' łan xol ze hi ye ka na xe dza tc'i ni n n la łe ai ca xo sinł ba ni da bi k'e yo n tc'į na ni nil na gol do nit' tci ni n 10 da ka' łan be ba na go ts'i nes na tci ni n a γa n de he n go hi le na do nut' tci ni n

a ko go bi tsi zil gol ld ıs i bi tsi ya ci be is l'o go a yın la la tci ni n nai ye nez ga ne an do' bi tsi zıl yai is l'o bi tsi ya ci go ai yın la la tci ni n ai be ka na xedza tc'i ni n n la le bil tc'i dn nit' 15 tc'inin di ca xo sınlı banı da bi ga da bi k'ε yo nanı i ta' n te'i' ai da bil n te'i' na ni nil gol n det' te'i ni n n jo bel te'idn nit' te'i ni n n la le n di da hil ki di' n tac goł n nit' te'i ni n bitsizil ye ka xedza go andi tc'inidn nla le ni its'e ntsizil ke' i 'at' gol n dit' tc'i ni n do da ni i ts'e go n tsi zil ke' i 'at' 20 bel te'i dn net' te'i nin do da da ni na gol do nit' te'i ni n da da ni n tse n tsi zil k'e' i 'at' bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n go tce ta das da hi goł na gol ni' tci ni n da bi į ts'ε goł ni tci i ni n ni do da goł ni te'i ni dn di dn uz li te'i ni dn

te'e a goł ni go bi tsi zil k'e' į 'a tei ni n yo ya go hil goj 25 xa na yo dak yo nan na dil ge go ye ka gonł ne go an di te'i ni n bi tsi zd n i go da hd te tei ni n nal go ji na des γot de xa na ji bi tsi zd n i nes 'at' te'i ni n n la łe ni hi cą goł n dit' te'i ni n a ko go go tsi zil ke' te'į 'ą tei ni n go tsi zil go da' hil te tei ni n nal go ji yo nan na des got te'i ni n xa na yo dak' ki hd got tei-30 ni n xa dak' d n di yo nes at' tei ni n bi hi da bi ko ge nes 'at' te'i ni n a ko go be ba go ts'į nes na tei ni n a γa xa n de hen go hi le n dit' te'i ni n a ko go go te'į' ye n na xe tsą n i da bi ga ba tsos ba te'i ni n 'al ba go tsan nes na tei ni n

n la le lị be d xad dn tạc gol n nit' tơi ni n' di ni gọs tsan 35 bi ka ban lị be d xa dn tạc gọi n dư' tơi ni n' n la le bil tơi dn nư' those you won just as many | to you I bet," he said again they say. "All right," he said to him they say. That one his ear one that satthey say. "That one in the staves | king-bird told him again on he does it, that one with his leadership he wins," with him they say. | "All right, come on," he said to him theysaid to him say. Then with him he played dice. That one his property to him he gave they say. Then on his side he did it they say. The one he won with just he with him he won from him they say. With to him | those he bet he won they say.

Then many staves called with he came to him again they say. "Well, | these from me those you won just as many to you I bet," he said again they say. | Many staves with he won from him again they say. "That one (?) ," | he said they say.

Then his hair Golilisi back of his neck being tied up he arrangedhe too it | they say. Naiyenezgani his hair was tied neck | he arranged it they say. That with he came to him again they say. "Well," he said to him | they say. "These from me thosevou won all of them just as many your wife among them | to you those with to you I bet," he said to him they say. "All right," he said to him | they say. "Well, this ridge we will come to," said they say. His hair with when he came to him he said it theysay. "Well, you first, your hair | undo," he said they say. "No, you first, your hair undo," | he said to him they say. "No, justyou," he said again they say. "No (?), just you | first your hair he said to him they say. His ear one that sat | told him they say. "Just he first," he said they say. "You not," he said they say. Fourth time it was they say.

In vain when he said it his hair he undid they say. valley | up again across when he runs he wins that way he does they say. His hair they say. Valley down it ran it ran across where it started up | his hair reached they say. "Well, you I guess," he said they say. | Then his hair he undid they say. His hair down they say | valley across it went they say. Up the other side it ran up they say. | Up halfway it stopped they say. He just itsfoot 1 it reached | they say. Then with it from him he won theysay. "That one (?)," | he said they say. Then to him those he bet all of them he won from him they say. All from him he won they say. "Well, horses with let us race." he said they say.

earth on it its border horses with we will race," he said they say.



¹ The literal meaning may be "just its stream."

tc'i ni n bi bi lị' gon li go a gol ni tc'i ni n a ko go ko hi go lị' et di go a gol n ni tci ni n' go tce ta das da hi gol na gol ni' tc'i ni n n ta djuñ go na 'ai n ta bi lị' bi tc'ị' bun ka n da gol n dit' tc'i-ni n go bi tc'ị' tci de ya tc'i ni n'

5 go ta ba tc'ın ya tc'inin cita n li la' ca tce xenl te bil tc'i-dn nıt' tc'inin go tce ta das da hi gol na gol ni' li di hi bili' n di' ai la' do da bili' da ya ka' ye na ga hi da bili' li dıl xıl i iya hi go' bi t'a da ts'il Gai i ai da bili' da al ye na ga gol n dıt' tc'inin li hai yo do la' cili' ba ol ni da hi hi al n di gol n dıt' 10 tci ni n

bi ko wa yo n de' da hi ya tei ni n ai di' li' li Gai yi ts'i yo los tei ni n ko' di ei li' ai al n di ei gol n du' tei ni n go tee ta dasda hi ai do da gol ni tei ni n ai bi ga ai do da bil tei dn nut' tei ni n da n li i al due ni bil te'i dn nut' tei ni n n la yo n de' 15 o nai i loz te'i ni n'

ai di' lị' li tei i te'n na yo los tei ni n go tee ta das da hi ai do da na gol do nư te'i ni n' da bi li i bi xon ket gol ni tei ni n' yu n de' o nai yi los te'i ni n

ai di' lị' li tso gi te'i na yo los te'i ni n' go tce ta das da hi 20 ai do da na gol do nư' te'i ni dn dan li i bư n ni gol ni te'i ni n n la yon de' o nai yi loz tei ni n' ai di' lị' do l'ư ji te'un na yo los te'i ni n a ko go go tce ta das da hi ai do da bil n ni gol n nư' te'i ni n' dan li i bư n ni gol n nư' tei ni n ci ta da be nan da hi dan ni li i ai no xoc ket' bil te'i dn nit n la yon de' da nai dn loz 25 te'i ni dn

ai di' hi' dd xd i i ya go bin ta' da tsd gai yi te'i na yo los go te'i' te'i ni n a ko go go tee ta das da hi go te'i' xat dzi te'i ni n ai yi da bi li'i ail i gol n nt' te'i ni n ai yi bd n di gol n dit' te'i ni n' a ko go ci ta ai yi bil te'i dn nit te'i ni n

30 go goi nai hil te go lil is hi go tc'i ne he ts'a' yo goi nal got' tc'i ni n bi n de yil go t'i ni la tc'i ni n bi li' da bi ga go li' tc'i ni n ko ni bil da go tc'i t'i ni da bi ga bi li' go li tc'i ni n' a ko go n de li' bil o hi ke ni' bi ka' ban yo li ye nil xa di ka yo n de li bil da ts'i hil tel

he said to him | they say. He his horse when he had it he said it they say. Then he his horse being none he said it theytold him they say. | "Your father, His ear that sat on go," he said to him your father his horse to him for it theysav. | Then to him he started they say.

His father to him he came they say. "My father, your horse to me loan." he said to him | they say. His ear one who sat "Horses four his horses | those. Those not histold him. some very own horses. On the sky with one he travels just his horse. black | small his forehead white spot that just his horse, everywhere with it he travels." he told him they say. "Horses where not one my horses; look good those you speak of," he saidto him | they say.

His stable in it he started they say. There horse white "Here that led out | they say. my horse, I suppose you mean," His ear one that sat, | "That he said they say. not." he said That because. "That not," he said to him | they say. they say. "Just your horse I meant." he said to him they say. he led him back they say.

Then horse red he led out again they say. His ear one sat on, "That | not," he told him again they say. "Just his horse ask himfor," he said to him they say. | Inside he led him again they say...

Then horse yellow he led out again they say. His ear one thatsat, | "That not," he told him again they say. "'Just your horse,' tell him," he told him they say. | In there he led him back they say. Then horse blue he led out again | they say. Then his ear one saton, "That not, tell him," he told him | they say. "'Just yourhorse,' tell him," he said they say. "My father just with the oneyou go | just your horse that I ask you for," he said to him. There in he led him again | they say.

horse black small his forehead white spot he led outthey say. Then his ear to him again to him one sat on "That just his horse he does," he told him they say. "'That one,' tell him," he said to him they say. Then "My father, that one," he told him they say.

Then he rode him back, Golilisi to him where he came, he rodeback | they say. His people his partners were many they say. Their horses they had | they say. He those who wereall of them they say. Then people his partners all their horses they had horses with where theyhorses they rode, earth on it its border were going to race | people horses with him they rode.

da' da dza bil la na tc'i tac tc'i ni n go lil si ni' i ts'e gol ni tc'i ni n' go tce ta das da hi gol na gol ni' tc'i ni n' ni i ts'e lanl daxol ye da' do da gol ni tc'i ni n da bi an ts'e gol ni tc'i ni n ai
bi ga a gol tc'an di tc'i ni n' ni i ts'e bil tc'i ni tc'i ni n' do da
5 gol ni tc'i ni n ni' i ts'e gol ni tc'i ni n da dan ni i ts'e bal tc'i ni
tc'i ni n' do da gol ni tc'i ni n' da ni i ts'e bil tc'i ni n
a ko go di dn az li' tc'i ni dn da tc'e a gol ni go tc'i ni n

a ko go bi lị bil da his got tc'i ni n da do an da ci bi l'a tc'i tc'i ngal tc'i ni n a ko go lị bil hil gol go tc'o 'ị n t' e tc'i ni n 10 da' bi ke' lị gol da his got tc'i ni n bi bi zol go li tc'i ni n ye 'at dil ye de yol yo lị bil hil go lạ tc'i ni n' ko do' go zol go li tc'i ni n ts'a ji' lị bi lil gol go tc'o 'in ji' yo li gol xil gol tc'i ni n ka din yo do xa k'i da tc'i ni n

da lan za yo bi zol a dil ye at dil n ke na yın ta la tc'i ni n 15 ko go zol da a ko a dil n ke na tc'ın ta tc'i ni n ai di' tc'e xadın yo ts'i dez i do xa k'i da tc'i ni n

ai di' bi zol ye na at dil nai ye na de yo la tc'i ni n da la an goda yo n za yo bi zol at dil ye n ke na 'n ta la tc'i ni n ko go zol be at dil na tc'i di tsol tci ni dn a ko go zol at dil 'n ke na tc'ın ta 20 tc'i ni n kat di yo tc'e tsi dez i tc'i ni n do xa k'i da tc'i ni n a ko go bi zol go ta dn ız li

a ko go dị dn i le go bi zol ye at dil na de yol la tc'i ni n n za yo 'at dil 'n ke na yen tạ la tc'i ni n ko do' go zol be at dil naz des zol tc'i ni n da 'a ku go zol at dil n ke na tc'en ta tc'i ni n 25 a ko go dị dn ez li tci ni n ka den yo na ts'i des dal ts'i des i ni da n za yo lị bil da dil got' go ts'enl ts'a tc'i ni n ko di' lị' gol daxes ta go zol be at dil tsi dez zol tc'i ni dn lị bil li gol i bi tes o
bat dị yo go zol at dil n ke tc'en ta tc'i ni n n lai ke go da hel ket' ji
lị gol xas got' tc'i ni n

30 ai da' ai golil sini da go k' d di' li bul xil wol tc'ini dn n de bul da go tc'i t'ini koj n ne hin t'i tc'inin ai da' n la cine go gol lu si n de yul da go t'ini al do' xen t'i tc'inin go di da xul-

right then with them they bantered each other they say. "You first," he said to him | they say. His ear Golilisi. they say. "You first when you banter each other, no," he told him they say. "Just he first," he told him they say. That | because he told him that they say. "You first," he said to-"No," | he said to him "You they say. they say. first," he told him | they say. "Just you he said to him they say. "No," he told him they say. "Just you first," he told him theysay. Then fourth time it was they say. In vain he said it to him they say.

horse with him started running they say. Then Not long he after he left | in vain he looked for him they say. Then horse withhim when he was running he saw him still they say. Then after him horse ran with him they say. He his flute he had they say. Withwhere he blew it horse ran with him they say. it | with himself He too his flute he had | they say. Here horse when he ran withwas running with him him when he saw him horse In front of him was no one they say.

In a short time his flute with himself with it with himself he-had landed they say. | He his flute just there with himself he-landed they say. There in vain in front of him | he looked. Therewas no one they say.

There his flute with it again with himself he had blown again At a great distance | far his flute with himself they say. his flute | with with himself he blewhe had landed they say. He. There his flute with himself he landed they say. again they say. In front of him in vain he looked they say. There was no one theysay. Then his flute third time was.

Then fourth time when it was to be his flute with with himself he had landed again he had blown again they say. | Far with himself with himself | he blew again they say. He. too. his flute with with himself they say. Right over there his flute he landed say. Then four times it was they say. In front of himself he lookedagain. He saw him | far horse when he was riding he saw him they-Here horse ran after him. His flute with with himself say. the one was running with him beyond him they say. Horse his flute he landed in front of him with himself they say. there on a ridge horse ran with him they say.

Then that Golilisi behind him horse ran with him they say. People | his partners on this side were in a line they say. Then on yonder side | Golilisi people his partners too were in line they-



k'ıd dji' lị gol xas got' ji' n de da gonl ts'a tc'i ni n a ko go n waci ne go lư si yil da go t'i ni go lư si a t'i an li bư lư wol da dn it' tc'i ni n ai da' ư na ji n da n'a' tc'i ni n ai da' bi tc'i li gol lư gol tc'i ni n nai nes ga ni a t'i n de da gol n nit' tc'i ni n 5 bư da go tc'i t'i ni a dan di tc'i ni n' a ko go lị gol nal got' a ko gol nal got nai nes ga ni a t'i tc'i ni n ai da' gol lư si n i lị tc'e ai li tc'i ni n go k'ư d di go lị bil nal dloj tc'i ni dn a γa xan de he n go hi le n dư' tc'i ni dn ko di be ba na go ts' n nes na tc'i ni dn

n la le n to'i na xes sa da la hi di n to'i n na his sa gol n dit' 10 to'i ni dn n la le bil to'i dn nit' to'i ni n ne gos ts'an bi ka' ban il xa dn t'ao na gol do' nit' to'i ni dn' n la le bil to'i dn nit' to'i ni n' yil da go t'i ni yil nanl sa to'i ni n ko ni bil da go to'i t'i ni ko ji ne ts'iz zi cin de n de n nanl sa to'i ni dn' n la le go se' to'i ni dn n de da ts'i hil tel ko bil da go to'i t'i ni go lil is i yil da go t'i ni 15 n de o ts'i hi tel to'i ni n'

ai dạ' da ts'ą ge ni i ts'e gol n nư' tc'i ni n a ko go go tce ta das da hi do da gol n nư' tci ni n' i ts'e' das xol ge la' a gonl ni n di gol n dư' tc'i ni n' ai bi ga ni i ts'e' bil tc'i dn nư' tc'i ni n do da da ni i ts'e gol n dư' tc'i ni n do da ni i ts'e' bil tc'i dn nư' 20 tc'i ni n do da da ni i ts'e gol n nư tc'i ni n ni' da ni i ts'e das hd get bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n a ko go dị dn ưz li' tc'i ni n tc'e a gol ni go tc'i ni n'

go bi da his got' kat di' da his got' te'i ni n da n za go hilwol ji' bi la te'i te'i n gal da a ji ja' te'o i n t'e te'i ni n ko di' 25 bi ke' da ts'is got' te'i ni n' hil gol go te'o i n yo te'ol wol te'i ni n

dza di' bi zol ye at dil des sol dla teinin ko al do' da gate'ın t'e te'inin go zol go li te'inin go zol be a dil te'i de yol te'inin' n zat yo bi zol at dil n ke na yın ta at dil n ke yın ta la te'ini dn ko di' bi ke' go zol be at dil ts'i des zol te'inin bi zol 30 at dil n ke n ta lañ k'e yo go zol at dil n ke te'ın ta te'inin

ko di' bi zo le at dil na des zol la tc'i ni n ko do' go zol be at dil na ts'i des zol tc'i ni n a ko bi zol at dil n ke n ta lαñ k'e-yo go zol at dil n ke na tc'in ta tci ni n ko di' bi zol ye at dil

say. Then this ridge horse where it ran with him people saw him they say. Then on that side | Golilisi his partners, "Golilisi he horse runs with him," | they said they say. Then on both sides were crowds they say. Then toward them horse ran with him theyit is," "Naiyenezgani people said they say. His partners they say. Then horse ran back with him. There | he ranback. Naiyenezgani it was they say. Then Golilisi horse in vain he did it they say. Behind him horse trotted with him "That (?) | (?) after," he said they say. He this with from him he won again they say.

"Well, to you I bet again. Just once more to you I bet." he said to him | they say. "All right," he said to him they sav. "Earth on it its border | we will run a race," he said again they say. "All right," he told him they say. His partners went with him theysay. He, his partners this side where he stood people came they-"All right." they all said they say. | People went. partners. Golilisi his partners people went they say.

Then, "Right here you first," he said to him they say. Then his ear one sat on, "No," said to him they say. "First do not go if he tells you," he said to him they say. That because, "You first," he told him they say. "No, just you first," he told him they say. "No, you first," he told him they say. "No, just you first," he said to him they say. "You, just you first you run," he told him they say. Then fourth time it was they say. In vain he said it to him they say.

Then he started to run. Ahead of him he started running theysay. Long time where he was running | after him in vain he looked. Just here and there (?) he still saw him they say. Then | after him he started to run they say. Where he was running, where he saw him he was running they say.

his flute with it with himself he had blown There they say. He did the same thing | they say. His flute he had they say. His flute with it with himself he blew they say. Far his flute withhe landed, with himself he had landed they say. him Then after-His flute him his flute with with himself he blew they say. with himself where he had landed his flute with himself he landed they say.

Here his flute with himself he had blown again they say. He too his flute with | with himself he blew again they say. There his flute with himself where he had landed, | his flute with himself he landed they say. There his flute with with himself | he had-



na des sol la tc'i ni n da la an go n da yo n za yo bi zol n ke na n ta la tc'i ni n bi k'i di' go zol bε at dil na ts'i des zol tc'i ni n bi bi zol at dil n ke n ta lañ k'e yo go zol at dil n ke natc'ın ta tc'i ni n a ko go di dn ız li' tc'i ni n kat di yo ts'i dez gal 5 te'inin dan dage n za yo da dil got' te'inin a gan t'e go da hilgıt dji' da xan ne go a na si yo hil gol te'i ni n go ts'ınl ts'a tc'i ni n

ko di' go zol be at dil ts'i des zol tc'i ni n bat di yo go zol at dil n ke tc'i n ta di' yu ge da ts'ıs got' da xıl k'i di bi tc'i' ts'i-10 des zil tci ni n ai da' bi hi go k'i di' bi go lilıs i tc'e xe ta a t'i-gol do tc'i ni n da' da xıl k'i dji' xa ts'ıs got' tc'i ni n'

n de il na ji'n dan'a tc'i nin ko di' da da ge a ko go tc'i ni n n la di' ts'is go dji' n de da goni sa go lil ıs i n de da gol n nit' te'i ni n yil da go t'i ni a dan di tc'i ni n' 15 bi te'i yo ya n kej dal got' te'i ni n do da n de bil da go te'i t'i ni do an da na nes ga ni a t'i da gol n dit' tc'i ni n $n d\epsilon$ bil da gola dan di te'i ni n do da an do da go lel es i a t'i dadn nư trời ni n' da xan ne go bi tr'j' teol gol tei' a da gol ni tr'i ni n bil da gol te'i t'i ni do da do da an na nes ga ni a t'i da gol ni 20 tc'inin' bil da go tc'i t'ini a dan ni tc'inin' a ko go n ne d na ji da xan 'a yo n de' bi k'ıj o te'ol got' na nes ga ne a t'i tc'i ni n a ko go go lılısini go ke denda ge da hıl k'ıd dn di xa ya tc'inin do bil da go jo da a ko go go lil is i yil da go ti ni n de ai da' na nes ga ni yil da go t'i ni bil da go jot'

25 na nes ga ni go nes na tc'a de go a dd got' go go nes na tc'i ni n go ld s i n i ba go nes na tc'i ni n a ko go ni gos tsan bi ka' n ye'go an na til n i da bi ga ba tsos ba tci ni n da ko hi go al z li tc'i ni n

a ko go go a n i na tsoz ba go bił naj dec taj te'i ni n n wai 30 n de bił da go te'i t'i ni bi ts'i' ke bi ye' ke bi a ki dan jo ni da bi ga ba xo binł n i ba na tsos ba yo bił da go jo xa i xe ye ε xa ki lą nada lan da goł n dit' te'i ni n dą' bi ts'ą naz des ts'a te'i ni n go 'a bił naz des taj te'i ni n go tso ye da lan da ts'ın dza te'i ni n as tsan na dle hi go tso ye ba na tsın ts'ą tei ni n

¹ Probably misheard for ba.

blown again they say. Long distance, far his flute with himself he had landed they say. Behind him his flute with it with himself he blew again | they say. He his flute with himself where he hadlanded. his flute with himself he landed again | they say. fourth time it was they say. In front of him he looked | they say. In the distance, far he was running they say. The same way ridge nearer (?) he ran they say. Then he saw him | they say.

There his flute with with himself he blew they say. Ahead of-him his flute | with himself where he landed, forward he ran. From the ridge toward him he started to run | they say. Then he behind him he Golilisi in vain continued doing it | they say. Then ridge he ran up they say.

Then for some distance people on both sides were crowded where he ran up | people they say. There saw him they say. ran up," | people "Yonder Golilisi said they say. said it they say. Then | toward them down he ran they say. "No," people, his partners, "not he; Naiyenezgani it is," they said theysay. People his partners | said it they say. "No, he, no, Golilisi it is," they said | they say. Very close toward them when he wasthey said it they say. \"No," his partners, "he running Naiyenezgani it is." they said they say. His partners said it theysay. Then people both sides | stood in crowds in between them they say. Then Golilisi ran. Naivenezgani it was behind him some distance on the ridge came up they say. Then Golilisi hispeople they were not pleased about it they say. Then Naiyenezgani his partners were pleased they say.

Naiyenezgani won. Foot race (?) running he won they say. | Golilisi from him he won they say. Then earth on it dangerous-way | those who were doing all of them he won from they say. Just so much all is | they say.

Then his wife when he had won her with her they two started-back they say. There | people his partners their daughters, their-sons, their wives, pretty all of them | those they had lost when he-had won them back they were glad. "Thanks, wherever you go-back," | they said to him they say. Then from them he started back they say. His wife | they two went back they say. His grandmother to her he came back they say. | Ests'unnadlehi, his grandmother to-her he came back they say.

THE DEER WOMAN.1

won na hi n da hi n do teo hic ki hn n na tei ni γa hn ga o gan bi tsi' ya n na tei ni dak k'e go bị yi gan ni bi γa ba go ni t tei ni an a ko go na n n na' tei ni a ko go de ya te'an ni ko as ts'an sa da da hai yo nin de yo n do n de yo ko γwa a go le yo ko 5 nan ya te'an ni

a ko go ko go ko wa na go let tci ni ko \gamma, xai a bi ya de' bi bi tci del xel go ke nel tsoz wa yi la tc'en ni ko di a bi ya di go bi bi tcin tsi gai go ke nel tsoz go a yen la tcen ni o a bi ya de' bi bi tcen li tso go ke nel tsoz go ai yi la tcen ni an ko de go na10 ko se go bi ya de' go ben bi tcen do l'ej go ke nel tsoz go ai yen la

a ko go bi ko wa nan ta ci buns de dư xư go bi ke' di hi γa go ai yun la tcun ni a ko go ko wa yen de' i za dư dư xư go bi na gode k'uc go ai yun la bi za dư ligai ye bi na gode k'ec go bi l'a ge hi dư xư go na gode k'uc go ai-15 yun la tcun ni bi ka γe i za dư li tso go be na gode k'uc go ai yun la tcun ni bi ka ge i za dư dol'uj go be na gode k'uc go ai yun la tcun ni bi ka ge i za dư dol'uj go be na gode k'uc go ai yun la tcin in

ako go hai a bi ya ji ya' xa go la go ts'i al nin a tcun ni n ba ci ne tsi al ai yun la a ji' ba ci ne bi ke dul ac go na ki gol Gi je o i a he bi ya ji' ts'i al ai yun la bi bi dja' li tso gi bi k'e' di xul-20 ac go a yun la bi bi γa ya d yi gos el go ai yun la tcun ni'

a ko go xa a bi ya ji' ba ci ne be dzıl das ta go ai yın la danan ıs a ji' bınc de be da nas 'a go bi de go lın dzıl da nes 'a goa yın la tcın ni' ıl ts'a ci xo sa ci ai ji' ız a dıl be i tın xa go nestoz go ai yın la tc'ın ni ai dzıl das ta ni bi ya ci i za dıl dıl xıl go 25 bın bi jel'ıc a go li le go bi to' xa hi la go ai yın la tcın ni'

a ko go na di ko ga di' a go la di' ko ji go dził das tą ni bi dji' ke ge di go da gos'a go a go la ten ni dza γε da łai de da des ez ge i za dił dił xił i be ke ge da kos'a go a yın la ai yo ge da na dol-

¹ Dictated by Antonio, August, 1914. A free translation occurs on pp. 49-55, above.

THE DEER WOMAN.

East one who camped panther boy he married they say. Gan, Gaowan 1 his daughter he married they say. Just so deer he killed because to him he gave her they say. Then he moved camp they-say. Then he started they say. His woman while she stayed there, where he hunted, where he was accustomed to hunt camp where he-was going to build there he came they say.

he was making they say. Then there camp House under deer its skin black he covered it he made it they say. south under deer its skin white he covered it he made it theysay. West under deer its skin yellow he covered it he made it they say. That one here north under deer its skin blue hecovered it he made it.

Then his house where he camped deer horn black alight | he made they say. Then in the house mouth blood black with an angular line he made it. Four times with an angular line hemade it. Its mouth blood white with an angular line under it an angular line he made it they say. Above it mouth blood yellow with an angular line he made it | they say. Above it mouth blood blue with angular line he made it they say.

Then sunrise under bed when he made pillow he put theysay. | Jet pillow he made, there jet on it lying one after the other two pronged. | Sunset under pillow he made. Deer its ear yellow on it lie one after the other | he made it. Deer its hair with hespread down he made it they say.

Then east under jet with mountain stand horizontal he made. At its head | deer horn with he placed, its horns having mountain they say. Each way running out he made lie he made it going over the ridge | he made it. mouth blood with trails they say. That mountain one that lies horizontal under it mouth blood black deer their slobberings flowing their water flow out they say.

Then at the house where he made it this way mountain whichlies horizontal toward it | tracks four times lying he made theysay. Here just one where he stepped | mouth blood black tracks lying he made. That beyond where he is going to step again | mouth-



¹ One of the Gans who makes a noise different from the others.

us ge i za dư li Gai go be ke ge da koz a go ai yın la tc'i ni n ai yo ge da na di dol is ge i za dul li tso go da koz a go ai yın la tc'i ni n ai yi yo ge da na di dol us ge i za dul dol'uj go da koz a go ai yın la tc'i ni n'

- 5 ako go dza ji go baił Gai ye' be dzd das tą go ai ym la danan nes'a ji' deł Gi ji be dzd da nes'a go a ym la tc'i ni n' d ts'aci xo sa ci' i za dd li Gai go be i tm a go nes t'oz go ai ym la tci ni n' ai bi ya ci i ze ł'ω li Gai go be to xa xo la go a yi la tc'i ni n'
- 10 a ko go ai ya ji bi te'i' da na da' da hi ya go da la di da des es i za del li Gai go be da koz 'a go a yen la te'i ni n' ai di yo ge da' i za del li tso go be do k'oz 'a go ai yi la te'i ni n' ai n yo ge i dagoz a go ai yen la i za del do l'ej go be da koz a go a yen la te'i-ni n'
- 15 o'i a ni bi ya ji' tsel tci e be dzel das ta go a yen la tc'en ni n ai yi na nes'a ji' bi bi dja li tso go bi ke di hel aj go a yen la tc'i ni n' a ko go il ts'a la xo sa dji' i za del li tso go be i tin xa gones t'oz go a yen la tci ni n' bi ya ji' i je l'ic li tso go to li tso go be to xa xo la go a yen la tc'i ni n
- 20 ai bite'i' da na da' do le ci' i za dd dd xd go be da goz 'a go a ym la te'i ni n' ai n yo γε i za dd li Gai go be da goz a go ai ym la te'i ni n ai n yo gε i za dd li tso go be' da goz 'a go ai ym la te'i ni n ai di' yo ge' i za dd do l'ij go be da goz 'a go a ym la te'i ni n'
- a ko go na ko se' bi ya ji' do l'ij i be dził das ta go a yın la 25 te'i ni n' da nes a ji' de xa ts'ın ne be da nes a go a yın la te'i ni n il ts'a ci le xo sa ci' i za dil do l'ij go be i tin xa go nes t'oz go a yın la te'i ni n bi ya ji' i ze l'ic do l'ij go be' to xa xo la go a yın la te'i ni n'

da'ai ko de da na da ko di' do le ji' i za dd dd xd go be da-30 goz a go a yın la tc'i ni n ai n yo ge i za dd li Gai go be da goz-'a go a yın la tc'i ni n' ai n yo ge i za dd li ti tso go da' goz 'a go a yın la tc'i ni n ai n yo ge i za dd do l'ıj go be da goz 'a go aiyın la tc'i ni n

a ko go and ις te go la dza ji' bi kaz te lj bi ai di γa dza ji 35 da na da' ko yi ga do le ci ai yi la tc'i ni n' yın dza ji ıs te go la ci del gi ji yi γa do lel go ai yi la tc'i ni n o a bi ya ci bi 'a di bi yi γa do lel go ai yi la tc'i ni n na ko se bi ya ji' de xa ts'ın de' yi γa do le ci ις te go la tc'i ni n

a ko go na des dza tc'i ni n bi 'a ts'ıt dan yo ko ya nat dza

blood white tracks lying he made they say. Beyond that | wherehe is going to step again mouth blood yellow lying he made they-say. | Beyond that where he is going to step mouth blood blue lying he made | they say.

Then here white stone with mountain lie horizontal he made. Where its head was | pronged horn with mountain lying horizontal he made it they say. Each way where they run out | mouth blood white with trails running up he made it | they say. That under it slobberings white their water flowing out he made it | they say.

Then under that toward it he camped where he went just once he stepped, | mouth blood white with lying he made they say. Beyond that just | mouth blood yellow with lying he made they-say. Beyond that lying | he made. Mouth blood blue with lying he made they say.

West under red stone with mountain lying horizontal he made they say. | That where it lay deer its ears yellow on it lying one-behind the other he made | they say. Then each way where it runsout mouth blood yellow with trails running up | he made they-say. Under it slobberings water yellow | their water flow out hemade they say.

where he will camp toward it mouth blood black with lying he made they say. Beyond it mouth blood white with lving he made | they say. Beyond it mouth blood yellow with it lying he made it they say. Beyond it mouth blood blue with lying he made it they say.

Then north under turquoise with mountain lying horizontal he made it | they say. Where it lay spike horn with lying he made-it they say. | Each way where they ran out mouth blood blue with trails running up | he made they say. Under it slobbering blue with water flowing out | he made it they say.

where he camps Just that here where it will be mouth blood black with lying he made it they say. Beyond that mouth blood lying he made they say. Beyond that mouth blood lying he made it | they say. Beyond it mouth blood vellow lying | he made they say. with

Then all was finished, there buck deer those for here | hewent. Here he is going to kill he made they say. Here where hefinished | pronged horns he was going to kill he made they say. West under female deer | he was going to kill he made they say. North under spike horned deer | he was going to kill he finished they say.

Then he started back they say. His wife where she stayed there



te'i ni n n la fe yd n dit' bi 'a ail n dd te'i ni n yi kun din de hi na da' i k'an a yun la te'i ni n ko γa a go di ge ko γa n go ni 'a n dd te'i ni n i dd 'a go ko γa n go n 'a ni yi dd 'a go an di te'i ni n a ko go da xa zn da yo an di te'i ni n a ko n da te'i ni n 5 ko γa a go la yo ya n da' n dd' te'i ni n a ko go ni n da go ko γa yon de' ni n da te'i ni n a ko go a ko sun da ni' ni yel n dd' te'i ni n bi 'a ail n di te'i ni n

da' ye'da hi ya xa a bi ya ji' dza ji' i za dd be ke Ge da goz'a n dji' ni da des ez i za dd li Gai go da goz'a n dji' ni da'10 na de des ez tc'i ni n ai n yo ge i za dd li tso go be' da goz'a n ji' da' na nas dza tc'i ni n ai n yo ge i za dd do l'ij go da goz'a ji' nit da' na nas 'a a ko go a bi ya di' bi' di ni tsi bi ka i bi da ci da n ya ba ci ne bi bas ba ci ne k'a bi k'a' go di bas bin ka ji' yo ni t'ok ba ci ne k'a be' i zes xi tc'i ni n' a ko go djin go na 'ai 15 de xa γał go n yın bi 'a sıt da yo ko be nais ka tc'i ni n

da na naz dza tc'i ni n ko di i di 'a bi ya ji i za dd dị go be ke ge da goz 'a go ai yın la n jị' da' na nas dza ai da goz'a ni da bi γa da des ez go del Gi ji bi da ji da dn ya bailbas bin ka ji' bail Gai ye k'a y€ yo ni t'ok go i zes xi 20 tc'i ni n a ko go djin go na 'ai da 'ai ge de xa γał go yi zes xi yides γ į ni yi γ į bi 'a sit da yo a ko go nai is ka te'i ni n bi ya ji i za del den go ke Ge da goz 'a go ai yen la n ji da na nas dza tci ni n a ko go bi da ci' bi bi 'a di da' n ya go tsel tce ε bin ka ji tsel tce e k'a' ye yo nl t'ok go i zes xi n yi γi go n yi γi 25 bi 'a set da vo

ko ji na ko ze bi ya ji da na nas dza i za dił di go be ke ge da goz 'a a yın la n ji' da 'na nas dza go bi da ci' de xat ts'ın de da 'n ya bi da ci' do l'ıj e bas n ka ji do l'i ji l'a ye yo nl t'ok go i zes xi tc'i ni n' a ko go n ji' bi ko wa yo bi 'a sıt da yo tc'i ni n'

30 ai da γa t'e ja (ka t'e he) 1 bị n toa' i hi ja yi γa to'i ni n dza jị' ko ji go xa na dza da nas dza del Gi ji da 'ai ja da ga te hi ja da del Gi ji ja yi γa to'i ni n o i 'a bi ya ci da' da na nasdza go bi 'a di bị da 'ai ja' yi γa to'i ni n' hi ko ji' na ko se' bi ya ji' da' da na naz da go de xa ts'ın ne ja da 'ai ja yi γa to'i ni n

35 ako go dza ji' xa'ą bi ya ji' ko γą da goz kan a yın la yi γa-

¹ Given when the preceding word was not recognized.

to her he returned | they say. "Well," he said, his wife he said it to they say. Provisions the hunting corn meal she prepared they say. stands." | he said " House where there was none house Singing, "House stands," singing he said it they say. Then faraway he said it they say. There they moved they say. | "House where it is made to it move," he said they say. Then when theythey moved they say. moved there | house inside Then. sit, you," he said to her they say. His wife he told they say.

Then he went. East under there mouth blood tracks he had put them | there he stepped. Mouth blood white where hehe stepped again | they say. Beyond that mouth blood with where he had placed he went again they say. Beyondthat mouth blood blue where he placed he came. Then under thefacing him | came. largest buck Jet his ring. ring arrow his arrow this through it | he shot. Jet arrow he killed it they say. Then sun | when it was coming up he brought it. His wife where she stayed there he spent the night again they say.

Here he went again they say. Here south under mouth blood four times tracks where he placed where he had made he went again. Those four times which lay all of them when he stepped on prongedfacing him came. White stone | ring through it white stone arrow with when he shot he killed it they say. Then when it was rising there he killed it, he started to carry it, he brought it, his wife, where she stayed. Then it was day again theysay. West under it mouth blood four times tracks where they lay where he had made them he came again | they say. Then facing him red stone ring | through it when she came deer female when he shot he killed it. When he carried it. brought it his wife where she stayed.

Here north under it he went again. Mouth blood four times tracks | lay where he had made when he came again facing him spike-horned deer | came. Facing him turquoise ring through when he shot | he killed it turquoise arrow with they say. Then he brought it his house. his wife where she sat they say.

large those only he killed they say. Here Then like this deer this way he went up he went along. Pronged horn those only, that kind | those only just pronged horns only he killed they say. West under it when he went | female deer just those only he killed they say. Here north | under it when he went spike-horned deer only, just those only he killed they say.

Then here sunrise under it house, flat topped he made.



n di bị' n tca' i ko ji' ba to' das ka go i tsị' da' xư s nil go a yư n lạ tc'i ni n di ko ji ko wa da to das kan ai yư n la ji' del Gi ji ba' das ka go a yư n la tc'i ni n o i a bi ya ji' da to' da na yư s ka bị bi 'a di ba' a yư n la tc'i ni n hi ko ji na kos e bi ya ji' de xa ts' n de 5 ba' to' das ka go ai yư n la tc'i ni n

ako go aga t'i ni bi γ ą be k'e dni lą tc'ın ni n di xadin ca bi bi li' ko ga c ą' bi γ a bi ke' n di bi lą go yi γ a hi bi γ a be k'en di la tc'i ni n ako go go li hai yo n ko ya'ai xanadahi bi l'ayo go li la tc'i ni n an da bi ko go li di ako bi kac deli da'ai ja 10 go li la tc'i ni n ko de' n de bin ka de ya lą tc'ın ni n ba yanti go yatabi ga n tso a t'i bi'a bin ka do xa go ze' da lą tc'ın ni n

a ko go do l'ıj i uc ki hn din bi ka de ya lą tc'i ni n bị' bi ni n de al k'i dạ' n de n'i ni ai dai' le' ce n ai k'e a t'e go 15 ai yın la lą tc'i ni n bi zat' da' xail t'i n t'e go ai yın la lą tc'ın ni n bın da go li go ai yın la lą tcun ni n da' n il k'ol n t'e go ai yın la lą tc'ın ni n bi dja da' ıl xai di le n t'e go ai yın la dlą tcın ni n a ko go ko go da γan t'e n di lą go a don di lą lą yo de ya tc'ın ni n'

de ya go es tsan bi ko wa binda ji da'hil Git di' xa ya tc'in ni n 20 bi go xa ya tc'in ni n ai xa ya dji' is tsan n il tsa bi ko wa di' bi go yinl tsa tc'i ni n bi ka'n i djiñ go na 'ai de da' da xol ton go a ko go di hi ye n yi ko xol tonl yo da go ya 'ai xol tonl tc'i ni n

is tsan n į na di dza ye į n zį tc'i ni n xai yo he'e da'o tc'i ya n t'e do a γa tcint t'e da n zį tc'i ni n is tsan bi ką' o tc'e xe t'a 25 o yą n yo tc'e des į tc'i ni n tc'e na γal tc'i ni n a ko go bị bi tc'į' go da hi γał nal k'i di' xa ya na bi tc'į' ge' na γoz yo ya go da' on ya bị' a ko' ko di' bi ko wą dį' a xan ni go bi tc'į' da hil Git dįį' dez į is ts'an į tc'e dez į go ai dį' n de go xa γał tc'i ni n

30 ako go as tsan hn n i bị la' go da o ya'n'ị n de go ta xa γal n zị tc'i ni n a ko go bi tc'ị' n de' hi γal tc'i ni n as tsan hn bi kowa jị' ai Ge' sư da jị' n de bi tc'ị' hi γal a xan ne go ni n de n ya tc'i ni n nez da tc'i ni n a ko go di n ni bi ka ge ba dil-Giz go n ni al za hi hi n ne' bi ni ga go da tc'i hi 'a a ko go 35 n ni n i as tsan n i yi nel 'i bi zat' i ni xa da xail t'i da' ni k'ol nn t'e bi dja da d xai dil ye hn t'e do bd t'a go dez 'i tc'i ni n

Those he killed | deer large here shade standing meat he piled up he made | they say. Here house shade stood where he made it pronged horns for them | stand he made they say. West under it shade stood again. Deer | female for them he made it they say. This here north under it spiked horn | shade standing he made they say.

Then he did this because they were angry at him they say. This whoever he was | deer his pets house is because they wereangry. Deer many he killed because of it they were angry at him they lived where, they say. Then here sun it rises under it they lived they say. He where they own them there bucks thoseonly they live they say. Here man after him he started they say. About him when they talked, | "He kills them so many wife after her go," they agreed they say.

boy he after him he started they say. Deer Then turquoise his face people, long ago people face they used to make that way it was he made they say. Its tongue it ran out all the time they say. Its eyes it had he made it made it they say. Theywinked all the time he made it | they say. Its ears working backand forth all the time he made it they say. Then so much neverhe was bashful theless much many places he started

When he started woman her house in front ridge he came up they say. As a deer he came up they say. That one from her house | as a deer came up woman saw him, she saw him he always-Her husband sun when it is just rising | then they say. it went up, higher sun went up they say. Here

"I will look," The woman got up. she thought they say. he has gone to it is. He does not do this way," wonder where Woman her husband in vain where he went they say. in vain | she looked they say. In vain she looked around they say. deer toward her down walked. Again ridge he came up. Between cañon down he went. Deer, there, here her camp close toward her small ridge she looked woman. In vain when she looked then like a man he walked up they say.

"Deer it was that woman, down that went like a man came up," | she thought they say. Then toward her man walked they say. Woman her house there where she sat man toward her Near man came they say. He sat down he they say. Then this face its skin skinned off face it was made man by hisside down it hung. Then that face woman looked at. Its tongue It kept winking. Its ears it kept waving. it stuck out. felt queer she looked at it they say.

ako go bi kın na da' i k'an ni li nes teigo ts'a bi ye' xai yixes ka te'ın nin n de sıt da ji' yi te'i' nın ka te'i nin a ko go
n de'n i xat dzi te'i nin ai do hi ca a da le yowe ci' nan ka
n dit' te'i nin a ko go bi bi tsi' i sa hi djek'n i di t'o di go
5 ci bej go si a i sa be ni xa yi xez nil ts'a bi yi ji' go n ne yi te'i
n a i ka go n de' xa na na dzi te'i nin do hi ca da' le na don dit'
n de an di te'i nin yo go ci nan ka do hi ca da' le ne' na don dit'
te'i nin

a ko go bi kın da 'ai ja bi kın ci hi dan go bi kın na ca xat-10 di la do let n dit us tsa n i an di tc'i ni n a ko go n de xa na na dzi tc'i ni n tc'il do l'ıje bi la ta xe hi ca le ai k'us n da zi bi la ta he hi ca le n dit' tc'i ni n ts'i ji' bi la ta he hi ca le ni dn n dit' tc'i ni n a ko go ci hi dan an t'e n dit' tc'i ni n

a ko go us tsą hn n į ts'ą nain tą tc'i ni n hi k'o di' a xan ni di
15 tc'il do l'uj e bi la ta yo yi hi ti ts'ą yi hin dil go a na dal tc'i ni nk'us n daz jį' nai hi tį go an na dal tc'in ni n tc'i jį bi la ta he hi hundij ts'ą yi yi hil kal xa des bį tc'i ni n ai jį' nai des ką tci ni n
ko di' n de si da n į yi tc'į' ni ką tc'i ni n di yi n de n dit'
tc'i ni n di ci hi dan ą t'e n dit dą' yi yą na go di dza tc'į ni n20 xal k'el bi tc'į' n tc'un ką n i anl yi yą tc'i ni n

ai di al nyi ya go nne'n i xa dzi tc'inin di nni nye binni γa das'a n i ne at dai di ta tc'inin ko ji' da'n'a tc'inin a' nai yo xo al bi tc'i' go da' nai di'a tc'inin ci ki yi xa go a t'e goda bi k'e a no li n si hi k'e bi be ca da go i ya be ba' nac ko go de 25 bi tc'i' be di ca da' yu Ge sit ts'a yo si di xil tel n de' a γa da t'ila da' di t'o din ji' t'o das ka hi n nai nel'i da' n de' an di tc'inin

akogo ωs ts'ą hn n į n dε yi tc'į' xa na dzi xą lą di n ni da'n'a yil n dư' tc'i ni n dį jį t'oʻ das ką hi nai ne į dą' an di 30 tc'i ni n i tsį' bį yi gan di ai nai nel į'dą' an di tc'i ni n ωs ts'ą-hn n į ye'į n dư' tc'i ni n da' n de' nc lį go de daz t'į do lel n dư' tc'į ni n akogo n de xa na na dzi do n de n lį da' n di' dibį bi ni hi da' bį k'e a no li hi k'e bį ca da goyą hi bi γa at' dω n di n du' tc'i ni n do da' duon di γa n di na do nut'

Then her provisions, corn meal made in mush basket in shedipped up | they say. Man where he sat by him she put it they say. Then the man spoke they say. "That I am not accustomed to eat. Away take it," he said they say. Then deer its flesh pot whichlay soft boiled sitting, pot in that she took out. Basket man to him | when she put it, man spoke again they say. "I amnot accustomed to eat it," he said again. | Man said it they say. I am not accustomed to eat it." take it he said again theysay.

Then, "Its provisions just that, its provisions my food its-provisions I travel. What will it be?" | she said. The woman saidit they say. Then man spoke again | they say. "Shrub green its-tops I am accustomed to eat. This Gundazi its tops | I am accustomed to eat," he said they say. "Ts'iji' its tops I am accustomed to-eat," he said they say. | Then, "My food it is," he said they say.

woman basket took up they sav. Here near | brush its tops she broke off. Basket putting them in she walkedtaking off she walked around they say. | Gisndazi they say. Ts'iji its tops she pulled off. Basket she threw them in. She filled it they say. There she put it down again they say. Here man "This," she put it they say. man said they say. to him my food it is." he said. Then he ate it. He began to eat they say. | Full to him that she placed all he ate they say.

Then all he ate man spoke they say. This face on his side that he carried he took off they say. Here he raised it up they say man. He kept moving it around. Toward her he held it they say. "My kin, it looks I think. Deer is it? | Just like a deer when I go to are afraid. With it to them if I approach, to them they run." Man when he was doing this here away from me shades those standing when he looked at these shades four places said it | they say.

Then the woman man to her spoke again. "Well, this face hold up," he said they say. Four places shades those that stood when he looked at he said it they say. Meat deer that he had killed while he was looking at he said it they say. The woman. "No,"1 she said they say. "Just man if I were I would do it,"! Then spoke again. "Not man she said they say. man like a deer its face just it looks like deer me are afraid because I say it," he said they say. "No, I say what-



¹ So rendered by the interpreter. The Apache word appears to be a form of the verb to look. "I will look at it."

tc'i ni n us ts'a hn n i an di tc'i ni n do a k'e n ta go da i ko di hi zin go de da dn 'a go de ci tc'i' da dn 'a hi bi γa an l duc n di

a ko go us ts'an hn n i tc'e tco ba' an di tc'i ni n us t'san n i bi ni' n i da li yuc tci la da' ail ni tc'i ni n bi ye' bi ni' ye go ya' n i 5 do go ya go ai yun la la da' ail ni tc'i ni n us ts'an bi gal ye na gan i bi ts'a da li yuc tci la da' ail ni tc'i ni n a ko go us ts'a hn i his na si li tc'i ni n

ako go ai ji' da'hi ya te'i nin n de n ni da yo a ci' yi te'i da'hi ya hi ko di' n da ya'n ni go a t'i te'i nin ai di' n ya 10 te'i nin a ko go n de n ni da' yo a'n i bi te'i' da'n'a te'i nin a ko go bi te'i' da di dil n di' te'i nin yi ni tsot te'i nin n nin i yi ni tsot te'i nin ai ko ji' ne go da'n'a ya'n dit' te'i nin a ko go gat dza go ya'd ad di dil n di go ai ji' n de' yi nel'i te'i nin do'n-jo go be'ni'i da' yu ge'hi di' bil nan da yil n dat' te'i nin

15 ai ji' da'na nas dza teini dn da ai k'e go bi te'i' da'nain a te'inin xe das do ją ben di i yo Ge'hi di' bil nan da ne na do net' te'inin a ko go yu ge da'na naz dza go gal lą da wan jo n jo go n ts'it k'e ji' da'n 'a yeln det' te'inin ests'a n i ini bi t'a' ji' yel da' di dil n di go bi te'i' n ya das do ja' n jo go ga la henl jij 20 cil jij go n ta' n ts'i tsen bi ts'i k'i ji' bi da di dn li

a ko go hil juj da' dai dn'a tc'i ni n a ko go n lok' nd ts'a tc'i ni n con us ts'a ni n ts'a ji' di ni tsi bi ka į bi ka ge ba t'o das ka n į bi ka ge n ne yi tc'į' da hus got' i ka ge n į nai dn il us ts'a n į ye yonł kal bi bi tsil n į nai n dil go ye yonl kal tc'i-25 ni n a ko go bi ts'i lį us ts'a n i di ji' n de nes djit' bi k'e go co ni go ji' n de bi tc'į' xun di n de us ts'a bi tc'į' xun di do go-yan di ye yon dil tc'į ni n bi gal ye go yan i ye do go ya go ai-yun la bi k'e go nanl djį tc'į ni n

jị' yi te'ị' da' hi ya te'ị ni n a ko go (ye ci no ci) 1 ce yi no cunl-30 hi hi ba ni ya i do al go ail ni te'i ni n ya' xa du'a go ba' dahư dlol ư dza nị n de nị ư sta'a nị bi te'ọc t'ak yo n de' bi te'ị o' yư 'a go ba' da hư dlol bi kọ wạ nị bi nat dị du yil le di t'aj te'i ni n bi ko wa bi nat' go bat di dai hư dloj ư sta'a huị bị go

¹ Suggested when the following word was not understood.

ever you say," she said again | they say. The woman said it they-say. "Not putting it on here | if you stand if you hold it up toward-me hold it for that reason I said it to you."

Then in vain. "Bad," she said the woman they say. Thewoman | her mind vanish when he made he said it they say. Her (?) her mind with what he knew | crazy when he made her he said it Woman her gait with that she walks from her when he made he said it they say. Then the woman | captive became they say.

Then there she went they say. Man face where he held it "Here come," when he told her toward it | she went. it was thev-There she came | they say. Then man face that he held toward her he held it out they say. Then toward him she reachedher hand they say. She took it they say. That face | she took theysay. "That this side (right) take it," he told her they say. Then doing that when she held it up there man looked at it they say. "Not good I see it. Further over with it go again," he said to her they say.

There she went again they say. Just that way to him she held it they say. "Nearly I see it. Further over with it go again," man he said again | they say. Then further when she went again, "Well, just good, well | against your body hold it," he said to her they say. The woman face close to her | when she held it to her he came. "Nearly good. Come get on your knees. | When you are on your knees your forehead your head over it hold it."

when she was on her knees she held it they say. Then he threw something on her | they say. "Con," was heard (?). Here large deer buck its hide for it shade that stood toward it he ran. Hide he took up. | Woman he threw it on. its lower legs when he took up he threw on her they say. Then deer she became Four directions .she jumped the woman. like a deer "co" saying there man toward her mind man woman towardmind making her wild | he threw on her they say. Her gait that she is wild with with it not being wild he made. Like a deer she jumped around they say.

toward her "Making herhe started they say. Then, love me to her I come," For her singing he said it they sav. when he was singing she trotted | the woman. The man for him the woman between her legs in his nose | holding it for him trotted. Her house around it four times they two went around 1 in front of him she trotted. they say. Her house around it

ba' dec dloj yi k'i dį' ci zį go yił dec 'aj tc'i ni n

da'ai xa na da' bi l'a yo bi tc'i' ba ci ne be dzıl nat dec Gic yo yıl xaj aj tc'i ni n an yo ge bail Gai ye be dzil na dec Gıc yo yıl-xaj aj ain yo Ge' tsel tce e be dzil na dec Gıj yo yıl xaj aj tc'i ni n 5 ain yo Ge' do l'ıj i n da dec Gıc yo yıl xaj aj tc'i ni n a ko go bi tıs-yo ya go li la bi be kanj tel hi ja go li dla yo yıl na t'aj tc'i ni dn a ko go bi n i ba ne dli nai n'a tc'i ni n ıs ts'a hn i a na γa nana n dil ta da' bo inl go tc'i ni n

ko go di bi ka yił us ts'a hn bi ka'n i na na dza tc'i ni n
10 us ts'a hn sut da n Ge' nat dza tc'i ni n nne n'i xa ko go he'e a dzalan us ts'a ni nne n zi tc'i ni n a ko go n de ba nya n Ge' yi ke'
gonł tsa n de hi γał n i bi ke ye bi de n da yo yi de gis ka tc'i ni n
n de bi tc'i' xa ya n ji' n de go bi ke' go da hun k'idj dji' ni yunł ka
dza di' n bi' go n ya dla di' yoc di' da' hi ya dla bi ni bi ke'
15 hi γał la yo n da' des ka tc'i ni n ko di nal γoj di' xa na di' bi go
go da tc'in ya dla tc'i ni n bi ga' da' hil git di' xa ya dla tc'i ni n
da'ai di bi go da' yi ya dla tc'i ni n da' yo Gut di' hi n de go ai ji'
xa ya dlan k'e go n de bi'a' go li ni i a t'i tc'i ni n

ko go da 'ai ji' i nił ka da' t'a ji' na des dza ko wa n yo na-20 na dza a ko go is ts'a n i n de si da ji da hi ya dlan Ge dza i di' si zi lan Ge tc'i ni n ai di' yo Ge' da' na nas dza dlañ ge tc'i ni n ai diyo Ge' da' na nas dza dlañ Ge tc'i ni n ai di yo ge da' na nas dza dị dn nya dlan Ge ko di' is ts'ạ ni n de go bi ke' go si zi dlan k'e tc'i ni n ko di ıs ts'a n i bi go ya hd Got lañ k'e n wa ci' bi go tc'i ni n ya' na hil Got n ko go 25 nec dient' lañ k'e ai di' got de t'a go na nes djint lan ke tc'i ni n ai dj' ya' na hil Got a ko go na nes djent dlañ k'e te'i ni n ai di' ya' na hil Got n ko bi na go de t'aj yo na nes djint di dn i na got de t'a go di dn nes djint ai ji' n de yi tc'į' da' hi ya dlañ k'e go a nai yoł ka tc'į ni n bi 'a go-30 lin'i at'i te'inin

da' na di t'a hi k'e go yư da' hư aj n yo n ne' a' nai yoł ka tc'i ni n bi ko wa bi nat di dn yił łe di t'aj n i da' ai k'e go yi ke' łe di hi dza tc'i ni n a ko go anł n ne nai yıs ka yıł dec a ji n yo n di yınł ka tc'i ni n woman. Deer like | for him she trotted. Behind her he standing they two went they say.

There it rises under it toward it jet with mountain Beyond that the gap is | they two went up they say. white stone they two went up. | Beyond that mountain where gap is they two went up with where gap is they say. stone mountain Beyond that turquoise where gap is they two went up they say. down beyond | they live. Deer bucks those only where theythey two came back they say. Then those deer over her good time was they say. The woman pursued they chased | mounting her they say.

Then this one her husband with, woman her husband where she had stayed theythey say. | Woman he came back The man. "What has happened, the woman?" man hesav. thought they say. Then man to her where he had come his tracks he saw. Man he had walked his tracks where he had gone he trailed they say. | Man to her where he had come up like a man his tracks to the ridge he tracked him. | There like a deer where he had come this way he had come. Deer his tracks where he had gone he trailedhim they say. Here cañon across like a deer | down he had gone they say. | Right there they say. On top ridge he had come up like a deer like a man he had gone they say. Then ridge he had come up. Then man his wife he had had did it they say.

right there when he trailed him back he started. he came back. Then the woman, man where she had sat where hadthere | she had stood they say. Beyond there she had gone Beyond there | she had gone they say. Beyond there shewent. | Fourth time where she came, here woman like a person her tracks she had stood | they say. the woman like a deer Here she had jumped. Over here like a deer | she had jumped they say. she had jumped again. Here around it | everyway she hadiumped they say. There she had jumped again. Then | she hadjumped about they say. There she had jumped again. Here, anotherdirection | backward | she had jumped about. Fourth time in differentdirections, fourth time she jumped. There man to her he had gone. he trailed them they say, his wife he had had | did it they say.

The way the sun travels with her where they two had gone tracked them | they say. Her house around it four times with her they two had encircled it after them | he went around just the same Then all he trailed. where they two had-With her started he trailed they say.



dą' t'a ji' nat des dza tc'inin a ko go an ni ta nne' go lin yo nat des dza tc'inin des n dan yo na dza tc'inin a ko go xa Go'lan ci us ts'a hn ni da et dila k'e nan tsa da tc'e hai yo cila ci go a ko nan dza n dit' tc'inin lan k'e gan di da' bu'n dit' n de 5 yu'go lini tc'inin xa go ca lan gol ze tc'inin na dza go dii yus ka da' nat dza go a ko go di n de bil go tc'ilini na t'o ke de n la' u'ta yas ti go n la' a n de n da' n dit' tc'inin a ko go n de n la' at dza da la hi ge go ya ya ya dal ti' go xa ya go ca lan ba yadal ti da' n dut tc'inin a ko go ba' ya na'n ti' tc'inin n la le 10 γa dn i bi ke' a ko na' nol za' ko γa lañ ci yo da' don t'i go se' tc'inin ga hn n de ye a' da' t'i tc'i nin

ga hn ni ji n xol ze hi ko gel 'a' yi la tc'i ni n da ni do lei da' bi n di tc'i ni n n de at da bil n di te'i ni n a ko go a ko nan za ko γa n yo tc'i ni n da' ga hn ni ji n tse' da Ge' de nez ti 15 te'i ni n bi djat' d ki das la go ai yın la da' nez ti te'i ni n bin ta' des ni go nez ti tc'i ni n

a ko go di us ts'an n i bi ko wa n Ge tc'e he ta n de na da' ul ka tc'i ni n a ko go ga hn l ji n da dla t'e go an n t'e na nil Get yowe ci da' ni do lel go n bil n du n de tc'i ni n ko go na dil Got' 20 a t'e go la a da do' n di hi ko n dit' tc'i ni n

is ts'a hn n i tsi da lañ k'e di'n ya tc'i ni n bi gan ko di'da' i ts'a n i da hi ya lañ k'i ji' bi γan da' gol k'i j go ai yi la tc'i ni n da' yi ke' da' di hi dza bi ke' bi gan da gol σις go yi ke' is dza n i yi ke' de hes dza tc'i ni n di is ts'an i di dn n ya n i da ai-25'k'e go yi ke' ni he dza ko di' bi go da' hi ya lañ k'e yo bi ke' a na xe dal be ko wa n i bi nat di dn nil bi ke' le di hi dza da'a yil a na t'ac lañ ke yo di n ko yil dai dez aj lañ ke yo bi gan da'-goc σi go yi ke' de hes dza yo di n de bil nanl sa n i da' xon t'e he nal sel bi k'i di go bi ke' na zel

30 n la gol n de da la'a do n jo da la tc'i ni n ba' na gon l'ok go na zel tc'i ni n go ai ba' xa' do 'a go na' dol a gon se' tc'i ni n go ai ba' xa' do ta go o' nal a' da' n jo go i ke' na de za tc'i ni n

bac jin de na dez Gij yo bi ke' xa naz za' tc'i ni n ai di' yu Ge

they say. Then now back he started man where hethey say. Whence he started camping had lived | he started back returned they say. Then. "Something | that woman somewhere | there I came back," I came back. In vain "Well, thev sav. as you say," they said to him, people | those who-"What has happened?" they all said theylived with him they say. say. When he returned four when days were when he returned then these people with him those who lived tobacco summons | whenthey had sent. "Come together," he said to them they say. people | came together. Just one place about it when they talked. "What happened to her you discuss," | he said they say. Then aboutit they talked they say. "Well, as you say her tracks there wewill move. Where her house is we will look," they all said | they say. Gan people did it they say.

Black Gan one called torch he made they say. "Just you itwill be," | they said to him they say. People said it to him there | they came, where the house was, they say. Black Gan on his back lay down | they say. His legs lying one onthe other when he arranged he lay they say. His forehead | havinghis hand on he lay they say.

Then this woman where her house was in vain theyman tracked | they say. "Black Gan, Then, do something you are? From here just you it will be," they told him, people Then he got up. | "Why do you say that?" he said they say. they say.

where she had sat he came That woman they say. His fingers right | woman where she had started his fingers forked hehere made they say. Then her tracks he trailed. Her tracks his fingers forked her tracks. woman | her tracks he trailed they say. woman four times had stopped just that way | her track like a deer her tracks | he followed about. Here where she had gone Her house around it four times (?) her tracks he went around. With her where they two had gone here this way with her wherethey two had gone his fingers forked her tracks he followed. with him who had come all of them | traveled. Behind him in his track they marched.

There with them man just one was not good they say. Hewas interfering they marched they say. Then, "That one for him when you sing send him back," they all said they say. Then thatone for him when they sang they sent him home, then well afterthem they marched they say.

Jet gap they went up after them they went up they say.



ba' baił Gai ye na des Gij yo xa na za tc'i ni n ai di yo Ge' tseł tce e na dec Gij yo xa na za tc'i ni n ai di' yo ge do l'i ji i na dec Gij yo xa na za tc'i ni n ko di' n bi nan za tc'i ni n na ko ya is ts'a n i ba' ne dlį si'a hil ts'ak' go da ts'i dit' ts'ak' da' si ja xa hi dit dlat 5 si xa hi di dlat

a ko go gan ł ji n xat dzi te'i ni n di ci' i tsoz hi da' neł 'i n dit te'i ni n n lai bi' a gan nel te hi nil di ji' di ci tsos i ists'a n ni xa γε na γa dla ji' n ke de he gal si ts'os da nel 'i n dit' tei ni n a ko go ni bi ts'os dai nel 'i tei ni n ni bi ts'os n i n la yo ya 10 o hi γal te'i ni n bi dail tsa' lenl t'e yo ya o hi gal te'i ni n

ko go xa de ci bi l'ol tc'i ni n ya na del xol ze hi bi l'ol tc'i ni n ye' yon le us ts'an i yiz lo tc'i ni n ji' ba ci ne k'a yi des t'ok to ni tsa tci ni n di bi ni de ti an da go nes at tc'i ni n dza di' ba' ul gai ye k'a na des t'ok tc'i ni n to na hul tsa go bi ni 15 dan n da go nes at tc'i ni n dji' tsel tci 'e k'a na des t'ok bi ni tsi dan des dzot tc'i ni n dji' do l'i ji k'a nai des t'ok go bi ni do bi na goz zi da tcu ni n dza ji' us ts'a ni ja tc'i ji' nal go tc'i ni n bi i bi ts'a' si da nes dzot ge' a t'i tc'i ni n

dza ji' bai ci ne bas yi ke' nd baz bi tsi' t'a di' go n de' k'e go
20 da hıs t'o' bi ni' n i dza ji' bail gai ye bas yi k'e nai nd baz bi γact'a go a ko go ji' tsel tce' e bas yi k'e nai nd baz tc'i ni n da'
bi ziz n t'i go n de k'e go na hıd tsa tc'i ni n dza ji' do l'i ji bas
yi k'e nai nd baz n l'ak nıd tsa n de k'e go n de ni us tsa n i n ts'eden t'i tc'i ni n ko ji' bi tc'i' da' na za tc'i ni n ba' nan za tc'i ni n
25 go ya' tc'i ni n bıd na de za tci ni n go li n yo bıd got tcın li ni jo'
bıd na de za tci ni n a ko go da la' dji bil nan za tci ni n a ko
bil go tc'i li tc'i ni n

da bi γa he' da' nes tạ yo bil un ka il de tc'i ni n a ko go to des ni tc'i ni n di dzil naz 'a yo bị' da' ic tcị tc'i ni n n de' 30 yư go li ni ja je tco' he uñ ka xa dal djut' go m bi hi del tci ni n di us tsą n i a ko a' na dal m bi hi de lo bị' bi ja je m bi de lo a na dal

Beyond that | (?) white stone gap they went up they say. Beyondthat red stone gap they went up they say. Beyond that turquoise There gap | they went up they say. they overtook them they say. Across down the woman | for her celebration was was heard, theyall heard it. Just songs only the sound came up; songs the soundcame up.

Then Black Gan they say. "This my soft feather spoke watch," he said they say. "Over there deer those in a herd this my soft feather the woman | wherever she is goingabout it will alight. My soft feather watch," he said | they say. Then his soft feather they watched they say. That his soft feather downthere | alighted they say. Deer saw it. Circle it alighted they say.

Then some kind his rope they say. Sky hanging that called they say. With it Woman he threw it. he lassoed say. There jet arrow he shot. | "To;" it sounded they say. Those deer little distance scattered to they say. There | white stone arrow he shot again they say. "To," it sounded again. Then thedeer some distance scattered to they say. There red stone Those deer | ran away they say. he shot again. There turquoise arrow he shot again. Those deer | they did not see again they say. There the woman only every way ran about they say. from her ran away it was they say...

There iet ring on her he threw. On top of her head like a person it alighted, her face. There white stone he threw again under her arms. Then there red stone ring on her Just her belt line like a person they sawhe threw again they say. they say. There turquoise ring on her he threw again. "nl'ak," it sounded. Like a person human the woman Here to her they started they say. To her they came they say. She was wild they say. With her they started back they-Where she lived with her where they lived (?) | with her started back they say. Then just one day with her they returned they say. There with her they lived they say.

Just everything where was ripe with her they were gathering they say. water | began to make a noise they say. This mountain where it stands horizontal deer they gave birth they say. People | with her those who lived fawns when they hunted they say. brought in This | woman there went around they brought them in deer their little ones when they brought in she went around. When she looked all she encircled they say.



yi nel'į go al le di hi da tc'i ni n n da hi da' yo bi ko wa yo a ko go xat dzi tc'i ni n n de no li xi ai za ye tco' xe m bol del į ai k'e a t'e hi bi k'e Gij xa dzis Gai hi ai ba no ya yo go sol xe la' n dit' tc'i ni n gon ye go' an de xe la' n dit' tc'i ni n

5 k'a ca' a gan t'e hi yư tcị lạ go an di tc'i ni n xai ị 'a djưn gona 'ai xa na da' hi bi ya jị' dził dư xư go si 'a bi k'a jị' do nakai da' bư kał tci di do da' le ga' n dư' tci ni n k'a ca' na dji xa ga yo a ko dzư yi ka' yư tcị la ga' an dit tc'i ni n n jọ n ne' dan di tci ni n n na' ni ka za ye tco xe m bư' del n de' lan ni yo 10 yi ta' 'a' na da tc'i ni n

da an da go de ya yo la' n de' da' t'e go ca' an di n zi dla tc'inin ka la dzıl ail ni bi k'a yo do ca' n ne' n zi tc'i ni n go' a ko n de de ya tc'i ni n dzil yan ya bi k'a yo dak ki ni ya tc'i ni n ko' bi da hil goj yo n ne' 'a' na dal tc'i ni n n t'o go 15 bi ja je' sıl la ba' tc'ın ya tc'i ni n bi bi ja je dla ts'i n zi go dai nl la' na ts'i set' tc'i ni n ko go be' ts'ız l'o l'ol be go' tc'ın yi tc'i ni n ko wa yo ts'ıt des γi ko wa yo n tc'ın γi tc'i ni n

a gan t'e hi la go m be na da xe xes del yo ıs ts'a hn n i da'hi ya tc'i ni n ko γwa go nel a di' yi ta' de ya tc'i ni n m bi hi del i 20 da bi γa yi nel'į tc'i ni n go' a na dal tc'i ni n da' koñ γwa n de da bi ko wa hi go nel'a yo n ko bi ko γa ni hi ni γa dzıl dı-xıl hi bi k'a di' ni γi n i ya n ya yi nel į tc'i ni n bi ke' Gıc ji' yi nel į bi ka' n tel go li kıj hi go yınlı tsa

ga ca' yư tcị ni n de' ai yi yi lạ lạ go tca' nes yil us ts'an n i 25 hi tcak xa ki la lan na da kai lan yo no xil dic n di n dit' tc'i ni n do da' no xil di n dut' n dit' tc'i ni n da' da' nas sa bi ko wa yo na hư dza tc'i ni n a ko hi tcak go sư da tc'i ni n xa'a la n' n zi go bi ja je n i ya hi tca go sư da tc'i ni n xa ko' la' ac n ne n zi tc'i ni n

30 a ko go xa dzi tc'i ni n n ne' dị i yes ka go da' do xa na dzi he dị i bes ka go at n dit' tc'i ni n n de no' li ni n dzą n la' al n de da no hi γa n la' al n de' n dit' tc'i ni n ne la le da' n dit' n de' 'at da' n di tc'i ni n a ko go n la' at dza es ts' a n si da Ge xai yo na ts' tt da ke ci n sị hi bi γa 'a' no xil de n ni n dit' tc'i ni n xai yo

Where she came back her house then | she spoke they say. "People your band those fawns those you bring like this | those are, between-their toes white stripes those if you come to do not kill them," she said | they say. "It will be dangerous. Do not do it," she said they say.

Because ones like that she had given birth she said it they say. "Sunrise, sun | where it rises under mountain black stands. On it do not go around; | hunt do not," she said they say. Because seeds | where she gathered there mountain on it she had given birth shesaid it they say. "All right," men | they said they say. (?) fawns they were bringing people many places | among she walked around they say.

Some time when it had passed one man, "Why does she say it?" he must have thought they say. | "Well, mountain she mentioned on it let me go," thought man they say. Then | there started they say. Mountain he came to. Its top he came up they-There small canon man went around they say. Just then he came her young two lay to them they say. Deer its young they say. This way when he thought | both he killed he tied them. he took them on his back | they say. with. then Camp carried them. Camp he brought them they say.

That kind many where they were bringing them the woman went they say. Camp its end to it she started they say. Those theybrought all of them she looked at they say. Then she went about they say. Then camp man just his house where the end was there his house was he was the one mountain black on it those he brought she came to. she looked at them they say. Between their toes | shelooked. On their backs spotted she saw.

those she had borne he had brought man those "'Wherever began to wail. The woman | cried. you go,' I told you," they say, | "'Not' I told you," she said they say. Her house she came back they say. There she started back. they say. "Alas," | she was thinking, she cried she sat her young she sat they say. "What (interrogative) when she cried for I do?" | she thought they say.

Then she spoke they say. People four when days were not yet she spoke. | Four when day came she spoke they say. "People your band here come together, all of you come together," she said "All right," they said. People | said it they say. "'What | you think?' they came together, woman where she sat. because I told you that," she said they say. I thought



na ts'ın ke ci go a dn n di da ga da bił tc'ıt n dit' tc'i ni n a ko go ıs ts'a hn n i xa dzi tc'i ni n n la le n si hi bi ga 'a' no xil dic n di n dit tc'i ni n na t'o ke de al le na ki ts'at da n dit' di be n de da' go li yo be' bi ta be go n di' a' le n dit' n de da bi γa n la' at-5 dza go l'e' go no xa xa' dic'a hi bi γa 'a' no xil dic ni n dit' tc'i ni n no xa xa' di ca'a hi bi γa 'a' no xıl dıc n di n dit' tci ni n'

a ko go xa'n 'a tc'i ni n bị' bi γịn xai n'a tc'i ni n it do' ał go yoł kał ιt do' ał go tc'i ni n da' ιt do ał go n ke nł ką tc'i ni n n la le n de no xił go nc lị n i da' ła' e no xa xa na dic t'a n nit' 10 tc'i ni n' ne la le da' bił tc' ιt n dit' tc'i ni n ko go xa' n'a tc'i ni n

ba' t'o ya' o le n nit' tc'i ni n ba uc ci ne na t'o tse' si got di be ba' t'o ya' o le n nit' go 'i' n lat' 'i' n zat' no tsa' si li n nit' tc'i ni n na xo ko se' n ke na ts'i di ts'i yo no tsa' si li cil goñzo yo no tsa' ne da di ni tsi' bi ka i ba' ne ti ko a ga da' go' tsa' 15 us ke ji' da' tco ka le' n nit' tc'i ni n

di da'no' xın t'in yo bi' bi ke'n de zi di hi γa lan k'e hi ci ac t'i do lel a ko n dit' a ko go a ko

PRAYERS FOR HUNTING DEER.1

es ts'an na dle hi bi ko wą tc'i ni goʻ bi wo ye yıl si ke tc'ini n es ts'an na dle hi xat dzi si wo ye bi bi ka n je n dit' tc'i ni n 20 ci ko wą an ni de goʻ an da goc la n nit' ci ko γwą ba' goʻ tco bat' n nit' goʻ nın ka da' hi ya tc'i ni n

a koʻ xat dzi tei ni n djin go na 'ai ei ta nil n dit' te'i ni n bil n ke n dej i bin ka de ya n nit' a γa da' xa go do lel n nit' te'ini n di ni tsi bi ka i bil n ke n dej i xa go ca bi dn yil go a t'e 25 yil n nit' te'i ni n

go' ya nya te'i ni n bi' ai ni ni hi da'ai bi da ci' na γa go yil tsa te'i ni n

a ko go ni te'į si k'ωs n si tsa' bil na gol ni' xε la' yil n nit' te'i ni n

30 dạ' yi te'j' de ya te'i ni n da xini k'i di' yi te'j' xa nan ta te'i-

¹ Dictated by Antonio in August, 1914. A free rendering will be found on pp. 62-64, above.

they all said to her they say. do you think you said that?" the woman spoke they say. "Well. I think because I said thatto you," | she said they say. "Tobacco token make, twelve," said. "These with people where they live with among them sendword," "People all when they come together | at night she said. I told you that," she said | they say. to you I will sing because I told you that," she said they say. "To you I will sing because

Then she sang they say. Deer their songs she sang they say. When she finished singing | day broke, when she finished singing they-say. Just she finished singing it was day they say. | "Well, people with you those I used to live just one to you I will sing again," she said | they say. "Very well," they said to her they say. Thus she sang they say.

"For her a smoke prepare," she said they say. "Jet pipe bent down | with it for her prepare," "Oh, a smoke she said. over there, oh, far I go it is," | she said they say. "Great dipper where it goes down I go it is, where I like it I go, I live. deer bucks for them I lie. There you pray (?), My navel (?) youmust pray." she said they say.

"There where your trails are deer its track long these one hasgone along I \mid it will be I, there," she said. Then there.

PRAYERS FOR HUNTING DEER.

her house they say. Then her grandchild with-Ests'annadlehi they say. | Ests'annadlehi spoke. "My grandchild, him she sat hunt," she said they say. | "My house new I willfor them "My house is bad," | she said. make again." she said. them he went they say.

he spoke they say. "Sun, my father, There I speak to you With | those you look upon I go," they say. for them he said. quickly "Please, it will be," he said they say. | "Largest those you look on quickly for me you bring it is," he saidwith to him they say.

Then to it he came they say. Deer the one he spoke about just that one in front of him as he was walking about he saw they say.

Then, "Wind my brother from me do not warn him," he said-to him | they say.

Then toward him he started they say. On the ridge toward him



ni n' a ko go da ko ja na γ a tc'i ni n na oz kat hi bi γ a do' na- γ a le ya yi t'a o ya go' yonł t'ok' tc'i ni n yonł t'ok go yi zes xi tc'i ni n go' ni γ i tc'i ni n ci go ye i xe ye'e n dit' a ko go ya ix xe n zi ci γ o ye i ye ix xe ye'e n di tci ni n bi γ o ye ca' an di

5 a ko go na n je yd na do'n nd' tc'i ni n a ko go na des dza tc'i ni n n la hn' bi ka na dn da' yil na do nd' tc'i ni n us tsan nadle hi ca' a bil n ni a ko go φ į a bi ya yo da na dn da na yil donit tci ni n

hi γał yo ci la hn bın ka n ka de ya na yił do nıt' tci ni n 10 xa do lel go a t'e ci la hn' do i dez 'a go li go na ca go 'a' dıc n di n nıt' tc'i ni n

ni te'i' na yo ka te'i ni n cık k'ıs n xa go do lei go 'a' nıi dıc n di ni te'i ni n

go' da' γa na bi dla tc'i ni n n tse do a na xın da go bin da ci' 15 da na di dza bi bi'a di go' yes xi go nai yi di ko go ail'i tc'i ni n a ko go do lel hi lan ai ni tc'i ni n ıs ts'an na dle hi an di tc'i ni n ai k'e go at da tc'i ni na go di tsa' hi a t'e

us tsan na dle hi bi ko wa bi ya go n di di' bun ka de ya tc'i ni n a ko go ko' do bun ts'e ut dun de hn xa go n dit tc'i ni n xa go-20 do lel n dit' tc'i ni n bi ye' ge ba' uc ci ne i sa i za dil dul xul go go' xa nan ye ba ul gai ye i de yi ya nai ti da' go ai yun la da' bun ka de ya go' ac t'i n nit' tc'i ni n

a ko go biñ ka tco γał ga o wan si k'ıs n xa go do lel go' an t'e bi' n li' bi ke'ın dli n di' ca' bi dn yil go 'at' t'e go' anl dic ni

25 a γa de' djin go na 'ai ni ni ja je nc li nł tc'i dił κιł si k'ıs n a γa da' xa go do leł go 'a t'e go a dıc ni n ka de ya go a dıc ni di ni tsi bi ka i do leł bi ts'i n tca' hi do leł go a t'e do xa yi 'ido leł go go' a t'e hi bi γa an nıł dıc ni

a ko go na γa be' ge' ba tc'ın ya go xa di' ca' ban ca ts'i n zi 30 tc'i ni dn' n γa di' a xan ne da xıl gıt' ai di' le' ts'ın zi go ai bi tc'i go' bi t'a' o tc'ın ya go' tc'onl t'ok tc'i zes xi go n tc'ın γi

di us ts'an ne a ko go us ts'an ne la' tc'i nol got' no li bi ni la' xol γal xe la' n nut' tc'i ni n bi dji la' xol γal xe la' a ko go do la' na zos de xe a t'e da' ce' no xol na go n nut' tc'i ni n he put his head up they say. | Then just there he looked about they-say. He prayed because he did not look. | Close to him when he came he shot they say. When he shot him he killed him | they say. Then he brought it they say. "My grandchild, thanks," she said. Then "Thanks," | she thought. "My grandchild (?) thanks," she said they say. His grandmother it was said it.

Then, "Hunt again," she said to him again they say. Then hestarted again | they say. "Your sister for her go again," she told him they say. Ests'annadlehi | it was said it. Then, "West under it go again," she told him again | they say.

Where he walked, "My sister after her, after you I go," he-said again they say. | "Quickly will be it is, my sister; not it moves it will be I go about I say," | he said they say

Wind he made requests of they say. "My brother, it will be soon I tell you," | he said they say.

Then he did the same again they say. First not far in front of-him | it came deer female then when he killed it he carried it. Thus he did to it they say. | Then, "It will be this way," that one said they say. Ests'annadlehi said it they say. | "That way, they-say. We do that again it is."

Ests'annadlehi her house from midway from top to bottom afterit he started they say. | Then, "Fire not first you go quickly," she said they say. "It will be soon," | she said they say. In it jet vessel mouth blood black | then the foam white stone cup shedipped it up, then (?) she did it. "Then | for it I go I am," he said they say.

Then for it he walked. "Ganowan, my brother, let it be soon it is. | Deer your pet you are in charge of them but me bring one it is I tell you."

"Please, sun you your child I am." "Wind black, my-brother, | please let it be soon it is I say," "For you I go I say. | Largest buck it will be. Its body large will be it is. It will not-be looking around | then it is for that reason I say it to you."

Then he walked about there when he came to it, "What way shall I approach it?" he thought | they say. "Over there closer ridge there will be," when he thought, that | toward it near when he came he shot it. When he killed it he brought it back.

"This woman then woman one flowing she may be its face | some she must not eat," he said they say. "Its heart some shemust not eat. Then | not some I kill again it will be when you-give me bad luck," he said they say.



a ko go n de da bi γa bị dai γa tc'i ni n dak' k'e go bị da xạ ga la xat din inh se di' do γel ci la' n de dn dit' tc'i ni n ne la le ne da n dit' tc'i ni n bị n de dai γa ni la go da γan di 'at da lih do n dit' tc'i ni n

5 di lijge to'ıj jonz n de dail ni an dak k'e a t'e to'i nin dini tsi bi ka i ja yiγa to'i nin dın n do too ıs kin da aγa t'e to'i nin γa hi o wan an da γan t'e to'i nin γa nl cin da γan t'e to'i nin

n la le da xa do'xoł dj.t da lił di ni tc'i ni n n de da hi ka tc'i ni n n de di hi dji yo dą' ki ki ci ji jonc si ti da bi ya k'e yo 10 da xa ał k'i dą' n de o hec dj.t' n de da' bi n di tc'i ni n da' di ca n di an t'e ni dą' si ti tc'i ni n n ne' ta gi ol dj.t tc'i ni n

da li ya γa yo da' da hi ya te'i ni n' n do teo' ıs ki n a t'i te'i ni n da' la hi go da' hil Gıt ji' xa ya te'i ni n a ko go n do teo ω ki n a t'i te'i ni n bi da γa xai n dıj te'i ni n ga bi da ge' 15 na γoj bın da ci' te'ıl si kat da na hi la yo o'yi tsi te'i ni n bi-da γa n i ail'i te'i ni n da' t'a ji' da' nas tsa te'i ni n bi γa yo xa ya n yo xa nas dza te'i ni n da xıl Gıt yo an nes da te'i ni n

yi te'i' a ko go da n da go de ya go da ca' te n zi te'i ni n tc'i ni n da a γa t'ε te'i ni n xa nan o no t'a bi da γa n i yi nił 'į 20 xa la o na no ta tc'i ni n da n da na go des dza go xa na t'a bi tc'i' t'a da ya te go Q'a tc'i ni n xa la o na no t'a tc'i ni n da an na na go de dza go xa na no t'a tc'i ni n da a γan t'e go Q'a tc'i ni n xa la' o na no ta tc'i ni n a ko go da n da na got des dza go yi te'i' xa na no ta te'i ni n bi' si li la te'i ni n bi de go li ni si ti go 25 vınltsa te'inin bida γani at'ε te'inin

a ko go yi tc'i' dez iz tc'i ni n ya nel iz go yonł t'ok go yi yez xi tc'i ni n a ko go da do yi kıc ϵ da'nł ti bi gos got' yo an o yi-xınl ti tci ni n ye ıt des γ i bi ko wa yo na yil go' tc'i ni n di n de yil ol dji dn'i da bın ga ϵ t di da' ın ts' ϵ n γ i tc'i ni n

30 ga la lij ke ji jonj n i ca' da t'e n zi go ka la noc'i ol je lan ci n zi go ai ji' de ya tc'i ni n da''i tin di' n ya e ci jonc n i di ni tsi bi ka i xa yi do xol tonl la go t'a bi tse n tc'i n gi tc'i ni n'

they killed people all of them deer they say. "Well who deer | they killed. first will bring in," one man said "Deer they say. | "All right," people they say. said who kills. many who kills," they said to each other they say.

This bullsnake, people said of him. The leader he is they say. Largest | buck only he kills they say. This man panther boy he is the same they say. | Ganowan, he, he is the same they say. Black Gan he is the same they say.

"Well, quickly let us hunt," they said to each other they say. Men started out | they say, men where they hunt. Then bullsnake lay right on his bed. | "Quickly, already men are hunting," people told him they say. "I go, | but presently (?)," he said still he laythere they say. Men three were hunting they say.

In different directions then he went they say. Panther boy itwas | they say. Just one ridge he came up they say. Then panther | boy it was they say. His beard he pulled out they say. Hair in front of him | valley in front bush stood right opposite he stuckit in they say. His whisker | he did it with they say. Then back he went they say. On top | where he had come up he went back up they say. Ridge beyond he sat down they say.

some time when time passed, "How is it?" Then he thought His whisker he looked at Toward it | he put his head up. thev sav. thev sav. It was the same they say. | He pulled his head down again thev sav. Some time when it had passed again he put his head upagain toward it. | Still the same way it stood they say. He pulled-Some time | when it had passed again his head down again they say. he put his head up again they say. Just the same it stood they say. He pulled his head down again they say. Then some time when ittoward it | he put his head up again passed again they sav. it had become they say. Its horns one that had lying down | hesaw it they say. That his whisker it was they say.

toward it he stepped they say. When he stepped to it when he shot it he killed it they say. Then not yet cutting it open he took it up. His shoulder across he put it they say. He started-His house when he carried it they say these those who went hunting with him all of them were not. Then first he brought it they say.

"Well, bullsnake I wonder how is it?" when he thought. "Well, let me look. Did he go hunting?" | when he thought there he started they say. Right at the doorway he came, bullsnake largest deer | buck he was pulling out. Still first he had brought it in they say.



di lan ol je ni din nts'e ni ge hi bunna'a e ak go la la tc'i ni n din ga o wan bi ke' xunl tc'i o yunl 'a la tc'i ni n bi'' na kai ge ya nya ya nal iz go di nl tc'i ni a ko nde' bi na kaiyon de' o xo ta' go bi' ni bic tca' bi tsa' o ki go da' jo go nal je 5 tc'i ni n

ai dạ'n din gạ hn l ji n bi ke' tơi co ge o yưn l a' la tr'i ni n go bị 'na kai ge ya n ya go ya nal ưz go n t'e go bi ke' dựn da ge dahil cựt dựn a' nal ưz n bi ts'i ts'ựn das a da bi tựs ge da hựl cựt xa lacun de bi t'a tsựn nai n ts'i ga yi la go dạ' tơ e t'ak di be bị 10 binh tsạ bi tsa' o kị tơ i ni n go' do la' nựt dai zes xị n do too' ni ba go nes na tơ i ni n

ako go ako αn na dil tc'i ni n hi bi γą na tco ką ga hn dd xd si k'us n n lị' nd n jo n di xa ca bư n yd go at'ε ganl ci n si k'us n n lị' ni l n jo n di cą bư n yd go at'ε n do tco uc ki n 15 n ko γa n tạ ni xa go do lel go at'ε Gi gel gi ji bi nh tạ ni xa go ca bi dn yil go at'ε lij gi dji jonj n kọ wa n tạ hi di ni tsi bi kạ i ca bi dn yil xa go do lel go at'ε n nit' tc'i ni n

di n de a γa dail n di go dai γa bị n toa i yo ket na o ka go ail 'į to'i ni n' da ko go

ORIGIN OF THE CLANS.1

20 da la hi go n de go li tc'i ni n' go tal ba ko wa gol ze ge ja' n de go li tc'i ni n' a ko go n de ni gos ts'an bi ka' n de di xi del tc'i ni n'

a ko go ts'į ton li ge' tsį te hi'a ge ba nan za tc'i ni n' di n de'n'i la cį' da dzą go no' li do no hi ts'į te n an ge xol no ze do 25 bil tc'i dn nt' tc'i ni n' go ai da 'ai ge' nanl sa tci ni n' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

a ko go nal woj ge na da' bư na di t'ị k'e nan za tc'i ni n' a ko go n de ła ci' da dzą go ni lị do lel bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' na da' bư na di t'in xo dol zel bư tc'i dn nư' tc'i ni n' ai da 'ai ge 30 ni nanl sa tc'i ni n dạ' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n' dan za yo o na na za

ts'e hil goj k'ai tse le an a yo ne' k'ai tse hi t'i ge nan za tc'ini n' a ko go n de la ci' da dzą go ni lį do lel bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i-

¹ Dictated by Antonio in February, 1910. A translation will be found on pp. 44-47, above.

This one man who hunted he first who brought in his helpers he had | they say. This one Ganowan after him wind he sent they-say. Deer | where they went about he came. When he stepped to-them this wind inside deer they went about in | when it went deer smelled him. From him when they ran just he came back from-hunting | they say.

Then this one Black Gan after him buzzard he sent they say. Then | deer where they went about when he came, when he stepped-up to them just then behind him ridge | where he was stepping about his head it lay just beyond it ridge over it | his wing he stuck up. This way when he did then he flew. This with deer | they saw him. From him they ran they say. Then not one they killed. Panther | won from them they say.

Then that they used to do they say. Because of that they pray. "Black Gan, | my brother you are. You like them but quickly tome bring them it is." "Ganlein, | my brother, you are you like them, but me bring them it is." "Panther boy, | your camp you raisethem, quickly it will be, pronged horn those you raise quickly me | bring it is." "Bullsnake your camp those you raise largest deer bucks me | bring. Quickly it will be it is," he said they say.

These people doing the same way they kill them. Deer large they ask. When they pray | they do it they say. So much.

ORIGIN OF THE CLANS.

Just one place people lived they say. Dance house where it isnamed only | people lived they say. Then people earth on it people started away | they say.

Then log by a stream log where it projected into the water to it they came they say. "Here | these people half right here you will-live. You Ts'itenange will be called," | he told them they say. Then those right there stopped they say. Forward | they went they say.

Then valley century plants where they stand in a line they came they say. | Then, "People half right here you will live," he said to-them they say. | "Nada'b&madit'in you will be named," he said to-them they say. Those right there | they settled they say. Then forward they went they say. Far they went.

Rock cañon willows stone come together in, willows where aline comes to the rock they came they say. | Then, "People half ni n' k'ai tse hi t'i 'n xo nol ze do bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' a ko go n de la ci' da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' ai n yo ge na de za tc'i ni n'

tse da des Gai ge nan za tc'i ni n' n de la ci' da dzą go ni li go 5 bil tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' a ko go ts'i des Gai n xo dol zel bil tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' go ai da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' an yo ge na de za tc'i ni n'

i ya xa djį k'e nan za tc'i ni n' dzą ge n de l'a ci da dzą gono li do lel bul tc'i dn nut' tc'i ni n' a ko go n ne la ci' da 'ai ge 10 ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' i ya xat djį xo dol zel bul tc'i dn nut' tc'i ni n' go ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' ai yon ge na de za tc'i ni dn'

k'ai hi tc'i ge nan za tc'i ni n' a ko go di n de d ni di' dat dzą go ni li do bd tc'i dn nd' tc'i ni n' k'ai n tc'i n xo nol ze do bd-tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' ai da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' ai di' yu ge 15 nad de za

tse yi' ge nan za tc'i ni n' n ne' l'a ci da dza go ni li do bdtc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' no' xi ts'e yi n xol no ze do bd tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' ai dn yo ge na de za tc'i ni n'

t'is hi ba ge bi k'ıj i xa na za tc'i ni n' n la le n de n i ıl ni di' 20 da dza go no li do lel bil tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' t'is se ban xon nol ze do bıl tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n ai da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n'

a ko go tł te'i' xa goz tel te'i ni dn' ai ge nanl za te'i ni dn' n de hi tł ni di' da 'ai ge ni nanł sa te'i ni n' no xi xa gos tel e xol no ze do bił te'i dn nt te'i ni n' ai da' yo ge na de za te'i ni n'

25 te dil woj ge nan za tc'i ni dn n de' ti ni di' da dza go ni ii do bil tc'i dn nt' tc'i ni n no' xi le dd goj n xol no ze do btl tc'i dn nt' tc'i ni n ai da' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

l'o ka da hi gai ge nan za te'i ni dn' di n dn ne da dza la' go ni li do bil te'i dn net' te'i ni n' no' xi l'o ka di gai n xol no ze do 30 bel te'i dn net' te'i ni n' ai da' yu ge na de za te'i ni n'

k'ai bi na go tel ge nan za tc'i ni dn' n de l'a ci' da ts'a go ni li do bi tc'i dn nit tc'i ni n' no' xi k'ail na go tel n xo nol ze do bil tc'idn nit' tc'i ni n'

a ko go to del xel go n li' ge nan za tc'i ni n' n de l'a ci' da dza

right here you will live," he told them they say. | "K'aitschit'i'n you will be called," he told them they say. Then | people half right-there they stopped they say. Those forward went | they say.

Stone where it is white 1 they came they say. "People half right here you will live," | he told them they say. Then, "Ts'idesGain you will be named," he told them | they say. Then those right there they stopped they say. Forward they went | they say.

Mesquite where is black ² they came they say. "Here people half, right here you will live," | he told them they say. Then people half right there | stopped they say. "Iyaxatdji you will be named," he told them they say. | Then there they stopped they say. Those forward they went they say.

Where red stripes of willow are they came they say. Then, "These people half right here | you will live," he told them they say. "Kaintc'in you will be named," he told them | they say. Those right-there stopped they say. There forward | they went.

Where rocks enclose they came they say. "People half right-here you will live," he told them | they say. "You Ts'eyin will benamed," he told them | they say. Beyond that they went they say.

Where brown stripes of cottonwood are on it they came up they-say. "Well, people half | right here you will live," he said to them they say. "T'isseban you will be called," | he told them they say. Those right there stopped they say.

Then toward each other shallow valleys come they say. There they came they say. | People half right there stopped they say. "You Xagostele | you will be called," he told them they say. Then forward they went they say.

Where canons meet they came they say. "People half right here will live," | he said to them they say. "You Leddgojn you will benamed," he told them | they say. Then forward they went they say.

Reeds where are white striped they came they say. "These-people right here some | will live," he said to them they say. "You L'okadigain you will be named," | he told them they say. Then onward they went they say.

Willows where with them the valley crosses they came they say.

"People half right here you will live," | he told them they say.

"You K'ailnagoteln will be named," he told them | they say.

Then where Black river flows they came they say. "People half right here you will live," he said to them they say. "You Toddxde



^{1 &}quot;Where a 'wash' of white sand is," the interpreter rendered it.

^{2 &}quot;Black running to the top (of a hill)," appears to be an exact translation.

go no li do bil te'i dn net' te'i ni n' no 'xi to del xel e xo nol ze do bel te'i dn net' te'i ni n' 'ai yo ge na de za te'i ni n'

a ko go dził li k'e si la ge nan za tc'i ni n' di dn ne hi la ci' da dzą no ni li do bił tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' no' xi dzıł li ke' sıl lan 5 xo nol ze do bıł tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n go ai da 'ai ge nanł sa tci ni n' ai dą' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

ts'i tse ts'es get' ge nan za tc'i ni n' di dn ne hi la ci' da dzą do no li do bil tc'i dn net' tc'i ni n' go n de la ci' da 'ai ge nanl sa tc'i ni n no 'xi ts'i tse xes k'i dn' xo nol ze do bel tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' 10 ai n yo ge na de za tc'i ni n'

da go des tso ge nan za tc'i ni n' di dn ne hi da 'ai ge la' go noli do bal tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' a ko go n ne' da 'ai ge la' ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' a ko go no' xi be il ts'on n xo nol ze do bil tc'i dn nat' tc'i ni n' ai n yo ge na de za tc'i ni n'

15 xa k'ai ye gol ze ge nan za tc'i ni n' n de la ci' da ts'a go noli do bil tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' a ko go n ne' la ci' da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' no' xi xa k'ai ye xo nol ze do bil tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' ai di' yu ge na de za tc'i ni dn'

tcư ni ye o'a ge nan za tc'i ni dn' di dn ne hi il ni di' da dzą 20 go no li do no' xi bil tc'i dn nư' tc'i ni n' a ko'go ai da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tci ni dn' no' xi tc'u ni ye na dn' a ye xo dol zel bul tc'i-dn nư' tc'i ni n' a ko go na de za tc'i ni n'

yu ge dan da yo te'il dzul dan jo ni go bil ya di hi lok' ge nan za te'i ni n' di dn ne hi la ci' da dza go no li do bul te'i dn nut' 25 te'i ni n' da 'ai ge ni nanl sa te'i ni n' no' xi te'il da di l'o ge xolno ze do bil te'i dn nut' te'i ni n' yu ge na de za te'i ni n'

tc'i' da des tc'i ge nan za tc'i ni n' n ne' la ci' da dzą go noli' do bul tc'i dn nut' tc'i ni n' da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' no' xi dec tcin xol no ze do bul tc'i dn nut' tc'i ni n' da' yu ge na de za 30 tc'i ni n'

t'is si ka ge nan za tc'i ni n' n ne' la ci' da dzą go no li do bil tc'i dn nt' tc'i ni n' no' xi t'is ka dn xol no ze do bil tc'i dn nt' tc'i ni n' da' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

n dil te'i' є dn t'i' gє nan za te'i ni dn' n nє il ni di' da dzą 35 go no li do bal te'i dn nit' tei ni n' no' xi n dil te'i' є dn ti' n xol noze do bil te'i dn nat' te'i ni n ai dą' yu gє na de za te'i ni n'

 $^{^1}$ This word may have been misheard for tse, rock, which agrees better with the etymology of the clan name.

you will be named," | he told them they say. Those onward theywent they say.

Then mountains one behind the other where they stand they came they say. "These people half | right here you will live," he told them they say. | "You Dzdike'sdlan | will be named," he said to them they say. Then those right there stopped they say. | Then onward they went they say.

Trees where rock runs out they came they say. "These people half right here | you will live," he told them they say. Then people half right there they stopped | they say. "You Ts'itsexesk'idn' you will-be called," he told them they say. | Those onward went they say.

Where a glade was yellow with flowers they came they say. "These-people right here some you will live," | he told them they say. Then people right there some stopped | they say. Then, "You Beilts'onn you will be named," he told them | they say. Those forward theywent they say.

Xak'aiye where it is called they came they say. "People half right here you will live," | he told them they say. Then people half right there they settled | they say. "You Xak'aiye will be named," he said to them they say. | Then onward they went they say.

Walnut where it stands they came they say. "These people half right here | you will live, you," he told them they say. Then those right there | they stopped they say. "You Tc'thiy enadn'ave will benamed," he told them | they say. Then they went they say.

Forward a little way brush mountain when it was pretty whereit was covered | they came they say. "These people half right here you will live," he told them | they say. Right there they stopped they say. "You, Tc'ildadii'oge you will be named," | he told them they say. Forward they went they say.

Red paint where it is red striped they came they say. "People half right here you will live," | he told them they say. Right there they settled they say. "You | Dectcin will be named," he told them they say. Then onward they went | they say.

Cottonwoods where they stand they came they say. "People half right here you will live," | he said to them they say. "You, T'iskadn you will be named," he told them | they say. Then onward they went they say.

Pines where they are in a line they came they say. "People half just here | you will live," he told them they say. "You, Ndiltc'i'-ednt'i'n you will be named," | he told them they say. Then onward they went they say.



na goc dez k'ij ge nan za tc'i ni dn n de' ła ci' da dzą go no li do bił tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' na go dej k'ij n xol no ze do bił tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n'

ts'e xa dac tei ge nan l za te'i ni n' n ne la ci' da dzą go no li do 5 bul te'i dn nut' tei ni 'n' no 'xi ts'e xa te'i n bil te'i dn nut' te'i ni n' dą' yu ge na de za te'i ni n'

ya go hi Gai k'e' nan za tc'i ni n' n ne' ła' da dza go no li do bił tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' ai da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' no' xi ya' go hi Gai n xol no ze do bil tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' ai da' yu ge 10 na de za tc'i ni n

i ya' ai bɨl ts'e gon tel ge nan za tc'i ni n' n de la ci' da dzą go no li do bil tc'i dn nɨt' tc'i ni n' no' xi i ya 'ai ye xo nol ze do bɨl tc'i dn nɨt' tc'i ni n' ai n yo ge na de za tc'i ni n'

t'is si ka ge nan za tc'i ni n' n de ła ci' no 'xi da dzą go no li do 15 bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' ai da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' no 'xi t'is hi yo si ka dn xol no ze do bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' ai di' yu ge na de za tc'i ni dn'

ts'e ts'ıt xes dji k'e nan za tc'i ni n' di dn ne hi no' xi da dza go no li do bil tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' n ne' da 'ai ge la' ni nanl sa 20 tc'i ni n' no' xi' ts'e tsıt xes dji ne xol no ze do bıl tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' ai da' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

n de ta da di Gıs la k'e' nan za tc'i ni n' di dn ne hi no' xi la' da dza go no li do bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' a ko go di dn ne hi la ci' da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' no' xi ta nas Gız n xol no ze do 25 bıl tc'i dn nıt' tc'i ni n' ai di' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

ni' xa da gos tso ge nan za tc'i ni n' di dn ne hi la ci' da dzą go no li do bul tc'i dn nut' tc'i ni n' no' xi i da ge xa go ts'o gn xol noze do lel bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' da' yo ge na de za tci ni n'

i nos tco' o djun ke' nan za tc'i ni n' di dn ne hi la ci' da dzą 30 go no li do bil tc'i dn nut' tc'i ni n' ai da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' no' xi i nos tco o djun xol no ze do bil tc'i dn nut' tc'i ni n' ai n yo ge na de za tc'i ni n'

ts' e' ts' t da xes γon ge nan za tc'i ni n' a ko go di n dn ne' no xi la ci' da dza go no li do bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' go ai

Where there is a notch in a ridge they came they say. "People half right here you will live," | he told them they say. "Nagodejk'ijn you will be named," he told them | they say.

Rock where it has vertical red stripes they came they say. "People half right here you will live," | he told them they say. "You Ts'exatc'in," he told them they say. | Then onward they went they say.

Where there were small white hills they came they say. "People some right here you will live," | he told them they say. Those right-there they settled they say. "You | Ya'gohigain you will be named," he told them they say. Then onward | they went they say.

Wormwood where valleys come to the cañon with it they came they say. "People some right here | you will live," he told them they say. "You Iya'aiyε you will be called," | he said to them they-say. Those onward went they say.

Cottonwoods where they stand they came they say. "People half you right here you will live," | he told them they say. Those right there they settled they say. "You | T'ishiyosikadn you will-be named," he told them they say. There onward | they went they-say.

Rock where black points run up they came they say. "These-people, you right here | you will live," he told them they say. People right there some settled | they say. "You Ts'ets.txesdjine you will be called," he told them they say. | Then forward they went they say.

People where they bathe they came they say. "These people you | some right here you will live," he told them they say. Then these people | half right there they settled they say. "You Tanas-Gızn will be named," | he told them they say. There forward theywent they say.

Earth where it stands up yellow they came they say. "These-people half right here | you will live," he said to them they say. "You Idagexagots'ogn you will be called," | he said to them they say. Then onward they went they say.

Manzanita where it was brown they came they say. "These-people half right here | you will live," he told them they say. Those right there they settled they say. | "You Inostcoodjin you will be-called," he told them they say. Those onward | they went they-say.

Rock where rough points stick up they came they say. Then, "These people, | you half right here you will live," he told them



n ne hi la' da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'i ni n' no 'xi sa go ne xo dol zel bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' da' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

sai e di Gai ge nan za tc'i ni n' di dn ne hi ła ci' da dzą go nołi do bił tc'i dn nt' tc'i ni n' ai n ne' ił ni di' da 'ai ge ni nanł sa 5 tc'i ni n' no' xi sai e di Gai n xol no ze do btł tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' ai dą' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

tse sin dil ge nan za tc'i ni n' di dn ne' la ci' da dzą go no li do bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' no' xi tses n nil n xol no ze do bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' ai dą' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

10 na do xo tsos ge nan za tc'i ni n' di n dn ne hi da dzą go no li do bul tc'i dn nut' tc'i ni n' a ko go n de' da 'ai ge la' ni nanl sa tc'i-ni dn' no' xi na' do xo ts'os n xol no ze do bil tc'i dn nut' tc'i ni n' ai n yo ge na de za tc'i ni n'

bis za xe' gol ze ge! nan za tc'i ni n' n de' la ci' da dzą go no-15 li do bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' a ko go ai da 'ai ge ni nanl sa tc'ini n' no' xi' bi sa xe' xol no ze do bil tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' da' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

na dd kal si ka ge nan za tc'i ni n' di dn ne hi ła ci' da dzą go no li do bił tc'i dn nit' tc'i ni n' a ko go ai da 'ai ge ni nanl sa 20 tc'i ni n' no' xi na dd kail si ka dn xol no ze do bd tc'i dn nut' tc'i-ni n' ai dą' yu ge na de za tc'i ni n'

l'o ka thư c'i di' da des Gai k'e nan za tư i ni n' di dn ne hi il ni di' da dzą go no li do bil tư i dn nư ' tư i ni n' go ai da 'ai ge ninanl sa tư i ni n' no' xi l'o ka da des Gai n xol no ze do bil tư i dn nư ' 25 tư i ni n'

ni gos ts'an bi ka' n de go li ni a da t'i tc'i ni n'

¹ The sound in the final syllables, written sometimes g and sometimes k', was here noted as g'. The sound is in all probability an intermediate (G). The San Carlos release of intermediates is sudden, rendering them hard to distinguish from glottally affected stops.

they say. Then those | people some right there they settled they-say. "You Sagon ϵ^1 will be called," | he told them they say. Then forward they went they say.

Sand where it was white they came they say. "These people half right here you will live," | he told them they say. These people half right there they settled | they say. "You Sai&digain you will-be called," he told them they say. | Then onward they went they-say.

Stones where they are in a round pile they came they say. "These people half right here you will live," | he said to them they say. "You Tsesnniln you will be named," he told them | they say. Then onward they went they say.

Where there is a narrow ridge they came they say. "These people right here you will live," | he told them they say. Then people right there some | they settled they say. | "You Na'doxots'osn youwill be called," he said to them they say. | These onward they went they say.

Adobe (?) where it is called they came they say. "People half you will live," | he told them right here they say. Then those right there they settled they say. | "You Bisaxe' will be called," he said to them they say. Then | forward they went they say.

Gourds where they stood they came they say. "These people half right here | you will live," he said to them they say. Then those right there they settled | they say. "You Naddkailsikadn you will be called," he told them they say. | Then onward they went they say.

Reeds toward each other where they make white stripes they came they say. "These people half | right here you will live," he said to-them they say. Then those right there they settled | they say. "You, L'okadadesgain you will be called," he said to them | they say.

Earth on it people who lived they did it they say.

^{1 &}quot;Sand (?) people."

THE DEVELOPMENT OF APACHE CULTURE.1

n ne' do ya t'e bi ye go li da go 'n ne n da goz le' tc'i ni n' i k'ał et di tc'i ni n' i ban et di tc'i ni n' tco ba' a da t'i tc'i ni n' i kai ye' bi ts'i si ni ai be ke' l'a yi na dai dal l'o tc'i ni n' go ye na kai tc'i ni n' bi tc'at' et di tc'i ni n' n go t'e hi dai bij tc'i ni n' 5 go bi tc'at' tc'i ni n' ye bi tca ga ce ya naz djet' tc'i ni n' da 'ai as ts'an ne bi la kal tc'i ni n' a ko go i ban et di tc'i ni n tc'at' et di tc'i ni n' i ts'at' et di tc'i ni n' ai bi ga a da t'i tc'i ni n'

da 'ai he ja' ye gon li tc'i ni n' a ko go n de' tc'o ba' a da t'i tc'i ni n' i go ba ne naz a yo na da ko yul get' tc'i ni n' a ko dlos-10 ts'on se dai dul lit' tc'i ni n ko' n de k'a yo na da goz zit tc'i ni n' bi 'o' n da dez ga ni na dai hi la go dail xaj tc'i ni n' di ye da xun da tc'i ni n' tc'o ba' a da t'i go a da t'i tc'i ni n'

a ko go na da' us ts'an ne yun k'a xa kai tc'i ni n' na da' naz a yo xat dai xuł kał tc'i ni n' bec et di tc'i ni n' do dai xol ze hi ye 15 dai hi gej tc'i ni n' a ko go xa go ge ge n yi huł deł t'a tsa be tc'i ni n' a ko go tc'uj n yi huł deł tc'i ni n' n jo go a daz la tc'i ni n' ts'e' bi ka' ji' n jo go a daz la tc'i ni n' ko' da des nil bił ni den ka' tc'i ni n' ts'e' go jo go sut dok si li tc'i ni n' a ko go bi ka' yo na da' n dai hun dił tc'i ni n a ko go l'o' bi ka' ji be n dai xez nil 20 tc'i ni n' a ko go lej bi ka' ji' ye n jo go a daz la tc'i ni n a ko go na ki' bes ka tc'i ni n a ko us ts'an ne ya nanł sa a daił i ni ya nanł sa tc'i ni n lej n i yo dai hi zut' tc'i ni n na da n i tsi t'e go jo go go xat dai hun dił n wa yo uł ts'a yo n dai hun dił n jo go si t'e la da ni tc'i ni n' di bi hi dan tc'i ni n' n de' ni gos ts'an 25 bi ka' de xes del li a da t'i tc'i ni n' di bi hi dan tc'i ni n'

na dji' l'o' il an go a t'e hi da bi ga bi hi dan go a da t'i tc'i ni n n de ba go tc'o ba' tc'i ni n' a ko go gon li tc'i ni n a ko go ye dan i do lel hi la go li la tc'i ni n

Dictated by Antonio in February, 1910. The translation is to be found on pp. 47-49, above.

THE DEVELOPMENT OF APACHE CULTURE.

Indians not anything theirs when they had Indians were living they say. Rawhide was not they say. Dressed skins were not theysay. Poor they were they say. | Yucca its stalk that soles of theirthey tied on they say. Then with them they traveled they-Their blankets This kind 1 they plaited say. were not they say. they say. | Then their blankets they say with them their children they put them to bed they say. Just that women their skirts they-Then dressed skins were none they say. Blankets | were none Sinew they say. That they were they say. was none because they say.

These only with they lived they say. Then Indians poor theywere they say. Sotol where it stood they set fire they say. There mice | they scorched they say. Fire where it burned out thevscraped away the ashes they say. Those that were not burned whenthey ate them they say. These they picked up with they lived they say. Poor when they were they were they say.

mescal² Then women after it went up they say. Mescal where it stood | they pounded it out they say. Knives were not they say. Flint called with it | they trimmed them they say. Then where it had been dug out they carried them. burden basket they say. | Then wood they brought they say. Well they arrangedit they say. Stones on it well they arranged they say. Fire theyplaced with them it burned down | they say. Stones well they say. Then on it | mescal they piled up they say. Then grass over it with they spread | they say. Then earth on it with well they arranged they say. Then | two days pass they say. There women to it came; those who did it to it came That earth they scraped off they say. That mescal cooked good then they took them out. Over there different places they put them. "Good | they are cooked," they say they say. These their food they say. People earth on it they were beginning to live they were they say. These their food they say.

Seeds, herbs different kinds those are all of them being their-food they are | they say. Indians poor they say. Then they lived they say. | Then what they would eat they had they say.



¹ Berk.

² A century plant of moderate size.

a ko go bị xol ze' hi hi lạ go li lạ di a da t'ị tc'i ni n' dlonctc'o xol ze' hi go li dlą di a da t'i tc'i ni n Ga' xol ze hi go li dlą
a da t'i tc'i ni n ai da bin ga yi da gos sit' tc'i ni n l'o ka xol ze' hi
bi k'a' tc'i ni n' d t'ị xol ze hi bd t'ị tc'i ni n' bị go li yo bi k'a
5 dec dị t' dzd naz a yo bi k'a dec dị t' tc'i ni n' a ko bị yi yes xị
tc'i ni n a ko go 'ai bi ts' t' go li lạ tc'i ni n ko wa yo i yan delo¹ bi tc'a nil da da di tan ne yo bi ke' bi ke l'a go na dail kat tc'ini n' di bi l'a da da di tą yo bi ke' a dai le' tc'i ni n bi ka ge'
dail tse' go di il li go a dail le' tc'i ni n a ko go a da ko hi go yi10 da d kat go bi ke ta ge a dai le' tc'i ni n' a ko go da bi ke' tc'i ni n'
bi ts' tt' da 'ai be a dail į tc'i ni n'

a ko go n la i na' xol ze' hi go li la tc'i ni n' be hin' da' hi yil go li la tc'i ni n' a ko go n de' ye dan 'n i na' go di za tc'i ni n' tol k'ai ye ye dai 'n i tc'i ni n' li' dai 'n i na go di dza tc'i ni n' 15 ba ga ci dai 'n i na go di dza a ko go an ni ta tol k'ai ye bi l'a ka di ta yo bi ke l'a na dai t'i' na go di dza tc'i ni n li' bi l'a ka' di ta yo bi ke' l'a n dai t'i' go de ya tc'i ni n' ba ga ci bi ka ge di tan ne hi bi ke' l'a yo n dai t'i' i ban bi' bi ka ge di il li go hi zan ne hi di k'e go yel na dail kat' go bi ke si li tc'i ni n' i ts'e hi 20 tc'o ba' a da t'i' n i an ni ta n jo di k'e go dla dan dit' tc'i ni n'

ko go an ni ta bi ts'ıt' bi kał ba ga ci bi ka ge a xol ze' ai i kał xol ze' di lą da dn nıt' tc'i ni n' bił da go jo tc'i ni n' di k'ego lą da dn nıt' tc'i ni n' dan i ni gos ts'an bi ka' dn de hi dan i go
a da ni tc'i ni n' do xa di be k'e a t'e go des kai tc'i ni n' i na'
25 bi ko wa ge yi tc'i' na dzeł tił tc'i ni n i na' n i yo ge ts'ın' dıt tso
tc'i ni n' a ko go bi tc'i dn' i na dai hin dił tc'i ni n' na ba yo
a da t'i' tc'i ni n'

a ko go gon li yo yił n dai hi ka si li tc'i ni n' di k'e go la dan di tc'i ni n ni gos ts'an bi ka' ni n li ni bi di yot' bi tc', t' 30 bi ke' et di go go li ni a ko yi da γo sit' tc'i ni n di k'e go n jo la

¹ For i vinl del vo.

Then deer that called those they found there were these theythey say. Wood-rats | those called they found out were living, were there they were they say. Rabbits those called they found out wereliving they were they say. These all they learned about they say. Mulberry those called | their arrows they say. that called they say. their bows Deer where they lived their arrows (?) 1 theyhunted: mountain where it stood for them they hunted There deer they killed | they say. Then their sinew those found they had they say. Camp where they bought them | their lowerwhere they are thick their moccasins the soles of their moccasins then they sewed on they say. These sides of the iaw where it istheir moccasins they made they say. Their hides when theywhen they were soft they made them they say. middle of the leg when they sewed on their tops they made they say. their moccasins they say. Their sinew just that with theymade them they say.

enemy 2 those called they found were living they-Then there Those by means of which they lived | with them they found outsav. stealing they began they say. Then Indians Burros they stole they say. Horses they stole they began they say. Cattle they stole they began. Then now burros their hips | whereit is thick their soles they put they began they say. Horses theirhips where it is thick their soles they put it began they say. Cattle their skins | the thick ones the soles of their moccasins they put. their skins soft | those dressed this way (tops) deer when they sewed on their moccasins became they say. At first "Good, we found this way was," those who had been poor now they said they say.

Then now their sinew, their rawhide, cattle their skins calledthose | rawhide called "These are." they said they say. that "This is the kind," | they said They were pleased with it they say. people stealing way they said it they say. Stealing earth on it they say. Everywhere this way they went they say. Enemy hishouse toward they ran they say. The enemy onward ran away they say. Then their blankets they picked up they say, where theywent to war | they did it they say.

Then where they lived with them they came they became theysay. "This is the way," | they said they say. Earth on it thosewho were living their property, their blankets, | their shoes when they-

¹ Probably bika, "for them."

² Usually means American, but here Mexicans are meant.

da dn nư' tc'i ni n da ai k'e go ja n ts'i daz kez bi ni ye tc'i ni n di k'e go ja' n jo la da n dư tc'i ni n' i tc'i i xo ja' go jo la da n dư tc'i ni n

da 'ai k'e go yın k'a na di kai tc'i ni n' n de dan 'i go 5 na dikai te'inin' dik'εgo ja njola dan di te'inin' a ko go dan 'n i na go di za tc'i ni n' do dn de go da ne gos ts'an bi ka' ni go li ni do ya t'e be ni n li' go da a da t'i' tc'i ni n' a ko go in i go tc'o ba' a da t'i' go des kai tc'i ni n y€ n jo go n jo la da dn nıt' tc'i ni n' n ts'i daz kez di k'e go i na' na di ka' 10 xol ze hi hi la ya xa da hi nił ła ya t'i na dja go a daił į tc'i ni n' a ko go na di ka' yil n da hi kai yo ιs ts'an ne bi la kal ya adaile' te'inin ıj yi bilakalını njogo adaile' ba' te'inin di b∈ njola dan ni tc'i ni n' dai ai k'e xo ja na tsi da dn kez te'i ni n di k'e go n jo la da dn nit' te'i ni n'

DESCRIPTION OF APACHE CEREMONIES.1

15 n ne bits'i ke' go tał n de bił go ne dli go a da t'į l'e n² n wa ci n t'i' bi jan ko ji ne n de n t'i' n ga da t'i go tał l'e hn a ko go l'e' go a da ti' a ko go xai inł ka go lį n din li le bi jan daił ni yił go tał go dł ka go ya da yi xın ndł lį' n wa yo bi ta ba' go lį yo n na dai hi los a ko go ci ta n di li ci na del t'į da nd le hn i xe ye e 20 st ts'i' n jo da ni le' hn'

a ko go di bi jan la ni la' i ban bic teo i ban n te'a i na ki ta gi ba da hi nil le hn' li bi gil ban da da da hi nil le hn' a ko go bil da go le hn' be dal t'o bi na da di he nil go bal da go jo le hn' te'at' bi na da di he nil go bil da jo le hn' k'a yel bi na da di he nil go 25 bil da go jo le hn' ke xa dal kat' gol ze' hi ba da hi nil go bal da go-

Dictated by Antonio in February, 1910.

² The syllable l'e should be le' as below.

were not they were now they knew them they say. "This way is good," | they said they say. Just that way only they thought their minds they say. | "This way only is good," they said they-say. "Stealing only is good," they said | they say.

Then just this way after them they traveled they say. People stealing | they went they say. "This way only is good," they said they say. Then stealing they came to do they say. Not like Indians earth on it | those who were living. When they had nothing to live with they were they say. Then very good | stealing poor when they were they say. With good | they thought. "This way thev went good," they said they say. Enemy cloth called that they tookmuch when they fought they did they say. Then where they came back women skirts who had none | for them with they made they say. Bark their skirts had been, good they made is good," for them they say. | "This with they said Just this way only they thought about | they say. "This way is good," they said they say.

DESCRIPTION OF APACHE CEREMONIES.

Indians their daughters dance men with them good time theyare accustomed to do. One that side | are in line woman. Here men
are in line doing this way (facing) they are accustomed to dance. Then |
at night they do it. Then when day breaks horses these (?) bijan 1
they call | when they dance with them when it dawns they give them.
Horses over there their fathers their mothers where they live | theylead them. Then, "My father," she says, "horse they gave me,"
they are accustomed to tell them. "Thanks, | my daughter, good,"
they are accustomed to say.

Then these woman many some buckskin large deer buckskin large two, | three to them they are accustomed to give them. Saddle on them they are accustomed to put. Then | they like them. Rifle on them when they put they are accustomed to be happy about it. Blankets | on them when they put they are accustomed to be pleased. Quiver on them when they place | they are accustomed to be pleased. Moccasins sewed up 2 those called when they give them they are-



Literally "by herself," but now used of single women with unfavorable implication.

² Literally "sewed up" that is to the top, the long moccasins.

jo le hn' bi jan da bi ga a dail i le hn' n de a da bil i le hn' a ko go bi ga go tal le hn' ya' bil da go jo ni bi ga a dail t'i' le hn'

ła'i n ne' bi jan go di k'e go go tał łe hn' bi jan n de bił ai ał do' da ga daił į lį' ya dai yi hi nił i ban ya dai yi hi nił tc'ιt' 5 ya dai yi hi nił li bi gil ya dai yi hi nił be dd t'o ya dai yi hi nił k'a geł ya dai yi hi nił ke' ya dai yi hi nił łe hn' hi bi ga a dai ił le hn' bił da go jo hi bi ga a dai tił en' a ko go n de bi jan n de yił da go jo go hi bi ga a da t'ił en'

la'i di k'e go na xes ta n de di γi ni i do al n de le dn t'i la go 10 bi n de ji ne bi jan le dn t'i go da do al le hn' n de' la' n di go a dan ni le hn' ai bi ga (i do al)' a da ni le hn' a ko go a da t'in go go li le hn'

ła i nne' nigos ts'an bi ka' go li ni da bi ga n ła' a t'i da łahi ge bi jan us ts'an ne n de xas t'i yo san tca ga ce da bi ga 15 n ła' a t'i a ko go tc'uj buł n na huz ze ai ge un sa' bi dad di l'o' ts'un' ye yił do do do do huł tsa go a ko go n de ko' łą go n t'i' n la go tc'uj łą go n la ci n de da bi ga da n'ą łą go xas t'i yo ni ba yan n l'a de i ci ki n da n'ą hi le

i la dn da da yi nił k'a geł da da yi de tł tị da da yi nił be dil t'o 20 da da yi nił na di ba ga ci bi kał li tci ko bi ka' ba yo le dn t'i i ts'a bi t'a' bi tse le dn t'i bec i gał le dn t'i go n de da do'ał ko go bi t'i 'a n de' bi na di go li ni bi ji be xo dji a go on xol ze hn bił di ni go go na di i ko di da di t'i ai da' ko de go hi i la hn da di ti n la ge ko' ko' ba ji' ni ga' di' ga t'i n de' go 25 i jij n de hi ai da' da do ał n de' xac ke hi da bi ga di k'e le n t'i ał do' go na go tał na ni go a nda go tał k'a geł da dai yin de bedd t'o da dai yin nił i la dn da dai yi nił go a da t'i le hn'

bi jan bi k'ıj na zi yil len t'i go go tal go a da t'i le hn' a ko go

¹ Alternate rendering for the following.

accustomed to be pleased. | Women all of them they are accustomedto treat so. Men are accustomed to treat them so. Then | that is why they have dances. For them those who are happy for that reason they are accustomed to do it.

Another. Man girl this way 1 are accustomed to dance. with those also do that way. Horse they give them. skins they give them. Blankets | they give them. Saddles Rifles they give them. | Quivers they give them. they are accustomed to give them. For this reason they are accustomedto do it. They are happy because of that they are accustomed to do it. men women men with them | those who are happy because they are accustomed to do it.

Another this way 2 they sit; man who is holy sings. Men arein a circle 3 many. Behind him girls being in a circle they are accustomed to sing. Man one who is sick | they are accustomed to-sing it. That because they are accustomed to sing. Then when they-do it | he lives.

Another. People earth on it who live all of them are together. Just one place | girls, women, men, old men, old women, children all of them | are together. Then wood they march there with. There vessel they tie its opening. | Stick with it they beat it. "Dododo," it sounds. Then men fire many are in line. | Here wood much. Here men all of them are massed. Many old men, | men just grown, youths, boys are massed.

Spears they hold. Quivers they hold. Bows they hold. they hold. Shields cattle their hides red here on the border encircling it. | Eagle their feathers their tails encircle it. rattles encircle it. Then men they sing. This one they call by name man his shield who has his name with they name. Agoon | mannamed when they speak to him then shield here 4 he holds. Then here ⁵ | spear he holds. There fire by the edge he walks. There | he does this way 6 man. He dances, the man. Then they sing. the brave ones all of them this way they form a circle, also. Theydance around. they dance. Quivers they hold, In a circle they hold. spears when they hold shield when they hold they do it. between them he stands making a circle with them

¹ Illustrated with fingers coming to and receding from each other.

² Sitting with folded arms.

³ Sitting, not standing.

⁴ Left hand.

Right.

Prances as if he were about to attack some one.

bư da go jo go a da t'i a ko go bi jan da a bi ga є da tc'oj n de di dan'ani n la k'є bi jan na da n'ani yoc di' bi tc'j' da ts'i-hfil t'el bi jan da bi ga a da t'i n de da bi ga a da il i da' n la bi jan yu go ci' n la ci nen n t'i n de ni la de da bi ga bi tc'j' 5 na dil tse di k'є go go tal go a da t'i l'є' go a da t'i da go tal go yu ka go a da t'i lє hn' a ko go bil da go jo hi bi ga a da t'i lє hn'

di bijan gotali anl

ka t'e go na zel ai dan da t'i bitc'i' na zeł ą l'o' i ga t'e go xa dai hi nic te'ıl i ła xa t'e hi da bi ga lit' da hıl ts'o go 10 nał seł i da bi ga l'o' da vol ts'o a di hi yał i ts€ a ko dja ge a di hi γał i ts'i' da dje he bi ka' da his so n ts'e gon jo le' i sa yo hinc na le ts'in na tci he do lel go a di dail so ľo bi ka' da hil ts'o ge dan di go ts€ yıl da hi 'a' yo g€ tc'e ga

15 bi ki di' hi gał i a t'i al do' da i k'e go da gan di go jo le hine na le' tsi na dji he do lel go a t'e dan di n de na sel i da bi ga a ga ni go ts'in na se yi tc'i' tso da dd zi go go jo le daił ni go a da t'i le hn'

THE SISTERS LURED BY A FLUTE (Second Version).1

ał ki da dji ni kowa dji ni na li na ki go di je bił tc.j 20 xa na dji taj dji ni a ko go na dji n taj go a ko na dji des taj dji ni ci di je de jo ne xe a ni yu do taj ni dji ni

ai i ako dji delaj dji ni ako go lustco biko wa ge dji naj dji ni ai lostcu ani dji ni nde xade cu aj ni dji ni ako go nko de jo ne ani yu de daj ni dji ni ako go dani adn ni ne 25 ni dji ni ako go ci do adoc ni da ni dji ni

aidi nadjidestaj djini yunasu gusussi ba djinaj djini

¹ Told by Dananildel, a San Carlos woman, in 1905, but redictated by Sidney Smith, a Tonto Apache who, however, had long lived with the San Carlos. Phonetically the text may be somewhat mixed. The free translation is on pp. 71-72, above.

dance they are accustomed to do it. Then when they are happy theydo it. Then girls all of them they touch. Men these when theyare massed over here girls those massed here toward them do that. all they do it to. run. Girls all Men Then men are in line. Men, girls, beyond here youths all them | they go. This way they dancing they do it. At night When they dance | until daybreak they are accustomed to do it. Then they are happy for that reason they are accustomed to do it.

This girls their dance all.1

This way they move in line. Those form a line toward it they-march. Grass this way 2 | they pull out, brush different kinds all mixed together, much | those marching all grass hold in their hands. The leader stones there where they are piled | the leader the stone-pile on it brushes himself first prays for good luck | there he brushes himself. "Forever may I live as long as this pile lasts it is," | when-they say grass on it where he puts stone he puts with it. Then onward | he goes.

After him who walks just that way he does. Also he says thesame. "Good luck, | may I live as long as the pile lasts it is," theysay. Men many who march | all of them saying the same thing pass by. Toward it when they pray, "Let there be good luck," | whenthey say they are accustomed to do it.

THE SISTERS LURED BY A FLUTE.

Long ago they say. House they say. Maidens two, her sister with wood | they two went for they say. Then when they two cameback, there they two started | they say. "My sister, beautiful where it sounds let us two go," she said they say.

Those there they two started they say. Then wood-rat where-his house was they two came | they say. That wood-rat spoke they-say. "What are you two going after?" he said they say. Then, | "Here beautiful where it sounds we two go," she said they say. Then, "True, did you say that?" | she said they say. Then, "I did not say it," he said they say.

Then they went on again they say. Beyond squirrel to him

Pull a handful.



¹ The informant said it was the description of: Teeki ba gote'ital, "girl for dance," nde ndihi bike' dotal, "man sick on him dance" and ba si'a, "war lies."

a ko go na hwo dji dni kit dji ni a ko go de ju ne a ni yu de taj ni dji ni a ko go du ci a di ci ni da ni dji ni

ai di yu naz yu xa gu das dai ba dji aj dji ni a ko go na hwudji dnł kt dji ni a ko go de ju ne xe a ni yu de taj da ni dji ni 5 a ko go ci a dto ni dji ni a ko go xa la dn ni hi ni dji ni a ko go a dn ni dji ni wu hwu wu a ko go ci dji je da as do ni dji ni

yu nas yu dji na dji taj dji ni yu naz ge dlu da na nas da dji ni dlu li tci i ai i dlu a ni dji ni n de a de cu aj ni dji ni a ko go dlu a ni dji ni n de xa de cu aj ni dji ni ai dlu a ni dji ni 10 ac ci ni dji ni a ko go xa la adn ni da yil ni dji ni a ko go a dn ni dji ni tcit tcit tcit tcit ni dji ni ni do da ni dji ni

ai adanixi bikije xadjijaj djini akogo dagułaji adanni djini sul do i akogo gutdjije nadjoka djini akogo adnni djini hiihiihiiu hiihiihii yani djini ain ako 15 cidjije ni djini akogo bitcu yil naxestala djini akogo bitcu tcij xadaxiyala djini akogo bikız zego datcis dezaj djini akogo sanne bitcu ixi ba djiaj djini ba akogo bidjini ka djini nada akogo djeki ndadesti djini

ai i lat di nal djit djini a ko go xa dn no xa ya la ni djini 20 a ko go san a ni djini a dn la 2 no hwa do gal go a ni ni djini ci la hwuj go a de ni djini a ko go san tcij xa o ya djini bi la da i lat de bi tcu n i bil na tci xe ta djini a ko go san n i xas kel djini a ko go bi tsu wi ke n i a ni djini n det la bi la bahwu tci ni djini a ko go i la hwu bil na u tsi il ni gu a ni le ni djini 25 a ko go san i yil na o tsil ni djini i la yu na bal djini ai i djeke n i na de taj djini

akogo ai djeke legetai xiltsan silila djini akogo nadjidestaj djini akogo iltsanni ictcila djini itinke yu uckin yuctcila djini akogo ba bikowayu nataj djini akogo 30 ickun goya djini



Corrected to ai, "that."

² Probably xa dn la.

they came they say. | Then he asked them again they say. Then, "Beautiful where it sounds we two go," | she said they say. Then, "Not I said it," he said they say.

Then onward dove sat to him they came they say. Then he questioned them again | they say. Then, "Beautiful where it-makes a noise we two go," they said they say. | Then, "I I said it," they say. Then, "Well, you say it," she said they say. Then | he said it they say. "Wuhwuwu." Then, "My sister, pretty nearly," she said they say.

Onward they two went again they say. There beyond bird satagain they say. Bird red, that bird spoke they say. are you going after?" he said they say. Then | bird spoke they say. he said they say. That bird said it "What are you going after?" they say. | "It is I," he said they say. Then, "Well. sav it." Then he said it | they say. "Test test test," she told him they say. he said they say. "You, not," she said they say.

That one he who whistled above him they two came up they say. Then below they were singing | they say. Flute did it. Then hersister she asked they say. Then | it sounded they say. "Hii hii hii u hii hii hii." they said. "That person there, | my sister," his grandmother with he was living they say. Then they say. Then on the hill-Then his grandmother wood went for they say. side they two came down | they say. Then old woman their grandmother to her they two came they say. For her then | they ground they say, corn. Then girls they hid they say.

came back from hunting Those young men they say. Then. "Who came to us?" he said they say. Then old woman spoke they say. | "Myto us has come." they say. "Nobody she said skirt fringe did it," old woman she said they say. Then they say. In her absence went after youths their grandmother they stayed with them they say. Then old woman was angry theysay. Then her grandchildren spoke they say. "Why did you getangry?" he said they say. Then over there with when she struckhim he said it (?) they say. Then old woman knocked him down they say. Over there he fell they say. Those girls two started back they say.

Then that girl youngest pregnant she found she became they-say. Then they two started back | they say. Then the one pregnant gave birth they say. On the trail boy | she bore they say. Then their mother her house they two returned they say. Then | boy grew they say.



ako go nal ji djini ako go ac bi di bi djat ge dji kal djini ai da gu ta silini gu la yu naj la djini ako go dlu ni gol nagus ni djini ci djat ni ju gu ca a na dle da ni naguc ni ni djini ako go yan ya djini ako go an uckun ni gus dluc nai 5 n lek djini ako go bi djat yil yi ke n lek go njo go a na yi dla djini ako go bi djat njo go a na dji dla da nta da dju gal n ni djini ai da nadn ni djini

ako go ucki ni ni bi ka yu¹o yil kat da tcal da xis gut dji ni bi ko wa yu ako go gu ta ni da djul gal lañ ke yu na si tsa dji ni 10 ako go djut be tcun nes ti dji ni ako go go ma nko nta bi kan ni go go le da luj dji ni

akogo na li di bi la di bi tci xaya la dji ni akogo tse n te le xi yi da de a la dji ni ai da djit lu ni gu a yi la la ai da yu ya o bil ti la dji ni akogo ba djit bi ke yu o i xes kat la dji ni 15 akogo et di la dji ni akogo na da gu tci ge be di ke aku ya o an dji ni akogo aku ya o tsil te dji ni ba bi ka e bi tcu du' ada di ca dji ni akogo aku ij ki ni xi xil gol dji ni akogo bi ja je gu li ni adn ni dji ni akogo da la xi di ci ge na n dec ni dji ni

20 ako go tun li djini ako go na le li isa ale djini ako go ic kin xin i adn ni djini n ko di n ne da sizil ke xi cil da yi de ni djini ako go san ni bi djat na yi des get djini bi ka natsi des got djini ako go gu tcu go ma go ka e bil ta ba n tsin ltel djini ako go nu dja je nu tsa il gol ni djini ako go san-25 ne xe n djat nu dji na n tce ni djini ako go ic kin ni xa tsi djini ako go n djat bi ka i ka go da il ni ge da gon ya go cis do do ni ga ni djini ako go bi djat yi na de tsi go go a ga tsa djini i kan n de ta djini ako go gu ma n i ten de djini ako go ya ki ta ka da sil tcoz ako go ya ki yu ta ka yu du ca i yu ni 30 dji ni

da a ku xi gu ci gus kañ das dja

For bi k'a yu, probably.

Then he went hunting they say. Then quail its leg he broke his father it happened after he left they two hadthey say. Then come they say. Then the bird talked to him | they say. good for me fix again, I will tell you something," he said | they say. Then he came to him they say. Then he the boy clay took up with it when he had stuck on good Then his leg made it again | they say. Then his leg good when he had madeagain, "Your father they have eaten," he said they say. Then he flew away they say.

Then that boy his arrows when he threw away crying he ran they say. | His house then his father where he found they had eatenhim he came back they say. | Then blanket with he lay down they say. Then his mother, "Here your father his hand," | saying she struck him they say.

under him to him Then gopher came up they say. Then stone | flat he put over it they say. Then blanket "łu," Then he made it. Then he took him down they say. blanket over him took off they say. Then he was not there say. Then she felt around (?) down | hole they say. Then down his mother, his aunt, his grandmother she went they say, they did it (?) they say. Then there boy was running Then her child she who had she spoke they say. Then, "Just once to me look," | she said they say.

they say. Then Then stream was duck pots was making they say. Then | that boy spoke they say. "Here people who willkill me with me are running," he said they say. Then the oldher leg put across they say. On it he ran across | they say. his grandmother, his mother, his aunt with water's edge they ran to they say. Then, "Our boy from us has run," "Old woman, | your leg to us put across," said. they say. Then the boy spoke | they say. Then, "Your leg on it when they go halfway when it comes 'it hurts me' | you must say," he said they say. Then her leg when she put across she did that | She drew it back (?) they say. Then his mother in the water they say. Then | downstream cloth was on the water. Then, "Down on the water let her go," he said they say.

So much. My yucca fruits lie.

COYOTE AND THE JACK-RABBIT PEOPLE.1

ił ki da' dji ni ci ke ła go jo go cał e ni dji ni da ai ke go bi ke ła go co go de ya dji ni da ko go to ci nel a go xi cał le ni dji ni ci djat ke a go da ai ke go to bin nes at go i cał e da cigan dja da xo kes go na duc eł ni dji ni a ko go da a ga tsa dji ni 5 a ko go da a ko nes ti dji ni da a go de są go to ba na d da ge

ako go ga tcu na lin tu xan ya go ta is nıl go da jıñ da na tsa ako go ban i ako si ti go yil tsa go na dıt dıl gaj in ko bi geda di no ni ni da tsa la n ko si ti le no'da ako go ga xi go tal go ako gon tal dji ni ako go le na i ze ke gon ya dji ni ako go 10 da bi ga al le na xe za dji ni ako go n de da na goz lidn le na xeza go go lij ji da go di tal go al n de le na xe za ni al yi n da da lij go da ako n de al ıl da o xın dıl si li da ba ni xal got

ako go le na dixul to ya dixi got go al za dą ził ał sis se xi sią xi da xa di yin dat le dil got xun al yi dol gal da ni dji ni 15 ako go ba xi ke go li ji bul li ka tse des kai ako go ba ni nadja go da ai ge nes ti ako go go li ji ja ol got go ai dą bą ni t'a ji o nal got ai dą go li ji da ai bi ke ke go na nal got dą bą ni al o gal ako go i tsun ja a nai sint dą o na nal got go li ji olgot ni bi ke ke ai dą bi la yu go li ji nal got da i tsun ja sinul yu 20 ako go ba nal got go go li ji xa go la atsą tsa si nil ni tsa ge cił na aj i tsun sa tą n ni kai xo ze ni dji ni ba go li zi aił ni dji ni te n ti ye xe ba a de ni dji ni

a ko go go li ji n i i tsın yil ki dji ni da ni an ti la xas da da nan tsa go n de la ne o zol go n tsa go si ti a ki i a ko go da-25 ai yε il tei xac ke dji ni

da ko go ci goc gan das dja

¹ Told by the chief of the San Carlos, Skinazbas, December, 1905. A free translation is on pp. 72-73, above.

COYOTE AND THE JACK-RABBIT PEOPLE.

Long ago they say. "The sole of my feet damp I walk," he said they say. Just that way | the sole of his foot damp he went they say. "Just so much water coming up on me may I walk," he said | they-say. "My thighs as far as." Just so far water when it came up he walked. "Just my back | when it is (uncovered?) may I swimacross," he said they say. Then just that happened they say. | Then right there he lay down they say. He was as if dead water where they came for it.

Then jack-rabbit girl water when she came for, when she filledwith water back she started. Then that coyote there lying whenshe saw she shouted. "Here the one you hate is dead. Here he lies. Come together." Then rabbits they dancing there they came dancthey say. Then they came together it happened they say. Then all of them, all came together they say. Then people whereever they lived when they came together, | skunk when they danced people those who had come together all their eyes when hesquirted in right there one after the other fell down. people all When it happened that coyote ran up.

he pulled them together. He piled them up when he had-"Mountain small that stands, whoever around it runs he let him eat," they said they say. Then coyote skunk with one after the other they started. Then coyote those lying | righthe lav down. Then skunk only ran. Then covote | back Then skunk just those his tracks he ran again. coyote all ate up. Then bones only when were left he ran again. that ran | his tracks Skunk then after he left skunk ran back, where they lay there. Then iust only coyote ran back skunk. "Who did it these piled here?" "Here, mycousin, 'bones separate themselves' it is called," he said they say. Coyote skunk told it to they say. "Poor people for them it is," he said they say.

Then skunk bones he threw they say. "Just you did it. Hardly | when you move why do you breathe, large you lie there(?)." Then just those | toward each other they were angry they say.

So many my yucca fruits lie.

PANTHER AND COYOTE.1

ma gu naj ji si ti dji ni ako go n ku do dac gol ni dji ni de ju ne hi das ka yu ako go dji aj tci ni ako go n do i tco kidaxi ya dji ni ban i xatsi dji ni ako go tse bil yano sa gol ni dji ni ai ni tse gol tsit dak gol dez go ako go bi γa yo gol 5 xane sa dji ni ako go bi la yu ya natsit des ti dji ni ako go bi la yu ya ko da naz la djo i go dji tcak dji ni

i tsa tcu bi ja je bel da na tsi xaz ta a ko go bi ja ja a ko go bił da na tsi xaz tą hi go ka nał sa bi ya di dji ni ako go t'a i be na da gol te dji ni a ko go tsi dak goł na des sa go 10 dji ni akogo tsit dak gol na deza yu akogo ka xa do ta da gi na dez za ya o i na dagi na dez za ya o i na dagi na dez za yaya i yu o i na hi bi γa yu goł xa na za yu ya ge das a yu goł xa na za yu nes tan ła yu a ko goł xa na za yu ka go neł tį dji ni

- 15 di natixin binda bel ka le go dan ne dju wil le tses na n dj goida djini ai des ba n de yi ka dji ni bıł na go nil kat yu a ko go yi ta tal dji ni n ni ya ba i a ko go ał na set ako go n nan ba dji ni ako go tsi ya n na desti la dji ni ako go bitsi kanlni andıt na do sa sın zi da na tcıt di dal le
- 20 ako go t'aini be godolti dii ako go xaiya gol danaza djini n di bil gula guke xadaizit go gol xayanazel yaki gol nadez za yaki gol nadez za yao in na yaki gol nadez za yao in na yao xin nahi ako go niyu gol nan za djini nagudidilti yu natsitsa djini ini ka xin nil djini xadin no il-25 tsala dagol ni djini

bel na dji ka yu go go wa n ke na tsi tsą dji ni da ge gu wa dji ni a ko go na aj del ket dji ni da ko dn le gu tsa da u na za la bel dji ni dji ni tcej bi u'n de kan ne na aj del ket dji ni a ko go

¹ Told in December 1905 by Dananddel, a San Carlos woman well past middle life. A free rendering will be found on pp. 67-68, above.

PANTHER AND COYOTE.

Coyote on the opposite side 1 lay they say. Then, "Here letus two go," he said to him they say, | "these good where nest is." Then they two went they say. Then panther climbed up they say. Then, "Rock let grow up with him," spoke they say. with him up with him began tohe said they say. Then rock with him | it grew up Then to the top they say. below him he looked they say. Then | below fire was burning, when he saw it he cried they say.

Then eagle his children with them he sat. Then his children with them when he sat to him they came back from above theysay. Then feather shirt | with they put on him they say. Then up with him they started to go it was | they say. Then up with him where they went then for him they sang. "Up | we are going, yaoina, up we are going, yaoina up we are going, yaiyuoinahi." On top with him where they came up where theylived | with him where they came up fruit where was much with him where they came up to him they gave a wife | they say.

These who lived there their enemies, pumpkins, melons, gourds, bees also | their enemies they say. These men for them started towar they say. With them when he fought | then he kicked them they say. He those they came to fight then all he killed they say. | Then they returned from war they say. Then down he had looked they say. Then | his daughter the one who had given her spoke. "'I go back,' if you think you may go."

those feather shirts with they put on him, down with him they started they say. These with him under him above him when they were flying with him they started down. "Down | with him we are going. down with him we are going, yaoinna, down with him we are going, vaoinna, yaoxinnahi." Then earth with him they returned they say. From where he wastaken | he went back they say. Those shirts to him they say. "No one let see you," | they said they say.

With him where they came to his home he started back they say.

Just the house | they say. Then he questioned it they say. "Howmany years they went away?" | he said they say. Wood its ends



¹ Of the house fire.

as la din le go tsa da gol ni dji ni yu an da so na djo dal yu go walan ke hi ba na tsi tsa dji ni a ko go na go naj dd ket dji ni so tn na aj nel ket dji ni da ko dn le gu tsa da di i le gu tsa da na tsi dez tza dji ni ke go wa yu na tsi tsa dji ni ya d 5 dil kit dji ni da a ko din le gu tsa da u na tza lan ta dn le gu tsa da u na zan guł ni dji ni a ko go na zes za dji ni ke go wa yu na zi tsa na u naj del ket dji ni na nes nal li na u djil kit leg gu tsa dn u na za lañ na ki dın le gu tsa din dii ni gul ni na tsi des tsa dji ni ke gu ga yu na tsi tsa d tci dji ni 10 na uj dił kit dji ni da ku dn łegu tsa da u na za lañ da ła di łegutsa da n na zi des tsa go ke go wa ba na tsi tsa dji ni na o na dii dil kıt dii ni i tsoz da ko dın le gu tsa da u na za la xi ku da bi da n ni da n da¹ gol n dit dji ni i tsoz a gul ni dji ni

an ni ta ako go bi ke dax tct n ya dji ni ka di yo xi n del dji ni 15 i sañ tat tsa yo wel dji ni go ja je n i das da dji ni t'az ji go ci ma ci ta ni dji ni m ba n i tl tsa naxo lo go yo yel dji ni go a ni ako go xil wos go go wa ba akol za dji ni

ol je da ba ako go go ani tan kıs bıl djini ako go tades gız djini ako go ba tca gac ca bina xatsi xes nıl go yu otsi xes kat 20 djini dalaai anatsi sit li kec bi de ako go n de bi a ya natsa bi bi i ye nes ta djini

ai da ba nal je dji ni ako go ban i xatsi nka nne na natsago nne tadikus la ndit dji ni ba' ako go le gec bi de baana sit ni xatsi dji ni ci ta tol be ni dji ni tcagac ca da lada la 25 go an di ai da la tcagac ce xi hai yu la okai lai ako go ndoi tco ω ku xi bi ye ni i kaz ye ne yan ne ol ze la dji ni

di goln digo ban i bitej xadjiya djini akogo ban i gotei xatsi djini sidol yez go nani njogo daan si cilnaaj golni djini tse nizil den dja dji akogo ja na gole bel-30 djen ni djini ba xayu la nyel le go an di ni djini ba akogodaxa tse yel de nel djek tse dj

Also recorded, da is da.

he questioned they say. Then, | "Five vears." those burned they say. Further on where he went there had been asaid to him house to it he came they say. Then he questioned it again theysay. House pole he asked they say. "How many years?" "Four years." Then | he went on again they say. Where a house was Bed he questioned again | they say. "How many they say. came they went away?" "Three years | they went," it told him vears they say. Then he went on again they say. Where a house was he came | they say. He questioned it again they say. Brush shelter they went away?" "Two "How many | years they say. Then he went on it told him they say. Where a house was he came again they say. Ashes he questioned they say. "How many years they went away?" "Just one year." | When he went on house to it he came again they say. Then he questioned again they say. "How many years they went away?" | "This early morning they moved camp," it told him they say. Cud told him they say.

Now then he overtook them they say. In front of him theywent they say. Old woman burden basket she carried along theysay. His child sat in it they say. Backward, I "My mother, myfather," he said they say. Coyotes too side by side hanging down she carried they say, I his wife. Then arroyo house for him shebuilt they say.

When he went hunting, coyote, then his wife, "Wash yourself," he told her. Then she bathed | they say. Then coyote children their eyes when he had dug out he threw them away | they say. Just-one he spared, the youngest. Then man his wife to her he cameback. | Shelter in it he sat down they say.

Then coyote returned from hunting they say. Then coyote spoke, "Your husband (interrogative) he comes back | (interrogative) you have bathed?" he said they say, youngest, coyote. Then the one he left | spoke they say. "My father, flaker with," he said they say. "Children what | (?) you did? Then other children where have they gone, the others?" Then panther | boy his son "Neck raised on," he found his name was they say.

This when he was angry about it, coyote toward him he came out Then coyote to him he spoke they say, when he wasthey say. frightened. "Your wife well I took care of (?), my cousin," | he said they say. "Stones cooking put on the fire, four then only yourwife will be," he said to him | they say. Coyote, "How will bedangerous. what you said?" he said they say, covote. Then quickly stones he built a fire with, stones four.

a ko go tse ni ził ni dionł de bił dji ni dji ni a ko go da ła ai o yił nak do si li da ni go łe dil got dji ni ła o na nal ne bił najdo nit go ła o na yoł nak do si li da na do ndit go łe na dil got ła o na nał de na bił teit do ndit go ła o na yol nak go do si li da 5 na do ndit go łe na dil got łe ge ta da a ka na teit do nid go ła o nayo ol nak go łe na dil got a ko go to bi tei da teit n ka go di bi ke n ła bił teit nit dji ni a ko go yi ke to o ła dji ni a ko go bi ze je bi na ji bi tee yi ji bi ni ji sil xa daz ti go si ti dji ni bi tse di littgo da za dji ni

10 da ko go ci goc kañ das dja

THE LOAF, THE CLOTH, AND THE HIDE.1

ał ki dą dji ni san ne xe bi go ye yił si ke dji ni a ko go na izi yu o ya dji ni a ko go bi ka da gos dai ye ai i la dji ni a ko go
ban² bai na dji ni a ko go na des dza bi go ye bi dji yu na des dza
dji ni a ko go ła san ni xi bi ko wa ge tcm ya dji ni a ko go i na
15 goł ni dji ni a ko go i djm ya dji ni a ko go da ko ge ne yoł ka
goł ni dji ni a ko go ban ke yi nes į dji ni a ko go ban ła kai na
dji ni a ko go go wi ye ba na zesą dji ni a ko go go wi ye bił
djm ya dji ni a ko go ban es dmł dji ni a ko go ci na' da dju są
dji ni

20 ako go go wi ye na ziti yu na dn da gol ni dji ni ci na da sıntsa ni dji ni ako go aku na zes za go ka da gos dai xe na ki atcın la dji ni ako go na di ka ka nıl soz dji ni ako go xa di xi dan da ıli ka ni bi ka ji da xon ji le ga gul ni dji ni ako go bi tsa yu go xozi le ga ni dji ni ako go na des za dji ni ako go 25 la san ne xi bi ko wa dji ni san ne xi bi ko wa dji ni ako go i na gol ni dji ni ako go i djinya dji ni ako go da ko ge ne yol ka ni dji ni ako go l'e go na di ka ni ke yi nezi la dji ni ako go lai

¹ This story of European origin was dictated by Sidney Smith, a Tonto Apache living with the San Carlos Apache. The dialect employed is the San Carlos although some peculiarities in diction and phonetics are to be expected. A free English version of this tale is given on pp. 75–76, above.

² Spanish pan.

"Stones those cooking you swallow," he told him they-Then. "Nothing happened," just one he swallowed. saying he ran around in a circle they say. "Another swallow again," he told him again, another he swallowed. "It did not happen," whenhe ran around again. | "Another swallow," he said again, when heanother when he swallowed. "It did not happen." told him again. when he said again he ran around. The last time when he told himthe same thing another when he swallowed he ran around. "This toward him when he held out. after them | drink," he told him they say. Then after them water he drank they say. from his mouth, from his eyes, from his ears, from his nostrils steam when it came out he lay they say. His tail when he shook ! he died they say.

So much my yucca fruits lie.

THE LOAF, THE CLOTH, AND THE HIDE.

Long ago they say. Old woman her grandson they two livedthey say. Then in a workshop he went they say. Then loaf of bread he gave him chair he made they say. say. Then he started back. His grandmother toward her Then another old woman her house back they say. he passed they say. Then, "Eat," | she said to him they say. Then he ate stay till morning," | she said to him they say. Then. "Right here Then she stole from him they say. they say. loaf Then she gave him | they say. Then his grandmother to her he took it they say. Then his grandmother with he ate it they say. Then loaf became exhausted they say. Then hunger was afflictingthem | they say.

Then his grandmother, "Workshop go again," she told him we are suffering," | she said "Hunger they say. there he went again. Chairs two he made they say. Then (table)cloth he gave him they say. Then, "Whatever food sweets overit you must name," Then | "Facing from it he told him they say. you must stand," he said they say. Then he started back they-Then other old woman her house they say. Old woman Then, "Eat," | she said to him they say. Then her house they say. "Right here stay till morning," she said he ate they say. Then, they say. Then at night the cloth she stole from him they say.



na de ka i xi ka nd soz dji ni a ko go go wi ye bi tci yo na zes sa a ko go go wi ye bi ko wa yu na tsi tsa dji ni a ko go na di ka ni n i bi go tsis el ai da bi tsai yu go tsız i gu wi ye bd xi doñ da li ka ni da tcoz yi go tcıj i dji ni xi ke bi tci go n tci ya xi ke da e di 5 xi dan ne da et di dji ni

a ko go ci (go) wi ye¹ ni dji ni san ne xi nai zi yu na dn da' guł ni dji ni a ko go a ko na des za dji ni a ko go na ki bi kada gos da xi a dji ni a ko go i kał kai n ta dji ni a ko go i kał da bil i di ni yu a t'e xa de ni dji ni a ko go na zes za 10 dji ni

bi ko wa xi xi i na a ko go n nas ge ko wa i xi i na san ne xi guł ni dji ni a ko go do ca da dii ni dji ni a ko go da ban xi ιc kin cininixi xahaiyu ni djini an ni dji ni doc i da ni dji ni san ne xi a ni dji ni do le tcu da bel ni dji ni ec ken n an ni 15 dji ni yoc di ci ban ca nan a ni dji ni ca nan a ni dji ni a ko go doc i da ni dji ni a ko go da xa le ni dji ni a ko go i kal xai yit'a bi go sa din hai yi ta i kal dji ni a ko go ci kał n lai ci ban dji ni ce yi nez i ni san nai yo a ni a ko go n ke des de a ko go i na dd xd na xo ta dji ni a ko go dd lec xai yi diz dji ni 20 a ko go da xa ban ban nan a ai ge na di ka du ban nan soz ni dji ni a ko go san ne xe i tca go na del got dji ni na dil xil an ni ka nai n ne dji ni go wi ye a ko go bil tses ke go dji ni a ko go da djen ya dji ni n jo n ni dji ni go wi ye an ni dji ni

ako go njon go godjin le djini ako go xatcın nıl zıl djini 25 ako go lago kan nai jil ako go xadi la ntco ato go al dzıl li bikowa xee dani djini xalaxi ba noka ni djini la nantan ani djini ako go ako bika zes kai djini ako go ako nya djini di ic kini ako go xaan nesti djini ako go naki yis kago dan di di dle ni djini nan tan an ni djini ako go 30 nakis kago da xodi di dle djini

akogo εnacut n teł na neł ni joni n kowayu sine lan ci ni djini akogo ao dji dini djini cia ako ci da aige ci kał do ni djini akogo ako da la i bi ken kezyu dan di du dul

¹ The text reads cigo wive, evidently a slip of pen or tongue for ciwive.

Then another | cloth she gave him they say. Then his grandmother toward he went back. | Then his grandmother her house he came to they say. Then the cloth | he spread, then away from it he stood hisgrandmother with, food sweet | (?) he named they say. Then toward it he went, then just nothing, | food just none they say.

Then, "My grandchild," she said they say, old woman. "Workshop go again," | she told him they say. Then there he started-again they say. Then two chairs | he made they say. Then raw-hide he gave him they say. Then, | "Hide whatever you tell it it will be that way," he said they say. Then he started back | they-say.

"Eat." Old woman Then some distance the house. her house "Eat." | she told him they say. Then, "I will not eat," he said they say. Then, "Well, loaf | you stole from me where isit?" he said Boy said it they say. "I did not see it," they say. "I do not lie, Old woman said it they say. she said | they say. said it | they say. "Here, he said to her they say. Boy my loaf "Give it to me," give me." he said they say. he said they say. Then, | "I did not see it." she said "Quickly," they say. Then he drew out, | from his pocket he said they say. Then hide Then, "My hide over there my loaf | drew it out, hide they say. she stole from me," he said. "Let her give it back to me," he said they say. Then he dropped it they say. Then black man jumpedthey say. Then sword he drew they say. Then, "Quickly, loaf give back to him; there cloth too give back to him," he said Then old woman Black man said it they say. ran around | they say. Then she gave them back they say. grandmother then where he lived with her he came they say. "Good." His grandmother said it they say. she said.

they say. well it was they say. Then he became rich many worked for him. Then, "Whence much property riches | his house, xεε," they said they say. "Well, for him youhe said they say. One chief said it they say. there for him they started they say. Then there | he came Then he put him in jail they say. Then, say, this boy. days I will hang you," he said they say. Chief said it they say. Then when two days passed he was to be hung they say.

Then priest, "What something you like at your house lies I suppose?" he said | they say. Then, "Yes," he said they say. "Mywife there sits, there my hide | also," he said they say. Then, "There just one by the clock (?) you will be hung," | he said to him



bư ni dji ni a ko go bi a nya dji ni i kał do yin t'a dji ni a ko go da ła i bi ke n kez dji ni a ko go da hwut di di dle yu ne o tcun ya dji ni a ko go go a yu ne o ya dji ni ai ge i kał do yin ta dji ni a ko go go a ya lan buł dji ni dji kał da djo tul go 5 dji ni zi zi go ci kał di nan tan da dac ci di le xi da xo te xe i nacut du da gu ci kał buł un ke go na n ni dji ni a ko go bił n kegos na dji ni

da ko go ei gue kan das dja

COYOTE'S EYES.1

ga bina yanaiyildil ako mai ba xilgot ako mai teil10 naaj ci aldo agaocle ni doda bilni cilnaaj djike agaocle ni ma akogo njo bilni ga ako bina ba xaiyinla
ako bina yanainildel ako binak kanadel ako aganayidla
akogo ga dahwu le bilni ako ma binani tsi bikayu
bitca danaz del ako bina et di dja' bina ba al za ga ba
15 yin la djinin

SACK AND POT AS MAN AND WIFE.2

d ki da dji ni ako go i sa i sañ i zis xi n de dji ni ako go djo aj go tse na iz bal go i sa ya xil got i sa n i sat sil dji ni ako go i zis ya na xil got n jo go na n dak ako go i sa sat sal n i n jo go a na yo dla dji ni i zis a ti dji ni

20 yu ge na de daj go ko la go dil li ge dji aj dji ni i sa ko ye xi ya ako go ko la go dil l'e il sa lel de yu n ya dji ni i sa ako go ko sa na tsa yu na tsa ko ba yu na tsa dji ni ako go i zis ko yo ne o na na tsa dji ni ako go i zis n lit dji ni da ko ba ge ako go i sa a ji da xi ya dji ni ako go i sa n i i zis 25 ic ti na yo dla do xa go a te go da

yu ge yư na dec t'aj go ton lị dji ni i zưs na de ya dji ni xana yu i sa te xi ya dji ni a ko go i sa ta ư ni ge tu be xades bi go tal k'a ol to dji ni ci a n i bư o go el ni go i tcak dji ni

da ko go ci goc kañ das dja

¹ Told at San Carlos in 1905 by Frank Ross, a Chiricahua. It is given in a free translation on p. 73, above.

² Told in 1905 by a San Carlos Apache named Belgaje. For a free translation see 'p. 75, above.

they say. Then his wife came they say. Hide too she brought they say. Then just one clock was they say. Then where he wasto be hung in he came they say. Then his wife in came they-There hide too she brought they say. Then "Good bye," he said to her. That hide he took with him | they say. When he stood, "My hide, this chief who is hanging me. priest too, my hide let them be struck with lightning," he said theysay. Then lightning struck them | they say.

So much my yucca fruits lie.

COYOTE'S EYES.

Rabbits their eyes they were throwing up. There coyote There coyote, "My cousins, I, too, I do that," hesaid. "No," they said to him. "My cousins, anyway let me do it," covote. Then. "All right," they said to him, Then his eves for him he took out. Then his eyes he threw up. they fell back to him. he did the same again. | Then Then Then "Let them stay up," he said. Then coyote his eyes on top away from him hung. Then his eyes were not. Wax hiseyes for him he made. Rabbit for him | made them they say.

SACK AND POT AS MAN AND WIFE.

Long ago they say. Then pot woman, sack man they say. Then when they two walked rock where cliff stood pot jumped-off. The pot was smashed | they say. Then sack jumped off too. Good he landed. Then pot | which was broken good he fixed again they say. Sack did it they say.

Further on when they walked fire much where it burned theytwo came they say. Pot, fire went in. Then fire much burned in the center she came they say, pot. Then fire where she wentout again she came. By the fire's edge she came they say. sack fire in went too they say. Then sack burned they say, Then pot right by fire's border. there went they say. the pot sack | repaired. Not any way it was (injured).

Onward when they two went stream was they say. Sack started-across they say. Other bank | pot went in the water they say. Then pot in the middle of the water water with when it filled | it sank to-the bottom they say. "My wife is drowned," saying he cried they say.

So many my yucca fruits lie.

TAR BABY.1

ał ki dą dji ni a ko go ma do luj je in i dji ni a ko go nannes łon bi ła yu i ya go. dje an yu djun na da dji ni a ko go dje ai ge n djun a dji ni

ako go l'e go xi gal dji ni ako go dje i nd tsan dji ni ako go 5 yu wac ci ako djan ca ni dji ni ako go la de go dan ne na dadanli nac i ni dji ni ako go aka ni go i tci xi gal dji ni yu wac ci ni dji ni ako go du da di ga ta dji ni ako go ko go dai ya dji ni ako go dje ni aku n des gec dji ni ako go do ai da la ni dji ni don ne da la ni dji ni ako go yu ne da dji ya dji ni 10 ako go dje ni yu wac ci bal dji ni dji ni ako go do san na da dji ni dji ni

ako go dje ni djo ni tsi dji ni ako go da o si tsi n te dji ni ako go ci nic kan di go ni ni si' ni dji ni ako go da o ni si n te dji ni ako go ci de na di go ni nic tal xi a de ni dji ni ako go 15 ci nic kan di go da ke a to go dic tal xi a nic de ni dji ni ako go da o tal n te dji ni ako go ci tse be da ke xa to go n da tcis tcaz hi a de ako go bi tse ye da o sini tcaz n te dji ni ako go ni kes kaj-xa de ni dji ni ako go ne o tcil kaj n te dji ni ako go di bol li go ya das a dji ni

20 ako go ła n de xi ban ya dji ni ako go na bi nd ti dji ni ako go ko wa yu nainł ti dji ni ako go da yi xes łon dji ni ako go tu zut du gi ba bez dji ni ako go ba ai ge ba ya dji ni ako go n tel xa be sunł ta ni dji ni da li ką go ca al ne gu si da ni dji ni ako go cuł na aj ci gu le ni dji ni ma ani ako go ma 25 da tce xes łon dji ni

ai da yu gi hwu tei di ya dji ni bi ga yu das kid yu xa tei ya dji ni go dji nel i dji ni xi ke tu sit go gi bi tei da teo nel dji ni a ko go bi ke ya da tei nel dji ni a ko go xa dn tot dji ni ai da yu ge teel te dji ni

30 akogo ma xigał djini go ga tuge łegu sit da djini akogo ma xigał binedi yu į djini akogo tu επ neonolaga

¹ Told at San Carlos in 1905 by Sidney Smith. A free translation will be found on p. 74, above.

TAR BABY.

Long ago they say. Then fox blue was stealing they say. Then fence | under small hole he crawled through they say. Then pitch | there he placed they say.

at night they say. he walked Then the pitch they say. Then, "Over here, there I go past," he said they say. Then, "Many water melons I give you (?) | I steal," he said, theysay. Then closer to it he walked they say. "This way," | he said they say. Then he did not move they say. Then so much he went they say. The pitch there moved back and forth they say. "It is not that," | he said they say. "It is not a person," he said they say. Then in he started they say. Then the pitch, "Overhere." "Do not move sidewise," he said to it they say. Then, he said they say.

Then the pitch he struck they say. Then it stayed there still they say. Then, "My left hand I will strike you," he said they say. Then it still stayed there | they say. Then, "My right I will kickyou it is," he said they say. Then, I "My left hard I kick I am," they say. Then his foot remained they say. Then. tail with I will switch you it is." Then hard his tail with stayed against him they say. Then, "Your head I will bite off," Then he remained biting they say. he said they say. his side he hung they say.

Then another man came to him they say. Then he took himoff they say. | Then house he took him back they say. Then hetied him up they say. Then | water hot he boiled for him they say. Then coyote there came to him they say. Then, | "Why do you-sit against it?" he said they say. "Something sweet for me while-he prepares I sit," he said | they say. Then, "My cousin, I it-will be," he said they say. Coyote said it. Then coyote | he tied they say.

Then one side he went they say. On top hillside he went up | they say. He watched him they say. Then water hot to him hecarried they say. | Then on him he poured it they say. Then (hair) came out they say. Then | onward he ran they say.

Then coyote traveled they say. Then rabbit by the water at night he sat they say. Then coyote he walked behind him he saw him they say. Then water he was drinking then coyote



a ko go ma vił in del dji ni a ko go ga i de ti sun sak dji ni ga nil na goc ni ni dji ni ga a ko go tu zi ka le gu na ai sia djini ako go ma n i tai yu de o do 1 se a hi tu ye la yi gu bi ye du lel go n da ni xi bi ga tu xıs labe sił da ni dji ni aku ya des į dji ni ma da ni la n i dji ni ma

a ko go tch na aj ai di tu n dla a ci xi ko di tuc dla ni dji ni ma a ko go tu du dji dla da dji ni ga ai da ma ma za tu i dla lon go bi but n tca si li dji ni ai da bi tsa nas zul got 10 dji ni a ko go da hai yu n zes ge n da xa de ni dji ni ma

ako go nzayu tse nadna dji ni a ko go ts€ na dn a hi be tci ne zi dji ni a ko go ma gu ne dj gu tsi xd is dji ni n la yu n guł na del dji ni a ko go n t'a tcił na aj n t'a gueni ni djini ga akogo di ya nan kat dji ni bel dii ni 15 diini ndisa djini ga anni akogo tsit dak desi ni dii ni da ni la dji ni a ko go ai di ts€ bi ya n ti ni ni dji ni dji ni a ko go ba dja o djol got ts€ yi ya si ti dji ni a ko go da hai yo n di i zis ge a de n ni dji ni ma

a ko go yú na zu nas toag gi n nai nd tị dji ni bi ze yu ne 20 sư da dji ni ai da n yel tị dji ni n lai hwuc bư na go xi a ge oc gal ni dji ni ma da n ne la ca xi ka go do n jo go ic galle a te da bi ga ni dji ni da n lai tu ba nal da ge oc gal ni dji ni da du ju go i dư gal da dje ke tu xa kai ye tu ga ni dji ni da n la ge le toij ci ka ne na dn a ge le ni dji ni ma a ko go toij 25 xa toe kai ye bi ga du n jo go i dio gal xa te da ni dji ni ma

a ko go n de tce da nu ge xa tak dji ni

da ku go ci gus kan das dja

¹ Spanish oro.

rabbit caught they say. Then, "A little time let me go (?)," "I will tell you something," rabbit. he said said | they say, rabbit. Then puddle in the water | moon | lay they say. sav. Then, "Coyote, in water gold which lies just all water when onedrinks it will be his that is why water I drink | I sit by it," he said he looked they say, coyote. "It is true," they say. In there said | they say, coyote.

Then, "Cousin there water you drink, I, here I will drink," he said | they say, coyote. Then water he did not drink, they say, rabbit. Then coyote, coyote only | water he drank, much hisbelly large became they say. Then from him he ran | they say. Then, "Anywhere I kill you any way," he said they say coyote.

Then far away rock stood up they say. Then rock Then standing up | he stood against they say. covote behind him he stepped up they say. Then over there he knocked him they say. Then. "Wait. cousin. wait. I will tell you something again," hesaid they say, rabbit. Then. "This sky has fallen they say," he told him | they say. "Look," he said they say. Rabbit said it. "It is true," Then up he looked they say, coyote. he said say. Then "There rock stand against it constantly," he said theysay. Then rock he put himself against it they say. Then covote he ran away from they say. Then, "Anywhere I will kill you," he said they say, coyote.

further on grasshopper he caught they say. in it sat, they say. Then he talked they say. "Over there cactus where it is trimmed | I will eat it," he said they say, covote. people some to me when they come not good I eat because," he said they say. "Right there water for where they-I will eat it," he said they say. | "Not yet good girls water they come for, water for," he said they say. "Well, | it will be where it stands up," he said theyover there wood dry covote. Then "Wood | they come for because not good I will eat it." he said they say, covote.

Then his open mouth it flew out they say. So much my yucca fruits lie.

THE UNDISCRIMINATING HUNTERS.1

ał ki da dji ni akogo n de nal dj.t dji ni akogo nas tca gi bi dji ni akogo bi tel ge da nes dji dji ni ła n de xi xi akogo da koji xond to ni dji ni akogo da azi yu nd dok dji ni akogo n ne n i i la hwu na kał dji ni akogo nas tca gi n i dji-5 zes xi dji ni akogo nai da bd dji ni dji ni djuz es gi da adji ni dji ni akogo na da tcd a dji ni akogo n tsoa togo nł kaz lan ni dji ni ła n ne xi xi a ni dji ni yu w.c ci na dd get akogo il gał bił dji ni dji ni n tsa t'ogo nł xas lan bd dji ni dji ni

ako go n ne na ki si ke dji ni ako go da sa no le ni tcu 10 ni dji ni la n ne xi a ni dji ni da sa gus sa nd tcu le ni dji ni ako go le yi yo ya o tcuni ti dji ni ako go na zes taj dji ni ako go n ne la adi xi gali i des lit la dji ni ako go da su t tsa di tsak de nus tco ni dji ni i sa cin i tci ni dji ni ako go nd tco dji ni da ni la da su tca la ni tco ni dji ni la n ne xi an ni dji ni 15 ako go da da na go le yi yo ya o tci nd ti dji ni

ai da na zes za dji ni a ko go yu na su djo gał dji ni a kogo tei des lit dji ni a ko go teus tea dji ni dan di da sut sa la xadi ni le gu dol tel dji ni dji ni a ko go tse nes ti dji ni xul go jo teuz ti dji ni a ko go ci na bi ke da teus tea dji ni

20 da ko go cu gus kan das dja

SECURING FIRE (Second Version).2

ał ki dą dji ni ko et di go ne dji li dji ni da li tci go da tci ya dji ni ne da na ki ye bi ko gu li dji ni di l tci ne zi na dna dji ni dil tci bi la ta yu ko na da di gai dji ni a ko go ma xa dji dji ni ci ke n ne la go ne dli hi ca i la a ne ni dji ni a ko go 25 ci ke m bi dji na l suz a le gu ko ne gu da yul ta ni dji ni gu dan ka le ni dji ne a ko go lej be da dji di ka dji ni

Recorded at San Carlos in 1905 from the dictation of Sidney Smith. This tale, evidently Spanish in origin, was not included among those given in free translation in Part I of this volume.

² Recorded at San Carlos in 1905. A free translation is on p. 43, above.

THE UNDISCRIMINATING HUNTERS.

Then man went hunting they say. Long ago they say. Then grasshopper | deer they say. Then his breast he sat they say, one Then, | "Right here you shoot," he said they say. Then right there he shot him they say. Then the man over there fell they say. Then the grasshopper he killed they say. Then, "Dressit," he said to him they say. The one who killed it said it | they say. Then they dressed it they say. "Too long why do you-Then, One they say. "Here sleep?" | he said they say. man said it get up, then eat," he said to him they say. "Too long why doyou sleep?" he said to him they say.

Then men two sat there they say. Then, "He must be dead. he smells," | he said they say. One man said it they say. "Thosewho are dead always stink," he said they say. | Then in the ground he put him they say. Then they two started back they say. Then man one who walked ahead broke wind they say. Then, dead I think, I begin to smell," he said they say. "Smell of me." he smelled him they say. Then they say. | "It is true; you are dead; you smell," he said they say. One man said it they say. | Then still living in the ground he put him they say.

Then he started home they say. Then further on he walked they say. Then | he broke wind they say. Then he smelled it they-say. "True, I am dead; nobody | he will bury me," he said they-say. Then he lay down they say. In a wash | he lay they say. Then hunger on it he died they say.

So many my yucca fruits lie.

SECURING FIRE (Second Version).

Long ago they say. Fire when it was not people were they say. Just red 1 they ate | they say. Men just two their fire was theysay. Pine tall stood up they say. Pine on its top fire was awhite stripe they say. Then coyote spoke they say. "My friends, people many good time for me come together," he said they say. Then, | "My friends, to them letter make, their fire they shallbring," he said they say. "We will gamble," | he said they say. they played hide the ball Then with soil they say.



¹ Uncooked.

ako go ci ke ni dji ni ba ani dji ni ako go ma ci ke ni dji ni ło ca bi ge du dis gu ci tse buł bi ge du dis ni dji ni ako go xa yił ka dji ni ako go ma il jij dji ni ku tsa za i jij łe ni dji ni n tse di lut n da buł ni dji ni n tse di lut n da buł ni dji ni 5 n ne xa yu si tse di du lił gu adado ni ni dji ni n tse dil ła n da dji ni n de di go łe ni di duz bi tis yu an ya xil got dji ni

kọ yił na dil gut yu ne bi kọ des t'i kọ da tcịł ses go m bił dazdes te dji ni da a na yu bił tcin del dji ni m bi tci xa da tsis tcont a ko go m bi ze ił tse da gu tsont dji ni

yu we ła n de ko yił da xis got dji ni yu wε ko vil da na nas got dji ni gus le ge a ko go da na yu bił n tce djek dji ni bi tsi tsın ił dji da tcız ka dji ni m bi ze n da gu des sont ւł tsa dji ni

a ko go n ne ła i ko ba na nał da dji ni tci cu gi na na yu 15 bił n na dji djek dji ni m bi zi zil da dji niz ze dji ni

akogo datiye ko ba tculta djini nlage zuł ntcai siseani bikayu ko xadagudika djini nku ził ntcai bikayu ko xanagut djini akogo ko et digo idjilni bikayu dagudidesga ko et digoni ine ba ko la sili djini di tsi' nada-20 naxi biyi ko la sili djini

da ku gu ei gus kan das dja

THE WINNING OF DAYLIGHT (Second Version).1,

ał ki dą dji ni ya ai et di dji ni da łe an de dji ni ko be na da dji kai dji ni na da tc. ł a go

akogo cike nne ca ikaananane ni djini ma xokago ni 25 djini akogo nu dji xastsi ni djini akogo nne naki xastinihi du xanaikadake ni djini akogo dakenteke dani djini ai xastini cac ani djini mu xastin ani djini akogo ma ani djini mbidji gotakgo xanaikake goneanike ni

¹ Recorded at San Carlos in 1905. A free rendering is given on p. 44.

Then, "My friends," he said they say. Coyote said it they say. Then coyote "My friend," he said | they say. "Hay for me wraparound, my tail with it wrap," he said they say. Then | day broke they say. Then coyote danced they say. "Over the fire only I am accustomed to dance," he said | they say. "Your tail is burning," they told him they say. "Your tail is burning," they told him they-say. | "(Interrogative) where my tail is burning you tell me," he-said they say. "Your tail is burning," | they told him. People four-times they were in circles over them he jumped they say.

Fire with it he ran. In he began setting fires, fires while they-blew out they ran after him | they say. Long distance they caught-him they say. His nose they pulled out. | Then his mouth each way they stretched they say.

Then onward another man fire with it he ran they say. Beyond man | that one fire with it he ran again they say, night-hawk. Then far away | they caught him they say. His head together they pushed they say. His mouth | from each other they tore they say.

Then man another fire he went for they say, turkey buzzard. Far away | they caught him they say. His hair they pulled out they-say.

Then hummingbird fire for them flew they say. Over there mountain large which stands on it fire stood up white they say. There mountain large on top of it fire came up they say. fire when it was none (?) on top of it it is white. Fire that wasnot people for them became they say. These trees fire much those standing in them fire much became they say.

So much my yucca fruits lie.

THE WINNING OF DAYLIGHT.

Long ago they say. Sun and moon were not they say. Just night it was they say. Fire with it | they traveled about they say, holding-in their hands.

Then. "My friends, people come together," for me he said they say, coyote. "There are many," he said | they say. Then-I will speak," he said they say. Then men two oldmen, | "There will not be daylight," he said they say. "Just-Then, constant night will be," they said they say. | That old man Owl old man said it said it they say. they say. Then | coyote spoke they say. "Toward them dancing day will break the saying-



djini akogo gutcitał djini akogo xayiłka djini

a ko go din cac bi ke na in la dji ni a ko go ko di hi buckan de bi ke i bi de na di go a i i la dji ni a ko go zuł •n tca i di dji ol gol dji ni bu hi bi ke di go o yi tsis go tse be d ke gus gis 5 u ne da xus gut dji ni

a ko go yi ka hwus ba go ti tsa ona xa za dji ni le dji ni a ko da ko go ci gas kan das dja

DESCRIPTIVE NOTES.¹

i ne la go ci kun ne la go xas ti yo do dul dji go Ga' yi ka la go na dail tse go kowai yo n yel del go da tcul ya le hn

10 i ne la go tcit dil dji go il nan nan t'i go ka na sil tel bi γa go bil da djil del da go hi k'a be na tsil tsel

łai i łos teo xo ze tł gai ye łac ba ne xwoc yi ye' da be ko ga xa da ted djik ła wa k'e' ne si zi go ła wa k'e ne we zi go xa datei xin nił a ko go ko wa yo bi ted deł tł t'a djin ni go da ted-15 gał hn ka da go di go di tei go ye ho

bi le go lị hi lị i ził xe go ko go d t'ał gij nai ni go ga dated gał le hn n ko n n del tei ni ye bị ta bin del tein ni ye lị ta yin del tein ni ya ya' na daj teil kail hn a ko go ni ka di lat do wastej' a ko go kọ ga yo na da tei 'a yo da teil ga le hn

20 din ne de baye go da koγayo gon di na da le hn a kogo n de a la di a kogo bi na t'o xo go li ni bi kogo ge na dai t'o go a kogo da kwi ıs kago n ka da ni le hn a di da o'l'o a kogo ai bi dji a la a da dn nil a kogo n ba' a kogo tei de ka' na ki ya yo bite'i yo ke dail ka' da la a go da la ke dail ka go a ko te'i kal en 25 a kogo li xa da teın ta' ba ga ci do' da teın ni yol hn a kogo n da teın ni yol hn di k'e go da teıl gal hn ko

a ko go ba ga ci na zư sel hn da tcul gal a ko go di bi ka ge hi

 $^{^1}$ Information furnished in Apache at Rice, Arizona, 1910, by an aged San Carlos man named Ts'ahaiye.

is," he said | they say. Then they danced they say. Then day-broke they say.

Then this man bear his moccasins he took up they say. Then this side left | his moccasin right side he did they say. Then mountain large | to it he ran they say. Owl his foot four pieces when he split cave | in he ran they say.

Then, "Daylight having won from each other you go," they-said they say.

Then so much my yucca fruits lie.

DESCRIPTIVE NOTES.

Men many, boys many, old men, too, when they hunt rabbits for them | many when they kill camp when they bring in they are-accustomed to eat.

Men many when they hunt when they stand in a circle theychase them around. When they are tired | they catch them. Some with arrows they kill them.

Another. wood-rat called, soapweeds. sotol. cactus in them they have their houses | they hunt them. On one side when he stands on other side when he stands they pull them down. | Then camp they carry them. To each other when they give them they areaccustomed to eat them. We did this way when we were hungry.

His horse who has horse when he kills camp among when they-give they are accustomed to eat. | Here they bring they say, deer they bring they say. Horses | they bring they say. They used to gothere after it. Then they gave them some right away. | Then camp they take it back they were accustomed to eat it.

if they go to war every camp they are accustomed tonotify. Then men come together. Then his tobacco who has athis house they smoke. Then, | "How many days we go?" they wereaccustomed to say. "For yourself sew.1" "That its day Then. we will all come together. Then we war." Then they started. Mexico toward, | they spent the night. Just one, just one when theyspent the night, there they used to come. Then horses they hunted-Cattle too they used to drive home. Then | they used to comehome driving them. This way they used to eat.

Then cattle they used to kill they ate. Then this its skin

¹ Moccasins.

ba sa de hi i kał a da teil le na be da teinł ne' a ko go a di da teil ło i ban bił bił nas ko go da go keł en

a ko go na da xo ze hi ıs dzan ne go nes nan ta le dail bic na ki be ka go xa dzıl hn a ko go da tce al a ko go be na tc'ıs til en

- 5 a ko go xa γο tel le bi ko gos do go le xo na dji djes l'ej n t'i go na tc'ent t'e go a ko go da dzel des a ko go da tei k'a da tei gal en a ko go la hi dza de na ki da hi ti go a ko go bi ka ye tso se higa go a ko go na da' ke da cel lel hn bi ya na da go tei kat' a ko go n t'al en a ko go di na da hi na da do' be hi nal en
- 10 di ke go ts'i n tsa zi bi la ta ge be ni k'e go a ko go na da hi bi l'a hn ne' o tcil kal go xa ni del en a ko xa ya n dji 'a a ji bec be ba da tcıl gıj bi ta i ai da li Gai ye go a tcıl la go tsıl ke yo n be del le hn a ko go le bic go xa na dzi go bi da tcıl del bi t'a i a ko go tsın te li na di t'a go a zi bi t'a hi da tci hi nil da ts'ıt ts'ıt 15 a ko go n daj tcıt le i ca yo a ko go nail Ga a da tsi dis da tci ya ko a ko go ai al

be na go dzi e et di da tsi bi la ta ci hıs ke go de ni go a za go be le yi yo ya be ol ts'i go ai k'e go be xa ka a kwe ya na da o dja go a ji bil le go dzi go na da to bıl si zi go a ko go xa-20 da dje go da bi djınl t'a dal en a ko go da ji k'a go ta na djin dıl a ko go da dzıl tsel en a ko go na da n t'i go o ke da djıl co go no'a do go djıl lel en ha go kek yo ya l'o bi gos tel a ku ya ya yidil go a ji l'o bıl yes n di go a ji lej be hes ka go a ko go cın na'' da go ye go a ko go no a be del len da tci yal en

25 ts'a de na ki dai t'a go a ko go d ki da slai ye i t'a ai datci yał n t'i go a ko go na da djunł de' go tsa be da tcuł des go da tc'i k'a go a ko go da tci yał en

tu nał ni go goc kan n t'i a ko go da tei yan na de ko go datsał des tsi bi ka yo be ya teal de a ko go al ki nie dlat bi yi ge hi 30 a da tei nił ni yu n da ji nił a ko go da ni k'as a ko go da tei ya on the side rawhide they made. They pounded it. Then they sewed. | Buckskin with it when they sewed it they used to wear on their feet.

Then mescal called women ten they buried. Two | days they-uncovered it. Then they chewed it. Then with it they satisfied themselves.

valley its stream 1 when it is warm, seed when they areripe | they beat off. Then they roast them. Then they grind them. They used to eat them. | Then another, months here two when it is white | then they were accustomed to plant. corn Then | it gets ripe. They cleared the ground. Then this mescal too they lived with.

stick its end being sharp This way large then the mescal its base when they drove in they used to take them out. There they placed it, there knife with they trimmed its leaves. Then white when they make it burying place | they are accustomed to carryit. Then when they bury it, when they take it out again they carryit back. its leaves. Then flat stone when they pick up there They pound them. | Then they spread them they put on. in the sun. they dry. They roll them up. Then They eat them. this Then all.

Plow when was none, stick its end when shaved, sharp whenmade | with it in the ground they stuck it. That way In there corn when they put, there with it when they covered corn standing. Then when it came up | they used to raisewater with it when they ground it they mixed with water. Then ate it (with fingers). Then corn when it was ripe when they shelled it they used to bury it. In where they had dug grass they spread. Inwhen they poured it | there grass with it when they covered there earth with they put on. Then hunger when it was hard they used to bring it. They used to eat it. then

From now two months then long ago (plant) leaves those they ate. When they were ripe, then they beat them off. Basket with when they roasted them when they ground them, then they-used to eat them.

When it rains ² yucca fruit is ripe. Then they will eat it. Then they roast it, | wood on they put it. Then each way they open it. Those inside | they take out. On the ground they put them. Then they get cold, then they eat them. | Another, they cut them open.



¹ Gila River.

Fall.

lai hi da tc'ıl dlat dai k'e go'nes t'a go a ko go tci be jo ta xos ni go da tcıt dla ko go da tci ya na de

i ya' dan da xo n t'i go hi ga nan da ni yo a ko go na dji hi la a ko go ko ga yo n be del go da dzıt ts'ıt a ko go tu bil na zi zi go 5 da cıt dla na de lai hi da zıt tsıt go nes do go da tci ya le hn

i t'a ta zi gıs so da jil b∈j a ko go ta xos ni go na da' bıl nada ts'i go da tci ya

di teil da da xo a ko go n t'i go nan da go ni yo na tei la xo tat ts'a' na ki dn xal ki la bi djil del ko wa yo a ko go da te'i ya' 10 la he xi i ts'i bil ci te'i lau bil na des di go da te'i ya' la ge hi bil hi tse go

tei dil ja n ku ne di yu a ko go bi da dil yo a ko go djol do tcıł ka da his t'a ni hi ai bε na ol go da go hi si zıł xe bił ka his ka ne bi kej de he ka da ts'a he go dii ka 15 a ko go de dil dja n da teda i bi ye da teil gal la i bi tci dil dil ko wa yo ne dil yo i to da tci dla le hn

tc'ał bai ye da na tc'ał hn ai ge tc'a daj a o dle ai dą xo dja hn d n di yo an ol ka go a ko go łai i bi t'a nan t'i go da 'ai xat dat na del ja go tc'ał bai ye xo ze ai łai i ba ni ai be na tci kai gos-20 k'az i a ko go be na ji k'ai ai a ko go be ziz dak'

ai da ka t'e go d'n de' ij t'ej tc'i da la be lai i ban da ko tcoc ta a ko go ba xo ze hi bi ka ge le a des ka go bil d'ke de 'e zi e be k'e go be na ziz djel en

a ko go łai i ba' ba na ke a go ts'i ła' ko dε' nan das ta go 25 lai i bi ka da xa jo jo ai bi k'a ge ts'e das nel go be a tcel dici bi ka ge hi tc'ık atcidelen ako go da bi tc'il en ai da tcili gai yi €t di

n ko na do n t'a ni hi a na tci le n t'i go bi yi ge a da ted le a ko go a k'e go ke da teit dil le bil na go dzis so go a ko go ein go bi t'a hi da zıt ts'i' 30 n t'i gos dag go a ko go ca yo da tsıt dzi' da 'ai `bi ka zi da zit tsi go a ko go nail ka bε na da teinł t'a a ko go na do li ka

Just that way when they are ripe, then when they boil them theystir with water | They drink it, so they eat them.

Mesquite when it blossoms when it is ripe it is white. Wherethey fall off, then they pick them up. | Then camp when they carrythem they pound them. Then water with when it stands | theydrink it. Another way. When they pound them when they knead it they are accustomed to eat it.

Leaves when they wash they boil. Then when they put in water mescal with them when they stir | they eat.

Acorns when they hang, then when they are ripe when they falloff on the ground they pick them up. | Burden baskets two full they carry to camp. Then they eat them. | Another way meat with, acorns with when stirred they eat. Another way, | when they poundwith (meat).

Someone hunts. Over there where are no people then deer wherearrow with | the one feathered (?) that shoots. He hits it. Then when it falls he kills it. If it runs he trails-He overtakes it. If it is dead until morning. to it he trails. Then he builds a fire. He dresses it. Its insides he eats. Part of it he carries back. | Camp | where he carries it, they used to drink. soup

Hat they used to wear. There another (hat) then they wore it. Across both wavs it was sewed. Then another its forehead around just that up cut in triangles. tc'albaive called that. Another buckskin that they wore.1 Cold, then they wore that. Then with it they kept warm.

Then that way side by side they lay, blanket with. Another buckskin like this breech cloth. | Then coyote called his skins when sewed together with reached the feet (?) | with they used to live.

Then another. Coyotes when they placed a trap for stick one here they put across. | Another on it (?) that on it stones when they piled with it they caught them. | Those their skins blankets they used to make. Then they used to use them. Then white-blankets ² | were not.

Here tobacco that grows they gather. When it is ripe its seeds they prepare. | Then that way they plant them, with them whenthey scratch the ground. Then summer time | it is ripe. When it ishot then its leaves they pound. In the sun they spread it. | Then it dries. Just those, its stems when they pound with they sprinkle. | Then tobacco is sweet.



[&]quot;They traveled around with."

² Explained as Navajo blankets.

du dai xa da tci Get le yi yo ya bi ka da go tci Ge go n tc'a hi xa da tci hi ni da 'ai da go bư le hn da 'ai i la de a za tsa li do da bic de hi be da tcư t'ok go i ba yo be dun ni o a tcul le

go zo le ni gos san bi k'a go zo ne ya dıl xıl go jo le hıl tc'i' 5 go jo le dju na 'ai ya go jo le be a djol ka ai go jo le da bil tcın ni

łec dit djo lo a le go a ji baka ci bikał łe dit į go lij i to bił bit'i go nal t'ag go a kogo ai łec i djol a dza hi bik'a ji bił o das kal i k'a ge na ki a li go ił ka nel ze a kogo ił ni o dł k'a' łai i na ni go a kogo tsi bas a li bike na t'i a kogo bike xo 10 le dd kic a kogo i kał il tci go kan bik'e go al i a kogo di k'e go da tco tił a kogo n de go k'e dn ni hi bitc'į tci di t'i go bi ne ji' da tc' tt di a kogo go k'e dn ni hi goł t'o yogo k'a hi na di bikeya ni de a kogo do goł ka da

a ko go i ja je tcu he bi ka ge m be dol ts'i go bi nas t'i bi ba yo 15 t'a le nd la go lai hi na ka' li tci bil na hun dd go al i a ko go i ya ci tci di ti

na di del xel i do l'i ji li Gai yi li tso gi be ges tci

ts'i k'i ıc t'ezo ika ge be a ko go bizis t'ego ko do xol k'a xai i ga a ko go gas tag ge i ka ge de i le hi be les l'on

20 th'i ko shyo nas ka ge ai thta a da dji le i tstk' bi gaz di ga da kol t'i' l'o ka ai be k'ans be tsi k'as go a ko go ki des do go tetht'a a ko go da xo k'a

Flint they dug out. In the ground for it when they dug largeone | which they took out, just that they used to work (?). Just that spear they made awl not, | deer horn with they flaked it. Itsborder sharp they made.

"Let be good. Earth on it. Let be good. Sky dark let be good. Wind | let be good. Sun let be good," they pray with. These, "Letbe good," they say to.

Earth when piled up when it is made there cow its rawhide when it has been buried, earth water with it when it has been done. when it is wet, then that earth round which has been made on it with it | they peg it. Hides two when made one on the other placed. Then sewed in the middle. | Another crosswise. Then stick they measure with. Then its size | he cuts around. rawhide (red) his arm its size he makes. Then this way he holds-Then man his enemy toward him when he holds it behindhim | he does not see. Then his enemy if he shoots arrow shield glances off. Then it does not hit him.

Then fawns their skins when he stretches it he puts over it. On its border | feathers he puts around it. Another, cloth red withthem mixed he makes it. Then | towards him he holds it.

Shield black, blue, white yellow he paints with.

Sticks "k'i," they plait, skin with. Then when they put it on here he does not get hit. | Then top of the shoulders skin soft it is tied on.

Mulberry here on hills where they stand those bow they make. Sinew they stick. | They had bows. Reeds those straighteners with when they work, then when they make them straight | they feather-them. Then they have arrows.

Volume XVII.

I. Riding Gear of the North American Indians. By Clark Wissler. Pp. 1-38, and 27 text figures. 1915. Price, \$.50.
II. Costumes of the Plains Indians. By Clark Wissler. Pp. 41-91, and 28

text figures. 1915. Price, \$.50.

III. Structural Basis to the Decoration of Costumes among the Plains Indians.

By Clark Wissler. Pp. 93-114, and 12 text figures. 1916. Price, \$.25.
IV. Basketry of the Papago and Pima. By Mary Lois Kissell. Pp. 115-264, and 81 text figures. 1916. Price, \$1.50.

V. (In preparation.)

Volume XVIII.

I. Zuñi Potsherds. By A. L. Kroeber. Pp. 1-37, and 2 text figures. 1916.

Price, \$.30. II. Z Zuñi Kin and Clan. By A. L. Kroeber. Pp. 39-204, 3 text figures, and

9 maps. 1917. Price, \$1.50.

III. An Outline for a Chronology of Zuñi Ruins. By Leslie Spier. Pp. 207-331, and 18 text figures. 1917. Price, \$1.00.

IV. Notes on Some Little Colorado Ruins. By Leslie Spier. Pp. 333-362, and 5 text figures. 1918. Price, \$.70.

V. Ruins in the White Mountains, Arizona. By Leslie Spier. Pp. 363-386, and 3 text figures. 1919. Price, \$.25.

Volume XIX.

I. The Whale House of the Chilkat. By George T. Emmons. Pp. 1-33. Plates I-IV, and 6 text figures. 1916. Price, \$1.00.

II. The History of Philippine Civilization as Reflected in Religious Nomenclature. By A. L. Kroeber. Pp. 35-37. 1918. Price, \$.25.
III. (In preparation.)

Volume XX.

I. Tales of Yukaghir, Lamut, and Russianized Natives of Eastern Siberia. By Waldemar Bogoras. Pp. 1-148. 1918. Price, \$1.50.

II. (In preparation.)

Volume XXI.

I. Notes on the Social Organization and Customs of the Mandan, Hidatsa, and Crow Indians. By Robert H. Lowie. Pp. 1-99. 1917. Price, \$1.00.

II. (In preparation.)

Volume XXII.

I. Contributions to the Archaeology of Mammoth Cave and Vicinity, Kentucky. By N. C. Nelson. Pp. 1-73, and 18 text figures. 1917. Price, \$.75.
II. Chronology in Florida. By N. C. Nelson. Pp. 75-103, and 7 text

figures. 1918. Price, \$.25.
III. Archaeology of the Polar Eskimo. By Clark Wissler. Pp. 105-166, 33

text figures, and 1 map. 1918. Price, \$.50.

IV. The Trenton Argillite Culture. By Leslie Spier. Pp. 167-226, and 11 text figures. 1918. Price, \$.50. V. (In preparation.)

Volume XXIII.

I. Racial Types in the Philippine Islands. By Louis R. Sullivan. Pp. 1-61, 6 text figures, and 2 maps. 1918. Price, \$.75.
II. The Evidence Afforded by the Boskop Skull of a New Species of Primi-

tive Man (Homo capensis). By R. Broom., Pp. 63-79, and 5 text figures. 1918. Price, \$.25. III. (In preparation.)

Volume XXIV.

I. Myths and Tales from the San Carlos Apache. By Pliny Earle Goddard.

Pp. 1-86. 1918. Price, \$.75.
II. Myths and Tales from the White Mountain Apache. By Pliny Earle Goddard. Pp. 87-139. 1919. Price, \$.50.

III. San Carlo 1919. Price, \$2.50. San Carlos Apache Texts. By Pliny Earle Goddard. Pp. 141-367.

IV. (In press.)

Volume XXV.

I. Myths and Traditions of the Crow Indians. By Robert H. Lowie. Pp. 1-308. 1918. Price, \$3.00.

II. (In preparation.)

Digitized by Google



Affix (Proc. 4) to STRAPFLEX YOKE

PERMAT FOR ONE BINDSHO

By STRAPFLEX PROCESS

(Pxt. line, 180000) and 18000002)

STRAPFLEX CO., Medicard Williads, Mass

The Cosmos Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts

Digitized by



